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AT AGLANCE

FOR OVER 135 YEARS OUR EXTRAORDINARY
COLLEAGCUES AND CUSTOMERS HAVE FACED

CHALLENGES BIG AND
SMALL AND COME
THROUGH THEM BY
SUPPORTING EACH OTHER
AND WORKING TOGCETHER

M&S is a British value for money retailer,focused centres,our warehouses andinour supply
onown label businesses,including Food, chain-who have worked tirelessly to deliver
Clothing & Home,inthe UK and internationally.  forour customers.

Today we operate a family of businesses, selling  Together we have strived to secure the
high-quality, great value own-brand products future of the business and, as we emerge,
inthe UKandin 62 countries,from 1,519 stores our “Never the Same Again” programme

and 44 websites globally. will accelerate our transformation and fulfil
our potential to deliver long-term, sustainable
and profitable growth for our investors,
colleagues and wider communities.

Inthe face of an unprecedented global crisis,
the best has been brought out of our 78,000
colleagues—across our stores, our support

In April,
rainbow bags-for-life
started appearingin
our stores. Priced at 20p,
M&S is donating the entire
Read moreon pl0 Read moreon pl2 Read moreon p27 Readmoreon p50 10p profit to NHS Charities
FOOD CLOTHING & HOME FINANCIAL REVIEW COVID-19 RESPONSE Together to aid its

Covid-19 response.
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£10.2bn""

Group revenue

3.9p

Total dividend paid for 2019/20

1.3p™*

Basic earnings per share

-70.7%

GODIGITAL

Access to more detailed
and interactive content

The money saved on
printing and postage
will help lower our costs

Reduces our carbon
footprint and saves paper

Join our Digital First community
and sign up for online
communications only, in time for
next year’s report. It’s much less
fuss, much more interactive and
you'll be helping M&S to reduce
its impact on our environment.

To register, visit shareview.co.uk,
a secure platform provided by
our Registrar, Equiniti. From the
home page, simply click ‘Portfolio’
followed by ‘Open Portfolio
Account’and follow the on-screen
instructions. You will need your
shareholder reference number and
activation code to register; these
have been posted to you in this
year’s Notice of Availability.

Covid-19 response timeframe

On page 50 we set out the
timeframe for the Company’s
response to Covid-19, which
extends beyond the 52 weeks

to 28 March 2020 covered by this
report. Within the strategic report
‘Our Action in Response to
Covid-19’is not confined to the
reporting period but we have
indicated where the financial
impact of these actions relates
to the 2019/20 financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

GROUP OVERVIEW

£67.2m™""

Group profit before tax

€403.1m**

Profit before tax and
adjustingitems

£1.46bn""

Net debt excluding lease liabilities

16 .7p -29.5%

Adjusted earnings per share
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&Homessalesonline

63% (18/19: 59%)

Food: Value for money perception

68 (18/19: 68)

Stores: Net promoter score’
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1. Net promoter score (NPS) equals the percentage of
‘promoters’ minus the percentage of ‘detractors’.

2. Shareholderinformation forms part
of the Directors’Report.

ALTERNATIVE
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The report provides alternative performance
measures (APMs) which are not defined

or specified under the requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the EU. We believe these APMs
provide readers with important additional
information on our business. We have included
aglossary on pages 180-182 which provides
acomprehensive list of the APMs that we use,
including an explanation of how they are
calculated, why we use them and how they
can be reconciled to a statutory measure
where relevant.
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CHAIRMAN'S

Financial highlights

3 . 9p -70.7%

Total dividend paid for 2019/20

“We have drawn up
our “Never the Same
Again” programme
to harness our new
habits and use the
lessons of this crisis
to make what feels
like three years
progressinone.”

Archie Norman, Chairman

02 Marks and Spencer Group plc
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Dear Shareholder,

Although much of this report is about
the results for the financial year 2019/20,
these now seem to relate to a previous
age. The Covid-19 pandemic has since
swamped our lives and the way we
operate the business.

At the time of writing we are in the midst
of lockdown. Our focus has been first

on the safety of our colleagues and
customers and on supporting vulnerable
people and healthcare workers. Second
on securing our business, cash flow and
liquidity and planning our way through the
clearance and storage of surplus stock.
And thirdly on ensuring we learn from the
crisis and come out stronger, faster and
more competitive when we emerge.

Very sadly, we have lost two colleagues

to the virus and others are in hospital.

Our thoughts and prayers have been

with them and their families. More broadly,
the M&S family of colleagues has rallied
together magnificently in the crisis.

Our business has been operating
continuously since 1884, including
through two world wars. In the 1939-45 war
100 stores suffered bomb damage and

16 were destroyed. With the support of the
most passionate and dedicated workforce
in UK retail, we will trade through the crisis,
serving our customers throughout.

From a financial point of view, the 2020-21
year is likely to be a lost year. Although
we have taken drastic measures to

secure cash flow and maximise sales,
itisinevitable we will emerge with more
debt than we had planned and make
losses for alarge part of the year. Whilst it
is a challenge to forecast the future, our
scenarios are based on a prolonged period
of social distancing, trading limitations
and depressed demand. We have taken
steps to obtain substantial concessions
from our banks and secure liquidity for
the likely duration of the Covid-19 crisis
and to underpin the recovery strategy.

Thereis a saying sometimes attributed

to Winston Churchill, “never waste a good
crisis”. Our business is now operating in
ways we have never operated before.
Remote working is only a small part of it.
Multi-tasking in stores, delegation of
authority, fast decision-making, an action
orientation irrespective of hierarchy,

and brilliant communication direct to the
front line. At the same time, the way our

All In This Together

Below We implemented a number of
social-distancing measures throughout the
shopping journey in our stores to help keep
our customers and colleagues well.

Maintaining our

ctandands for customens

Above We've increased hygiene measures
across our stores to give our customers
confidence when they shop with us—such as
cleaning baskets, trollies and self-checkout
tills every hour.



customers live and shop has changed
beyond recognition and these behaviours
will not fully revert any time soon.

We are determined to make our ways of
working permanent and accelerate the
aspects of our transformation necessary
to thrive in a new consumer landscape.
The manner in which our colleagues have
been galvanised to act with pace and
agility gives us confidence we can emerge
stronger, as a faster, more streamlined
business. This is why we have drawn up
our “Never the Same Again” programme
to harness our new habits and use the
lessons of this crisis to make what feels
like three years progressin one.
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The acquisition in the year of a 50%

share in Ocado Retail, supported by
shareholders through a rights issue,

gives us access to the UK’s fastest growing
food channeland is a strategic driver of
growth for our Food business. The crisis
has created a step change in demand for
online grocery and we will commence
supply to Ocado in September, making
the M&S food range of over 6,000
products available online for the first time.

We are now, after two and a half years
of transformation, on the verge

of completing a much stronger
management team, most notably

with the arrival of Eoin Tonge as Chief
Financial Officer, Katie Bickerstaffe as
Chief Strategy and Transformation
Director, and Richard Price as Managing
Director, Clothing & Home, together
with many others.

I wanted to thank all our colleagues for
their loyalty in one of the toughest years
in our history, the leadership team for
working flat out through the crisis, and the

u W’, our Board for being continuously engaged.
s PP n Alison Brittain is standing down after

W Ww‘k/l/n (‘/Q«l 00(1744% over six years; she has been a major force
7 l for change and we will miss her. Katie
Above We supported our hardworking Blckerstaffe is joining the executive team
colleagues, as well as customers and ,bL.Jt_W'th Tamara Ingram a”?' Sapna Sood
communities, during the crisis. All our frontline Joining the Board, we will still have a very
colleagues, including those working in strong, diverse and engaged Board.
our Castle Donington distribution centre,
received a 15% additional pay reward.

Finally, it has not been a happy year for

our shareholders, including all those on

the Board and management team who

are heavily invested in the Company.

To provide for an uncertain outlook,

we have had to make difficult decisions
A R KS & S P E N C E R {—{-&lpung/ to secure the future of your business.

We appreciate your patience and are
[— v

M/Vﬂ(/nﬂ(/g/& QD’O(/W( determined to accelerate the changes

0‘. . we committed to and make M&S the
l/gb“/flwng/ special business we know it can become.
n W& Yours sincerely,

Left Our colleagues t/>.: é " Y\—/

greeted customers at the

entrances of every store

and managed the number Archie Norman, Chairman
of customers shopping

during busy periods.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
STATEMENT

| have never been
prouder to work for

this business. The

care and commitment

our colleagues

have shown to our

customers, their
teammates and our
communities has

been inspiring to see.”

Steve Rowe, Chief Executive

1. APMasdefinedinglossary onpage180.
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Last year's results reflect a year of
substantial progress and change including
the transformative investmentin Ocado,
outperformance in Food and some green
shoots in Clothing in the second half.
However, they now seem like ancient
history as the trauma of the Covid crisis
has galvanised our colleagues to secure
the future of the business. The way our
people have rallied to support our
customers and communities has been awe
inspiring. From the outset we recognised
that we were facing a crisis whose effects
and aftershocks will endure for the
coming year and beyond: whilst some
customer habits will return to normal
others have changed forever, the trend
towards digital has been accelerated, and
changes to the shape of the high street
brought forward. Most importantly
working habits have been transformed
and we have discovered we can workin a
faster, leaner, more effective way.lam
determined to act now to capture this and
deliver arenewed, more agile business in
a world that will never be the same again.

Good progress on transformation
2019/20

Prior to the Covid-19 impact, both major
businesses were making good progress
inimplementing the transformation
programme with Food outperforming the
market and despite teething issuesin
changes to men’s clothing ranges, kids,
womens, and lingerie starting to show
sustained, improved performance.

Inrecent years, we have made a number
of structural changes to the basic
infrastructure of the business including
closing 54 of our legacy shared stores,
migrating off mainframe infrastructure to
cloud-based systems and implementing
new warehouse management systems.
These changes have been instrumentalin
enabling the business to react effectively
inthe early weeks of the crisis.

Toillustrate more clearly the family of
accountable businesses operating model,
for the first time we are breaking out the
operating profit after relevant costs

of three business streams: UK Food,

UK Clothing & Home, and International.
This demonstrates the strength and
balance of the combined businesses
which has been a major source

of resilience in the crisis.

Outperformance in Food

The UK Food business outperformed the
market as changes to range, value and
customer communication took effect:
revenue increased 2.1%, with like-for-like
sales' up 1.9% strengthening throughout
the year, including an estimated 0.3%
benefit from the effects of Covid-19in
March. Operating profit before adjusting
items' increased 11.2%. Value perception
improved, resulting in growth in volume
ahead of value at 3.3% and increased
market share.

We set out the Food strategy 18 months
ago, rebuilt the leadership team and
started to reposition M&S Food to broaden
its appeal and move to ‘trusted value’.

The programme was picking up
momentum before the crisis struck

and the progress made is set outin

the Food section of this report.

Ocado Retail positioned strongly
for growth

The valuable purchase of 50% of Ocado
Retail positions the business strongly for
growth in online grocery, the UKs fastest
growing channel. We reported a first

time net income contribution for Ocado
Retail to group profit of £2.6m for the

7 months to 1 March 2020, with the early
contribution reflecting the limited period
since completion. This is the contribution
to group results prior to switchover to M&S
supply on 1September, which we expect to
drive volume growth for M&S Food.

We have been working closely with Ocado
Retail to create a ‘one business’ mentality
which includes common operating
procedures, business plan, and shared
talent. The value of the investment we
have made has been further reinforced
by the strong growth reported by Ocado
Retail since lockdown, with growth for
the most recent 9-week period of 40.4%
reported at its ACM on 6 May.

Reengineering Clothing & Home

The UK Clothing & Home business
experienced a year of substantial
reshaping, resulting in some encouraging
performance indicators in the second half.
However, revenue declined 8.3% overall,
with like-for-like revenue down 6.2%,
including an estimated 2.2% adverse
impact from Covid-19 in March. Online
revenue was level. Operating profit before
adjusting items declined 37.0%, largely



driven by lower sales, gross margin
headwinds related to sourcing and
promotional mix and the impact of
the crisis.

First-half trading was affected by poor
availability in Womenswear, and in the
second half by teethingissues with the
move to a more contemporary style
and fit in Menswear. However, as detailed
in the Clothing & Home section of this
report, towards the end of the year
performance, prior to the effects of
Covid-19,in Womenswear and Kidswear
was encouraging, Menswear saw
improving sales trends and Lingerie
held its market leading share.

Changing the model in International

As detailed on page 14, the first phase

of transforming the International business
has been the move away from direct
ownership to a franchise and joint venture
model working with strong partnersin
high-potential territories. The focus now is
on localising ranges and reducing prices,
and willincreasingly be on developing
sales online globally. International
revenue at constant currency decreased
2.5%. Operating profit before adjusting
items declined 15.2% to £110.7m, largely

as a result of trading conditions in March.

ACTION IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19

Over £1bn of actions including £500m
of planned cost reductions and further
actions to manage cash under scenario
planning for Covid-19

The Covid-19 crisis started to have an
impact on the business in the first week
of March with reductions in UK Clothing
& Home sales, which declined by 6.2% and
26.9% the week after. With the onset of
lockdown, the effect on sales, colleagues
and customers in both businesses has
been dramatic. Clothing sales at the
lowest point dropped to 16% of their level
ayear ago. Without the resilience of the
combined food and clothing business
model and the extraordinary loyalty of
colleagues, the impact on the business
would have been even more profound.

My belief has been from the outset that
the direct impact of the crisis on sales
and stock flow will last at least 12 months
and that subsequent demand may be
depressed. In a challenging environment
to forecast accurately, the business is
being managed against a “Covid-19
scenario” created in the early weeks of
lockdown, reflecting a very substantial
reduction in sales. This scenario has been
stress tested and eveninthe event of a
longer and deeper lockdown, the group
maintains sufficient liquidity. Although
we will be drawing on our available credit
facilities in the coming year, under the
scenario the business will have significant
liquidity headroom throughout the next
18 months. We are pleased to note that

in the first six weeks of the new year,

trading has substantially outperformed
the scenario.

The scenario has the following core
assumptions relative to our original
2020/21 budget:

- UK Clothing &Home, 70% decline in
revenue for the four months to July
and only a gradual return to original
budgeted levels by February 2021
impacting annual revenue by c.£1.5bn.

- UK Food, 20% decline in revenue for the
four months to July, with revenue level
thereafter,impacting annual revenue
by c.£0.4bn.

- International - Clothing & Home
revenue to follow a similar pattern to
UK Clothing & Home with a significant
declinein April due to closures,
impacting annual revenue by c.£0.2bn.

The table below sets out the revenue
assumptions in the scenario by
quarter, showing the variance to

the original budget.

REVENUE AT CONSTANT CURRENCY

% changeto

budget Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 FY
UK Clothing

&Home -74 -61  -40 -6 -46
Food -20 -6 - - -6
International -51  -20 -9 9 -22

Inthe light of the prolonged partial or
total lockdown envisaged in our Covid-19
scenario, we have taken actions totalling
c.£lbnrelative to the original budget

to reduce costs and manage cash, while
protecting our transformation plans and
trading potential.

Substantial cost reduction of
c.£500m in 2020/21

- Non-essential spending has been
reduced at all levels. Forinstance,
we expect Clothing & Home marketing
to be down £50m for the year, pay levels
and recruitment have been frozen,
saving c.£40m, and technology costs
will be down c.£40m.

- Costs which are largely related to sales
volume are being managed down,
for instance, Clothing & Home logistics
down c.£60m, colleague costs
post-lockdown saving c.£40m, and
International costs saving c.£30m.

- Fixed property-related charges are
expected to decline, with service
charge reductions, rent costs and
other occupancy cost savings down by
c.£20m before any more far-reaching
changes to the store portfolio.

- Government support measures,
including business rates relief of
c.£172m and the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme of c.£50m, will
further support this year’s outcome.

In addition to these savings, we are
exploring the potential for other changes,
including a more streamlined support
centre, changes to leadership structure
and negotiations with landlords on
commercial terms on lease contracts.

Actions to stabilise cash flow
exceeding £500m

In view of the steep increase in working
capital resulting from unsold stocks we are
experiencing a cash outflow during the
lockdown period and expect to draw on
our credit facilities in the months ahead.
Under the Covid-19 scenario, drawings
are estimated to peakin early autumn

at c.£600m, although our current
performance would suggest a lower
figure. To reduce risk, maximise liquidity,
and enable areturnto growthin the
future, steps have been taken to underpin
cash flow and reduce working capital.
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- Capital expenditure for the year has
at this stage been reduced to c.£140m,
saving c.£195min cash outflowin
the current year against budget.
Only essential and short payback
investment focused on growth has
been retained, such as the new ambient
food depot, investmentin online
fulfilment and site development,
and the Digital & Data programme.

- Cash management initiatives including
in-year deferral of corporation tax,
VAT and duty payments and likely
savings from lower corporation tax
paid for 2020/21.

— As previously reported, there will be
no final dividend for 2019/20 and the
Board does not expect to pay a dividend
for the current financial year, using the
funds instead for balance sheet support
inthe region of £340m.

Liquidity and additional headroom
secured for 2020 and 2021

It was an immediate priority for the
company to secure its debt facilities to
provide for the cash requirements
modelled under the Covid-19 scenario
described above and given the risk in
an uncertain market to ensure there is
downside protection under even more
adverse sensitivities. Therefore:

— Formalagreement has been reached
with the syndicate of banks providing
the £1.1bn revolving credit facility to
remove or substantially relax covenant
conditions for the tests arising in
September 2020, March 2021 and
September 2021.

- We have confirmed that we are
eligible to access funding under
the government’s Covid Corporate
Financing Facility and been allocated
an issuer limit of £300m.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

- Asaresult of these actions, we expect
to have considerable headroom under
our available facilities in 2020/21. While
we will experience a cash outflow in
the first half of the year as sales reduce
and we pay for our previous stock
commitments, we would expect this
to partly reverse in the second half of
the year.

- Under the Covid-19 scenario, drawings
against our available facilities would
beinthe range of £300mM-£350m by
the end of 2020/21.

- The cancellation of the final dividend
of c.£130m will generate further cash
savings after year end.

Experience to date has been ahead of the
Covid-19 scenario against which we set
strong cost and cash management plans
and has outperformed the scenario by
over £150m year to date, with actions
planned to further improve our cash flow.
If sustained, this leaves the Croup well
positioned to exit the crisis with limited
drawdown against its facilities in 2020/21,
with a further saving of the final dividend
in the early months of the next year.

We intend to adopt a dynamic approach
to investment using sustained cashflow
outperformance to capitalise on strong
investment opportunities under our
‘Never the Same Again’agenda.

Management of excess Clothing &
Home stock

Like all fashion retailers, one of the biggest
challenges arising from the crisis is the
backlog of unsold stock for spring/
summer 2020 and the forward pipeline
ordered for autumn/winter. We closed
2019/20 with Clothing & Home stock of
c.£500m and at that time had committed
forward orders of £560m scheduled to
arrive in the following six months. As the
lockdown eases, a large proportion of
current season stock will remain unsold
and demand for many categories is likely
to be weak. We have acted quickly to
improve this position.

- We have cancelled late summer stock
which will no longer be required,
reducing forward commitment
at cost by £100m.

- Ofthe balance of stock and forward
orders, c.£400m is year-round basic
product where M&S trades strongly and
which will be carried forward at low risk.

- Ofthe unsold seasonal stock, we have
made arrangements to hibernate
around £200m until spring 2021,
secured storage facilities and planned
for the cost of these actions.

- We have therefore taken a charge of
£145.3min adjusting items to reflect the
cumulative impact of the combined
handling, clearance, hibernation and
write-off of the stock.

06 Marks and Spencer Group plc

The combined impact of lockdown,
social distancing and depressed demand
is likely to continue through the year.

Recent trading performance

The first six weeks trading has been ahead
of the Covid-19 scenario particularly in
Food and online.

- Store sales in UK Clothing & Home were
reduced to a trickle due to the closure
of space, running down 98.8% year on
year at the lowest point. In-store sales
of essentials increased from £252k per
week in the first week of lockdown to
£1.4m per week by week six.

- Although online Clothing & Home has
traded throughout, demand in the initial
weeks for clothing was very low with a
gradual uplift since. In the last three
weeks, online sales have been running
c.20% up year on year.

- Standalone Simply Food stores have
traded strongly, up on average 17% with
a positive trend in many Retail park
stores which typically have direct
access. In the earliest weeks of lockdown
this was offset by lower sales in travel
franchise units (c.5% of revenue) and the
closure of in-store hospitality and cafes
(c.4% of revenue). In the last three weeks
overall Food sales have on average
been level.

- We also experienced aninitial adverse
margin mix as demand shifted towards
ambient grocery sales, although this is
now diminishing.

Never the Same Again

During the crisis, we have all had to work
differently and consumers have rapidly
changed shopping habits and may never
shop in the same way again. We intend to
use the learning from the crisis and, as set
out on the opposite page, we have drawn
up our Never the Same Again agenda to
accelerate our transformation.

We have:

- Committed to never be the same again
in culture, organisation and work habits.

- Takenimmediate steps to ensure that
the “change of gear” of the last few
weeks endures.

- Started to bring forward the aspects of
our transformation necessary to thrive
in a changed consumer landscape and
become an online winner in Clothing &
Home and Food. As made clear on page
10, the Ocado relationshipis an integral
part of our strategy to bring M&S Food
into the online and home delivery
market, which we expect to be even
more vibrant as a result of the crisis.

Assignificantly renewed management
team willimplement our Never the Same
Again programme, and in the coming
weeks this team will take shape with a
number of important arrivals. Katie
Bickerstaffe has joined as Chief Strategy
and Transformation Director and Eoin
Tonge arrives as CFO in June. Richard Price
joins as Managing Director Clothing &
Home in July, with new Head of Clothing &
Home Supply Chain Paul Babbs and

Head of Clothing & Home Online Stephen
Langford both joining in May. Property
Director Will Smith arrives in May and
Helen Milford joins as Store Operations
Directorin June. Craig Lovelace joins as
Finance Director of Food in June.

Our response to Covid-19 is explored
throughout this report but in short, | have
never been prouder to work for this
business. The care and commitment our
colleagues have shown to our customers,
their teammates and our communities
has been inspiring to see. M&S has faced
this crisis in the same way we have met
challenges throughout our history. Each
member of the M&S family has pulled
together and responded with agility and
pace to show our customers that they can
trust M&S to be there for them and their
community in the ways that matter most,
and | would like to extend my personal
thanks to them all. They are what makes
this business special.

While there are many uncertainties, we are
confident we will emerge from this period
in a strengthened competitive position.
We have a strong Food business —soon to
be stronger as our products become
available on Ocado.com and, although
thereis some way to go, there is progress
being made across every aspect of our
Clothing & Home business. In a consumer
environment that will never be the same
again, we will accelerate parts of our
transformationin response and learn
from our crisis actions to ensure that

M&S is changed for good.

Nowe

Steve Rowe, Chief Executive



OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

The aim of our transformationis to restore M&S to sustainable, profitable growth
and this has not changed. However, in the new landscape — where the way we work and
how customers shop may never be the same again—we are learning from
the crisis to ensure that M&S is changed for good.

WHAT WE ARE LEARNING FROM THE CRISIS

The crisis illustrated how differently we

can use technology, run stores, and make
decisions fast. In a business with a history of
slow cultural change we intend to use these
lessons, to ensure that as lockdown eases,
we are never the same againin culture,
organisation and work habits. For instance:

- Asmaller top team has made decisions
faster and more efficiently, delegating
trading and operating management to
business unit heads. Working groups,
committees and elaborate management
processes have been disbanded.

STRATEGIC REPORT

- Support colleagues have learnt to
improvise their routines at lower cost
with no detriment to trading standards.

- Our strategic relationship with Microsoft
has been highly effective supported
by Teams.

- Instores, given the need to furlough and
redeploy colleagues, valuable lessons
have been learned about our ability to
multi-task and increase the pace of
work with no adverse impact to service.
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- Online has for a period been our only
significant clothing business and this
hasillustrated the need to be leaner,
and more integrated to compete with
online pure plays.

- Thereductionin forward order volumes
in clothing has forced the need to change
ranges to buy more of less from fewer
core suppliers.

WHAT WILL NEVER BE THE SAME AGAIN

The following steps have already been taken
to ensure that the ‘change of gear’ of the last
few weeks endures:

- On14 May, we announced changes to the
business leadership structure with the
formation of a small executive board
consisting of the operating MDs together
with Katie Bickerstaffe, who has now started
as Chief Strategy and Transformation

Director, and Chief Financial Officer
Eoin Tonge who is arriving in early June.

- Central support costs and headcount
will be examined at all levels, delegating
decisions to business unit and
category heads.

- Instores, multi-tasking and more flexible
management structures will be integrated
into the way the business operates.

- Digitalis being consolidated under a
single transformation team bringing
together data, online and technology.

- Thedirect-to-the-frontline, tech-enabled
communication, combined with increased
flexibility in working patterns, will become
permanent.

ACCELERATING THE TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

We will accelerate aspects of the
transformation to increase our relevance
inanew consumer environment, including:

- The move to ‘trusted value’in Clothing &
Home and option count reduction and
supplier concentration brought forward.

- Thereduction in range and shift towards
fast moving product at great value
necessitated by the crisis will result
inapermanent reduction of 20% in
autumn/winter store option count.

- Therole of the sourcing offices will be
increased so that sampling, ordering and
quality issues are dealt with offshore.

- Afaster “near-sourcing” supply chain will
be developed, to enable a test and re-order
of seasonal fashion lines, particularly for
the online business.

- Establishing a store estate for the new
world with the replacement of ageing
stores already under way and shift in
relationships with property providers
to go faster.

- Thelongstandingissuesin Food
distribution will be tackled to capture
value in our Food supply chain, with the
roll-out of the Vangarde programme and
addressing the contract and relationship
with Gist.

STEPTWO

SHAPING
THE FUTURE

STEP ONE

RESTORING
THE BASICS

2018 2019 2020

- Turbocharging growth to become an
online winner in Clothing & Home and
Food. The sharp growth of online grocery
during the crisis is evidence of this, as is the
strengthening performance of our online
Clothing & Home.

STEP THREE

MAKING
M&S SPECIAL

2021 2022
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MARKET CONTEXT

Theretailindustry has changed dramatically in afew short weeks,
and hasin some ways become unrecognisable fromthe onein
which we traded for the vast majority of 2019/20.

In 2019 retail sales declined for the first
time on record, with the British Retail
Consortium reporting a 0.1% contraction
across the sector due to political
instability and increased consumer
caution (Source: BRC-KPMQ).

The grocery market returned growth of
2.7% for the 52 weeks ended 22 March
2020 to grow to £117.6bn (Source: Kantar)
with Covid-19 impacting consumer
spending in Q4. Home delivery and
online maintained its position as the
UK’s fastest growing channel at 5.5%
year-on-year growth, versus 2.5%in
store (Source Kantar). M&S maintained
a3.4% market share across the year,

with the four largest supermarkets
together holding a 59.6% share, discount
retailers capturing 11.4% and Ocado
Retaila 1.2% share.

Key consumer trends included therise
of environmental awareness driving
consumer choice and spend, with

our own research revealing 75% of
consumers were actively seeking to
reduce their use of plastic packaging.

We trialled a refillable grocery initiative in

The clothing market declined by 5.7%
year-on-year for the 52 weeks to 05 April
2020 to a total value of £33.3bn

(Source: Kantar). Consumers spent

less on clothing throughout the year

- with disposable spend focused instead
on experience. As a result, the sector
experienced a move towards spend on
activewear and athleisure, reflecting a
consumer shift towards casual dressing
and focusing on healthy everyday
lifestyles. We launched Goodmove,

a new athleisure range, to access this
growing trend, which delivered
encouraging results.

Online continued to be the fastest
growing channel against declining spend
offline, growing 2% points to account

for 29.9% share of total clothing sales
across the market (Source: Kantar), with
purchases on laptops the largest online
channeland mobile the fastest growing,
particularly in womenswear spend.

M&S continues to be the UK’s largest

Marks and Spencer Group plc

In contrast, early 2020 saw consumer
confidence beginning to return, although
this did not translate into significant sales
forretailers.

FOOD MARKET

response, which was well received by our
customers. Vegan food also continued
to become a more popular choice
among UK consumers, with 86% of
plant-based meals eaten by non-vegans.
Covid-19 impact

March 2020 was the biggest month

of grocery sales on record (Source:
Kantar) as the impact of Covid-19

drove consumers to increase spend on
grocery prior to the UK commencing
lockdown on 22 March. Immediately
following the government’s measures,
spend and frequency of visits dropped
as consumers followed guidance to stay
close to home. The market experienced
unprecedented levels of demand for
online grocery deliveries at the height of
the crisis with the country impacted by
lockdown, and retailers needed to be

CLOTHING & HOME MARKET

clothing retailer, maintaining our
market-leading position across
Womenswear and Menswear, closely
followed by Next and Primark.
Covid-19 impact

Covid-19 rapidly accentuated the
headwinds and spending habits the
clothing sector experienced through
FY19/20. Bricks and mortar retailers were
required to shut stores and operations
in response to government measures,
including our outlet stores and C&H
sections of larger stores, resulting in
greater numbers of consumers making
purchases online. Additionally, consumer
spend was concentrated on different
categories reflecting life at home

and changing behaviours, such as
loungewear, babywear, and bedding
products, and away from formaland
suiting. The market broadly reacted

to the closure of UK stores by heavily
discounting items, peaking in w/e 29th
March where over half of the UK online

An overview of the Food and Clothing
markets in 2019/20, as well as a brief
assessment of the Covid-19 impact
that followed, is below.

increasingly agile in launching and
executing food delivery online in a short
space of time. In the absence of an
online offer, M&S rolled out several
quick solutions —including online

food box deliveries and a temporary
partnership with Deliveroo —to help
isolated customers access essentials
(see Food section on page 10).

As we look ahead, we expect the
crisis-driven change in behaviours of
customers such as the rapid adoption of
online food shopping, and fewer, bigger
shopping trips to continue at least as
long as the Covid-19 crisis remains.

The switchover of our products

onto Ocado Retail’s platform from
September 2020 will mean we are
competitively positioned to service
accelerating demand in the UK’s

fastest growing grocery channel.

clothing market was discounted, the
largest proportion, outside of Black
Friday in 2019, for at least eight years.

For M&S our online operations continued
to trade as robust social distancing
measures to help keep our colleagues
well were implemented, and customers
continued to purchase essential
products required during this time (see
Clothing & Home section on page 12).

The outlook for the UK’s clothing sector
remains uncertain at present, but we
fully anticipate consumer behaviour to
follow the recently established trends
for the coming months ahead and
limited customer appetite. Online
purchasing activity will only continue
to grow, with the impact of social
distancing likely to linger on. We are
boosting our online relevance to meet
that demand by rolling out brands

on M&S.com and an additional 850
Clothing & Home products on Ocado
from September.



STRATEGIC REPORT

SUSINESS MODEL

M&S serves about 31 million customers every year from across the UK.
We operate a family of accountable businesses of Food, Clothing & Home,
International, Services and Property, and the strength and balance of our combined
business model has been a major source of resilience during the Covid-19 crisis.

OUR CUSTOMERS

M&S serves about 31 million customers every year from
across the UK. Our Food, Clothing & Home and other
retail businesses are focused on developing products
and services for our target ‘family age’ customers and
beyond, who we reach through a channel network of
1,519 stores and online services in the UK and across

62 international markets.

OUR COLLEAGUES

We employ over 78,000 colleagues across our office,
operations and international teams, who demonstrate
extraordinary passion for the business, deliver great
customer experience through our channels, and bring
extensive technical skills, giving us strength in areas
such asingredients, sourcing, size and fit.

Customers Clothing
& Home

M&S

Stores

o
A

Colleagues

Property Services:

Bank and
Energy

International

DIGITAL & DATA

Our Digital & Data central function provides support across
the business, ensuring a seamless customer experience,

improving customer personalisation, embedding digital across

our stores and shopping missions, revamping our loyalty
proposition and ensuring that we are at the forefront of the
latest innovation and trends.

A FAMILY OF ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESSES

M&S operates a family of parallel businesses each trading value
for money ranges. Each is led by its own integrated management
team, with functional accountability for their divisions, including
marketing, supply chain, finance and online.

We predominantly sell own-brand products manufactured
and marketed exclusively under the M&S brand with quality,
innovation and trusted value at their core.

B Food: M&S Food sells sustainably sourced, fresh,
convenient products of outstanding quality through
five main categories: protein deli and dairy; produce;
ambient and in-store bakery; meals dessert and frozen;
hospitality and ‘Food on the Move'.

Clothing & Home: M&S sells stylish own-brand
clothing and homeware through our principal product
departments: Womenswear, Menswear, Lingerie,

Kidswear and Home.

International: M&S exports the best of M&S Food

and Clothing & Home around the world in select
target markets across Europe, the Middle East and Asia.
Customers purchase our products through a network
of mainly partner-led or owned businesses in territories
with growth potential, or through online-only channels in
growing markets such as Australia and the United States.

Services: Through M&S Bank (operated by HSBC),
EEE we provide a range of financial services, including
credit cards, current account and savings, insurance
and mortgages. M&S Energy is a competitive fully
renewable energy source provider (operated by Octopus).

= Property: We operate an active Property Development
85) team to maximise the value of our property assets
through investment and development opportunities.

OCADO

M&S holds a 50% investment in Ocado Retail, a relationship
between M&S and Ocado, which from September 2020

will roll out M&S Food and Clothing products across the
platform for customers to purchase online, enabling
access for the Group into the UK’s fastest-growing grocery
sales channel.

THE GROUP

Our central team includes Group Finance, Corporate
Governance, Strategy and support functions such as
Communications and HR. The Group supports the
business as a whole, setting direction of its growth strategy,
allocation of capital and overseeing cost efficiencies.

Annual Report &Financial Statements 2020 09
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Financial highlights

£6.0bn""

UK Food revenue

£236.7m" "

Operating profit before adjusting items

PERFORMANCE THIS YEAR

In 2018, we outlined our far-reaching
plan to protect the magic of M&S Food -
our industry-leading quality, sourcing
standards, convenience and innovation
—while modernising the rest of our
operations to create a more efficient
Food business and restore it to growth.
We said we would do this through:

- Driving frequency of shop and
broadening appeal beyond special
occasions through trusted value,
more relevant innovation and
family-focused marketing.

- Modernising the Food supply chain
toimprove margin and reduce waste.

- Building more strategic supplier
partnerships to buy better and lowering
costs to invest inimproved value,
while maintaining quality.

- Enabling more customers to shop
our full range —developing bigger,
better, fresher Food stores with a
renewed in-store experience and
through the relationship with Ocado.

The UK Food business outperformed

the market, increasing UK Food sales

by 2.1%, as changes to range, value and
customer communication took effect.
Like-for-like performance was up 1.9% and
strengthened through the year, including
an estimated 0.3% benefit from the effects
of Covid-19in March. Operating profit
before adjusting items increased 11.2%.
The Vangarde supply chain programme
demonstrated the opportunity to reset
the store operating model and reduce
waste and improve availability. In August,
we completed our investment in 50% of
Ocado Retail, which will provide M&S

with a profitable, scalable presencein
online grocery from September 2020.

During the year, we worked to make
M&S Food more price competitive and
improved value perception, without

10 Marks and Spencer Group plc

STRATEGIC REPORT
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compromising our quality point of
difference. We lowered prices on over
500 lines, with a focus on staple products
- such as reducing our Super Soft Vitamin
D White Loaf from £1.15 to 65p. In June,
we introduced Fresh Market Specials,

to showcase our great value across fresh
produce, meat and fish, and featured
products saw significant sales uplifts.
This investment was partly offset by

the reduction of complex, multi-buy
promotions and cost reductions. As a
result, M&S Food is now at its most price
competitive for several years; a basket of
comparable lines is consistently cheaper
than our key competitors, resultingin
improved price perceptions.

We have started to build a more
commercial pipeline of relevant
innovation and broaden our appeal to a
wider range of shoppers. Our award-
winning Plant Kitchen range helped
attract a significant number of new
customers. In September, we introduced
our Cook With range featuring simple
ingredient and meal solutions to help
busy families cook fresh meals fast.

This year’s marketing has been

more family focused with clearer
communication of value. In November,
we launched Re-Marks-able Value - a new
way of talking about our great value
everyday prices where featured products
are price benchmarked against key
competitors while upholding M&S’s
renowned quality. Our sponsorship of
ITV’s Britain's Got Talent took M&S

Food into over eight million homes

each week, while in July our Little

Shop campaign helped attract

more family customers.

We opened five ‘test and learn’ renewal
stores across different formats to
encourage bigger basket shops by
showcasing more of the M&S Food offer.
Within each store, we extended the
square footage of Food trading space and
created a fresh market feel, with a sharper
focus on our value, and the categories
that support a fuller family shop, such

as frozen, bakery and household goods.
Early performance has been encouraging
with strong sales, and we are now
optimising the concept in order to support
further roll-out with a more efficient
renewal model.

The Vangarde end-to-end supply

chain programme has been rolled out
to 90 stores and the team has
demonstrated scope for reducing waste,

improving availability and running stores
more efficiently.

Since completion in August, we have
worked closely with Ocado Retail to create
aone-business mentality and, even
through the crisis, continued a laser focus
on preparations for launch in September
2020 to drive faster growth. We completed
a detailed line-by-line review of the
existing ¢.4,000 Waitrose products and,
from 1September, we will launch with a
compelling range of over 6,000 M&S

lines, complementing the 55,000 Ocado
and branded products, leveraging our
unique capabilities in sourcing and new
product development.

ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19:
HELPING TO FEED THE NATION

Throughout the crisis, we have taken
decisive action to mitigate supply chain
disruption, respond to changesin
consumer shopping behaviour, support
the vulnerable and health and social care
workers, and play our part in feeding the
nation. The Food business experienced
strong trading in standalone Simply Food
stores - particularly those with car parking
- but this was offset by the closure of cafés
and the stores located in travel hubs.

Responding to changing customer
shopping behaviours: In line with
government restrictions, customers
embraced a ‘shop local’ mentality and
we temporarily closed franchise stores
in travel locations and a small number
of owned stores, and redeployed M&S
colleagues to busier Foodhalls. Store
manager-led local communication via
social media helped highlight the M&S
Foodhalls open to serve their community
with social-distancing measures in place
and support for vulnerable customers
through reserved shopping hours.

Range adjustment and protecting
availability: In response to customer
demand, we increased volumes on
grocery, cooking ingredients and
household cleaning products. To enable
suppliers to focus on high-demand
products, we initially rested some lines
and, where necessary, temporarily
introduced branded goods in areas
such as pasta and rice, while temporarily
placing purchasing restrictions on a small
number of items. Following a difficult
initial period, and utilising our strong
supplier relationships, food availability
improved very strongly.



Rapid introduction of new online
solutions to help serveisolated
customers: To provide customers with
essential groceries, we introduced a
temporary partnership with a delivery

app provider, initially at 120 BP franchise
stores, and in May, we extended the service
to selected town and city centre sites
andincluded a broader product range.
Alongside this, we quickly introduced online
M&S Food Boxes, as explained opposite.

[/Ug'm All In

Supporting our suppliers: At its core,
protecting the magicis about protecting
the quality and provenance of our food
through the strength of our supplier
partnerships. Our 10,000 British M&S
Select Farmers have been put under
immense pressure following the collapse
of hospitality sales, labour shortages

and increased absence. M&S stood by its
longstanding commitments to British
sourcing and paying a fair price for milk,
and introduced new initiatives and
promotions on products like steak to help
M&S Select Farmers manage excess stock.
In addition, we extended our funding
platform for smaller Food suppliers to
access immediate payments from our
banking partners to support cash flow.

by the strong growth reported by Ocado
Retail since lockdown, with growth for
the most recent 9 week period of 40.4%

NEVER THE SAME AGAIN PRIORITIES reported at its AGM on 6 May.

- Continue working with Ocado Retail

The impact of Covid-19 has affirmed our
strategy to create an even better value,
differentiated Food business and grow
the volume opportunity by enabling more
customers to shop our full range. While
the shape of trading has been affected

by the change in customer shopping
patterns during Covid-19, we maintain

our belief that we have an opportunity to
double the size of the M&S Food business

inthe medium term. To achieve this we will:

- Develop a winning online Food business
through the successful delivery of the
Ocado switchover which s critical to
bring M&S Food into home and online
delivery. The value of the investment we
have made has been further reinforced

10,000 MéS Fa/fmm

Above We ran a six-week TV, digitaland
in-store campaign to encourage support for
British farmers in the midst of the Covid-19
crisis to put a spotlight on the incredible
food our nation’s farmers produce.

to ensure a compelling offer at the
switchover on 1September through:

- Adding over 6,000 M&S lines to Ocado

from September compared with
¢.4,000 Waitrose lines. In all cases, we
believe M&S product, quality, date life
and price will be equivalent or better
than the current offer.

Finalising product data sets for online
trading, supply chain processes for
direct to Customer Fulfilment Centre
deliveries and switchover procedures
for September.

Delivering synergies for M&S starting
this year and building to not less than
£70m in 36 months from inception

of supply.

Challenge

Supportingisolated customers who
cannot shopin store.

M&S response

In under two weeks we launched

our first online Food Box, and by
May offered a range of eight,
spanning cupboard essentials
through to fresh meat and vegetable
options and convenient ready-meals
and Made-Without versions. The first
boxes were targeted to customers
over 70 identified by our Sparks
loyalty programme. We used
capacity within our Clothing & Home
distribution network to help us
increase volumes and dispatched
over 2,500 boxes per day.
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Number of Food Boxes
dispatched per day

2,500

- Agreeing through Ocado new
supply agreements with major
branded suppliers to improve M&S
competitivenessin branded sourcing.

- We will accelerate our end-to-end
supply chain transformation by
resolving our Gist relationship and
through the roll-out of the Vangarde
programme. This will reset our operating
model to help deliver a positive step
change in our waste and availability
levels, through better forecasting and
allocation, depot process changes, more
timely delivery windows, fill processes
and stock counts. Having begun at
our York Vangarde store, we rolled out
the principles to 90 stores and the
programme will be delivered nationwide,
enhanced by a new ambient food depot.
We expect this to open ahead of
Christmas 2020 to improve availability
during this peak trading quarter.

STRATEGICKPIS

Like-for-like sales

Like-for-like sales performance improved
and strengthened through the year as
we outperformed the market.

+1.9% 191

19/20

Availability

We continued our drive to improve
availability and reduce waste through
the Vangarde programme, designed
toimprove the running of our stores.

93.3%

Value for money perception

The proportion of customers who rated us
highly on value for money. We reduced the
price of over 500 lines by 10% this year to
ensure ‘trusted value’.

63%(18/19: 59%)

Quality perception

The proportion of customers who rated

us highly on quality. Our Food strategy of
‘protect the magic’includes maintaining the
quality our Food products are famous for.

86%(18/19: 85%)
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CLOTHING & HOME

Financial highlights

£3.2bn""

UK Clothing & Home revenue

£223.9m >

Operating profit before adjusting items

PERFORMANCE THIS YEAR

Last year, we set out plans to address

the historical challenges of our Clothing
business and the action required to start
the reversal of its declining performance.
We outlined how we would build a more
confident Clothing business focused on
contemporary, wearable stylish clothes,
underpinned by great quality and value.
To do this, we said we would:

- Restore style and value credentials
and broaden appeal to a family
age customer.

- Reduce the proliferation of range
and options.

- Substantially increase high-volume
wardrobe staples in key categories
such as denim and school wear.

- Target one third of sales online by 2022.
- Modernise our end-to-end supply chain.

- Trade more effectively in season -
with a first price, right price mentality.

- Continue to reduce the quantity of
sale merchandise.

In 2019/20, UK Clothing & Home sales
decreased by 8.3%, with like-for-like
revenue down 6.2% including an estimated
2.2% adverse impact from Covid-19in
March. Online revenue remained level.
Operating profit before adjusting

items declined 37.0%, largely driven by
lower sales and gross margin and also
the impact of the crisis. Following a
challenging start to the year, we made

up for lost time through the second half,
taking decisive action to trade the ranges
through shorter clearance periods and
improving availability. For the 8 weeks
ended 22 February UK Clothing & Home
like-for-like revenue increased 0.3%,
driven by stronger trends at M&S.com,
up until the beginning of the crisis.

12 Marks and Spencer Group plc

In Womenswear, we took action to simplify
our ranges; the number of options was
reduced by 11% and we increased volume
onourtop 100 lines resulting in strong
uplifts. We focused on hero categories
and saw what is possible when we back
our best-performing categories with
contemporary fits, clear price architecture,
supportive marketing aimed at our family
customers and relevant innovation. In
Denim, we increased our market-leading
position and have seen a sales uplift of
10% across two years. We also launched
Goodmove - a great-value, stylish
activewear range developed on M&S'’s
strength in performance fabrics and
sports brainnovation - designed to
broaden appeal and capitalise on the
fast-growing athleisure category. Early
sales were strong resulting in an improved
16% growth in this category in the first
three months.

Lingerie held its leading market share at
27%,including our highest ever Bra market
share, with a strong performance from
Collection,and anincreased rate of sale

as option count marginally reduced. In
Kidswear, under a new leadership team,
the shift away from ‘Sunday best’to more
casual ranges at better value resulted in
like-for-like sales growth in the second half.

Teething issues held us back in Menswear
as we transition to a more contemporary
style, but we do not expect these issues
to be repeated. Hero categories started
to see improving trends after Christmas,
and knitwear like-for-like sales grew by
5.6%, following a strong marketing effort,
in contrast to further declinesin formal
clothing experienced alongside the
broader market.

As set out on page 17, M&S.com
performance was level, with our
percentage of UK Clothing &Home
sales online at 22%. Issues in Clothing &
Home availability and conversion as
more customers chose to shop on
mobile impacted the first half of the
year. Performance improved somewhat
inthe second half as initial steps

were taken to improve the customer
proposition and Search Engine
Optimisation (SEO) prior to the adverse
trading impact of Covid-19. M&S.comis
to be re-organised under new leadership
as part of the post-Covid programme.

Supported by the new mezzanine,

our distribution centre Castle Donington
had a strong Christmas performance -
including its biggest day on record -
sending 417,000 customer parcels.
Within our stores logistics network we

continued to make changes -announcing
the closure of the final two regional
distribution centres. This move will help
improve flow of product through the
supply chain and therefore availability
nationwide for customers shoppingin
store. We know our performance remains
held back by limitations in supply chain
capability and our current processes still
add cost and complexity. Led by Paul
Babbs, our new Head of Clothing & Home
Supply Chain, we will act at pace to
improve the planning, flow, visibility

and complexity of deliveries.

ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19

Following the lockdown announcement
on 22 March, our Clothing & Home store
operations were packed down within

24 hours. This, combined with subdued
customer demand, resulted in store sales
being reduced to a trickle. Although online
Clothing & Home traded throughout,
demand ininitial weeks for clothing was
very low with a gradual uplift afterwards.

The following actions were implemented to
mitigate risk and support our operations.

Supporting online distribution at
Castle Donington: We acted quickly to
implement hygiene measures and support
for colleagues at our online distribution
centre. The high levels of automation at
the site have been beneficial for the
implementation of social distancing

so that we can help keep our fantastic
distribution centre colleagues well and
maintain service and redivert capacity
to support Food operations.

Decisive action on stock management,
supporting long-term suppliers: We took
fast action to manage stock and costs

to secure the business for the future.

We cancelled all late summer stock
production from 24 March. Around
£400m of remaining stock and forward
ordersis year-round ‘essentials’ product,
and this will be carried forward into future
seasons. Of the unsold seasonal stock,

we made arrangements to hibernate a
proportion until Spring 2021 and secured
storage facilities. We adjusted supplier
payment terms to improve our working
capital position. However, with the

impact of Covid-19 felt acutely across

the garment industry, we put in place
measures to support our long-term
suppliers, who remain as important to our
business as ever and we will continue to
work in partnership with them through the
crisis. We paid for all shipped products and
offered pre-payment for the vast majority



Al In Thie
Together T-shirt

M&S Ambassador Holly Willoughby
launched our ‘AllIn This Together T-shirt’in aid
of NHS Charities Together and it sold out on
the day of launch.
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of orders and committed fabric -

the most expensive cost for a supplier.
We continued to offer vendor finance
and letters of credit enabling suppliers
to getimmediate access to cash. We
continue to work with the Ethical Trading
Initiative, the International Labour
Organization and remain committed

to our community projects.

Following a trial, we rolled out a store
pick model to 83 stores to service M&S.
com protecting online availability on
core products such as babywear and
clearing stock.

Adapting the M&S.com journey to reflect
customer behaviours: We were agile to
customers’ needs and updated the site
architecture to make it easier to shop
popular categories such as leisurewear
and kidswear. As set out on page 17,

we optimised site performance and set up
a dedicated SEO working party to improve
search rankings. To drive longer-term
customer loyalty and engagement during
the lockdown phase, we highlighted the
benefits of the M&S app resulting in three
times as many weekly downloads of the
app by new customers.

Adapting our customer propositions:
We introduced contactless delivery as
standard and made changes to customer
service to reflect lockdown, including
extending our returns policy to 90 days
and lengthening the collection widow for
Click & Collect orders. We kept customers
updated on service changes through a
dedicated Covid-19 page on M&S.com.

Readjustment of our logistics network:
Following the suspension of store
deliveries, around 3,000 logistics network
colleagues were furloughed. We worked
with our third-party logistics providers
and offered wage support while they
waited for support from the government’s
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme.

The number of furloughed colleagues was
reviewed weekly as we progressed into the
new financial year to ensure cost-saving
was balanced with the need to support
online trading and food operations.

STRATEGICKPIS

Like-for-like sales

Like-for-like sales for 2019/20 were adversely
impacted by availability in H1. However,
before the impact of Covid-19, the eight
weeks ended 22 February showed
encouraging signs of improvement with
like-for-like sales increasing 0.3%.

_6.2% -1.6% 7 18/19

-6.2% 19/20

Value for money perception
The proportion of customers who rated us

highly onvalue for money. We are accelerating
our move towards trusted value for customers.

67% (18/19: 65%)

NEVER THE SAME AGAIN PRIORITIES

The crisis has rapidly altered customer
behaviour for the future, with sharp
growth in online channels. This will likely
continue at least in the coming months
ahead, and to respond and adapt:

- We will broaden relevance and
increase online growth by introducing
complementary guest brands to
M&S.com and large store formats.
Additionally, we have agreed with Ocado
Retail that around 850 core Clothing &
Home products - such as school wear
and underwear - will be available on
the site from September and around
1,600 core Clothing & Home lines per
year will be available on the site.

- The move to more trusted value will
be accelerated with an opportunity
to further reshape our buy and
permanently reduce Autumn/Winter
store option counts by 20%. Supplier
concentration activity will be brought

We're Al In Thiz
Together

Annual Report &Financial Statements 2020

Style perception

The proportion of customers who rated
us highly on style. We are reengineering
our Clothing & Home business towards
more contemporary fit and style as well
asimprovement to our core ranges.

68% (18/19: 58%)

Clothing & Home space

We continue to make good progressin
reshaping our store estate for customers.

_2-3% 18/19

19/20

10.7m sq ft
10.4m sq ft

forward ensuring more strategic
commercial partnerships. The reduction
in forward order volumes has forced

the need to change ranges and buy
more of less from fewer core suppliers.

- Therole of the sourcing offices will
be increased so that sampling, ordering
and quality issues are dealt with
offshore and we will bring forward the
implementation of a fast ‘near sourcing’
supply chainto enable a test and
re-order approach to seasonal
fashionlines.

- The strengthening of our leadership

team with the arrival of Richard Price
(Clothing MD), Stephen Langford
(Head of Online) and Paul Babbs
(Head of Supply Chain) will help us
fulfil our priorities at pace. Through
delivering these actions we believe we
will emerge from the crisis with a much
more focused and relevant range
offering substantially better value.

Challenge

Customers and colleagues asked
M&S if there was a way we could
create a product range so they
could do their bit and show support
for the NHS.

M&S response

The team moved quickly to produce
a fantastic range of T-shirts for the
whole family with all profits going to
NHS Charities Together. Our
designers came up with the
distinctive designin 24 hours -and
we repurposed stock and sent it to
the printers and launched on the
web within a week. Holly Willoughby
(see above) launched the campaign
and the T-shirts sold at a rate of one
per second. Further batches sold
quickly supported by M&S Food
Ambassador Amanda Holden, who
used the artwork as the cover of her
charity single.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

INTERNATIONAL
& SERVICES

Highlights

£€110.7m**

Operating profit before adjusting items

85

Net promoter score’

Our International business recorded a net
promoter score for the first time in line with
the wider business and will continue to
measure future progress against this.

44 (18/19: 39)

International websites

Arange of Covid-19 measures
across our international store estate
were introduced to follow local
government guidance and keep our
colleagues and customers well.

1. Net promoter score (NPS)equals percentage of
‘promoters’ minus the percentage of ‘detractors’.

14 Marks and Spencer Group plc

PERFORMANCE THIS YEAR

Last year, we said that the actions we

had taken in closing loss-making stores
and changing the business model to
focus on working with partnersin select
markets with the potential for growth
had resulted in us making headway in our
transformation. However, we were clear
we had further to go to improve our local
relevance and competitiveness. We said
we would do this through:

- Expanding in strategic, scale markets.

- Modernising our store estateina
low-cost way to improve our
customer experience.

- Strengthening market right pricing and
further localising ranges to become
more competitive and grow volume.

- Continue the roll-out of our
international online channels.

Over the past year, the International
business has faced significant headwinds
including stock efficiency management
by franchise partners resulting in reduced
shipments, political unrest in Hong Kong
and France, and - most significantly -
Covid-19. This disruption, combined

with weak performance in Ireland, resulted
in revenues for the year declining at
constant currency by 2.5%. Trading
conditions deteriorated significantly in
March with a number of markets or stores
unable to trade due to the virus, resulting
in operating profit (before adjusting items)
declining 15.2% to £110.7m.

In line with our priorities, throughout the
year we drove local relevance through
market right pricing in select markets,
with average selling prices dropped by
-12%, boosting sales by +2% and volumes
by +15%. Alongside this, we continued to
drive greater localisation of our products
to meet the needs of our customersin
key markets, such as in India where 25%
of Womenswear and Menswear is now
specifically designed for the market.

We expanded and modernised our store
estate to 481 stores, opening 47,18 in
owned and 29 in franchise markets,

as well as modernising 24 and closing 10.

Our international e-commerce channels
are divided into direct shipments from the
UK, sales on third-party marketplaces and
sales fulfilled by franchise partners on
their own websites. This year, in line with
our strategy, we launched an additional

five transactional websites, including

our flagship website in India — our key
owned market —and now sell online

to customers in 44 different countries.
Our e-commerce sales channels
performed strongly with online retail
sales growing +26% on last year to £103m,
and we saw further growth in online sales
following store closures in markets as a
result of Covid-19.

ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19

The impact of Covid-19 has mirrored the
spread of the virus from China and South
East Asia, where we have a presencein
Hong Kong, Singapore and Malaysia,

to the Middle East, impacting operations
in the UAE, Saudi Arabia and Dubai and
then Europe. By the end of the financial
year, it had resulted in 382 stores closures,
almost 80% of the estate.

We took a number of actions to support
our International colleagues, partners
and customers:

Supported our partners: Established
partner and operational support teams
with daily crisis calls and identified
alternative ways to deliver our products
to customers while meeting local
government guidance, including the
launch of a Deliveroo partnership

in France.

Reinforced our online sales channels
for customers: Optimised our existing
e-commerce sales channels in key
markets like in Czech Republic where we
supported the acceleration of customers
shopping online through promoting both
our own flagship website, and the leading
local e-supermarket, for customers to
continue purchasing M&S products.

Responded to increased product
demand: Worked with suppliers and
partners to maintain supply of fresh food
products in our Asian markets through
sourcing alternative delivery routes

to market.

Boosted operational support for
partners: Delivered international buying
fairs for partners, which are usually
attended by over 100 people in the UK,
online for the first time so partners were
able to continue reviewing and selecting
products to sell in their markets for the
year ahead despite restrictions on travel.



Provided colleague training and support:
Ran online training for colleagues affected
by locally enforced lockdowns in visual
merchandising and store management
courses to upskill with high engagement
and participation rates.

NEVER THE SAME AGAIN PRIORITIES

The double-digit growth in International
online sales achieved since Covid-19
signals that we have potential to achieve
astep changein this area, as well as
continuing to improve and develop

the localisation of M&S internationally.
Our priorities will be:

— Turbocharge our international
e-commerce proposition as the
crisis drives more customers to shop
online, which we have begun with
improvements in our online service
for customers through Covid-19,
and attain faster growth ratesin
these channels, which operate
attractive contribution margins.

- Adapt to changing customer
behaviours, with social-distancing
measures encouraging less contact,
by prioritising efficient store
modernisations, such as our One Raffles
Place store in Singapore. In this store
we have digitally enhanced operations
which now include features such as
Mobile Pay Go for a contact-free
shopping experience for customers.

- Reduce costs and improve support for
further growth in 2020/21 by prioritising
investment in the Hemel Hempstead
export centre to avoid inventory
being double handled through the
UK network and deliver a more
accurate and efficient service for
our international partners.

SERVICES

We continued to provide our customers
with a range of services through our wider
family of businesses, including financial
services through M&S Bank (managed

by HSBC) and fully renewable electricity
via M&S Energy (in partnership with
Octopus). M&S Bank & Services income
before adjusting items was down £10.2m
to £16.8m. This was predominantly

the result of anincrease in bad debt
provisioning due to a higher risk of
customer default. M&S Bankincome after

adjusting items decreased £1.9m to £4.2m.

Following the onset of Covid-19

our Services businesses also continued
to support customers through measures
such asintroducing priority access for
NHS and emergency services on our
telephone lines, or offering guidance

on fraud protection during this time.

Above We modernised 24 additional
stores across our international estate
this year, including One Raffles Place in
Singapore, which features arange of
digital services for customers.

Left We are looking to expand our
international online channels as more of
our international customers choose to
shop for the best of M&S online through
our flagship sites, such asin Greece.

Annual Report &Financial Statements 2020
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STRATEGICKPIS

Footfall (average per week)

18 Om(18/19: 18.6m)

Transactions (average per week)

11 9m(18/19: 11.4m)

Net promoter score'
73 (18/19: 68)

Net promoter score (NPS) equals percentage of

‘promoters’ minus the percentage of ‘detractors’.

We're AL In This
Togtther

Keeping all our customers

Q
and colleagues well '

We moved quickly to help keep our
colleagues well as they worked and to
help our customers get the things they
needed and feel confident shopping

by introducing strict hygiene protocols
and investing in social distancing. Our list
of measures was extensive, including
comprehensive hygiene routines for
items such as trolleys and baskets,
putting in new equipment such as

perspex screens at till points, and using
signage to encourage contactless
payment where possible.

Marks and Spencer Group plc

STRATEGIC REPORT

CHANNELS

STORES & PROPERTY

PERFORMANCE THIS YEAR

Last year, we said we had made progress
in reshaping our store estate to reflect
rapidly changing customer habits and
address years of underinvestment.

But we had further to go and would
continue to focus our attention on:

- Accelerating the pace of our store
estate reshape.

- Expanding our reshape programme
toinclude redeveloping sites to
make the most of our existing space.

- Beginning to look at our new
store formats.

Good progress was made on the store
reshape programme, with 54 of our legacy
shared stores closed to date out of 110.
Spend on UK store space was down as

13 fewer owned Food stores opened
compared with the prior year.

Our transformation requires well-located
stores reflecting how customers want to
shop today. An example of this would

be the move of our Rochdale store to

the new Riverside development, an area
that is family-focused, in a convenient
location with a great mix of leisure and
retail facilities plus car parking.

We empowered store colleagues and
increased efficiency through industry-
leading technology. In partnership

with Microsoft, we rolled out our Teams
platform to deliver more seamless
communication between stores and
support centres. The move has given store
managers greater access to data torun
insight-driven stores and bring the voice
of the stores back into the heart of M&S.

As outlined on page 10, we saw
encouraging early sales results
from the five renewal ‘test and learn’
Food stores opened in the year.

Our Property Development team began
proactively researching ways to unlock
and maximise value out of our property
portfolio through active management
of the estate and using space effectively.

ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19

- Quickly responded to government
guidance, closing all Clothing only
outlets, packing down our Clothing &
Home sections in 24 hours and
suspending M&S Bank Bureaux,
cafés and other in-store servicesin
our large stores.

- Introduced a range of social-distancing
and hygiene measures in stores to
help keep our customers and
colleagues well, including regular
handwashing breaks, perspex screens
at checkouts, additional cleaning of
trolleys and baskets.

- Introduced dedicated shopping hours
for elderly and more vulnerable
customers, as well as NHS, emergency
services, and health and social
care workers.

- Beganengaging landlords with the
aim of introducing flexibility on
property costs to help us manage
our overall cost base.

- Deferred closure of two stores to
later in the year to support communities
and continue to provide our
customers access to our full range
of Food products.

- Reduced facilities and equipment
activity to mirror an anticipated decline
in upcoming new store activity —
including permanently removing
substantial costs from storage and
maintenance of our equipment.

NEVER THE SAME AGAIN PRIORITIES

Addressing our ageing store estate to
meet the rapidly changing customer
behaviours remains an important part
of our transformation programme and
to accelerate this we will:

- Progress the emphasis of our store
reshape programme towards the
relocation of ageing stores as the
downturn creates opportunities for
new sites.

- Maintain our dialogue with landlords on
commercial terms on lease contracts.

- Prioritise capital expenditure to focus
on essential and short payback
investments focused on growth as we
move towards extension of the food
renewal formats and redevelopment
proposals for a few of the older, larger
city centre stores.

- Fast-forward the expansion and
integration of technology into our
store environments to support our
colleagues in stores.



STRATEGICKPIS

Percentage of UK Clothing & Home
sales online

22.5% "

Traffic (visits per week)

9 5m+8.0%

Net promoter score'

57 (18/19: 54)

We're All In This
Togtther

Challenge: With many customers unable
to shop in a store while self-isolating,
M&S wanted to provide a way to help
volunteers shop on behalf of the most
vulnerable customersin their
community.

Response: \We created the M&S ‘We're
AllIn This Together’ E-Gift Cards so
customers —or their family or friends -
can purchase online and email the
barcode to volunteer shoppers to use
as payment in our stores —removing the
need to exchange cash or payment

transfers. This was a simple way for
volunteers to pay without cash ora
payment card and we received over
1,000 orders for the E-Gift Cards within
the first two weeks of launch.

M&S.COM AND DIGITAL &DATA

PERFORMANCE THIS YEAR

Last year, we said improvements had been
made to M&S.com to bring us back to level
but were clear there was more work to

do to become a Digital First business.

We outlined the required changes to
enhance the operational performance of
our digital channels and address the slow
progress towards creating a Digital First
culture. These included:

- Improving search functions and
enhancing the end-to-end journey
to get the customer to the product
they want faster.

- Creating ajoined-up operation between
M&S.com and stores by adding more
collection points and improving
fulfilment times on Click & Collect
and giving colleagues on the shop
floor the technology they need
(e.g. ordering product and checking
stock for customers on the shop floor
using tablets).

- Engaging customers with a more
personalised experience across digital
products and marketing
communications.

- Fast-forwarding progress to become a
data-driven digitally enabled workforce
and leverage our external partnerships
to help get us there.

Online revenue growth for the year

was level and was showing improvements
in the second half before Covid-19
significantly impacted performancein
Q4, particularly across Clothing & Home.
Digitalis being re-organised under a
single transformation team, bringing
together data, online and technology

as part of the post-Covid programme.

Operationally, we improved aspects of
the online customer experience, such as
extending order cut-off time to 11pm for
Click & Collect and midnight for next day
delivery. Our online distribution centre
at Castle Donington delivered our best
performance over Christmas with peak
week despatch up 18% overall, including
the biggest ever despatch day, with no
operationalissues.

However, we have yet to harness the
growth a digitally enabled organisation
can create. To rectify this, we established a
central Digital & Data function to provide
support across the business, ensuring a
seamless customer experience and
improving personalisation, embedding
digital across our stores and shopping
missions, revamping our loyalty
proposition and ensuring we are at the
forefront of the latest innovation and
trends. We also continued to work with
our external partners, such as Microsoft
and Founders Factory, to act as a catalyst
for change and drive our aim to become a
Digital First business forward.

ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19

— Prioritised the wellbeing of our
colleagues and quickly revised our
M&S.com operations and supporting
services, such as our distribution
centres, to follow government
social-distancing and hygiene
guidelines (see further detail in
Clothing & Home section on page 12).

- Adapted M&S.com journey to
reflect rapidly changing customer
behaviours, including trading our site
with refreshed architecture focused
on the required goods most searched
for by customers such as kidswear,
bedding, towels, loungewear.

— Temporarily suspended event-focused
elements of our Food to Order to enable
greater operational focus on customer
fulfilment and new initiatives such as
the launch of contactless delivery
across Clothing, Home, Food and
flower orders.

- Adjusted delivery timeframes as
needed for the extra measuresin
place to keep all colleagues and
customers well.

— Expanded our Mobile Pay Go payment
facility to a further 100 stores to
further help minimise contact during
payment process.

NEVER THE SAME AGAIN PRIORITIES

As aresult of the crisis, we must take
the opportunity to accelerate the
construction of M&S.com into a winning
online proposition, as Covid-19 forces
more customers than ever to permanently
shift shopping preferences to online.
The crisis resulted in M&S.com trading
for a period as our only significant
Clothing business and showed us the
need to be leaner, faster and more
integrated to compete with pure-play
online competitors.

Our new post-Covid ambition for the
GCroup will therefore be to drive at least
one third of sales online and our priorities
will be to:

— Reorganise M&S.com under new
leadership to drive improvements.

— Fracture the old ‘stores first’ mindset
and treat M&S.com as our biggest and
best store.

— Roll out well-known brands across our
M&S.com and large store platforms
as a startin broadening our appeal.

- Unlock the potential of our colleagues
by accelerating our Digital First
behaviour changes across the business.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

PEOPLE & CULTURE

A year ago we set out our culture

that we want to create as part of the
transformation, drawing on the values of
the pastina modern way to establish a
renewed and reinvigorated workplace. We
were clear that we want to make M&S the
most engaging, involving place to workin
UK retail, with a fast-moving, empowered
organisation and flat organisational
structure. Our plan was based on:

- Transforming our organisational design
to a family of accountable businesses
to drive ownership, pace and
commerciality.

- Creating empowered, responsive and
commercial leaders who are close to
the frontline.

- Putting the voice of the stores back at
the centre of the business.

- Creating a culture of plain speaking.

- Moving away from hierarchy to an
organisation that welcomes argument
and challenge and respects all
colleagues equally.

TRANSFORMATION PROGRESS

Transforming our organisational design

In the past year, we have halved the
number of our central offices in

London and Manchester and moved to
segmental reporting for each business
unitin line with our model of accountable
business units supported by a smaller
corporate centre.

Creating a team of empowered,
responsive and commercial leaders

We have continued to attract world-class
talent and have built a strong team over
the past year. Katie Bickerstaffe joined
the executive team as Chief Strategy and
Transformation Director, Eoin Tonge will
start as Chief Financial Officerin June and
Richard Price will be taking up his role as
Clothing & Home Managing Director.

We have also welcomed new leaders into
key positions. Will Smith joined as Property
Director in May from Asda, Helen Milford
joins as Store Operations Director from
JSainsbury on 1June, Paul Babbs is soon
to arrive as Head of Clothing &Home
Supply Chain from Adidas, Stephen
Langford arrived from George at Asda to
be Head of Clothing & Home Online in May
and Craig Lovelace joins the Food team as
Finance Director from N Brown. These new
leaders make up ¢.40% of the leadership
team - providing diverse experience and a

18 Marks and Spencer Group plc

Above Our colleagues’ commitment to our customers, communities and each other in the crisis has
been phenomenal.

mix of fresh eyes and talent we have
promoted from within M&S.

We have made initial progressin

building a wider leadership team, moving
from a ‘senior leadership group’to a
‘transformation leadership team’, but we
have more to do to devolve accountability
and create a sense of shared mission.

Putting the store voice at the heart
of the business

Trading areas of the business have begun
to work more closely with the stores. There
are now weekly buyers and sellers calls
where store and the commercial teams
review the prior week’s trading and
develop action plans, and a weekly store
feedback call on how plans are landing.

Business-wide programmes now begin
in stores rather than being developed
centrally. The Vangarde supply chain
efficiency programme is named after
the York store where it was developed
before being rolled out by operators
themselvesin atest and learn approach.

The roll-out of the Microsoft Teams
communication platform has been
transformational in connecting
colleagues, to each other and to the
centre. Teams has launched across all

UK stores and 800 digital champions have
been trained to support colleagues with
the transition. Teams is available for all
colleagues on their personal devices

and 43,000 are now using Teams to

stay connected. We are also rolling out
functionality so colleagues can use Teams

to manage shifts as well as viewing and
logging the completion of tasks.

Aninvolving, engaging culture where
everyone can get on

This year, we launched new clear
behaviours, after extensive collaboration
with colleagues. They are ‘talk straight’,
‘ownitand get it done’,‘make every

penny count’and ‘allin for the customer’.
Talk straight really resonated, reflecting
the need to encourage plain speaking,
and the business tone of voice has started
to become more direct.

Our colleague representative body BIG
(Business Involvement Croup) attends
the PLC Board and Operating Committee
regularly, providing a link between the
business and frontline. However, despite
its strengths, the organisation and culture
of BIC has been overly formal. Over the
past six months, BIG has begun to
transform so it can better engage and
involve colleagues and partner the
business on its transformation.

To better track sentiment, we have moved
from an annual colleague survey to a
monthly digital pulse. The results are
shared with colleagues and give aregular
read on morale. Ownership has moved
from HR to leaders and an easy-to-use
online action planning tool has been
introduced to help managers respond
toresults and embed tracking of action
plans into performance management.
Every quarter, there is a ‘deep dive’ to look
at cross-business unit patterns, and after
the first full quarter of resultsin Q4,



engagement levels were at 81% and
colleague Net Promoter Score (NPS)
was at 12 — providing a baseline for the
next quarter.

Developing our people has moved on

this year. The Food business introduced
Academies to develop core technical skills
and courses to support behavioural and
leadership skills such as resilience and
emotionalintelligence. However, progress
has been too patchy and more needs

to be done to standardise and improve
our approach.

We have continued with the Marks & Start
programme, which has supported 20,000
people on their journey to work. It benefits
us in many ways, including the diversity

of our workforce with 25% of participants
having a disability and 20% from the BAME
community. This year saw our biggest ever
level of PRIDE support,and we became
the first UK retailer to introduce sunflower
lanyards into all stores, which helps
customers and colleagues with hidden
disabilities. We retained our recognition
asa Times Top 50 Employer for Women
for our promotion of gender equality.
However, we need to do more on our
approach to diversity and inclusion and
thisis an area of focus.

Data-driven decision-making

Becoming a data and digitally enabled
business s at the core of our
transformation and is covered on page 17.
Tablets have now been rolled out to every
store management team so they can
access the information they need to

run their stores —including store-level
profit and loss accounts.

ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19

- Our colleagues’ commitment to our
customers, communities and each other
in the crisis has been phenomenal.
There has been a positive acceleration
in our culture change and we have
captured the lessons to ensure that
old habits aren’t reverted to.

- The business has taken care to support
all colleagues. Every colleague who has
needed to self-isolate, including those
required to shield themselves for
12 weeks, has been able to do soon
full pay. Store colleagues remaining at
work supporting the business have been
rewarded with 15% bonus pay for the
duration of the lockdown period.

- Colleagues have shown great flexibility
and teamwork with 4,500 colleagues
moving overnight from hospitality and
C&H operations to our Foodhalls, and
25,000 store colleagues voluntarily
being furloughed in under a week.
Colleagues have multitasked and taken
on different roles and we will look to
embed this way of working permanently.

- Thefocus on costs has driven clarity
of purpose, decision-making and
commerciality,and teams have been
empowered to act and deliver plans
regardless of hierarchy. Office-based
colleagues have worked effectively
fromm home and the roll-out of Teams
has been accelerated so that most
business units are now at over 90%
usage and colleague events have
been hosted virtually.

- Digital communication direct to the
frontline has driven high levels of
engagement and created a dialogue
and momentum that we do not want
to lose.

NEVER THE SAME AGAIN PRIORITIES

— Prior toresults, we announced the
business will be led by a smaller
executive team to drive a faster pace
of action and increased focus on
transformation priorities.

- Alldecision-making bodies will be
re-set following this shift and the role of
the wider Transformation Leadership
Team will be clarified and redefined.
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- There-set of our colleague
communication will be embedded to
support our aim of creating the most
engaging, involving and dynamic
place to work in UK retail. This will
include designing and developing a
new induction programme, graduate
programme and leadership framework
to attract, develop and retain
top talent.

- Robust performance management and
rewards frameworks will be launched to
drive accountability, commerciality and
pace. Underpinning this, a new People IT
system is being developed to remove
unnecessary process and move to a
more self-service model for managers
and colleagues.

COLLEAGUE REPRESENTATION MEASUREMENTS

Total employees’

Female
53,219

® Male
22,286

75,505

Total senior managers'

Female
52 (41%)

® Male
74 (59%)

126

Total Board'?

Female
3(37.5%)

® Male
5(62.5%)

1. Asat28March 2020.

SENIOR MANAGERS FROM
ETHNIC MINORITIES

8%(18/19: 5%)

We remain firmly committed to our target of
having 50% women and 15% BAME colleague
representation in our senior management team
by 2022, and we continued to expand and
support our range of colleague diversity
networks across the business this year.

ENGAGEMENT

81% (18/19: 81%)

The proportion of our colleagues who feel
proud to work at M&S and enjoy what they do.

2. FordetailsonchangestoBoard genderdiversity since year end see page 46.

GENDER PAY GAP

12.9%(18/19: 12.5%)

Our Gender Pay Gap, the percentage
difference between average hourly earnings
for men versus women, increased this year
but remained lower than the UK average.

COLLEAGUE NET PROMOTER SCORE

12

The first full quarter results of our new
monthly digital colleague pulse, following
the move away from an annual colleague
survey to better track colleague sentiment
throughout the year. We will continue to
report against these revised measurements
in future.
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SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

ENCACEMENT &
DECISION-MAKINC

S172(1) REPORTING

The directors are bound by their duties
under the Companies Act 2006 (the
“Act”) and the manner in which these have
been discharged, particularly their duty
to promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as a whole,
forms a core theme of this report.

The following pages comprise our
Section 172 statement, setting out how
the directors have, in performing their
duties over the course of the year, had
regard to the matters set out in Section
172(1) (a) to (f) of the Companies Act 2006.
We have integrated our reporting on how
our stakeholders have been considered
in terms of our business modeland
governance throughout this report:

€ Board activities, see p48 and p49
@ Plan A, see p22to p24

€ Ourresponse to the Covid-19 crisis,
see p50 to p53

@ Throughout the Strategic Report on
p2top43

OUR APPROACH

The Board is responsible for leading
stakeholder engagement, ensuring
that we fulfil our obligations to those
impacted by the business. We believe
that considering our stakeholders in key
business decisions is not only the right
thing to do, but is fundamental to our
ability to drive value creation over the
longer term and to make M&S special
again. Now, as we enter a new financial
year in the midst of a global pandemic,
balancing the needs and expectations
of our stakeholders has never been a
more important or challenging task.

Onthese pages, we have grouped our
stakeholders into six key categories

and have provided an overview of their
interests, their concerns and the ways
inwhich the Board acted with regard to
these groups when taking its key strategic
decisions and shaping the transformation
strategy throughout the year. These have
been provided within the context of our
nine strategic pillars to present more
clearly how our stakeholders are integral
to delivering our strategy.

COVID-19 000

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a
significant impact on all of our
stakeholders since it emerged towards

the end of the financial year. This impact
and how we have responded to

protect our business and manage the
expectations of our stakeholders

is set outin full on pages 50 to 53.

Marks and Spencer Group plc

STAKEHOLDER PRIORITIES

SHAREHOLDERS

Engagement with our institutional and

private shareholdersis an ongoing process,
occurring through a range of channels including
face-to-face meetings at investor days, calls
with the management team, private shareholder
panels, our ACM and through arange of
shareholder specific communicationsissued

by email. The transformation strategy has been
shaped with M&S’s long-term success in mind
and for the benefit of our members as a whole.
Examples of long-term planninginclude the
growth opportunities presented by Ocado and
the liquidity preservation measures takenas a
result of Covid-19, including suspension of
dividend payments (see page 43 for more detail).

Key priorities: Delivering sustainable, profitable
growth over the longer term.

COLLEAGUES

Our colleagues are the heart and soul of

the business and central to its success,

so properly incorporating their views into
Board decision-making is essential to our
transformation, of which culture changeis a
key plank. To achieve this, the role of our
Business Involvement Group (BIC) network
has been redeveloped with a more regular
presence at Board and Remuneration
Committee meetings. Feedback, suggestions
and concerns from colleagues across the
business are also considered through channels
such as our Monday trading calls, Talk Straight
monthly colleague engagement and the
Suggest to Steve initiative. The Board receives
regular updates on these topics.

Key priorities: Providing an inclusive and
diverse place to work; amplifying the colleague
voice in company decision-making.

SUPPLIERS

Our long-term supplier partnerships are an
important part of being able to innovate

and offer trusted value to customers. In 2019,
we focused on improving our supply chain;

an essential facet of our strategy and one that
canonly be driven forwards through continuing,
close engagement with our suppliers. Looking
ahead, the launch of Ocado and our ambition
to grow online to one third of sales presents
significant, mutually beneficial volume growth
opportunities that we will continue to work with
our suppliers to achieve.

Key priorities: Prompt and accurate payment
for goods and services; driving mutually
beneficial volume growth.

CUSTOMERS

Ensuring the customer is at the heart of every
decisionis crucial to the Board’s strategy.

This year, we have focused on our customers
by offering trusted value and a wider range

in Food, moving to a first price, right price
approach with improved availability in Clothing
&Home, reshaping our store estate and
improving our website to serve customers
however they want to shop. We engage directly
with customers through social media and have
implemented a range of measures to protect
their safety and promote social distancing to
minimise the risk of Covid-19 spread.

Key priorities: Creat quality and value
products; having good availability across
product linesin the right sizes; a store estate
and online offer that are easy to shop.

COMMUNITIES

Preserving the links we have established with
the communities we serve is animportant
factorinthe Board’s discussions and has helped
shape, for example, our approach to reducing
plastic packaging, food waste, charitable
initiatives that our customers can support and,
in particular, the store renewal programme.
While the benefits of new store openings are
clear, we recognise that closures are a sensitive,
albeit necessary, course of action for a business
increasing the proportion of sales it delivers
online. Careful management of this process has
been a significant area of focus for the Board.

Key priorities: A fair contribution to society
and the economy; a socially responsible
business; a strong presence in the community

through a properly shaped store estate.
PARTNERS ‘

Our digital, franchise and JV partners have
been animportant feature of Board discussions,
from the participation of senior members

of the Ocado team at Board meetings to
leveraging the expertise of our digital partners
to make better use of technology in our
transformation. Into 2020/21, we have worked
in partnership with the UK government,

banks and other food retailers to secure

both the continuity of UK food supplies and
the future liquidity of our business.

Key priorities: A corporate partner that
responds to concerns and acknowledges
jurisdictional and technical expertise.



During the year, as the Board made decisions implementing our strategy, the different interests of our
stakeholder groups, and the impact of key decisions upon them, were considered.

The following page provides an overview of how decisions taken in furtherance of each of our strategic pillars,
primarily prior to the Covid-19 outbreak, were influenced by, and impacted, our six stakeholder groups. While not an exhaustive list,
these examples give a flavour of how integral our stakeholders are in the Board’s decision-making process.

TRANSFORMING
OUR LEADERSHIP

@ New appointments at senior levels
and our work to improve the flow of
incoming talent with expertise in key
areas such as design, digital and data will
enhance our ability to deliver sustainable
growth for investors and colleagues.

@ | Colleagues told us that their role in
delivering the transformation was often
unclear, so we developed a set of clear,
relatable behaviours, with supporting
training to help them - the benefits of
which are now being realised.

@ © @ Ournew Code of Conduct
strengthens the governance processes
that underpin key Group-level policies,
standards and technical procedures
that support and protect our colleagues,
suppliers and partners.

BUILDING GREATER
ACCOUNTABILITY

@ © @ Anewframework of delegated
authorities, including P&L accountability,
for each of the family of businesses was
established to remove bureaucracy and
better serve customers, suppliers and
partners at business unit level.

@ © @ The Board oversaw support for
suppliers by ensuring compliance with
our ethical and environmental principles
through training, conferences, workshops
and other development opportunities.

@ © @ Engaging with colleagues directly
shaped the reset of the role of BICand
strengthened the colleague voice at

M&S, with BIC attendance at three Board
meetings and one Remuneration
Committee meeting during the year.

BECOMING A DIGITAL
FIRST RETAILER

@ © @ Improving the technology
available to colleagues, such as the
Honeywell devices suppliedin stores,
has helped equip colleagues with the
necessary insight to play a greater partin
commercial decision-making. We intend
to continue to invest in technology and
leverage our new digital partnerships to
drive further improvements in this area.

@ © @ Investedin our digital capabilities,
including speed and functionality
improvements to our app and websites,

to grow online to one third of Clothing &
Home sales and deliver shareholder value
over the longer term.

STRATEGIC DECISIONS

RESHAPING THE RANGES
AND CUSTOMER PROFILE IN
CLOTHING & HOME

@ ( Wereset the vision for our future
target Clothing & Home operating model,
with a new governance modeland
programmes of work providing clarity for
colleagues on where we wanttobeasa
business and how we plan to get there.

[ ) @ Through reshaping our buy and
becoming more digital and data driven

in doing so, we provided colleagues with
tools toimprove buying from suppliers,
achieving double-digit reductions in
options across Clothing & Home.

Working with suppliers to implement
logisticalimprovements, including
more frequent, better planned deliveries
and moving to a single-tier network,
willimprove product availability
for customers.

PROTECTING THE MAGIC
AND MODERNISING THE
RESTIN FOOD

Improved our range and value
proposition for customers through
continued price investment in high-
volume lines and improving our
product innovation pipeline.

@ Completion of the acquisition
of 50% of Ocado Retail brought significant
opportunities for growth in volumes and
sales, as well as synergy-linked savings.
Each will benefit our customers, suppliers
and shareholders over the longer term.

@ ( Therestructuring of the marketing
team to sit within Food has resultedina
new family-focussed programme to
broaden customer appeal, including
sponsorship of Britain’s Cot Talent.

REBUILDING
PROFITABLE GROWTH
IN INTERNATIONAL

Completion of the roll-out of market
right pricing and launch of local flagship
websites has improved our value and
availability propositions internationally.

@ Boarddirectorsand members of the
International leadership team regularly
meet with key international partners to
discuss progress and any areas of concern.

@ \Worked closely with our key
international partners and suppliers to
agree appropriate supporting measures
during times of significant economic
difficulty, including the ongoing
Covid-19crisis.

CREATING A HIGH-QUALITY
STORE ESTATE FIT FOR
THE FUTURE

Akey area of Board focus has been
shaping our estate so that our store
formats are right for the communities we
serve. The Board ensures our geographic
reachis such that customers across the UK
don’t have to travel too far to shop with us.
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@ O Theimpact of our stores programme
on colleagues and communities is
significant. Where possible, we aim to
redeploy colleagues to other storesin

the event of a closure, while new stores
provide great employment opportunities
inlocal communities.

@ ( Customer data was crucial to
shaping the Food renewal programme
and the ‘test and learn’ store format
trialled to date.

MODERNISING OUR FOOD
AND CLOTHING & HOME
SUPPLY CHAINS

@ © Crowing online to one third of
Clothing & Home sales depends on the
capacity and capability of our network to
deliver. We have invested in our key sites,
upskilled colleagues and stress-tested
our supply chain, but recognise there is
more to do.

Ocado will add significant volume
into the supply chain, challenging the
business and our suppliers while being
beneficial over the longer termand
improving optionality for customers.

We continue to ensure that our
global supply chainis robust, with viable
business continuity plansin place,
including no over-reliance on one
supplier or geography.

COST SAVINGS OF AT
LEAST £350M BY 2020/21

Prior to Covid-19, we were on track to
deliver our planned cost savings, a leaner
cost base and better operational
efficiency in the interests of our investors.

] Simpler store management
structures, tailoring staffing to activity
andinvestmentin new technologies have
improved colleague productivity and the
customer experience while reducing cost.

@ O Achieved efficiencies in the
e-commerce carrier network, office
and warehouse space closures and
other property savings. While beneficial,
these have a significantimpact on our
colleagues and suppliers and need to
be managed sensitively.
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Plan Ais a multi-year sustainability
transformation plan that has been
updated several times (2010, 2014 and
2017) to reflect the evolution of our
business and the risks and opportunities
that social and environmental issues
pose forus.

PERFORMANCE THIS YEAR

Our transformation programme aims

to return M&S to sustainable, profitable
growth and to deliver long-term value for
all stakeholders. Our priority has been to
evolve Plan A to reflect our new operating
model and to embed the programme into
the core strategy rather than continuing
to exist in parallel with our operations.
Over the past year we have:

- Begunthetransition to a new
Plan A operating model to embed
sustainability into our business units.

PEOPLE

Everyone can belong,and geton

We want the people working in our business and
our supply chains to have a voice, and to progress.
We support the causes our customers care about,
and the communities where we trade.

PRODUCT

We source with care and nothing
we make will go to waste

We source our products responsibly, working
closely with our suppliers to ensure high standard
We ensure no food or clothing goes to waste.

PLANET

Our actions today protect the
planet for tomorrow

BN
Q

We are driving down greenhouse gas emissions.
We reduce, reuse and recycle. We work with the
factories we source from to take good care of the

STRATEGIC REPORT

PLAN A

- Conducted a detailed review of Plan A
considering the views of colleagues,
customers, shareholders, pressure
groups and campaign bodies, and
conducted a benchmarking exercise
against the wider consumer goods
and retail sector.

- Created a simplified framework that:
Is aligned to the business strategy;

Has clear deliverables owned and
actioned by each business unit;

Maintains our position as a committed
sustainable retailer;and

Provides a programme to build
competitive advantage in selected
areas and to engage our customers
on theissues that matter to them.

PLAN AFRAMEWORK

Areas of focus

- Human rights and combating modern slavery

- Access to employment

- Colleague health and wellbeing
- Diversity andinclusion

- Accessibility

- Ethical trading standards

Towards the end of this process, the
business’s focus was rightly on managing
the impact of Covid-19 on colleagues,
customers and communities - particularly
the most vulnerable and healthcare
workers —through the pandemic.
Therefore, confirmation of Group-level
governance and sign-off on targets

will now be completed in 2020/21.
Supplementary information detailing our
performance on a range of environmental
and socialissues isincluded in our 2020
Plan Areport available here corporate.
marksandspencer.com/sustainability.

Relevant Sustainable
Development Goals

B
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- Improving lives of workers in supply chains

- Community engagement

Areas of focus

Sustainable raw materials
- Reducing food waste

- Animal welfare

Farming standards
Health and nutrition

S. -

Areas of focus
- Net zero emissions

Sustainable manufacturing

Zero waste to landfill

planet’s natural resources, while being open about

the progress we've made.
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Reducing, reusing and recycling packaging

Relevant Sustainable
Development Goals

“[e]=

Relevant Sustainable
Development Goals
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ALLINTHISTOGETHER

We're also making it easier for cust s to

ALL IN THIS TOGETHER
how we're doing our bit
to support everyone
across the M&S family

ities and causes

pport ¢
Added Covid-rilated causes to our Sparks charities, Launched limited-edition bags for tife and Fallinthistogether T-shirts with 100% of profits going bo NHS Charities Together

ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19:
ALL IN THIS TOGETHER

Last year, we agreed that one of M&S’s
core behaviours was to be “allin for the
customer”; working as one M&S team,
giving all of our effort all of the time and
being guided in everything we do to
deliver for the customer. In response to
Covid-19, this didn’t feel quite enough to
reflect the huge challenge faced across
the entire M&S family - our colleagues,
customers and communities. To reflect
this, we brought together our response
under the banner ‘All In This Together’
as a way of sharing what we were doing
with our stakeholders and directly across
the whole M&S family.

The simplified structure of our new

Plan A operating model helped us to
deliver a quick and coordinated response
to the crisis. As set out on page 50, the
Operating Committee took ownership for
decision-making and set the direction for
the Company’s collective response, and
each business unit was represented within
the CMT by an operational lead who took
accountability for delivery. The central
Plan A team provided the consistent link
to charity partners and recipients of our
support —such as the NHS-and reported
the needs and requirements of each
beneficiary to the operational teams.

Quick decision-making, supported by the
extraordinary efforts and attitudes of

all members of the M&S family, enabled
us to launch new services and initiatives
to support our customers, support our
suppliers, help the most vulnerablein
our communities and do our bit for the
UK’s NHS heroes. The graphic above
provides a snapshot of that support.

NEVER THE SAME AGAIN PRIORITIES

As we emerge from the Covid-19 crisis,
there will be many uncertainties, but we
believe customers will be looking even
more to brands they can trust and have
confidence in to offer value through
trading ethically. As a result, we will

use the new Plan A framework to build a
programme to engage customers and
demonstrate that M&S understands -
and is taking action on - the issues that
matter to them most.

The first priority is to embed the new
framework and set the new targets that
will drive change and a more sustainable
future for M&S.
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PLAN A CONTINUED

PLAN AMEASUREMENTS

Measurement

Progress

RAISING MONEY FOR CAUSES THAT

MATTER TO OUR CUSTOMERS’

VOLUNTEERING HOURS

MARKS & START

DONATIONS OF SURPLUS FOOD

RECYCLABLE PACKAGING

WASTE TO LANDFILL

M&S GREENHOUSE
GAS EMISSIONS (CO,e)

Donations raised with our customers
and employees.

Paid hours of volunteering provided
by M&S colleagues.

Number of UK work experience placements

offered to people from disadvantaged groups

inthe community.

Equivalent number of meals donated
to charities.

% M&S product packaging classified as
easily recyclable in the UK.

% of operational waste from UK operated stores,

offices and warehouses sent to landfill.

The gross carbon dioxide emissions from
M&S operated stores, offices, warehouses
and delivery fleets worldwide.

£6.6m
46,398
1,863
5.2

million meals
7%

/.ero

338,000

tonnes CO,e

-33%0n 2018/19
(against restated
figure)

-2%on 2018/19

-27% on 2018/19

+86% on 2018/19

+7% on 2018/19

Zeroin 2018/19

-6% on 2018/19

* Fundsraised with our customers and colleagues in 2018/19 have been reduced by £1.6m due to one of the fundraising lines being incorrectly counted twice in last year’s calculation.

Figuresarereportedinour 2020 Plan Areport.

STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING

ENERGY AND TRANSPORT FUEL CONSUMED

GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) EMISSIONS

This year Lastyear This year Lastyear
2019/20 2018/19 % 2019/20 2018/19 %
(MWhs) (MWhs) Change (000 tonnes) (000 tonnes) Change
UK operations 827 864 -4%  Direct emissions (scope 1) 173 167 +4%
International operations 19! 19 Level  In-direct emissions from
Group 846 883 -4% electricity (scope 2) 165 193 -15%
1. 2019/20 data for our International operationsis estimated. Total gross/location-method
.. e
The principle measures taken to improve energy efficiency SCOP?hz G!*C emissions 338 360 6%
in 2019/20 include new refrigeration shelf-edge technology, GHG intensity per
conversions to LED lighting and the trialling of new 1,000 sq ft of salesfloor 18 19 -5%
fantechnologies. Procured renewable energy 143 202 -29%
Subsequent reporting on environmental Total marke.t-r.nethod scope o
and social performance is available here 1+2 GHG emissions 195 158 +23%
corporate.marksandspencer.com/sustainability Procured carbon offsets 195 158 +23%
Total net scope 1+2
GHG emissions 0 0 -
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GHG emissions are from operationally controlled activities in accordance with WRI/
WBCSD GHG Reporting Protocols (Revised edition) and 2015 Scope 2 Guidance using
2019 BEIS conversion factors. The reductionin CGross/ location-method figures are due
tothe lowering of UK grid electricity carbonintensity. Whilst the higher market-based
figureisduetotheelectricity at some locations no longer being classified as renewable.
For full details, please see 2020 Plan A Report.



NON-FINANCIAL
INFORMATION STATEMENT

During the year,a new Code of Conduct was developed and this is effective from
1 April 2020. Further details can be found on page 60. The statements below reflect

STRATEGIC REPORT
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our commitment and management of People, Human Rights and Anti-Bribery and
Anti-Corruption inthe last 12 months.

PEOPLE

We are committed to providing our
colleagues in the UK and overseas with a
safe and healthy working environment
and an organisational culture which
promotes diversity, inclusivity, personal
development and mutual respect.

We want people to enjoy coming to
work and for the workplace to be free
from discrimination, harassment and
victimisation. We have a Board Diversity
Policy as set out on page 58.

Read more on our commitment to people:

- People Principles corporate.
marksandspencer.com/
people-principles

- Code of Ethics and Behaviours
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
code-of-ethics

- Responsible Marketing Principles
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
responsible-marketing

- Equal Opportunities Policy
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
equal-opportunities

HUMAN RIGHTS

M&S has a long history of respecting
human rights in the UK and standing

up for those values internationally.

Our commitment to human rights is
reinforced in our Human Rights Policy
and Code of Ethics and Behaviours and,
for all suppliers and business partners, in
our Global Sourcing Principles. We are also
a signatory to the principles of the United
Nations Global Compact. We strive to

be a fair partner by paying a fair price to

suppliers, supporting local communities
and ensuring good working conditions for
everyone working in our business and
supply chains. We are committed to
building knowledge and awareness on
human rights for all of our colleagues

and suppliers; encouraging them to speak
up about any concerns without fear of
retribution, the outcomes of which also
enable us to comply with legislation and
meet the expectations of shareholders.

Our Modern Slavery Statement is published
here corporate.marksandspencer.com/
modern-slavery-statement
Read more on our commitment to
human rights:
- Human Rights Policy corporate.
marksandspencer.com/human-rights

- Code of Ethics and Behaviours
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
code-of-ethics

- M&S Global Sourcing Principles
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
global-sourcing-principles

- Code of Practice on Ethical Trading
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
ethical-trading

- Child Labour Procedure
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
child-labour-procedure

- M&S grievance procedure for Food
and Clothing & Home supply chains
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
grievance-procedure

- Confidential Reporting Procedures
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
whistleblowing-policy

ANTI-BRIBERY AND
ANTI-CORRUPTION

M&S is committed to the highest
standards of ethics, honesty and integrity.
Our Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption
Policy outlines the expected standards
of conduct that colleagues, contractors,
suppliers, business partners,and any
other third parties who act for or on behalf
of M&S are obliged to follow. The Policy
alsoincludes detailed procedures around
giving and receiving gifts, hospitality and
entertainment; procedures for engaging
new suppliers and partners, specifically
those who are based in higher-risk
jurisdictions, and standard contract
clauses; and clear reporting channels,
including confidential reporting. For
colleagues who work in areas that may
pose a higher risk we provide mandatory
Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption
e-learning. The Company will consider
taking disciplinary action against anyone
who fails to comply with its Anti-Bribery
Policy up to and including dismissal.

The outcomes of this are that any
potentialincidents reported internally
or to the confidential whistleblowing
hotline are followed up and full
investigations launched where such
actionis deemed appropriate following
preliminary enquiries. All investigations
are subsequently reported to the

Audit Committee.

Read more on our commitment to
Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption:
— Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
anti-bribery-policy

— Code of Ethics and Behaviours
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
code-of-ethics

- Confidential Reporting Procedures
corporate.marksandspencer.com/
whistleblowing-policy
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KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

FINANCIAL

GROUP REVENUE

-1.9%
£10.2bn
16/17 106
17/18 107
18/19 10.4
19/20 10.2

Group revenue decreased 1.9%, largely as a result of lower
UK Clothing & Home sales. It is estimated that Covid-19 impacted
Group revenue by £83.5m in March 2020 relative to forecast.

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE)

10.0%

16/17 137
1718 14.0
18/19 1.8

19/20 10.0

The decrease in ROCE largely reflects the decrease in earnings
before interest, tax and adjusting items.

DIVIDEND PER SHARE

-70.7%
3.9p
16/17 18.7
17/18 18.7
18/19 133
19/20 3.9

We paid an interim dividend 3.9p on 10 January 2020. The Board has
announced the decision not to pay a final dividend for 2019/20 and

that it does not anticipate paying a dividend for the 2020/21 financial year.

Prior year comparatives have beenrestated for the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases.
Refer to note 29 of the financial statements for detailed restatement tables and
associated commentary.
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GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX (PBT)
& ADJUSTING ITEMS

£403.1m" "

16/17 613.8
1718 5809
18/19 517

19/20 4031

Group profit before tax and adjusting items was £403.1m, down 21.2%
on last year. The decline includes an estimated impact from Covid-19
of £51.9m in March.

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

1 6.7p -29.5%

16/17 304
17/18 27.8
18/19 237

19/20 16.7

Adjusted basic earnings per share decreased 29.5% to 16.7p largely
due to lower adjusted profit year on year and the increase in weighted
average shares outstanding.

FREE CASH FLOW (PRE SHAREHOLDER RETURNS)

£225.0m

16/17 585.4
1718 4175

18/19 580.8
19/20 225.0

The business generated free cash flow before shareholder returns of
£225.0m, down on last year, driven by lower adjusted operating
profit, lower depreciation, working capital increase and higher
capital expenditure.

Alternative performance measures as outlined on page O1.
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SINANCIAL
ReVIEW
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GROUP REVENUE IN GROWTH IN Q4,PRIORTO FULL YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY g

COVID-19 EFFECT IN MARCH E

30March19

Q4 group revenue declined 2.6% at constant currency largely 28 March 20 Restated' Change

reflecting the increasingly adverse impact of Covid-19 on revenue =~ 32%ecksended £m £m >

in March relative to forecast. For the 8 weeks ended 22 February Group revenue 10,181.9  10,377.3 -1.9

group revenue increased 2.8% with UK Food like-for-like revenue UK Food 6,028.2 5903.4 21

up 3.7% with strengthening volume growth and UK Clothing & UK Clothing & H 32091 34998 83

Home like-for-like revenue up 0.3%, driven by stronger trends 0 . Ing & Hlome e e -

at M&S.com. International growth in the 8-week period largely International 944.6 974.1 3.0

reflected the timing of shipments as franchise partners called

summer product earlier than last year. Group operating profit

before adjusting items? 590.7 725.6 -18.6

% change at

constant currency FY e] Q2 Q3 Q4 Jan/Feb UK Food 236.7 2129 1.2

Food 2.1 0.8 1.5 1.5 4.8 41  UKClothing & Home 2239 355.2 -37.0

Like-for-like 1.9 0.4 14 14 4.6 3.7  International 10.7 130.5 -15.2

Clothing & Home -8.3 -78 -82 38 -157 -1.7  Other 19.4 27.0 -28.1

Like-for-like -6.2 -55 -59 -18 -1338 0.3

Total UK sales -1.8 -23 22 -06 -22 2.2 Intereston leases (133.4) (147.2) 9.4

Like-for-like -1 -1.8 -14 0.1 -1.6 2.6 Netfinancialinterest (54.2) (66.7) 18.7

International -2.5 28 -44 18 -64 89  Profit before tax &

Total Group -1.8 -19 -25 -07 -26 28 adjustingitems 403.1 51.7 -21.2

Total M&S.com Adjusting items (335.9) (427.5) 21.4

(Memo only) 1.2 08 -04 2.5 1.3 1 Profit before tax 67.2 84.2 -20.2

UK Clothing & Home Profit after tax £27.4m £45.3m -39.5

online (Memo only) -02 -05 -06 1.1 -1.3 121 Adjusted basic earnings

See glossary for definitions. Prior year revenue has been restated  per share? 16.7p 23.7p -29.5

for the reclassification of localised websites from Clothing & Basic earnings per share? 1.3p 2.5p _48.0

Home to International. Dividend per share? 3.9p 13.3p -70.7

Net debt £4.03bn £4.08bn -1.2

Notes

1. Prioryear comparatives have beenrestated for the adoption of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’.
Referto note 29 of the financial statements for detailed restatement tables and
associated commentary.

2. Earningspershareand Dividend per share have been restated to reflect the bonus
factor adjustment resulting from the rightsissue (refer to notes 1and 8 of the
financial statements for further information).

There are a number of non-CAAP measures and alternative

profit measures “APM”, discussed with this announcement and

aglossary and reconciliation to statutory measures is provided
on page 180. Adjusted results are consistent with how business
performance is measured internally and presented to aid
comparability of performance. Refer to adjusting items table
below for further details.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

COVID-19 IMPACT

Group revenue decreased 1.9%, largely as a result of lower UK
Clothing & Home sales, including an adverse revenue impact
of ¢.£83.5m in March which we largely attribute to Covid-19.
Group statutory profit before tax declined 20.2% to £67.2m.
This was largely driven by a decline in Clothing & Home operating
profit as a result of lower sales. Statutory profit before tax
includes an estimated total impact of £264.7m for Covid-19.
This comprises a trading impact of £51.9m in March which we
largely attribute to the pandemic, in addition to £212.8m of
charges in adjusting items which includes the recognition of
additionalinventory provisions of £157.0m and the impairment
of stores and goodwill of £49.2m.

As part of its scenario planning to mitigate the effects of
Covid-19 the Group is planning a significant reduction in costs
and a number of cash management initiatives, which are
detailed on page 05 of this report.

REPORTING OF ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESSES

During the year, the Group completed a comprehensive review
of the way operating costs are allocated between the businesses,
allowing management to review the operating profit of each
business. As a result, the Group now recognises three operating
segments, being UK Clothing & Home, UK Food and International
(previously UK and International). This allows the financial
information to align to the way the business is managed and
holds leadership appropriately to account. The review has
resulted in a reallocation of £13.3m of central costs from the
previous UK segment to International (£12.6m) and M&S Bank
(£0.7m). In addition, certain M&S.com flagship websites, which last
year generated £37.5m of revenue and £2.9m of operating profit
before adjusting items have been reclassified from UK Clothing &
Home to International.

UK: FOOD
30March19

28 March 20 Restated Change
52 weeks ended £m £m %
Revenue 6,028.2 5,903.4 2.1
Operating profit before
adjusting items 236.7 212.9 1.2
Operating profit margin 3.9% 3.6%

UK Food revenue increased 2.1% and operating profit before
adjusting items increased 11.2%, due to lower costs. We estimate

a positive effect on March revenue of £17.7m and operating profit
of £3.7m, largely related to Covid-19.

Like-for-like revenue was up 1.9%. Performance was particularly
strong in quarter four with growth of 3.7% in the two months to
February before increased demand related to Covid-19in March.
As we executed our strategy to broaden appeal and make M&S
more accessible to more customers by removing promotions and
lowering prices, total full year volumes were up 3.3%. As expected,
the contribution from new space was largely offset by full line
store closures.
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The table below sets out the drivers of the movementin
operating profit margin before adjusting items, which
increased 0.3%:

%

2018/19 operating profit margin 3.6
Gross margin -0.5
Store staffing 0.3
Other store costs 0.3
Distribution and warehousing -0.2
Central costs 0.4
2019/20 operating profit margin 3.9

Gross margin decreased 50bps which was more than expected,
as continued investment in price and inflationary headwinds were
not fully offset by reduced promotions and the programme to
lower costs.

The reduction in gross margin was more than offset by operating
costs, which reduced overall and as a percent of sales. Store
staffing and other store costs were slightly down as efficiencies
more than offset the pay review and cost inflation. Distribution
costs increased largely due to cost inflation, impacting margin.
The reductionin central costs was largely driven by lower
depreciation, partly due to a system write off in the prior year.

UK: CLOTHING & HOME

30March19
28March 20 Restated Change
52 weeks ended £m £m %
Revenue 3,209.1 3,499.8 -8.3
Operating profit before
adjusting items 223.9 355.2 -37.0
Operating profit margin 7.0% 10.1%

UK Clothing & Home revenue declined 8.3% and operating profit
before adjusting items was down 37.0%. We estimate an adverse
effect on March revenue of £78.1m and operating profit of
£43.8m, largely related to Covid-19.

Like for like revenue declined 6.2%, of which an estimated

2.2% related to the adverse movement in March, largely due to
Covid-19. After a disappointing first half, revenue performance
bothin store and online began to improve in the second half,
supported by better availability and growth in key categories in
Womenswear and Kidswear. Menswear experienced some initial
problems as the range moved towards a more contemporary
style and fit.

The table below sets out the drivers of the movement in Clothing
& Home operating profit margin before adjusting items which
was down 3.1%:

%

2018/19 operating profit margin 10.1
Gross margin -1.2
Store staffing -0.5
Other store costs -0.6
Distribution and warehousing -0.3
Central costs -0.5
2019/20 operating profit margin 7.0

Gross margin decreased 120bps which was more than planned,
as a result of sourcing headwinds including raw materials and
labour and the adverse impact of higher than expected
promotional sales and shorter clearance periods.



Operating costs were down in all areas, although increased as a
percent of sales. The decline in store staffing costs was largely
driven by efficiency programmes, which more than offset the pay
review. Other store costs were driven by lower depreciation and
cost savings such as the move to a single maintenance vendor.

In distribution, reduced costs from the move to a single tier
network and in our online operations more than offset inflation
and channel shift. Central cost declines were largely driven by
lower depreciation with efficiencies reinvested in increased
marketing and the build out of digital operations.

M&S BANK AND SERVICES

M&S Bank and services income before adjusting items was
down £10.2m to £16.8m. This was predominantly the result of
anincrease in bad debt provisioning due to a higher risk of
customer default. M&S Bank income after adjusting items
decreased £1.9m to £4.2m.

OCADO RETAIL

On 5 August 2019, the acquisition of 50% of Ocado Retail was
completed. Ocado Retail Limited is an associate of M&S as certain
rights are conferred on Ocado Group plc for an initial period of

at least five years from acquisition.

The investment in associate is recognised at a cost of £769.0m.
This incorporates initial consideration of £560.9m paid in cash on
acquisition, contingent consideration of £202.4m and transaction
costs of £5.7m. The contingent consideration is conditional on
reaching agreed earnings and capacity targets.

The M&S share of Ocado Retail Limited profit for the period
from acquisition to 1 March 2020 is £2.6m. Summarised financial
information in respect of Ocado Retail Limited is below:

International revenue decreased 2.5% at constant currency with
operating profit before adjusting items down 15.2%. We estimate
an adverse effect on March revenue of £23.1m and operating
profit of £11.8m, largely related to Covid-19.

In owned markets, a weak trading performance in the Republic

of Ireland was partly offset by continued growth in India driven by
17 new store openings, although opening costs impacted profit.
Franchise shipments declined as a result of investment in lower

-
prices, partner driven stock efficiencies and political unrestin o
Hong Kong, although trends improved in the second half. Q
)
NET FINANCE COST &
=
<
30Mar19 =
28 March 20 Restated Change 0
52 weeks ended £m £m £m
Interest payable (80.5) (80.3) 0.2)
Interestincome 8.6 8.0 0.6
Net interest payable (71.9) (72.3) 0.4
Pension net finance income 23.6 25.8 (2.2)
Unwind of discount
on Scottish Limited
Partnership liability (6.9) (8.8) 19
Unwind of discount
on provisions 4.9) (7.9) 3.0
Ineffectiveness on
financial instruments 59 (3.5) 9.4
Net financial interest (54.2) (66.7) 12.5
Net interest payable
on lease liabilities (133.4) (147.2) 13.8
Net finance costs (187.6) (213.9) 26.3

7 months to

1March 20

£m

Revenue 979.7
EBITDA before exceptional items 257
Operating profit 10.9
Profit after tax 5.1
M&S 50% share of profit 2.6

On 6 May 2020, Ocado Retail Limited reported 40.4% revenue
growth for the 9 weeks to 3 May 2020.

For further detail on Ocado Retail Limited please see note 30 to
the financial statements.

INTERNATIONAL

52 weeks ended 28March20 30March19 Change Change
Revenue £m Restated £m % CC%
Franchise 392.6 409.2 -4.1 -3.8
Owned 552.0 564.9 -2.3 -1.6
Total 944.6 974.1 -3.0 -25
Operating

profit before

adjusting items

Franchise 64.9 72.3 -10.2

Owned 56.7 70.8 -199

Corporate costs (10.9) (12.6) 13.5

Total 110.7 130.5 -15.2

Net finance costs decreased £26.3m to £187.6m. This was
primarily due to a reduction in net lease financing costs and

the reversal of ineffectiveness on a currency swap. In July we
issued a £250m bond partially refinancing a £400m redemption
in December. In March 2020, in response to Covid-19, the Group’s
long-term credit rating was lowered by Moody’s Investors Service
and Standard & Poors to Bal/BB+ respectively. This should result
in an additional c.£15m of annual interest costs, payable following
the next coupon payment, on Bonds issued under the Group’s
EMTN programme.

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Group profit before tax declined 20.2% to £67.2m. This includes
adjusting items of £335.9m.

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX & ADJUSTING ITEMS

Group profit before tax and adjusting items was £403.1m, down
21.2% on last year. The decline includes an estimated impact from
Covid-19 of £51.9m in March. The profit decrease was largely due
to the decline in Clothing & Home operating profit.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

ADJUSTMENTS TO PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Consistent with previous years, the Group makes certain
adjustments to statutory profit measures, in order to derive
alternative performance measures that provide stakeholders
with additional helpful information and to aid comparability of
the performance of the business. For further detail on these
charges and the Group’s policy for adjusting items please see
Notes 1and 5 to the financial statements.

30Mar19
Covid-19 28 March 20 Restated Change

52 weeks ended related” £m £m £m

Strategic

programmes
- UK store estate 187.2

(8.9)

(1.6)

- Organisation -

- Operational
transformation -

- UK logistics -
- Changes to pay

and pensions -
—International

store closures

and

impairments -
—IT restructure -

Directly
attributable
to Covid-19

Store
impairments

and other
property charges
Goodwill
impairment -
peruna

M&S Bank
chargesincurred
inrelation to
insurance
mis-selling and
Covid-19 forward
economic
guidance
provision -

(29.3)
(13.8)

(216.5)
4.9)

(11.6)
(10.2)

(16.4) 48
(14.3) 47

(2.9) 6.2) 3.3

2.2)
(0.4)

(5.3) 3.1
(15.6) 15.2

(163.6) (163.6) (163.6)

(24.2) (78.5) (103.5) 25.0

(13.4) (13.4) (13.4)

(12.6) (20.9) 8.3

Amortisation
and fair value
arising from the
investmentin
Ocado Retail
Establishing the
investmentin
Ocado Retail
Limited -
Remeasurement
of contingent
consideration
including
discount unwind
Other

CMP and other
pension
equalisation - -
Adjusting items (212.8) (335.9)
*Included within the total.

(16.8) - (16.8)

(1.2) (3.4) 2.2

(2.9)
23.5 -

(2.9)
23.5

205
91.6

(20.5)
(427.5)
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A number of charges have been recognised in the period relating
to the implementation of previously announced strategic
programmes including:

- Acharge of £29.3m (of which £11.6m represents the directly
attributable incremental impairment due to Covid-19) in
relation to store closures identified as part of transformation
plans reflecting an updated view of latest store closure
costs. Further material charges relating to the closure and
re-configuration of the UK store estate are anticipated as the
programme progresses. Following restatement for IFRS 16
and the updated view of store closure costs, future charges of
up to c.£110m are estimated within the next two financial years.

- Acharge of £13.8min relation to the redundancy costs
associated with the review of the support centre organisational
structure and an updated view of ongoing costs associated
with centralising the Group’s London support centres.

- Acharge of £11.6m in relation to the transformation and
simplification of supply chain and operations across
Clothing & Home and Food.

- Anetcharge of £10.2m as we continue to transition to a single
tier Clothing & Home UK distribution network, including the
cost of closure of two distribution centres. In February 2020
next steps were announced with a further two sites expected to
closein the next two years, resulting in an expected additional
charge of c.£13m.

Store impairment and other property charges of £78.5m
(including £24.2m representing the directly attributable
incremental impairment due to Covid-19) were recognised.

In response to the ongoing pressures impacting the retail
industry, as well as reflecting the Group’s strategic focus towards
growing online market share, the Group has revised future
projections for UK stores (excluding those stores which have
been captured as part of the UK store estate programme).

Charges of £12.6m have been incurred relating to M&S Bank,
primarily relating to the insurance mis-selling provision, as well
as further charges recognised in relation to forward economic
guidance provisions recognised as a result of Covid-19. The
Group’s share of the totalinsurance mis-selling provisions of
£327.6m exceeds the total offset against profit share of £242.7m
to date. Further costs of c.£100m, predominantly relating to the
estimated mis-selling liability are expected and will be deducted
from the Group’s future profit share from M&S Bank.

A charge of £16.8m has been recognised predominantly related
to the amortisation of intangible assets acquired on the purchase
of our share in Ocado Retail.

A credit of £23.5m has been recognised in the period relating
to the release of a provision for employee related matters
recognised in 2017/18 following settlement in the period

for £0.6m.



COVID-19 ADJUSTINGITEMS

Following the declaration by the World Health Organisation

of the Covid-19 global pandemic and the subsequent UK and
International government restrictions, Clothing and Home has
been unable to trade from full line stores, M&S outlet stores
and a number of Food franchises have temporarily closed and
trade in Food has had to continue with social distancing measures
in place. As aresult, charges of £212.8m have been recognised
relating to the Covid-19 pandemic. The charges relate to stock
provisioning, impairments of intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and onerous contract provisions,
cancellation charges and one-off costs. Should the estimated
charges prove to be in excess of the amounts required, the
release of any amounts previously provided would be treated
as adjusting items.

The impact that Covid-19 has had on underlying trading is not
recognised within adjusting items.

The charges relate to:
- Stock provisioning: £157.0m.
- Incrementalimpairments of intangibles and PP&E: £49.2m.

- Onerous contract provisions, cancellations, one-off
costs: £6.6m.

Following a detailed assessment of all retail inventory, a charge
of £157.0m has been recognised (C&H: £145.3m; Food: £6.0m and
International: £5.7m). The provision relates to items from previous
seasons which are unlikely to be saleable when stores reopen;
items in the summer sale that are likely to be cleared below

cost and the cost associated with hibernating stock to Spring/
Summer 2021. The provision in Food includes charges related

to unsaleable seasonal goods as a result of the lockdown of
activity in late March.

As a direct result of the Covid-19 pandemic, following a
reperformance of allimpairment assessments using the cash
flows in the Covid-19 scenario, incremental impairment charges
have been recognised of £49.2m (Store impairments: £24.2m,
per una: £13.4m and UK store estate programme: £11.6m).

£6.6m of charges have been recognised relating to onerous
contracts and other provisions, cancellation charges and
impairment and write-off of intangible assets in the course
of construction following project cancellations.

TAXATION

The effective tax rate on profit before tax and adjusting items was
20.7% (last year 20.7%). This was lower than the expected effective
tax rate due to anincrease in the estimated deferred tax assets

of the Group which resulted from a change to the previously
enacted UK corporate tax rate of 17% back to 19%. The effect of
thisincrease is not expected to impact future years. The effective
tax rate is higher than the UK statutory rate due to the recapture
of previous tax relief under the Marks and Spencer Scottish
Limited Partnership (“SLP”) structure. The effective tax rate on
statutory profit before tax was 59.3% (last year 46.2%) due to the
impact of disallowable adjusting items.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share were 1.3p (last year 2.5p), due to the
decrease in profit year-on-year and the increase in weighted
average shares outstanding. The weighted average number of
sharesinissue during the period was 1,894.9m (last year restated
for the bonus factor related to the rights issue: 1,698.1m),
reflecting the issuance of 325m shares following the completion

of therightsissue. E

Adjusted basic earnings per share decreased 29.5% to 16.7p g

largely due to lower adjusted profit year-on-year and the increase o

in weighted average shares outstanding. o
w
o

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE E
(%]

28 March 20 30Mar19 Change

52 weeks ended £m £m £m

UK store remodelling 60.3 26.0 34.3

New UK stores 333 40.1 (6.8)

International 12.3 1.0 1.3

Supply chain 39.2 48.7 (9.5)

IT &M&S.com 84.5 88.2 (3.7)

Property asset replacement 102.4 69.0 334

Capital expenditure

before disposals 332.0 283.0 49.0

Proceeds from

property disposals 2.7) (48.1) 454

Capital expenditure 329.3 2349 94.4

Group capital expenditure before disposals increased £49.0m
to £332.0m.

UK store remodelling spend increased £34.3m largely reflecting
the investment in five ‘test and learn’ trial stores. Spend on UK
store space was down as 13 fewer owned Food stores opened
compared with the prior year.

Supply chain expenditure reflects investment in the expansion

of the Bradford distribution centre. Spend has reduced due to the
significant prior year investment in the Welham Green national
distribution centre.

IT and M&S.com spend decreased largely due to the completion
of the technology transformation programme. Property asset
replacementincreased £33.4m due to the initiation of an asset
replacement programme in stores.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Net assets were £3,708.5m at the year end, an increase of
50.2% on last year largely due to the investment in Ocado and
the increase in the net retirement benefit surplus.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

CASH FLOW & NET DEBT

30Mar19

28 March 20 Restated Change
52 weeks ended £m £m £m
Adjusted operating profit 590.7 725.6 (134.9)
Depreciation and
amortisation before
adjusting items 632.5 702.6 (70.1)
Cash lease payments (335.7) (312.7) (23.0)
Working capital (48.5) 61.1 (109.6)
Defined benefit scheme
pension funding (37.9) (37.9) -
Capexand disposals (325.9) (264.8) 611
Financial interest
and taxation a71.0) (184.7) 13.6
Investment in associate
Ocado Retail Limited (577.8) - (577.8)
Investment in Joint Venture (2.5) (2.5) -
Employee related
share transactions 9.7 14.3 4.6)
Proceeds from rights issue
net of costs 574.4 - 574.4
Share of profit from associate (2.6) - (2.6)
Cash received onrefinancing
of derivatives 77 - 77
Adjusting items outflow (88.0) (120.2) 32.2
Free cash flow 225.0 580.8 (355.8)
Dividends paid 191.) (303.5) Nn2.4
Free cash flow after
shareholder returns 339 277.3 (243.4)
Decrease in lease obligations 201.4 170.1 31.3
New lease commitments (204.0) (150.4) (53.7)
Opening net debt (4,075.4) (4,369.4) 294.0
Exchange and other
non-cash movements 19.0 (3.0 22.0
Closing net debt (4,025.2) (4,075.4) 50.2

The business generated free cash flow before shareholder
returns of £225.0m, down on last year, driven by lower adjusted
operating profit, lower depreciation, working capital increase
and higher capital expenditure. The working capital outflow
relative to last year was largely a result of the timing of payments
and increased inventory. This follows a planned reduction in
inventories in the prior year, and higher than normal year-end
inventory levels as a result of additional Food to meet stockpiling
demand and lower than expected Clothing & Home sales

in March.
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Higher capital expenditure reflects the spend on ‘test and learn’
stores and the asset replacement programme in stores.

Defined benefit scheme pension funding of £37.9m largely
reflects the second limited partnership interest distribution to
the pension scheme.

Adjusting items in cash flow during the year were £88.0m.
Theseincluded £22.7m in relation to the store closure
programme, £20.9m for organisational change, £15.4m for
operational transformation, £12.6m for M&S Bank, £4.3m for
the technology transformation programme and £3.7m relating
to distribution and warehousing.

During the year, a Rights Issue was completed, raising proceeds
net of costs of £574.4m, for the purpose of funding the
acquisition of 50% of Ocado Retail which completed on 5 August
2019. The cash paid for the investment in Ocado Retail and
associated transaction costs of £577.8m does not include the
adjustment to the consideration on the finalisation of the
completion statement currently held as a receivable of £11.5m.

After the payment of the final dividend from 2018/19, the interim
dividend for 2019/20 and the reduction in outstanding
discounted lease commitments due to capital repayments,

net debt was down £50.2m from the start of the financial year.

DIVIDEND

We paid an interim dividend 3.9p on 10 January 2020. The board
has announced the decision not to pay a final dividend for
2019/20 and that it does not anticipate paying a dividend for
the 2020/21 financial year.

PENSION

At 28 March 2020, the IAS 19 net retirement benefit surplus was
£1,902.6m (£914.3m at 30 March 2019). The increase in the surplus
is mainly due to a significant increase in longer dated credit
spreads driven by market changes linked to Covid-19 resulting

in areduction in scheme liabilities. Additionally, the return on
scheme assetsincreased due to a fallin gilt yields. Itis currently
anticipated that the increase in surplus will give rise to an
increased pension credit next year.

In April 2019, the Scheme purchased additional pensioner buy-in
policies with two insurers for approximately £1.4bn. Together with
the two policies purchased in March 2018, the Scheme has now,

in total, hedged its longevity exposure for around two thirds of
the liabilities for pensions in payment. The buy-in policies cover
specific pensioner liabilities and pass all risks to aninsurerin
exchange for a fixed premium payment, thus reducing the
Company’s exposure to changes in longevity, interest rates,
inflation and other factors.

The Strategic Report, including pages 33-43, was approved
by a duly authorised Committee of the Board of Directors on
26 May 2020, and signed on its behalf by

Steve Rowe, Chief Executive
26 May 2020



RISK MANAGEMENT

Effective risk managementis an essential tool for our business
to supportthe delivery of our transformation and to respond effectively to the
challenges facing our company, the retail sector and the communities we serve.

APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT -

Our approach to risk management is
simple and practical. The Audit
Committee, under delegated authority
from the Board, is accountable for

overseeing the effectiveness of our -

risk management process, including
identification of the principal and
emerging risks facing M&S. The Group Risk
Policy was formally reviewed and revised
during the year to ensure it remains fully
aligned with business needs and our
corporate governance responsibilities. An
overview of the key features of the Policy
and the principal risks and uncertainties

are set out on the following pages. -

The risk management process mirrors the

M&S operating model with each business -

and functional area being responsible for
the ongoing identification, assessment
and management of their existing and
emerging risks. The output of these
assessments are ultimately aggregated
to compile an overall Group-level view

of risk. This process includes:

STRATEGIC REPORT

Risks being consistently identified,
measured and reported against set
criteria which considers both the
likelihood of occurrence and potential
impact to the Group.

Each business and functional area
maintaining detailed risk registers and
mitigation plans which are approved by
their respective leadership teams and
discussed with the executive directors.

Direct reporting of risk and mitigating
activities by each of our business and
functional leadership teams to the
Audit Committee on an annual basis.

Aformal half-yearly review of all risk
registers by the Group Risk team.

Development of an overarching
summary of risks, combining both
top-down and bottom-up perspectives,
to provide a consolidated view of
Group-levelrisks.

Afull review of the principal risks and
uncertainties at least twice a year by
the Audit Committee.

- Swift action to reassess risk across
the business in response to significant
changes or events, such as the
Covid-19 pandemic.

-
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The overall assessment considers

the impact of changes in the external
environment, our strategy and
transformation programme, core
operations and our engagement with
external parties. It also includes proactive
consideration of emerging risks where the
full extent and implications may not be
fully understood but need to be tracked.

The output from the above process is
subject to periodic review and challenge
with the executive directors. Subsequently,
the principal risks are submitted to the
Audit Committee ahead of final review
and approval by the Board.

The directors’assessment of the long-
term viability of M&Sis also reviewed
annually, mindful of the principal risks
faced. The approach for assessing
long-term viability can be found on
page 42.

RISKGOVERNANCE AND PROCESS OVERVIEW

Consolidated Group-Llevel risks

- Consolidation of significant risks from underlying risk registers

- Overlay of Group-level risks

- Review and agreement of the principal risks by

the executive directors

Parties involved:
- Audit Committee

- Executivedirectors

- Croup Riskteam

- Review and approval by the Audit Committee

Business and functional risk registers

- Development and ongoing maintenance of risk registers, -
including consideration of emerging risks, by the business

and functional leadership teams

- Review and challenge of risk content and quality of mitigation

plans by Group Risk

Parties involved:

members

- Business & functional

leadership teams
- Croup Riskteam

- Review and challenge of risks at leadership forums

Current issues and areas of change

- Monitoring of emerging areas of change or issues that may -
- Operating Committee

become significant at a Group level

Partiesinvolved:
Audit Committee

members

Principal risks
and uncertainties

- Asummarised version
of principal risks for
external reporting

Review and approval
by the Board and
Audit Committee

umop-doj
|

Operating Committee

Parties involved:

- M&SBoard

- Audit Committee
- Executive directors
- Group Risk team

dn-wojjog

- Business &functional

leadership teams
- Group Risk team
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STRATEGIC REPORT

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

During the course of the year, the business
has continued to develop and adhere

to our risk management disciplines

and managed risks in line with good
practice, including adoption of the
requirement to formally consider
potential emerging risks.

Our established processes had operated
to allow consideration of the principal risks
and uncertainties to be completed in
accordance with the methodology
outlined on page 33,and in line with our
year-end timetable prior to the outbreak
of Covid-19in the UK. The impact of

the pandemic on the UK has, however,
triggered the need to consider both the
specific consequences of the virus and

its impact on the underlying principal
risks being managed by the business.

The disclosure below has therefore been
structured to provide an overview of the
actions takenin response to the virus,

the most significant risks associated with
the pandemic and details of how it has
impacted the broader set of principal risks
and uncertainties.

COVID-19

The impact of Covid-19 on the business is
explained in various parts of the Strategic
Report. Consequently, the narrative
included in the business updates should
be read in conjunction with the disclosure
below to provide an understanding of the
risks and, in some instances, opportunities,
facing M&S.

Our response

From the initial reports of the outbreak

in China, the crisis management and
business continuity protocols for the
business were effectively invoked and
have, since January, provided a framework
to support our response. The following
key actions have been undertaken to
manage the impact of the pandemic

on our business:

- Reacted immediately to government
guidance by closing clothing outlets,
Clothing & Home store sections,
cafés and M&S Bank services.

- Introduced distancing and hygiene
measures in stores and depots to
keep customers and colleagues safe.
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At a leadership level, streamlined
structures were implemented to
accelerate decision-making by a group
of the executive and managing directors
of our family of businesses.

The Board and Operating Committee
have met at an increased frequency

throughout the crisis, monitoring and
responding to events on a daily basis.

Daily meetings of the Crisis
Management team are held

with representatives from across
the business.

Each business and function has
developed and maintains full response
plans to both highlight and track
actions for theirimmediate
requirements and to identify what

is required to restore operations.

We are engaged with all relevant
external stakeholders, including the
government, retail organisations
and specialist advisers.

Operational activities have been
amended, and continue to be updated,
to comply with guidance provided by
the government to prioritise the safety
of colleagues, customers and others
involved in the ‘feed the nation’ strategy.
Thisincluded targeted initiatives to
support the most vulnerable members
of our communities.

Successfully implemented home
working for support centre colleagues
on an unprecedented scale, benefitting
from the recentinvestmentin
technology and digital capabilities.

Proactively engaged with the Business
Involvement Group to allow decisions
impacting our colleagues, and their
implications, to be consideredin
advance. Operational protocols,
self-isolating, shielding, frontline
colleague suggestions or concerns,
furloughing of staff and the impact
of changes to reward (such as the 15%
premium for frontline colleagues and
share award in support centres) have
all been considered.

- Worked quickly with suppliers, initially
in Clothing & Home from January 2020
and subsequently across the whole
business as the scale of the virus
became apparent, to both maintain
continuity of supply and, where needed,
to cancel or defer orders. In addition,
we implemented extended payment
terms for suppliers in Clothing & Home.

- Took decisive action to reduce our
cost base, capital expenditure and
cash commitments:

Discretionary spend was stopped.

- Capital expenditure for the year
ending March 2021 was significantly
reduced from a planned £400m
toarevised target of c.£140m.

- Colleagues were furloughedin
line with the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme.

Updated our dividend guidance.

Implemented enhanced financial
controls over approval of all spend.

Immediately reacted to government
initiatives such as the business

rates holiday, tax and VAT payment
deferrals.

- Engaged with banks and lenders to
proactively address the implications on
our facilities and covenant compliance,
obtaining formal agreement with the
lending syndicate of banks providing
the £1.1bn revolving credit facility to
remove or substantially relax covenant
conditions for the tests arising in
September 2020, March 2021, and
September 2021.

- Obtained confirmation of eligible
issuer status under the UK
government’s Covid Corporate
Financing Facility (CCFF).

- Engaged with landlords to manage
rent obligations and property costs.
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The table below summarises the key potential risk implications of the pandemic and how these link to the core principal risks that
remainin place.

Risk category Risk description Relevant principal risk
Protecting - Aninability to maintain and, where needed, adapt operational protocols to Legal &regulatory
customers & safeguard customers, colleagues and other partners involved in running our compliance
colleagues business during extended lockdown or a period of transitional social distancing

would impact the continued operation of stores and breach our responsibilities
to all key stakeholders.

Clothing & Home - Afailure to effectively manage the implications of the lockdown period on all Trading performance
inventory aspects of the Clothing & Home supply chain and inventory management (Clothing & Home)
management would adversely impact customer experience, trading performance, liquidity,

operational efficiency and third-party relationships for an extended period.
Liquidity - Significantly reduced trading over an extended and currently undetermined Liquidity & funding

timeframe, combined with an inability to effectively manage expenditure against
revised targets, would impact the business’s ability to operate within committed
credit facilities.

Store portfolio - Aninability to increase the scale and pace of our plans to create a modern and Business
management appropriately shaped store estate during the retail property market downturn transformation
would impede our transformation objectives.

- Aninability to secure favourable agreements with landlords would impede cost
controlinitiatives.

Post-crisis - Aninability to successfully respond to the ending of lockdown (such as Multiple risk
recovery management of colleagues returning from furlough and re-establishing implications
‘business as usual’ process and control) would trigger operational challenges
and inefficiencies for the business.

- Afailure to evaluate, fund and implement initiatives to improve business operations
would be a missed opportunity.

Strategy - Aninability to define and successfully implement a revised strategy to rapidly Multiple risk
re-alignment respond to a post-Covid world and the associated changes in customer behaviours implications
and operational requirements would significantly undermine the transformational
imperatives of the business.

- This would include, although not be limited to, the operation of our online Clothing
&Home business, International operations, management of operating and capital
expenditure and the portfolio of business transformation initiatives under way.

In addition to the risks noted above, many of the principal risks prior to the pandemic remain the same in substance but have been
amplified by the current events — for example, our ability to effectively respond to Brexit, the transformational improvements needed
to the supply chain, maintaining controls over food safety, the potential risk of disruption to critical third-party relationships or
readiness to execute the launch of M&S products with Ocado Retail. Where this is the case, the effect has been noted in the relevant
section below.

Emergingrisks

Itis alsoimportant to note that, in many respects, the impact of Covid-19 has the characteristics of an emerging risk as well as
changing the principal risk profile today, as future events, and their impact on our business and the global community we work within,
cannot be determined with any certainty. We will therefore continue to monitor and respond to further changes as needed in the

months ahead. As a consequence, the nature and magnitude of the ongoing events will continue to change the risk profile in currently
unknown ways.
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Risk key @ Link to strategy

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

TRADING PERFORMANCE RECOVERY

A failure of our Food and/or Clothing & Home business

to effectively and rapidly respond to the pressures of an
increasingly competitive and changing retail environment,
including the impact of Covid-19, would adversely impact
customer experience, operational efficiency and business
performance.

M&S competes with a diverse range of retailers —in both
Food and Clothing & Home —in an increasingly challenged
sector faced with continued cost and pricing pressures,
shifts in consumer behaviours and broader macroeconomic
uncertainties. Delivering the right product ranges that
appeal to our customers, clear and simple pricing
architecture and availability are critical to the growth

of our business.

Inaddition, Covid-19 has had, and continues to have,

a significant negative impact on our trading performance
in line with UK retail more widely. Managing the growthin
surplus stock resulting from the lockdown is an area of
business focus.

Delays inimplementing the targeted transformational
improvements, or the business recovery plans in response
to Covid-19, across the business could negatively impact
business performance.

BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION

A failure to execute our business transformation and
cultural change initiatives with pace, consistency and
cross-business buy-in willimpede our ability to improve
operational efficiency and competitiveness.

The business has continued to deliver the range of projects
underpinning the transformation, including:

- Thereshaping, modernising and effective management
of a UK store estate that is fit for the future, with the right
storesinthe right space, improved integration between
online and store sales and shopping facilities expected
by our target customer groups.

- Modernising our supply chain and logistics activities to
improve speed, operational effectiveness and availability
and to reduce costs.

- Delivering our Digital First ambitions to improve
customer experience, reduce costs and work smarter
across the business.

In response to Covid-19, we will need to re-evaluate priorities
and their delivery, including acceleration of initiatives to
respond to permanent changes in customer behaviours or
to change our own working practices, balancing delivery of
the transformation with strict cash management disciplines
and rapidly reacting to the consequences of the pandemic.
A pause or delay to key components of the business
improvement programme because of the virus

response or other reasons may delay delivery of the
transformation objectives.

Heightened risk due to Covid-19

Marks and Spencer Group plc

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

Continued to strengthen capabilities of our senior
leadership teams in both Food and Clothing & Home
through targeted recruitment.

Established operating model consisting of a family of
accountable businesses who share M&S brand values,
colleagues and support functions, technology and
customer data.

Managing directors for each of these businesses who have
full accountability for their performance including for
marketing, supply chain, finance and technology.

Individual Business Boards to enable executive oversight
and effective governance of each business.

Continued delivery against business-specific transformation
plans incorporating discipline around cost, prices, availability,
value, ranges, broadening customer appeal and promotions
across both businesses.

Development, ongoing update and monitoring of business-
specific planning for the business restore as future stages of
the lockdown are communicated. This includes development
of aclear strategy to manage the wide-ranging implications
of the lockdown period on all aspects of the Clothing & Home
supply chain and inventory management.

Planned improvements to online trading by delivering both
the Ocado online launch in Food and our online ambitions
for Clothing &Home.

Adoption of a ‘Never the Same Again’approach to all aspects
of business operations and prioritisation of the most critical
improvement initiatives.

Comprehensive review of all operational and capital
expenditure to allocate spending to those activities aligned
to the transformation agenda and stop others in view of
Covid-19 priorities and recovery.

Maintenance of programnme governance principles for all
ongoing projects.

Periodic independent audit reviews of key programme
delivery and reporting to the Audit Committee.

Maintaining momentum to deliver ongoing initiatives to
transform our supply chain capabilities in all parts of the
business. For example, in Food the Vangarde supply chain
programme has demonstrated improvements to food waste
levels and availability.

Continued focus on the store estate transformation with
new initiatives like redevelopment of existing sites to make
effective use of space, resetting rental rates with landlords
and delivery of new format stores.



RISK

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING

Significantly reduced trading over an extended and
currently undetermined timeframe,combined with an
inability to effectively manage expenditure against
revised targets, could impact the business’s ability

to operate within and secure additional committed
credit facilities.

Availability of, and access to, appropriate sources of funding
is required for core business operations and the successful
and timely delivery of our transformation plan. In addition,
cash management has additional complexity as a
consequence of the ongoing trading restrictions during
lockdown, the associated reduction in cash generation

and planning for the impact of furloughing, deferral of

tax payments and other emergency measures.

Brexit adds a further dimension to this risk because of

the potential impact on currency movements, corporate
bond rates, changes in credit regulations and the extent of
government support of credit markets.

Aninability to maintain appropriate short- and longer-term
funding to meet business needs (both operationaland
strategic), make payments on debt and to effectively
manage associated risks, such as significant fluctuations

in foreign currency or interest rate changes, may have an
adverse impact on business viability and performance.

BREXIT

An inability to quickly identify and effectively respond to
the challenges of a post-Brexit environment could have a
significant impact on performance across our business.

The potential implications of the UK’s exit from the European
Union are significant and include:

- Deteriorationin customer sentiment.

- Operational complexity and cost due to restrictions
on the movement of goods and stricter border controls
(including the movement of goods between Great Britain
and Northern Ireland).

- Costs passed through from our suppliers.

- Continuity of supply and supplier viability.

- Importand export duties.

- Volatility in currency and corporate bond rates.

- Tightening of the labour market.

- Additional regulatory responsibilities and costs.

- Increased complexity and cost in our international
operations, including our franchise activities.

While an orderly exit following the end of the transitional

period would allow business planning to more effectively

address the consequences of change against a defined

timeframe, the level of change required as part of any deal

is yet unclear. A no deal outcome would have a more

immediate and negative impact.

The focus on the response to Covid-19 and the possibility

that the government may not seek an extension of the

transitional period may mean there is an increased risk

of a‘no deal’ departure and the consequential ability to

implement the necessary measures on a timely basis.

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

- Continued use of the existing committed facilities available

to the business, including the £1.1bn revolving credit facility.

— Immediate measuresimplemented to manage cash and

liquidity, including:
Freezing of discretionary spend
Significant reduction in capital spending
Dividend deferral
Temporary furlough of colleagues
Enhanced controls over spending

Confirmation of our eligibility under the UK government’s
CCFF scheme

Use of the business rates holiday, tax payment deferral and
other government support measures

- Formalagreement received from the syndicate of lending

banks to relax or waive covenant conditions for our revolving
credit facility.

- Close monitoring and stress testing of projected cash and

debt capacity, financial covenants and other rating metrics.

- Regular dialogue with the market and rating agencies.
- Review of counterparty credit risk and limits in line with

our risk appetite and treasury policy.

- Across-business working party is in place to undertake
scenario planning including financial and operational
impact assessments and to consider and drive readiness
requirements.

— Each of our family of businesses has undertaken a risk
assessment to prioritise and plan for the operational changes
they will need. Teams have continued to progress planning
during the current pandemic lockdown.

- Updates are provided to the Board and Audit Committee
outlining risks and actions being undertaken.

- We are engaged with the government and industry bodies
torepresent M&S’s views, including the UK Border
Development Croup with access to the Department for
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (Defra), HM Revenue &
Customs (HMRC) and the Food Standards Agency (FSA)
to support operational planning.
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RISK

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

FOOD ONLINE

A failure to effectively execute the launch of M&S
products for Ocado Retail would significantly impact the
achievement of our strategy to take our food onlineina
profitable, scalable and sustainable way.

The investment in Ocado Retailis part of our strategy for
improving our online reach and capability. To achieve this,
we are committed to providing M&S product ranges and to
have established new product development capabilities
for Ocado Retail by the beginning of September 2020.
Activities include:

- Finalisation of all commercial agreements with suppliers.

- Delivery of arange of M&S products to allow a seamless
transition for Ocado customers on launch.

- Establishing data and technology interfaces with
Ocado Retail.

- Developing operating procedures and ways of working
between the two businesses.

Aninability to establish effective operating protocolsin
advance of the launch date, whether related to the impact
of Covid-19 or other factors, could delay delivery of the
expected benefits from our investment in Ocado Retail.

FOOD SAFETY & INTEGRITY

Failure to prevent or effectively respond to a food safety
incident, or to maintain the integrity of our products,
could impact business performance, customer confidence
and our brand.

Food safety and integrity remain vital for our business.
We need to manage the potential risks to customer health
and consumer confidence that face all food retailers.

This includes considering how external pressures on the
food industry and wider economic and environmental
changes could impact the availability and integrity of

our food, the ability to operate all routine controls,

our reputation and shareholder value.

Many of these external pressures, including the impact

of Covid-19, inflationary costs, labour quality and availability,
increased regulatory scrutiny, animal disease, and the
unknown impact of Brexit, are, to a large degree,

outside our control but are nevertheless monitored.

Heightened risk due to Covid-19

Marks and Spencer Group plc

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

- M&S nominated directors are part of the Ocado Retail Board
and participate in leadership forums.

- Theestablishment and continued operation of a dedicated
M&S programme team, supported by senior leadership, to
oversee all aspects of project delivery including commercial
agreements, product range, and establishment of ongoing
operating processes.

- Joint working group in place with Ocado Group Plc and
Ocado Retail to establish the systems, processes and ways
of working to coordinate sourcing, product development,
product ranging, customer data and marketing.

- Regular remote communication continues under lockdown
with the Board, senior management and the delivery teams.

- Oversight from Customer and Brand Protection Committee.
- Food Safety Policy and Standards are in place, with clear
accountability set at all levels.

- Defined Terms of Trade, manufacturing standards,
specifications for “from farm to fork” and standard operating
procedures (stores, support centre and supply chain).

- New food initiatives assessed for food safety risks.

- Qualified and capable technical team, with continuing
professional development programme.

- Store, supplier and depot audit programmes, including
unannounced visits and raw material testing, adapted to
be managed remotely where site visits are not possible.

- Introduction of modified processes, including enhanced
monitoring of quality and customer complaints, to mitigate
risk during the Covid-19 lockdown and ongoing assessment
of the need for further change.

- Quarterly review of our control framework.

- Established processes for the development and legal
sign-off for product packaging.

- Documented and tested crisis management plan.

- Membership of the Food Industry Intelligence Network
at Board and Operating Committee level.

- Periodic Internal Audit reviews to consider process design
and operating effectiveness.



RISK

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE & RESPONSIBILITY

Failure to deliver against our legal, regulatory, social and
environmental commitments would undermine our
reputation as a responsible retailer, may result in legal
exposure or regulatory sanctions, and could negatively
impact our ability to operate and/or remain relevant to
our customers.

Theincreasingly broad and stringent legal and regulatory
framework for retailers creates pressure on both business
performance and market sentiment requiring continual
improvements in how we operate as a business to
maintain compliance.

More recently, the requirements triggered by the
Covid-19 outbreak, including in relation to safety and
social distancing, have in a short time frame necessitated
immediate changes to operating procedures in our
distribution network, stores and support centres.

In addition, the expectations of our customers and other
stakeholders (including regulators) are increasingly
demanding. The environmental impact of food, packaging
and the sustainability of clothing are allincreasingly
relevant. Speed in responding to evolving expectations s
vital to maintaining a positive business perception.

Non-compliance may result in fines, criminal prosecution for
M&S or colleagues, litigation, additional investment to rectify
breaches, disruption or cessation of business activity, as well

as have animpact on our reputation and financial results.

BUSINESS CONTINUITY & RESILIENCE

Failures or resilience issues at key business locations
could result in major business interruption. In particular,
amajor incident at our Castle Donington e-commerce
distribution centre may have a significant impact on our
ability to fulfil online orders. More broadly, an inability to
effectively respond to global events, such as pandemic
or supply chain disruption, would significantly impact
business performance.

As our sole online Clothing & Home fulfilment centre, the
effective operation of our Castle Donington depot is vital.
A majorincident leading to a sustained period offline would
impact sales and potentially hinder the growth of M&S.com.

In addition to Castle Donington, the loss of other locations
such as the dedicated warehouses that store beers, wines &
spirits or frozen goods in the UK or support facilities, such
as for IT, could impact business operations.

While the response to Covid-19 has highlighted positives
inthe business’s ability to continue operating in extreme
circumstances, it has also underlined the risk associated
with our global supply chains. The reliance on China and the
interdependency of sourcing locations, in addition to the
concentration of supply from individual countries such as
Bangladesh, highlight the potential impact of globally
disruptive events. Beyond supply chain, the implications

on trading both in the UK and International are also arisk.

- ACode of Conductisin place and has recently been reviewed

- Immediate crisis response capability (via the Crisis

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

and updated. This is underpinned by policies and procedures,
including human rights, modern slavery, global sourcing,
data protection, anti-bribery and corruption, health & safety,
food safety, national minimum wage, equal pay, cyber and
data security. An annual self-assessment compliance process
isalsoinplace.
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Management team) when required on a reactive basis -
more recently for Covid-19.

- Mandatory induction briefings and annual training for

relevant colleagues on key regulations.

- Oversight from committees and steering groups such as

for fire, health and safety or food safety.

— In-houseregulatory legal team, including specialist solicitors,

which conducts ‘horizon scanning’ on new and emerging
regulatory and legislative changes.

- Dedicated non-legal regulatory issue leaders and advisers

to drive compliance against key risk areas within the business.
This includes, for example, GSCOP (Croceries Supply Code
of Practice) compliance in Food or ethical sourcing in
Clothing & Home.

- Proactive engagement with regulators, legislators, trade

bodies and policy makers.

- Simplified Plan A operating model with a lean central team

responsible for setting the framework and establishing
sustainability priorities in each of our family of businesses.

— Published, monitored and reported commitmentsin

relation to environmental and socialissues in line with
regulatory requirements.

- Established auditing and monitoring systems.
— Customer contact centre insight and analysis of live social

mediaissues.

— Adedicated Business Continuity team.
- Anestablished Group Crisis Management process —

which was invoked and has operated throughout the
Covid-19 outbreak.

- Business continuity plans, incorporating remote working

requirements, are in place for key activities across our
operations, including offices, depots and IT sites. These were
invoked and, where needed, refined during lockdown.

- Group Incident Reporting & Management Procedures in

place and used to escalate incidents on site. These also
include critical third parties.

- Store and sourcing office business continuity assessments

and visits, where appropriate.

- Insurance cover to mitigate the impact of remediation and

business interruption.

- Mechanisms to validate the existence of key supplier

arrangements.

- Ongoing contingency planning for Brexit.
- Enhanced capabilities at Castle Donington to manage

technology failure.

- Engagement with external stakeholdersincluding

Retail Business Continuity Association and
government-led initiatives.

- Membership of the National Counter Terrorism

Information exchange.
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RISK

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

INFORMATION SECURITY

Failure to adequately prevent or respond to a data breach
or cyber-attack could adversely impact our reputation,
result in significant fines, business disruption, loss of
stakeholder confidence, and/or loss of information for
our customers, employees or business.

Theincreasing sophistication and frequency of
cyber-attacksin the retail industry, coupled with the Data
Protection Act (DPA), highlight the escalating information
security risk facing all businesses. Our reliance on a number
of third parties hosting critical services and holding M&S
and customer data also means the information security
risk profile is changeable.

This risk also increases as we develop our digital capabilities.
For example our dependency on the availability of,and
access to, insightful data across our business and/or

with the increasing shift online.

In addition, the risk of a data breach or misuse isimpacted by
Covid-19 as thereis the potential for:

Anincrease in targeted phishing campaigns.

New risks linked to working from home and the usage
of personal devices.

Increased reliance on third parties supporting critical
support services.

TECHNOLOGY CAPABILITY

A failure to improve our technology capabilities, reduce
dependency on legacy systems and enhance digital
capability could limit our ability to keep pace with
customer expectations and competitors, enable business
transformation and grow profitably.

The digital world continues to evolve at an unrelenting pace,
enabling competitive advantage, influencing consumer
behaviours or expectations and increasing demands on
ITinfrastructure. As demonstrated during the Covid-19
lockdown, our business resilience is increasingly dependent
on the reliability and effectiveness of our technology
infrastructure and capability.

We are clear on our aim to be Digital First and continue to
plan and invest to support this objective.

While a focus on improving the existing IT infrastructure
has begun to deliverimprovements in capability, flexibility
and cost efficiency, further work is required to enable

the business to move with pace to meet customer and
colleague needs.

We also need to continue to develop the skills and
capabilities of our colleagues in order to drive beneficial and
effective use of the technological changes that are made.

Heightened risk due to Covid-19

Marks and Spencer Group plc

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

Dedicated Information Security function, comprising a
multi-disciplinary operation of information security
specialists and support services and capabilities, with a
24/7 Security Operation Centre.

Continued focus on improving controls, policies, and
procedures in line with our environment and threat
landscape, including heightened areas of risk due to Covid-19.

Maintained focus on scanning our threat environment.
Established third-party assurance programme.

Focused security assurance, overall operational rigor and
security hygiene around significant change activities.

Network of Data Protection Compliance Managers in priority
business areas to oversee and address compliance.

Mandatory information security and data protection
training for colleagues, including responsibilities for the
use of personal data.

Corporate Security team with a focus onimproving the
physical security environment.

Delivery against our technology transformation programme
continues and is underpinned with a defined technology
operating model, project governance principles and

agile methodology.

Cross-channel technology investment strategy in place
and aligned to the family of businesses, reviewed quarterly
to track benefits realisation of core projects.

Improvements to our IT infrastructure, increased bandwidth
and deployment of a unified communication and
collaboration tool, which underpinned the rapid move

to remote working during the Covid-19 lockdown.

Continued investment in in-store technology and
digital capabilities to enhance both customer and
colleague experience.

Prioritisation of technology initiatives which is fully aligned
with our operating and capital expenditure targets.

Continued collaboration with our principal technology
services partner, TCS, and other strategic partnerships,
such as Microsoft, to drive our Digital First ambition.

Expansion of the Decoded programme and investmentin
data analytics expertise to improve digital people skills.

Investment in dedicated resource focused on technology
risk and assurance maturity and roll-out of a structured
IT control methodology.



RISK

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

THIRD-PARTY MANAGEMENT

An inability to successfully manage and leverage our
strategic third-party relationships, or a critical failure
of a key supplier or partner, could impact delivery of
our transformation initiatives, our ability to operate
effectively and efficiently or, in some circumstances,
our brand and reputation.

Our business is dependent on a range of significant
third-party relationships that span products and services,
franchise operations, joint ventures, investments and our
banking and services partners. A critical failure of a key
supplier or partner could have a significant impact on
operational activities, our transformation and/or customer
experience —any of which could negatively impact
operating profit.

The scale and impact of Covid-19, both in the UK and
internationally, has heightened the possibility of disruption
or failure in the important group of third-party companies
that form part of the extended operations of our business.

TALENT, CULTURE & CAPABILITY

Aninability to maintain efficient processes and complete,
accurate people metrics could impact our ability to
effectively target our resources and people agenda

to focus on attracting, engaging, developing and
motivating colleagues and developing skills for the future.
This could also impact the pace of operational and cultural
transformation across the business.

The need to engage, motivate and connect with our
colleagues across a multi-generational, diverse workforce
and drive Digital First skills and mindset is key to delivering
productivity and supporting the transformation of

our business while driving customer loyalty through

a differentiated service proposition.

Aninability to maintain the necessary change management
capabilities could constrain our transformation objectives.
This, combined with the cultural challenge of managing
talent, performance and succession could result in increased
resource management and development costs.

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

Inclusion of third-party management risks as part of the
Crisis Management team oversight of the Covid-19 response.
Clear procurement and supplier management policies

in place, including dedicated relationship partners for
strategic suppliers.

Defined service level agreements and key performance
indicators for key contracts.

Dedicated procurement and commercial teams.
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Key supplier business contingency planning including
targeted reviews by our Business Continuity team.
Structured governance and business monitoring processes
forinvestments, other partnering and franchise agreements.
Integrated business planning processes to support franchise
and joint venture reviews.

Regular review of franchise and joint venture markets and
new opportunities.

Third-party self-assessment processes to confirm
compliance with expected standards and policies.

Investment in external hires to strengthen capability and
address identified skills gaps.

Investment in internal talent through structured
identification of critical and senior roles.

- Leadership development programmes to enhance

leadership capability and colleague engagement.

Improved new starter experience to ensure effective
onboarding, engagement and retention of new colleagues.

A Business Involvement Croup which is actively involved in
colleague engagement and representation throughout the
business, including at Board meetings.

Development of a robust performance management system
that will measure achievement against business objectives
and behaviours, with a clear link to reward.

Atotal reward review, with benchmarking of all pay and
benefit components and transparency on fair pay,
including gender, ethnicity, disability and age.

Creation of a network of external allies to champion our
inclusion and diversity agenda.

Change management capability considered a specific
leadership skill requiring investment through training,
toolkits and methodology.

Planned investment in an HR information system.

Delivery of a digital-specific apprenticeship programme
driving digital literacy and capability building.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

DESCRIPTION & CONTEXT

BRAND, LOYALTY & CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

An inability to evolve our brand appeal, customer
experience and Sparks loyalty programme will impact
our success in retaining and attracting customers

and expanding the business.

Consumer lifestyles and attitudes continue to evolve
at paceinanincreasingly diversified and competitive
retail environment. A failure to anticipate and keep up
with customer expectations would impact future
trading performance.

In addition, the uncertainty of the duration of Covid-19 and
its longer-term impact on consumer behaviour, shopping
habits and spending power, is unknown, making our ability
to planand rapidly react more important than ever.

Evolving our Sparks programme in a way that resonates
with our customers and helps inform business decisions
remains a key objective. Combined with coordinating
improvements across customer experience and
personalisation through meaningful measures of customer
experience, data-driven marketing strategies and
embedding Digital First behaviours, these are key

enablers to being a customer-centric business.

MITIGATING ACTIVITIES

Chief Digital & Data Officer in post to head Insights and
Loyalty programmes and the recently created Digital & Data
team focusing on loyalty, data science, digital product,
customer growth and innovation.

Brand, marketing and product teams aligned with the
operating model to better address the specific needs of
our family of businesses.

Improved online search functionality, enhanced end-to-end
journey across M&S.com and stores for Click & Collect, and
greater personalised digital products and marketing.

Investment in capability to measure customer experience
through introduction of an end-to-end and multichannel
net promoter score programme, supported by third-party
expertise.

Completion of a review of our Sparks loyalty programme to
inform next steps.

Proactive monitoring of social media to observe and respond
to trends in customer experience.

Initiatives launched in response to the Covid-19 lockdown to
continue making product available safely to customers, for
example the range of M&S food boxes, expansion of Mobile

Pay Go payment facility, introduction of M&S E-Cift Cards
and shifting focus to contactless home delivery.

- Targeted use of celebrity engagement and high-impact
sponsorship of ITV’s ‘Britain’s Got Talent’.

OURAPPROACH TO ASSESSING LONG-TERM VIABILITY

The UK Corporate Governance Code

requires us to issue a ‘viability statement’

declaring whether we believe the
Company can continue to operate and
meet its liabilities, taking into account
its current position and principal risks.
The overriding aim is to encourage
directors to focus on the longer term
and be more actively involved in risk
management and internal controls.

In assessing viability, the Board
considered a number of key factors,
including our business model (see
page 09), our strategy (see page 07), risk
appetite (see page 33) and our principal
risks and uncertainties (see pages 34
to42).

The Board is required to assess the
Company’s viability over a period
greater than 12 months, and in keeping
with the way that the Board views the
development of our business over the
long term, a period of three years is
considered appropriate for business
planning, measuring performance

Risk key @ Link to strategy
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and remunerating at a senior level.
Our assessment of viability therefore
continues to align with this three-year
outlook.

Given the global political and economic
uncertainty resulting from the Covid-19
pandemic, coupled with the already
fast-paced changes taking place across
the retail sector, we expect to see
significant volatility and business
disruption reducing our expected
performancein 2020/21. We have
already felt the impact of the
government’s guidelines on lockdown,
with our Food stores open and trading
(albeit with social-distancing measures
in place), but with Clothing & Home
unable to trade from stores, and all sales
therefore predominantly coming from
online sales and Click & Collect in stores.
Measures have already been taken

to protect the health and safety of

our customers and our colleagues,

to manage our supply chain, to cut
costs, and to redeploy our Clothing &

Heightened risk due to Covid-19

Home colleagues to Food to meet the
demand and increased safety practices.
These measures will help to mitigate the
impact of the volatility, and we believe
that trading conditions will recover as
we move into 2021/22.

In assessing viability, the directors
considered the position presented in
the Budget and Three-Year Plan recently
approved by the Board. In the context
of the current challenging environment
highlighted above, a “Covid-19 scenario”
was applied to the plan, as well as the
modelling of additional severe, yet
plausible, sensitivities. These were based
on the potential financial impact of the
Croup’s principal risks and uncertainties
and the specific risks associated with the
Covid-19 pandemic and the uncertain
high street trading environment.

The Covid-19 scenario and how it
corresponds to the principal risks,
including the pandemic (pages 34 -42)
has been assumed to occur over the



OUR APPROACH TO ASSESSINGLONG-TERM VIABILITY CONTINUED

same three-year period in order to
assess the Group’s ability to withstand
multiple challenges. The potential
impacts of the pandemic have been
built into the Covid-19 scenario and
additional sensitivities, but the potential
impact of a further “black swan” event
that cannot be reasonably anticipated,
oris considered remote, is not included.

The Covid-19 scenario assumes that

the current government guidelines
continue for a period of at least four
months, resulting in a significant decline
in sales for the remainder of 2020/21

as follows:

- Onaverage, a 70% declinein
Clothing & Home sales vs budget
for the four months to July 2020,
followed by a slow recovery back to
budget by February 2021, reducing
expected revenue by £1.5bn for the
financial year.

- A20% declinein Food sales vs budget
for the four months to July, impacting
annual revenue by £384m.

- International sales following a similar
profile to Clothing & Home, with a
significant decline in April due to
closures, and a recovery extended
to March 2021, impacting annual
revenue by £214m.

Given the Covid-19 scenario is most
sensitive to changes in the length of
the Covid-19 impacting period and the
depth of the impact, and without firm
guidance from the governmenton a
possible ‘exit strategy’, a prudent
approach has been taken to stress test
this Covid-19 case with further downside
sensitivities, which extend the length
of the social-distancing measures or
increase the depth of the impact on
sales and margin as follows:

- Sensitivity 1-The Covid-19 scenario
above, but with a much slower
recovery, thereby impacting Clothing
&Home and Food sales for longer
and including a recession for the
duration of the Three-Year Plan period
(modelled as a 5% decline vs planin
Clothing & Home and Food sales on
an ongoing basis through-out the
three years). The incremental impact
on Clothing & Home and Food
revenuesis £25Im and £281m
respectively for the financial year.

- Sensitivity 2 -as per sensitivity 1,
plus a deeper sales decline over the
first six-month period, with Clothing &
Home on average c.80% down on
budget. The incremental impact on
Clothing & Home and Food revenue is
£424m and £99m respectively, over
and above sensitivity 1for the
financial year.

Reverse stress testing has also been
applied to the model, which represents
afurther decline in sales compared with
sensitivity 2. Such a scenario, and the
sequence of events which could lead
toit, is considered to be remote.

The impact of the Covid-19 scenario

and sensitivities has been reviewed
against the Group’s projected cash flow
position and financial covenant over the
three-year viability period. Should these
occur, mitigating actions would be
required to ensure that the Group
remains liquid and financially viable.
These actions were identified as the
Covid-19 pandemic emerged as part

of the contingency planning that the
Group has been undertaking, which
considered both feasibility and
timeframe to execute.

Mitigating actions taken include, but are
not limited to, reducing planned capital
and marketing spend, freezing pay and
recruitment, making technology and
operating expenditure cuts, reducing
the supply pipeline of Clothing & Home
stock by c.£560m, and lengthening
payment terms, and ceasing to pay

the final dividend payment for 2019/20
and for the current financial year,
resulting in a total anticipated cash
saving of c.£340m.

The Croup also expects to benefit
from c.£172m of business rates relief
in 2020/21 and the government’s
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme

to help meet the cost of furloughed
roles in store, distribution and support
centres, which should generate cash
savings of c.£50m up to 30 June 2020.

In addition, in order to maximise liquidity
for the likely duration of the crisis

and the recovery period beyond,

the following further steps have also
been taken:

- Formal agreement has been reached
with the lending syndicate of banks
providing the £1.1bn revolving credit
facility to remove or substantially
relax the covenant conditions for the
tests arising in September 2020,
March 2021 and September 2021.

- The Group has confirmed its eligibility
under the UK government’s CCFF
and allocated anissuer limit of
£300m, providing additional
further liquidity headroom.
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The agreement with the banks
combined with the other measures
taken means that, even under

the Covid-19 scenario and the
sensitivities, the business would
continue to have significant liquidity
headroom on its existing facilities and
against the revolving credit facility
financial covenant.

Neither the Covid-19 scenario, nor the
sensitivities individually threaten

the viability of the Company. Inall
assessments, there is an option to
extend the potential mitigations
available, such as further reduction

in capital expenditure and reduced
returns to shareholders. The Audit
Committee reviews the output of the
viability assessment in advance of final
evaluation by the Board. The directors
have also satisfied themselves that
they have the evidence necessary to
support the statement in terms of the
effectiveness of the internal control
environment in place to mitigate risk.

Having reviewed the current
performance, forecasts, debt servicing
requirements, total facilities and risks,
the Board has a reasonable expectation
that the Group has adequate resources
to continue in operation, meets its
liabilities as they fall due, retain
sufficient available cash across all
three years of the assessment period
and not breach any covenant under

the revolving credit facility. The Board
therefore has a reasonable expectation
that the Group will remain commercially
viable over the three-year period of
assessment. The Viability Statement
can be found on page 96.
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GOVERNANCE

CHAIRMAN'S CGOVERNANCE

“The Board’s primary
objective remains to
drive and accelerate
our strategy of
transformation.”

Archie Norman, Chairman

/

The delivery of our transformation
strategy this year has continued to be
challenging, not least due to the ongoing
uncertainty resulting from the Covid-19
pandemic. Nonetheless, we remain
confident in the strength and relevance
of our transformation programme andin
our ability to accelerate this beyond the
current crisis. This is in no small part due
to the enthusiasm and vigour with which
our colleagues have faced this crisis.

The Board’s primary objective remains
to drive our strategy of transformation,
ensuring the long-term, sustainable
success of the business. In doing so, it is
essential for us to be highly engaged,
able to support and challenge senior
management and committed to making
the hard decisions required to transform
the business. We also continue to fulfil
our other core duties to oversee M&S’s
culture, governance, financial controls,
risk and change management.

The Governance section that follows is

by intention concise, in keeping with our
approach in previous years. Further detail
on the Board, its Committees and our
governance framework are available at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.
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A REFRESHED BOARD

Last year, we completed a substantial
refresh of the Board'’s structure; this year,
our refreshed Board has worked
cohesively inits duties to the Company,
guiding senior management in the
delivery of our strategic priorities.

For the year ahead and the challenges
that this inevitably brings, we have
reviewed the balance of the Board and
believe we have putin place a strong
non-executive team with a breadth of
skills, experience and perspectives for
2020/21. Katie Bickerstaffe has taken

on anew role within the Company as
Chief Strategy and Transformation
Director and steps down from the

Board in July alongside Alison Brittain.
Two new non-executives, Tamara Ingram
and Sapna Sood, and our new Chief
Financial Officer, Eoin Tonge, join usin
June. Humphrey Singer resigned as
Chief Finance Officer and left the Board
in December, while David Surdeau joined
as Interim Chief Finance Officerin
January 2020.

Full details of these changes are provided
in the Nomination Committee Report on
pages 57 to 58.

BOARD ACTIVITIES

The Board’s focus during the year

had been toincrease the pace of the
Company’s transformation. It has received
updates from all areas of the business

on each of the strategic components
comprising this transformation in detailed
“strategic deep dives’, which it has then
considered, debated and challenged.

In recent months, this focus has shifted
towards addressing the escalating
Covid-19 crisis, and has seen the Board’s
activities and meetings rapidly increase
in frequency to address the constantly
changing situation.

An overview of the range of matters that
the Board discussed and debated at its
meetings during the year can be found
on pages 48 to 49.

The reports of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees for
2019/20 are available on pages 59
to 65 and 66 to 92 respectively.

OVERVIEW

COVID-19 RESPONSE

The Board has met at least weekly, by
phone or onling, since the World Health
Organization declared the Covid-19 virus a
pandemic, ensuring it was well placed

to respond when the UK government
later began its daily press briefings. It has
worked with leadership to review in-depth
scenario planning, and engaged teams
throughout the business, while setting its
expectations for M&S’s approach to each
of its stakeholder groups, mindful of their
respective needs.

The scale and pace with which the
Company’s response has been
coordinated by the Board is significant,
and provides a valuable snapshot of M&S’s
governance in action. A detailed overview
of this governance, the teams involved and
the individual decisions comprising our
overall response to the Covid-19 pandemic
can be found on pages 50 to 53.

INVESTMENT IN OCADO

Inthe early part of the year we worked
until the execution to purchase 50% of
the share capital of Ocado Retail Limited,
combining the strength of M&S’s brand
and its leading food quality and
innovation with Ocado’s unique and
proprietary technology to create an
unrivalled online offer for our customers.

From the outset of the transaction, we
strongly believed that this investment
would create significant, sustainable
shareholder value over the long term, and
would be a key component in our drive to
become a truly digital retailer. Our belief
in thisis now stronger than ever in the
wake of Covid-19. The successful launch
of M&S products on the Ocado platform
in September 2020 has therefore been a
key priority for the Board during the year,
and continues to be moving into the next.

DIVIDEND

In March, as part of our update on the
impact of Covid-19, we announced that we
did not anticipate making a final dividend
payment for the 2019/20 financial year.
We later announced in April that we also
did not anticipate paying a dividend for
the 2020/21 financial year. While this

was a difficult decision, thisis one of

the proactive steps we have taken to
strengthen our balance sheet and
maximise liquidity for the likely duration
of the crisis and recovery period beyond.



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

While engagement with our customers
and colleagues has been a key focus
during these recent turbulent weeks,
so that they can continue to shop and
work safely, maintaining dialogue with
all of our stakeholders has also been
forefront of the Board’s mind.

Through our market announcements,

we have ensured that allinvestors are
informed of the impact the virus is having
on our business, and those of our retail
shareholders who signed up for email
communications also received a personal
update from me to thank them for their
support and understanding.

Supplier engagement has been crucial
for our Clothing & Home and Food
suppliers, maintaining close contact
to ensure that we can support them
through this difficult period and
maintain continuity of food supplies.

The UK Corporate Governance Code 2018
(the “Code”) is the standard against which
we measured ourselves in 2019/20. The
Code s available to view on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website.

We are pleased to confirm that we
complied with all of the provisions set out
inthe Code for the period under review.
To keep this report concise, we have
focused on the key governance issues
only. Our compliance with key areas

of the Code are summarised below,
together with cross references, where
applicable, to the relevant sections of
this report where more information

can be found.

Full details on how we comply with the
Code, including full biographies of our
directors and our Corporate Covernance
Statement, is available on our website.
Where reference is made to the
availability of further information

on our website, it can be found at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

— Independence
Over half of our Board (excluding the
Chairman) comprises independent
non-executive directors and the
composition of all Board Committees
complies with the Code. Additionally,
the Chairman was considered
independent on his appointment.
More information about the Board
is available on pages 46 to 47.

— Senior Independent Director
Our Senior Independent Director is
Andy Halford.

— Accountability and election
Thereis a clear separation of duties
between the Chairman and CEO roles,
and all the directors are to stand for
annual re-election.

Further information on our stakeholder
considerations and activities during the
Covid-19 pandemic can be found on
pages 50 to 53.

Prior to the Covid-19 outbreak, 2019/20
had already been a year of proactive
engagement with our investors. Our rights
issue in June 2019, funding our acquisition
of 50% of Ocado Retail, was deliveredin
line with our Digital First strategy. This was
the first substantial UK digital rights issue
undertaken, allowing digital participation
by c.180,000 shareholders. We also
engaged with our largest institutional
shareholders throughout the triennial
review of our Remuneration Policy and
have responded to their feedback on

our proposals.

We know our Annual General Meeting

(AGM) provides investors with another
valuable opportunity to communicate
with us. In recognition of this, we will be

UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

— Evaluation
An externally facilitated performance
evaluation of the Board and its
Committees was undertaken during
the year in accordance with the
requirements of the Code, details of
which can be found on page 56.

— Attendance
The directors have all attended an
acceptable level of Board and
Committee meetings, details of
which are available on page 54.

— Committee Chair Experience
1. The Audit Committee chairman
met the specific requirements with
regard to recent and relevant financial
experience throughout 2019/20.

2.The Remuneration Committee
chairman had been a member

of aremuneration committee

(for Moneysupermarket.com

Group PLC) for more than 12 months
prior to his appointment as Chair.

— Governance Framework
Our full Governance Framework,
setting out details of our corporate
governance practices, is available
on our website.

— Auditor tenure
We changed our auditor in 2014/15,
following a thorough tender process.
Our lead audit partner, Richard
Muschamp, has been in place since
the start of the 2019/20 financial year.

— Non-audit policy
This is disclosed on our website,
along with the limited non-audit
work undertaken during 2019/20.
Details of non-audit fees can be
found on page 64.

conducting this year's AGM digitally,
despite current lockdown measures, again
supporting our digital strategy. In addition
to being able to vote and submit questions
electronically in advance, all shareholders
will be able tojoin the meeting online to
hear from Steve and me, ask questions
and vote on our resolutions. Information
on how to participate electronically, both
in advance and on the day, can be found
on pages 194 to 197.

Details of our engagement with
stakeholders and our full response to
s.172 of the Companies Act 2006 can be
found on pages 20 to 21.

DY [

Archie Norman, Chairman

— Auditor appointment
We disclose our external auditor
appointment policy on our website.

— Internal Audit
Details of the Internal Audit function
are provided within this report on
page 65.

GOVERNANCE

— Culture
Information about how the Board has
assessed and monitored culture can
be found on pages 18 to 19 of the
Strategic Report.

— Performance-related pay
A significant part of performance-
related pay is delivered through
shares. Our reward framework is
simple, transparent and designed to
support and drive our strategy.

More information on our approach
toinvesting in and rewarding our
workforce is available in the report of
the Remuneration Committee from
page 66.

— Workforce engagement
The Chair of the Company’s workforce
advisory panel, the Business
Involvement Group (BIG), is invited
to attend three Board meetings and
one Remuneration Committee
meeting each year. More detail on
how M&S engages with its key
stakeholder groups is presented
on pages 20 to 21.

— Diversity
Information about the diversity of
our Board, including its consideration
of diversity in its succession plans and
in developing senior management,
can be found on pages 19, 46, 49
and 58.

Annual Report &Financial Statements 2020 45



CHAIRMAN

GOVERNANCE

OUR BOARD

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

NEWLY-APPOINTED
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Archie Norman ® (r) SteveRowe
Chairman Chief Executive
Appointed: September 2017 Appointed: April 2016

Key strengths and experience
— Extensiveretailand business
leadership experience.

— Long-termtrackrecord of
value creation and change
in major British companies.

Archieis an experienced
Chairman and former Chief
Executive having led major
transformation programmes
atITV, Lazard, Asda, Energis
and Hobbycraft. He was
previously Deputy Chairman
of Coles Limited and, in 2016,
was appointed Lead Director at
the Department for Business,
Energy & Industrial Strategy.

(as Chief Executive)

Key strengths and experience

— Very extensive in-depth
commercial and retail
experience.

— Extensive knowledge of
M&S having worked in all
major areas of the business.

Steve joined M&Sin 1989 and
worked in senior roles across all
areas of the business prior to his
appointment as CEQ, including
Director of Home, Director of
Retail, Director of Retail and
E-commerce, Executive Director,
Food, and Executive Director,
Ceneral Merchandise.

Eoin Tonge
Chief Financial Officer
(Designate)

Andy Halford
Senior Independent
Director

- JO)

Appointed: Incoming June 2020

Appointed: January 2013

Key strengths and experience
— Strong financial background
and extensive supply
chain expertise.

— Significant experience
in overseeing strategic
programmes.

Eoin will join the business in

June from Creencore, where

he has been CFO since 2016.

At Creencore, he oversaw the
divestment of their US operations,
strengthening the company’s
balance sheet, returning capital to
shareholders and simplifying the
business. Prior to that he was MD
of Greencore’s Crocery business
and also worked in a variety of
roles across finance, treasury and

capital markets at Goldman Sachs.

Key strengths and experience
— Significant recent and relevant
financial experience.

— International, consumer and
digital experience.

Andy’s strong finance background
and broad knowledge of the

UK and international consumer
market was gained from CFO
positions held in global listed
companies. He is Chief Financial
Officer of Standard Chartered,
which he joined after 15 years at
Vodafone, nine of which were
spent as Chief Financial Officer.

BOARD AS AT 3JUNE 2020 (DATE OF PUBLICATION)

BOARD AS AT 3JULY 2020 (FOLLOWING THE AGM)

Non-executive Sector experience
director tenure'
- k¥
Retail
L [
\ Consumer
I 40%
Finance
® 0-2years 5(63%) N 30%

® 3-5years 1(13%)
©® 6-7 years 2(25%)

E-commerce & technology

Gender diversity?

Executive Nor\tf All
directors executive Board
directors

® Female (50%) ® Female (50%) ® Female (50%)
® Male (50%) ® Male (50%) ® Male (50%)

1. Figuresrounded to the nearest1%.
2. Katie Bickerstaffe was an executive director with effect from 27 April 2020.
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Non-executive
director tenure'

’

(

® 0-2years 5(71%)
® 3-5years 1(14%)
© 6-7 years 1(14%)

Gender diversity

Executive

directors

® Female (0%)
® Male (100%)

Sector experience

I 78%
Retail

[ 39%

Consumer
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Finance

I 33%

E-commerce & technology

Non—l All
egecutlve Board
directors

® Female (43%)
® Male (57%)

® Female (33%)
® Male (67%)



Full biographical details of each director are available on

marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

Key to Committees

(») Audit

@ Nomination

® Remuneration

. Committee Chair

Key to role status

I Intherole currently Il Newly appointed B Outgoing

GENERAL COUNSEL AND
COMPANY SECRETARY

Andrew Fisher OBE @ @
Non-Executive Director

Justin King CBE BIO)
Non-Executive Director

Pip McCrostie IO
Non-Executive Director

Nick Folland

Appointed: December 2015

Appointed: January 2019

Appointed: July 2018

Appointed: February 2019

Key strengths and experience
— International consumer and
technology sector experience.

— Extensive knowledge of
high-growth digital businesses.

Andrew was instrumental in
establishing mobile lifestyle

app Shazam, where he was
Executive Chairman until
October 2018, as a leading
mobile consumer brand, and
brings over 20 years’ experience
leading and growing numerous
technology-focused enterprises.

Key strengths and experience
— Extensive experience of working
inand leading large businesses.

— Considerable knowledge
of retail transformation
and operations.

Justinis currently Vice Chairman
of Terra Firma, acting as adviser
to the General Partner. Between
2004 and 2014, he was the CEO of
Sainsbury’s, leading the business
through a major transformation.
He has also previously held senior
positions at M&S as Head of Food,
as well as Asda, Haagen-Dazs,
PepsiCo and Mars.

NEWLY-APPOINTED NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Key strengths and experience
— Substantial experience of
corporate finance and tax.

— Extensive knowledge of global
businesses and corporate
transactions.

Pip was a member of Ernst and
Young's Global Executive Board
from 2008 until her retirementin
2016. At EY she gained extensive
financial experience and led and
transformed the Global Corporate
Finance business. She was founder
and co-founder respectively of the
Global Transaction Tax Network
and UK Transaction Tax Group

and a non-executive director of
Inmarsat from 2016 to 2019.

OUTGOING DIRECTORS

Nick has extensive legal and
governance experience, having
been General Counseland
Company Secretary in FTSE
100 businesses since 2001.
More recently, he has held
positions as Chief Executive of
the Crown Prosecution Service
and Chief External Affairs
Officer and Chief of Staff to
the CEO of the Co-op.

GOVERNANCE

Sapna Sood
Non-Executive Director

Tamaralngram
Non-Executive Director

Alison Brittain CBE
Non-Executive Director

Appointed: June 2020

Appointed: June 2020

Appointed: January 2014

Sapnais a Group Director at
Compass CGroup PLC where she
leads the International Clients and
Market Development business.
She hasin-depth knowledge of
running complex supply chains,
including in food and clothing,

as well as experience of leading
large transformation programmes.
She has held leading operational
roles in the building materials and
industrial gas sectors in Europe
and Asia-Pacific, latterly as CEO
and President of LafargeHolcimin
the Philippines. She has been a
non-executive director at Kering
since 2016 with her term due to
expire on 16 June 2020.

Tamara joins from a longstanding
leadership career in advertising,
marketing and digital
communications, having held
leadership roles at WPP since
2002. Prior to this, she worked at
Saatchiand Saatchiwhere she
held the roles of CEO and Chair.
Tamara has led renowned
marketing campaigns for
household brands around the
world and delivered culturaland
business transformation at pace
within her own businesses as
well as on behalf of clients.
Sheis Non-Executive Chair of
Wunderman Thompsonand a
non-executive director of

Marsh MacLennan.

Key strengths and experience
— Financialand commercial
experience.

— Considerable knowledge of
running large-scale consumer
businesses.

Alisonis CEO of Whitbread, a
global organisation with a broad
portfolio of hospitality brands,
and was previously Group Director
at the Retail Division of Lloyds
Banking Group, with responsibility
forits retail branch networks as
well as its Retail Business Banking
and UK Wealth businesses. Alison
will be standing down at the 2020
AGM having served over six years
on the Board.

Katie Bickerstaffe

Chief Strategy and
Transformation Director

Appointed: April 2020

(as Chief Strategy and
Transformation Director) July
2018 (as Non-Executive Director)

Key strengths and experience
— Extensive experience of retail
and operations.

— Significant understanding
of UK retailand leading
consumer-focused
businesses.

Katie joined the leadership
team as Chief Strategy and
Transformation Director on

27 April 2020. As a result, she
will step down from the Board
at the 2020 ACM having served
as a non-executive director

for two years.
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GOVERNANCE

SOARD ACTIVITIES

WHAT WAS ON THE BOARD’S AGENDA IN 2019/20?

Board meetings are an important
mechanism through which the
directors discharge their duties,
particularly under s.172

of the Companies Act 2006.

@ More information is available
on pages 20 and 21

The following pages provide an overview
of the content and structure of the Board’s
meetings and how consideration of the
Group’s key stakeholdersis central to its
discussions (see the key to the right).

appropriate balance between regular
standing items, such as reports on current
trading and financial performance,

with one or two detailed “deep dives”.
These enable the Board to exchange
views and robustly debate elements of
the Company’s performance, specific
projects or areas of strategic significance.

Meeting agendas are agreed in advance
by the Chairman, CEO and Company
Secretary and are tailored to strike an

TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

PRINCIPAL COMMITTEE UPDATES REVIEW AND KPI UPDATES

The Chairs of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees provide regular updates to the Board on the
key issues and topics raised at those meetings, as well as any
recommendations for the Board’s approval, ensuring that
the Board as a whole is up to speed on a range of significant
issues that fall outside of its own remit.

Updates on the progress of the transformation programme
were provided at each meeting, supplemented by deep
dives presented by the relevant business area as required.
These updates enable the Board to keep a finger on the pulse
of the transformation programme, providing guidance and
challenge as needed and driving progress forwards.

STRATEGIC DEEP DIVES

At each meeting, the Board received presentations on and discussed selected strategically significant matters in greater
depth to evaluate progress, provide insight and, where necessary, decide on appropriate action. These included:

Covid-19 0@ o Brexit ® @ o International @ © @

— Following the WHO’s declaration of a — Received updates on the Group’s — Discussed the stabilisation of the
pandemic, held weekly calls to discuss preparations in light of developing International business, roll-out of the
and monitor the impact of Covid-19 on our government guidance, focusing market right pricing model and driving
business and stakeholders and agreed to on management of operational growth in key markets, particularly India.
continue to do so for as long as needed. risk, ﬁnz_ancia[impactand potential + For more detail, see pl4-p15

strategic consequences.

Property @0 @

— Reviewed the property strategy and
received updates on store renewals
and the future shape of the estate.

— Received updates on measures imposed
by the government in response to the crisis — Considered the potential impact
and directed the Company’s response. over the longer term on the Company’s
owned businesses in Ireland and the
Czech Republic and its franchise
businessin France.

+ For more detail, see p50-p53
Clothing & Home @ © @

— Received updates on progress towards

+ For more detail, see p16
+ For more detail, see p37

resetting the Clothing & Home operating
model, resolving outstandingissues
with business unit profitability and
re-accelerating growthin online.

+ For more detail, see p12-p13

Food @0 @

— Reviewed progress of key elements of the
Food transformation strategy, including
lowering costs, delivering trusted value,
reforming the supply chain, preparations
for the Ocado launch and renewing the
property estate.

+ For more detail, see p10-p11

Home and Beauty @ ©® @

— Received progress updates on the Home,
Furniture and Beauty strategies, discussing
cost base, logistical operations and
challenges, and considered the future
operating models of these businesses.
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Investment in
Ocado Retail Limited @ © @

— Discussed and approved matters relating
totherightsissue,including timing
and structure, the prospectus, launch
communications and the impact of the
rights issue on employee share plans.

— Received updates on the Ocado Retail
Limited business plan, current activities
and the key priorities and deliverables
in preparation for transition by
September 2020.

+ For more detail, see p9-pl1, p29

Business Involvement Group @ © @

— Discussed the review of the role of
National BIG to improve the way it
engages with the business.

— Received updates on the activities of
National BIG during the year and insights
into the views of colleagues across
the business.

Loyalty @

Discussed options for a new Loyalty
strategy, with work to conclude during
the second half of 2020.

+ For more detail, see p17

Culture @

Received updates on the development
of the HR community within M&S and the
key areas of focus for delivery, including
modernising supporting technological
infrastructure, investing in leadership
capability across the business and
improving talent planning and
succession processes.

Received updates and discussed colleagues’
views and responses to changesin the
business, including the re-launch of

‘Our Behaviours’ and organisation-wide
communication from management.

+ For more detail, see p18-p19



Key to stakeholder groups

@ Shareholders ‘ Colleagues

Suppliers Customers

Communities ‘ Partners

STRATEGY AND COMPANY PERFORMANCE

The CEO led discussions focusing on recent trading, general business performance and the key strategic initiatives under way:

Business updates @ © @

— Received updates on progressive trading
performance from each of the family
of businesses.

— Considered arange of operational matters
that had impacted the business and its
supply chain during the year, including
price investmentin Food, volume growth,
availability and waste.

— Discussed supply chain operations and
performance, particularly over peak trading
weeks and in light of the extreme pressures
caused by the Covid-19-driven lockdown.

Capital, costs and budget @@ © @

— Reviewed the Group’s liquidity position, cost
base and capital expenditure requirements
for key projects, assessing opportunities
for potential savings to deliver £350min
repeatable cost savings by 2020/21.

— Discussed performance vs budget during
the year and agreed the budgets for each
of the family of businesses for 2020/21.

— Discussed and agreed the Three-Year Plan.

— Considered the impact of Covid-19-driven
changes to the consumer, economic,
governmental and regulatory landscape
on the 2020/21 financials, including realistic
downside scenarios.

+ For more detail, see p5 and p27-p31

Board Review @

— Supported the externally facilitated
Board Review, with findings in respect
of the Board’s effectiveness and actions
to be discussed in depth on conclusion of
the evaluation process.

+ For more detail, see p56

Board succession and diversity @

— Considered and reviewed the Board’s
composition and succession needs and
received updates on the search fora CFO.

— Approved the appointment of two new
non-executive directors.

— Approved the revised Board Diversity Policy.

+ For more detail, see p57-p58

Transformation programme @ © @

— Received updates from the family of
businesses on progress in delivering their
key transformational programmes.

— Considered the significant strategic
milestones reached during the year,
challenges faced and solutions or
mitigating actions identified.

+ For more detail, see p7 to p9

Digitaland Data @ © @

Discussed development of the Digital
First strategy to review Sparks, build a
leading customer database and achieve
one third of UK sales online.

+ For more detail, see p17

FINANCIAL UPDATES

Cash flow and dividend @

— Reviewed cash flow, dividend cover and
shareholder returns, particularly in the
context of the rightsissue and, later, the
impact on the business of Covid-19,and
agreed that no final dividend in respect
of 2019/20 and no dividend in respect of
2020/21 would be paid.

+ For more detail, see p32

Regulatory and reporting ® @

— Reviewed and assessed updated market
guidance on company performance at
key points throughout the year.

— Discussed the impact of IFRS 16 on the
Company’s financial reporting.

— Approved the rights issue prospectus.

GOVERNANCE

Internal governance processes @

— Approved a new Group-wide Code
of Conduct.

— Approved changes to the Group Delegated
Authorities to support the family of
accountable businesses operating model.

+ For more detail, see p60-p61

Regulatory disclosures ® @

— Reviewed and approved, according to the
Audit Committee’s recommendations,
the Annual Report and Accounts, Notice
of Meeting, Half and Full Year Results
announcements, Modern Slavery Statement
and annual Groceries Code Adjudicator
(GCA) Compliance report.

Organisation @ o

— Received updates on director-level and
senior leadership appointments and
future resource requirements.

— Received updates on the development of
the new HR operating model, including
increased digitisation, recruitment activity,
the leadership framework and store
management succession.

— Discussed the ways in which the business
was equipping and supporting colleagues
to deliver the transformation strategy,
including improvements to induction
processes, reworked colleague surveys
and the role of BIG.

+ For more detail, see p18-p19

Risk ©@® o

— Reviewed the Croup Risk Profile twice during
the year with a focus on the Group’s key
internal and external risks, particularly risks
arising through changes to the business and
areas in which new risks were emerging.

GOVERNANCE

— Agreed the principal Group-level risks and
the appropriate mitigating actions.

— Engagedinregular robust debate in respect
of the Group's risk tolerance, the severity
of the identified and agreed risks and the
factors contributing to any subsequent
re-evaluation of their placementin the
Group Risk Profile.

+ For more detail, see p33-p42

AGCM @

— Approved the resolutions to be put to
shareholders at the ACM.

— Agreed to deliver a Hybrid ACM in 2020
following the success of this approachin
2019 and in light of measures introduced
by the governmentin response to the
Covid-19 pandemic.

— Reviewed specificissues raised by
shareholders throughout the year
to be addressed in the Chairman’s
ACM statement.

+ For more detail, see p183 to p197

Board Involvement Programme @

— Agreed the Board Involvement Programme
to enhance the directors’engagement with
and understanding of different areas of
the business.
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GOVERNANCE IN ACTION

COVID-19 RESPONSE

The Covid-19 pandemic has been unprecedented in scale and pace of impact and has changed the way people around the world live
their lives. Significant decisions and adjustments have had to be made by organisations on a daily basis and M&S has been no
exception, with quick actions required in each of its family of businesses to respond to a constantly changing and uncertain situation.
These pages examine the governance behind M&S’s response to Covid-19 to date, focusing on our response to four central issues:
Colleagues; Customers and Business Continuity; Supply & Demand; and Balance Sheet Resilience.

HOW THE EVENTS UNFOLDED

Covid-19 emerges
and reaches Europe

29 JAN
UK's first two patients test positive
30Jan

WHO declares a global
health emergency

23FEB

Italy sees a major surge in cases
and introduces strict measures
to lock down towns in Lombardy

Early UKimpact

28FEB

UK confirms first case of the

illness passed oninside the country,
and the global stock markets have
their worst week since the 2008
financial crisis

11 MAR
WHO declares the virus a pandemic
16 MAR

UK government begins
daily press briefings on their
Covid-19 response

20 MAR

M&S issues Regulatory News
Service (RNS) announcement
onits Covid-19 response

UK lockdown begins

23 MAR
UK lockdown measures announced
2APR

Worldwide cases of Covid-19
passes 1 million

15 APR
Worldwide cases of Covid-19
passes 2 million

Extended lockdown

20 APR

UK lockdown measures
extended by another 3 weeks

28 APR

M&Sissues RNS announcement
on strengthened liquidity
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L3OVIS

¢30V1S

€30V1S
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OUR RESPONSE TEAMS

. Board

The Board has led the business’s Covid-19
response —it has directed senior leadership
to consider all scenarios associated with the
pandemic, reviewed and considered potential
response options, and set expectations for
M&S’s approach with each of its stakeholders
and the community at large. The Board has
called upon the M&S Crisis Management and
Government Relations Teams to review and
update them on the government’s social-
distancing requirements, business support
measures, and policies affecting M&S as a
listed business, and directed them on how to
respond accordingly. Since the World Health
Organization declared the virus a pandemic,
the Board has had additional meetings by
phone or online at least weekly to monitor
the Company’s ongoing response.

Operating Committee (OC)

As M&S’s senior leadership team with
responsibility for the day-to-day operation
of the business, the OC has overseen the
business’s Covid-19 response under the
guidance of, and as directed by, the Board.
From reviewing immediate cost reduction
plans to preserve liquidity, to consulting
with BIC to determine colleague furloughing
proposals, the OC has continued to take
operational decisions in line with the
Board'’s strategic approach, ensuring

that the Board can remain focused on the
long-term strategicissues and decisions
associated with the pandemic.

Disclosure Committee (DC)

The DC exists to monitor the presence of
inside information, ensuring that the Company
adheres to the Market Abuse Regulations
and fulfils its obligations as a listed Company
toannounce inside information as soon as
possible. The DC has been instrumentalin
reviewing the financialimpacts of the virus
on the business as these become clearer
alongside the potential price sensitivity of
this information on the Company’s listed
securities, so that market announcements
can be made promptly.

. Business Involvement Group (BIG)

BIGis the mechanism by which the colleague
voice is heard by the Board and senior
leadership and has therefore ensured that
colleagues are consulted and kept informed
at every stage of the business’s response.
The National BIC Chair has attended CMT
meetings throughout the crisis.

. Crisis Management Team (CMT)

The CMT is a standing body with
representatives from all areas of the
business: Business Continuity; Corporate
Communications; Clothing & Home; Food;
International; Sourcing; HR; IT; Dotcom;
Retail; Property; Legal; Insurance; Internal
Audit; Finance. It has been responsible for
determining and directing the actions
required to minimise impact on the business’s
operations,and has provided the OC and
Board with regular updates onits progress,
which included the immediate closure of all
Outlets stores and Clothing & Home sections
of full-line stores in response to the UK’s
lockdown measures, and implementing
social distancing and safety measuresinall
distribution centres and stores to ensure
their continued operation. It has met regularly,
often daily, to ensure that the business is
reacting to the crisis in a timely manner.

Government Relations Team (GRT)

Initially, the GRT closely followed the
government’s position in relation to the virus,
ensuring that the Board was well informed

of all changes. As the pandemic progressed,
the GRT’s role has evolved to liaising directly
with government departments to help shape
virus-related policies impacting M&S as a
retailer and as a listed company.

OUR RESPONSE IN NUMBERS

Board meetings 12
CMT meetings 51
Colleague

announcements 70
Market updates 2
Value of product

and cash donations £928k
Charity 65k

T-shirts sold

Meals donated
to Neighbourly

1.29m
405k

Charity bags
for life sold

* Figuresasat14 May 2020.



Covid-19 emerges and
reaches Europe

Collengues

@ Crisis Management Team

When Covid-19 reports emerge and
lockdown measures are imposed in

China and Hong Kong, sourcing offices
are closed and communications are issued
to them, updating them on health and
safety measures and thanking them for
their efforts in mitigating the impact

on the Clothing & Home supply chain
while working from home to keep the
chain moving.

Government Relations Team

Begins to liaise with UK government to
determine what their positionis on travel,
ensuring that we adhere to their advice
and can make preparations for any
impending changes.

@ Crisis Management Team

Cancels all business travel of colleagues
and suppliers to and from affected areas
in Hong Kong and China.

Customers and
Business Qontimuity

@ Crisis Management Team

Reviews potential sourcing impacts and
considers actions required to redirect
sourcing from Southeast Asia to Turkey,
to ensure continuity of availability for
customers. Ensures that all support
centre colleagues have appropriate and
up-to-date remote working software on
their laptops.

Suppl% & Demand

® Board

Considers potential Clothing & Home
product supply issues from China when
Covid-19reports emergein the press,
and directs the senior leadership team
toinvestigate.

@ Crisis Management Team

When the team is established, it begins

to take actions to review supply chain,
inbound goods and raw materials sourcing,
including alternatives from countries as
yet unaffected.

Badwnce Sheet Resilience

@ Crisis Management Team

Begins reviewing the financial impact of
primary and secondary supplier and supply
chainissues, and the costs associated with
strategically pivoting sourcing away from
Southeast Asia to Turkey.

29 JAN
Early UKimpact

‘ 28 FEB

Collengues

@ ® Crisis Management Team &
Operating Committee

First UK colleague communications are
issued on 4 March informing them of initial
steps the CMT has been taking: sanitiser
gelunitsrolled out to colleague entrance
and exit points across stores, support
centres and distribution centres; business
travel to high-risk countries restricted,
and meetings with visitors from high-risk
countries switched to take place digitally
to prevent travel; all support centre
colleagues requested to take laptops and
chargers home daily in case they need to
work from home at any point. A dedicated
intranet siteis also established to provide
colleagues with all the latest guidancein
one place.

Government Relations Team &
Operating Committee

Following closely the government
guidance to ensure that the business
canrespond. When advice emerges on

12 March for individuals to self-isolate if
they have any symptoms of the virus,
colleague communications are issued
immediately to notify colleagues that
anyone needing to self-isolate will do so
on full pay. Support centre colleagues are
encouraged to start working from home.

® Board

Reviews all colleague communications
and emphasises importance of clarity.

Customers and
Buginess Cvn'bi/nui/t%

Government Relations Team

Begins daily meetings with the
government and leaders of other major
retailers to ensure that customers
continue to get the food they need,
and we can collaboratively speak to
customers about the need to shop
considerately. The M&S Legal team
assists with coordination of activity
across the food retail sector while
remaining mindful of competition law.

@ Crisis Management Team

As support centre colleagues are
encouraged to work from home, the CMT
works with senior leadership to ensure
that plans arein place to enable remote
working while continuing to trade and

to support stores and the supply chain.
Also looks at ways that stores can help
vulnerable customers and NHS workers,
and implements special shopping times.

Supply & Vemand

Disclosure Committee

Discusses on 4 March recent Covid-19-
driven market volatility and challenging
trading conditions, including a recent
drop indemand, and the impact of these
onthe Company’s forward guidance.

An update is received from a broker noting
that the market is reacting to high levels
of uncertainty. The DC agrees that it
does not currently have any certainty on
trading conditions or outturn, to provide
the market with a precise update.

® Board

Receives an update on Covid-19 from
all areas of the business at its meeting
on 12 March and directs the business to
continue its focus on scenario planning,
agreeing that it will now meet more
frequently to receive updates:

— International business has experienced
significant decreases indemandin
February due to social-distancing
measures, particularly in Hong Kong
and Singapore, and is working with all
franchise partners andjoint ventures
to ensure that social distancing and
lockdown restrictions imposed in each
country are adhered to.

GOVERNANCE

— Clothing & Home has been working
closely with suppliers to mitigate the
impact of the virus on sourcing; China
production for delivery in March and
April has been delayed by 2-4 weeks
and 30% of Bangladesh production for
delivery between Apriland June has
been delayed by 4-6 weeks. So far,no
demonstrable impact on Clothing &
Home sales, but customer behaviour
is being monitored.

— Food has been reviewing the risks to
packaging and raw material sourcing
to understand contingency options.
Again though, no evidence of impact
to salesin February other thanin
sale of anti-bacterial products, but the
first week of March saw an increase in
sales of certain groceries and
household goods.

— Ocado Retail has seen a spike in order
volumes in the first week of March.

Disclosure Committee

On 17 March, the DC continues its
considerations of the recent impact on
trading ahead of the Board meeting on
18 March, noting that the impactis not
yet clear, but could be significant.

A project listis created for individuals
considering the financialimpact of the
virus on the business, and a broker update
is received noting that all businesses
are experiencing the same trading

and earnings impact, and therefore
the Company’s liquidity and Business
Continuity arrangements are of
increased interest for the market.
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GOVERNANCE IN ACTION CONTINUED

Early UKimpact continued

® Board

Receives an update on UK trading on
18 March, noting that there has been a
material declinein sales in Clothing &
Home, and improved trading in Food.
The Board considers adraft RNS to
update the market on these trading
changes, noting that the impact on the
forecast resultsis not yet clear,and
therefore requests further clarity on
trading impact and broker feedback.
Delegates authority to the DC once
impact is finalised to review and
approve an RNS.

Disclosure Committee
Onthe evening of 19 March, DC receives

finalised figures for review on the impact
of Covid-19 on the 2019/20 profit outlook

and agrees that inside information
now exists. Reviews an updated draft
RNS and approves its publication on
20 March at 7am.

Badance Sheet Resilience

@® O Crisis Management Team &
Operating Committee

At direction of the Board, the CMT and
OC begins scenario planning exercises
on the 2020/21 budget, looking at an
anticipated lockdown and dropin
demand - OC focuses on adjustments
that can be made to anticipated
expenditure in order to conserve
liquidity in the near term.

® Board

Reviews on 18 March the CMT and
OC’s proposals for building resilience

inthe balance sheet for 2020/21 alongside

adraft RNSto update the market on
these changes:

— Capex:Significant reductionin the
budgeted capital expenditure for
2020/21 from up to £400m down
toc.£140m.

— Opex: modelling across the business
ongoing, but options being explored

are focused on Clothing & Home supply

chain -cancelling,amending or
deferring supplier orders.

— Liquidity: revolving credit facility (RCF)

debt covenants reviewed to ensure

access to the £1.1bn facility. Board also

considers the merits of the Company
applying to the Bank of England’s
Covid Corporate Financing Facility
(CCFF),and directs the GRT & CMT
toinvestigate and complete the

next steps required to do so.

— Non-payment of a Final Dividend:
Board considers whether thisisa
prudent approach, and requests that
further clarity be provided on the
quantum of saving expected by not
paying adividend. Board delegates

authority to a sub-committee to decide

onthedividend approach, and to the
DC toreview and approve an RNS
announcing these changes.

Disclosure Committee

On 18 March, DC notes that the Board
has directed the business to investigate
eligibility and application to the CCFF.
Aproject listis created for individuals
working on this application given the
potential commercial sensitivity of

the information.

Disclosure Committee

Following approval by the Board’s
sub-committee on the approach not
to pay a final dividend, on the evening
of 19 March the DC reviews an updated
draft RNS and approves its publication
on 20 March 7am.
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UK lockdown begins

23 MAR

Collengues

Government Relations Team

After the UK’s Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme is announced on 20 March, the CRT
reviews the applicability of the scheme to
M&S colleagues.

@ O Crisis Management Team &
Operating Committee

Following announcement of UK lockdown
measures on 23 March and closure of non-
essential stores, CMT works immediately to
ensure all Outlets are closed from 24 March.
AlLSimply Food stores, standalone Food Halls
and distribution centres continue to operate,
with new social-distancing measures in place.
Full-line stores also remain open, but Clothing &
Home sections are packed down, with all
colleagues supporting Food team:s.

Government Relations Team &
Crisis Management Team

At the direction of the OC and with assistance
from the M&S Legal team, reviews the
applicability of the Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme and conducts a week of consultation
with colleagues through the BIG network to
ensure that furloughing can take place ona
voluntary basis as far as possible.

® Board

Having been reviewed and approved already

by the OC, and following consultation with BIG,
the Board reviews on 26 March the GRT and CMT’s
initial proposals for store colleague furloughing.
25,000 store colleagues are gradually placed on
furlough on full pay over the next week, with
colleagues continuing to work receiving a 15%
upliftin pay.

Government Relations Team &
Crisis Management Team

At the direction of the OC, reviews the

extent to which the Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme can be applied to support centre
staff too, consulting with senior leadership

to evaluate workloads and BIG to consider
colleague concerns.

® Board

Reviews on 9 April the proposals for furloughing
support centre colleagues. In stages starting
from 14 April, ¢.1,000 colleagues are placed on
furlough on 90% of salary. Those still working
will receive an equity grant via the Company’s
Restricted Share Plan equivalent to 5% of their
salary for the furlough period. This ensures
consistent treatment of all colleagues, by
maintaining a 15% differential in pay between
those working and those on furlough.



Customers and
Business Cvn'bimui/t%

@ Crisis Management Team

Following announcement of UK lockdown
measures on 23 March and closure of
non-essential stores, CMT works
immediately to ensure all Outlets

are closed from 24 March.

Operating Committee

Directs the CMT and GRT to review ways in
which M&S can support its communities
and the NHS.

@ Crisis Management Team

Work continues with assistance from

the M&S Legal team to ensure that
appropriate social-distancing measures
arein placein stores and distribution
centres, to protect our customers and
colleagues and ensure that they can
continue to operate while complying

with health and safety laws, government
guidance and new social distancing
legislation in Wales and Scotland: 2 metre
queuing systems in place; sneeze screens
installed at tills; extra cleaning; extended
contactless limit and use of the Mobile
Pay Go shopping app to additional stores.

@ Crisis Management Team

Implements measures to support
communities and the NHS, using
colleague suggestions from ‘Suggest

to Steve’and through the BIG network,

in addition to advice from the GRT which
has been consulting with the government
on how M&S can help:

— Donating thousands of “We are the
NHS” T-shirts for the uniform pack of
the NHS Nightingale frontline team.

— Donating free clothing care packs
for patients discharged from NHS
Nightingale London.

— Donating 4,000 pairs of pyjamas to
be used as scrubs to NHS Derbyshire,
close to our Castle Donington
distribution centre.

— Delivering nearly 5,000 prepared
meals, sandwiches and treats for
NHS workers at St Mary’s Hospital,
Paddington and Great Ormond
Street Hospital, every week for the
next two months.

— Added NHS Charities Together, the
National Emergency Trust and
Neighbourly’s Covid-19 Community
Fund as charities on our Sparks card
programme, so that customers can
select them as their Sparks charity and
M&S will donate every time they shop.

Suppllf/ & Demand

® Board

Continues to receive at least weekly
updates on supply and demand issues.
Demand continues to be the key focus:

— The closure of all Outlets and Clothing
&Home sections of stores has
significantly impacted Clothing & Home
sales, and while sales online continue to
operate this has not closed the gap.

— Foodtrading has been unpredictable
and while this had initially been
significantly up on the prior year,
this was now beginning to decline.

@ Crisis Management Team

With demand now the Board’s key
concernin Clothing & Home, and with

UK lockdown measures announced on

23 March, the CMT works immediately with
the Clothing & Home sourcing teams to
notify all suppliers to halt production

of un-cutitems on 24 March. All suppliers
are engaged on measures to try and

defer supply, while committing to
support them:

— All product shipped before 24 March to
be paid for on normal terms.

— Pledged that no fabric will go to waste
and will be used at a later date.

— Efforts of the Ethical Trading Initiative
and International Labour Organization
to be supported - facilitating the
distribution of emergency relief funds,
and supporting safe working where
manufacturing continues.

— Community projects within our supply
chain to continue to be supported.

Badance Sheet Kesilience

Government Relations Team &
Crisis Management Team

Following the Board’s direction, the teams
commence the Company’s application
process for the CCFF and review
additional liquidity and balance sheet
strengthening options.

Disclosure Committee

Meets on 25 March to note that

Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Moody’s had
notified the Company that they would
be downgrading the ratings of Marks
and Spencer plc’s senior unsecured debt.
Agrees that no market announcement

is required, given that S&P and Moody’s
would make their own announcements,
the impact of the downgrades would not
be material to earnings and had already
been outlined to the market in the rights
issue prospectusissuedin May 2019, and
the significant volume of other rating
actions being taken by S&P in the wake of
Covid-19 rendering this less noteworthy.

Extended lockdown

Collengues

® Board

Inits meeting on 20 April, reviews measures
to date on Covid-19, particularly impact

on colleagues —agrees that colleague
communications should be issued to thank
them for their efforts, wish those in hospital
quick recoveries, and express condolences
for colleagues who have passed away after
contracting the virus.

Customers and
Business Cvn'bi/nui/t%

@ Crisis Management Team

Initiatives to support customers and
communities continue:

— Launched anew bag for life designin
support of the NHS, with a thank you
message and all profits going to
NHS Charities Together.

“AllIn This Together” T-shirts are
launched on 23 Apriland sell out

in the same day, with one sold every
second between Ipm and 5pmon
launch day and all profits going to
NHS Charities Together.

Supply & Vemand

@ Crisis Management Team

Assesses the ongoingimpact of a
prolonged lockdown period on supply and
demand and takes the following actions:

— InClothing & Home —assesses warehouse
capacity limits and long-term storage
options for stock, while also ensuring that
Doningtonis receiving a steady supply to
continue trading online.

In Food - commits to making immediate
payment to smaller food suppliers, and
launches a new marketing campaign in
support of British farmers.

Badance Sheet Resilience

® Board

Receives confirmation from GRT & CMT that
the CCFF application has been successful.
The teams have also successfully
negotiated with the syndicate of banks
providing the £1.1bn RCF to substantially
relax or waive covenant conditions for tests
arising until September 2021. Agrees that
the market should be updated on these
liquidity mitigations.

Disclosure Committee

Onthe evening of 27 April 2020, reviews a
draft RNS and approves its publication on
28 April 7am.
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GOVERNANCE

SOARD COMPOSITION
AND Mee TING ATTENDANCE

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE AND DIRECTOR RESPONSIBILITIES IN 2019/20

Max Linked to

CHAIRMAN Attended possible Independent Responsibilityin2019/20 remuneration
Archie Norman® 10 10 Board governance and

performance, shareholder

engagement
* Consideredindependent onappointment.
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Chief Executive 10 10 Strategy and
Steve Rowe Group performance
Chief Finance Officer 7 7 Group financial performance,
Humphrey Singer (resigned 31 December 2019) IT,investor relations and

data governance
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS Role at Board meetings
Katie Bickerstaffe” 10 10 Independent non-executive directors assess,

: o challenge and monitor the executive directors’
Alison Brittain 10 10 delivery of strategy within the risk and governance
Andrew Fisher 10 10 structure agreed by the Board.

Andy Halford 10 10 As Board Committee members, they also

— review the integrity of the Company's financial
Justin King 10 10 information, recommend appropriate succession
Pip McCrostie™” 6 10 plans, monitor Board diversity and set the

directors’ remuneration.

* Katie Bickerstaffe became an Executive Director on 27 April 2020 and will step down from the Board at the 2020 AGM.
** Pip McCrostie was unable to attend the meetings in December 2019 and January, February and March 2020 due to medical reasons.

STANDING ATTENDEES

Responsibility

Nick Folland - General Counsel and Company Secretary 10 10 Advising the Board on all legal and corporate
governance issues.

David Surdeau - Interim Chief Finance Officer” 3 3 Leads the Finance function and attends Board
meetings in line with the responsibilities of the CFO.

* Appointed January 2020.

ATTENDED BY INVITATION Role at Board meetings

Sacha Berendji - Retail, Operations & Property Director 5 The Operating Committee comprises the

Stuart Machin - Managing Director, Food 5 Company’s senior leadership team below Board

; . h . ’ o level and is tasked with running the day-to-day

chtorla McKenZ|e—Gong—E?lrectorof Cqmmunlcatlons 3 operations of the business and facilitating delivery

JillMcDonald - Managing Director, Clothing & Home" 2 of the strategy as approved by the Board.

Paul Friston - International Director 4 Members of the Operating Committee attend

Harriet Hounsell - HR Director 3 Board meetings by invitation to present and

Jeremy Pee - Chief Digital and Data Director 5 discuss matters of strategicimportance.

Mel Smith - Strategy Director™ 3

* ResignedJuly 2019

** Joined Ocado Retail Limited as Chief Executive in September 2019
Note: The tables above provide details of scheduled meetings held in the 2019/20 financial year.

BOARD MEETINGS HELD IN 2019/20

The Board held 10 scheduled meetings
during the year, and individual attendance
is set out above. Additional unscheduled
meetings were held as and when

required, for example in response

to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Sufficient time is provided, periodically,
for the Chairman to meet privately with
the Senior Independent Director and the
non-executive directors to discuss any
matters arising.

© Forinformation on what the Board did
during the year, see p48-p49 and p50
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Monitoring non-executive directorindependence

The Board reviews the independence of
its non-executive directors as part of its
annual Board Effectiveness Review.

The Chairman was considered to be
independent on appointment and s
committed to ensuring that the Board
comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors who objectively
challenge management, balanced against

the need to ensure continuity on the Board.

The Company maintains clear records of
the terms of service of the Chairman and
non-executive directors to ensure that

they continue to meet the requirements

of the UK Corporate Governance Code

(the “Code”). Neither the Chairman nor any of
the non-executive directors have exceeded
the maximum nine-year recommended
term of service set out in the Code, with our
longest-serving non-executive director,
Andy Halford, having served less than eight
full years on the Board.

As such, the Board considers that all of its
non-executive directors continue to
demonstrate independence.

© For information on the skills and
experience of each director, see p46-p47
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L EADERSH
AND OVERSIGH T

The Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for establishing
the Company’s purpose, values and
strategy, promoting its culture,
overseeing its conduct and affairs,

and for promoting the success of

the Company for the benefit of its
members and stakeholders.

It recognises that it has a wider duty

to a broad community of stakeholders
whose supportis essential, and that

the business has impact on colleagues,
customers, shareholders, suppliers and
the communities in which it operates.
Pages 20 and 21 of the Strategic Report
highlight how the Board and has sought
to effectively consider and engage with
our shareholders and stakeholders.

The Board discharges some of its
responsibilities directly and others
through committees and senior

THE BOARD

management. Terms of Reference for the
Board and its committees are available in
our Governance Framework, published

on marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

The Board agrees, and has collective
responsibility for, the strategy of the
Company, which is outlined in the
Strategic Report on pages 2 to 43.

Execution of the strategy and day-to-
day management of the Company’s
business is delegated to the Operating
Committee, with the Board retaining
responsibility for overseeing, guiding
and holding management to account.
The Board is also responsible for:

— Assessing, monitoring and promoting
the Company’s culture, and ensuring
that this closely aligns with its strategy.

— Ensuring the necessary resources are
in place for the business to meet its
strategic objectives.

=

— Establishing workplace policies and
business practices that align with the
Company’s culture and values and
support its strategy.

— Overseeing the implementation of a
robust controls framework to allow
effective management of risk. Much of
this work is delegated to the Audit
Committee (see pages 59 to 65).

— Effective succession planning for key
senior personnel, much of which is
delegated to the Nomination
Committee (see page 57).

While the above summarises the key
areas of Board responsibility, it is not
intended to be exhaustive. More detail
on this, together with information on the
roles of individual Board members, is
provided below and covered in more
depth by the Schedule of Matters
Reserved to the Board, available at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

GOVERNANCE

SUPPORTING COMMITTEES AND PRINCIPAL BOARD
BUSINESS BOARDS COMMITTEES
— Food Board — Disclosure Committee The Principal Committees support the Board in discharging its duties and delivering
— Clothing & Home — Operating Committee sustainable shareholder value over the longer term. The Chairs of each Committee
Board _ Investment provide an update on its activities at each Board meeting following any Committee

— International Board Committee

— Retail &Property

meeting. The primary responsibilities and areas of competence of each Committee

are summarised below.

Property Committee

Board Audit Committee Nomination Remuneration
Thereis clear delegation and oversight from the — Monitorintegrity of Committee Committee
Board to the Supporting Committees and Business financial statements — Review Board — Remuneration
Eaﬁ{gsé:gﬁggte:zgrg decision-making across the _ Reviewinternal SQmp,OS't'OH and policy |
controls iversity — Performance-linked
— Propose new Board pay schemes

Chairman

The Chairmanis accountable
to shareholders for the
effectiveness of the Board
and that it builds a sustainable
business through consistent,
profitable growth, taking
account of the interests of
wider stakeholders. The
Chairman promotes the
highest standards of corporate
governance, assisted by

the Company Secretary.

Chief Executive

The Chief Executiveis
accountable to the Board
forallaspects of the
performance and
management of the Group.
Thisincludes developing
business strategies for
Board approvaland achieving
timely and effective
implementation while
managing risk.

— Maintainrelationship
with auditors

© For more detail,
see p59-p65

BOARD ROLES

Executive directors

The executive directors

are accountable to the
Chairman for their
contribution on the Board

and to the Chief Executive

for business areas and delivery
of Board-approved operating
and capital plans.

appointments

— Monitor Board
succession needs

© For more detail,
see p57

Non-executive directors

The non-executive directors
bring anindependent,
external dimension to the
Board’s activities and play
their partinrelation to
strategy, performance,
riskand people.

The non-executive directors
support and constructively

challenge the executive team
within the spirit of partnership

and mutual respect.

— Share-based
incentive plans

© For more detail,
see p66-p92

Senior Independent
Director (SID)

The SID supports the
Chairman onall governance
issuesincluding the annual
review of Board effectiveness.

The SID provides a
communication channel
between the Chairmanand
non-executive directors and,
when required, principal
shareholders including
representative bodies.
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SOARD REVIEW

The 2020 external Board Effectiveness
and Developmental Review was
conducted according to the principles
of the UK Corporate Governance Code
2018 (the “Code”) and the supporting
Guidance on Board Effectiveness, and was
facilitated by Gurnek Bains and Georgia
Samolada of Global Future Partners
(“GFP”). Gurnek Bains, Georgia Samolada
and GFP have no other connection

with the Company. The Company’s last
externally facilitated Board Review
process occurredin 2017.

STAGE 1

GFP were provided with a full briefing on
the objectives of the Board Review by

the Chairmanin June 2019. In making its
assessment of the Board and principal
committees’ effectiveness, GFP observed
proceedings of at least one Board meeting
and one meeting of each committee.
Electronic access to the papers for these
meetings was provided to GFP in advance
via a secure portal. GFP was also given
access to a full year’'s-worth of Board and
committee papers via this portal to assist
them in assessing the quality of the
information that had been provided to the
Board and committees during the year.

Detailed introductory interviews were
conducted with each Board member
and the General Counseland Company
Secretary in advance of the Board and
committee meetings observed by GFP.

STAGE 2

Areport was produced by CFP based

their observations and the information
compiled from their Stage 1interviews.
The recommendations presentedin

the report were based on the bespoke
objectives set out in the brief and on the
principles of the Code and other corporate
governance guidelines.

STAGE 3

Secondary interviews were conducted with
Board members and the General Counsel
and Company Secretary at which feedback
was provided on GFP’s observations of the
Board and committee meetings they
attended. These meetings also provided
individual feedback to all Board members
and the General Counseland Company
Secretary,as well as providing an opportunity
for further discussion of themes that had
emerged from the Stage Tinterviews.
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STAGES OF THE BOARD REVIEW

Stagel Stage 2

Briefing & Board

observation Results
collated,
reported &

One-to-oneinterviews evaluated

with Board

Stage3 Stage 4
Discussion with o
Secondary committee chairs
interviews Action
with Board plan
Board discussion’ agreed

Note: The above activities were undertaken by Gurnek Bains and Georgia Samolada of CGlobal Future Partners.

* Gurnek Bainsand Georgia Samoladain attendance.

STAGE 4

GFP’s draft conclusions were discussed
first with the Chairman and then with the
whole Board at its meeting in May 2020.
Gurnek Bains and Georgia Samolada were
present for this discussion, which was
recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
Following the Board meeting, GFP
provided feedback to the chairs of each of
the principal committees relating to their
committees respective performance and
effectiveness. Board members provided
their feedback on the Chairman to the
Senior Independent Director (Andy
Halford). The Chairman also received
feedback from all Board members.

BOARD REVIEW INSIGHTS

The review found that the Board
benchmarks wellin terms of its overall
composition, its ways of working and the
value it adds to the business. It was
deemed to be well constituted to meet the
transformational challenges ahead and to
address the key strategic decisions that
need to be made about the business.

From a development perspective, the
review highlighted certain areas of focus
that would further lift the performance
and effectiveness of the Board to higher
levels. These were discussed with the
Board and an appropriate action plan
agreed. Additionally, external feedback
was provided to each Board member in
relation to their individual performance.
It was agreed that developmental support
would be provided to the Board, the
principal committees and individual
Board members.

COMMITTEES

Board committees were also reviewed
and, overall, were considered to function
well in terms of their effectiveness,
decision-making and the rigorous manner
in which they addressed any issues
brought to their attention.

More detail on the findings of the reviews
of the committees’ effectiveness can be
found on pages 57,61and 91.

CHAIRMAN

The Chairman was considered to provide
robust leadership for the Board,
strengthening the link between the Board
and senior leadership and driving the pace
of transformation.

BOARD ACTION PLAN

The Board action plan for
2020/21includes:

— Increasing the level of engagement
between the Board and senior
executives and developing a
mentoring programme.

— Working closely with the senior
executive team on reporting into
the Board and monitoring of the
transformation programme.

— Developing a clear action plan to
track progress against GFP’s Board
Evaluation recommendations.

— Modelling an open, high-

performance culture to lead
the culture change of M&S.
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NOMINATION COMMIT TEE

“A strong Board with
diverse andrelevant
experience is going
to becriticalin the
year ahead.”

Archie Norman, Chairman of the
Nomination Committee

COMMITTEE ROLE

The Committee reviews the leadership
and succession needs of the organisation
and ensures that appropriate procedures
arein place for nominating, training

and evaluating directors. Due regard is
given to the benefits of diverse senior
leadership, including gender, social
background and ethnicity.

In addition, the Committee ensures
that the Group’s governance facilitates
efficient, effective and entrepreneurial
management that can deliver
shareholder value over the longer term.

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

The Committee comprises the non-
executive directors and is chaired by
Archie Norman, with members of
executive management invited to
attend meetings as appropriate.

Details of individual attendance at the
meetings held during the year are set out
below. More information on the skills and
experience of all Committee members
can be found on pages 46 and 47.

More information on the Nomination
Committee is available in our full disclosure
of compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code at marksandspencer.com/
thecompany.

RePORT

INTRODUCTION

In my Chairman’s governance overview

on page 44,1 noted that this year has

seen areview of the balance of the Board.
This work, undertaken by the Nomination
Committee (the “Committee”), ensures that
we have in place a strong Board with diverse
and relevant operational experience, which
is going to be criticalin the year ahead for
our accelerated transformationin the
aftermath of Covid-19.

During the year, the Committee continued
to focus on the combined skillset and
capabilities of the directors to ensure their
effectivenessin driving our transformation
strategy forward. It also continued to fulfil
its core responsibilities of reviewing the
structure of the Board and committees,
recommending new Board appointments
and ensuring adherence to formal
appointment and induction processes.

At the end of December, Humphrey Singer
stepped down as Chief Finance Officer,
having spent 18 months establishing the

financial foundations of our transformation.

While we undertook our search fora

ACTIVITIES AND EVALUATION

During the year, the Committee
recommended the appointments of
David Surdeau as Interim Chief Finance
Officer, Katie Bickerstaffe as Chief
Strategy and Transformation Director
and Eoin Tonge as Chief Financial
Officer. It also engaged in the

ongoing search for new non-executive
talent, culminating in appointment
recommendations following the year
end, in addition to supporting the search
for,and development of, senior talent.

MEETINGS HELD IN 2019/20

replacement, David Surdeau joined us as
the Interim Chief Finance Officer in January,
and has since contributed to our Covid-19
response measures to cut costs and
strengthen our liquidity.

More recently, and mindful of the
Company’s strategy, the Committee

has sought to enhance the Board and
senior leadership’s capabilities and
experience of business transformation
programmes. Katie Bickerstaffe started
in her new position as Chief Strategy and
Transformation Director in April and will
be stepping down from the Board at the
AGM in July to focus on her new role. We
welcome Tamara Ingram and Sapna Sood
to the Board, alongside Eoin Tonge as
Chief Financial Officer,in June. 'm sure all
of them will add to the Board'’s strategic
capabilities, having each had hands-on
experience of delivering transformation.

Finally, we extend our sincere thanks to
Alison Brittain, who will be stepping down
from the Board prior to the ACM in July
following six years of service.

The Committee’s performance was
reviewed as part of the 2019/20 externally
facilitated Board Evaluation, which is
covered on page 56. The review
established that the Committee
functions wellin terms of planning
succession to Board roles and other
senior positions. Developmental
feedback and support has been provided
as part of the evaluation process.

Archie Norman 1Sept 2017 7 7
Katie Bickerstaffe! 10 Jul 2018 6 7
Alison Brittain 1Jan 2014 7 7
Andrew Fisher 1Dec 2015 7 7
Andy Halford 1Jan 2013 7 7
Justin King 1Jan 2019 7 7
Pip McCrostie? 10 Jul 2018 3 7

1. Katie Bickerstaffe was not required to attend the meeting on 4 February 2020.
2. PipMcCrostie was unable to attend four Committee meetings due to medical reasons.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

Our objective of driving the benefits of
adiverse board, senior management
team and wider workforce is
underpinned by our Board Diversity

PROGRESS UPDATE

Maintain a level of at least 30% female
directors on the Board over the short
to medium term.

The Board’s minimum target has been
achieved and maintained throughout the
course of this year. Three of our current
Board directors are women which, at the
start of 2019/20, amounted to 33% of

our Board. With the resignation of
Humphrey Singer in December, this
increased to 38% of the Board.

Two non-executive directors will soon
join the Board, alongside our new Chief
Financial Officer, while two of our current
non-executive directors will be stepping
down. Once these changes have taken
place, the Board’'s minimum target level
of 30% female directors will continue

to be maintained (33%).

The Board remains committed to its
minimum 30% target for female
representation and is also pleased to
have met and maintained the target
set outin the Hampton-Alexander
Review of 33% female representation
by 2020. Setting these targets aside,
the Committee will continue to make
recommendations for new appointments
to the Board based on merit, with
candidates measured against objective
criteria and with regard to the skills

and experience they offer.

Our principles and targets for Board
diversity also apply to our Operating
Committee, and currently three
members of our Operating Committee
are women from a total membership

of ten (30%). The Board continues to
strengthen the pipeline of senior female
executive talent within the business, and
to ensure that there are no barriers to
women succeeding at the highest levels
within M&S. More information on

the gender balance of our senior
management can be found on page 19.

Appoint at least one director from
an ethnic minority background to
the Board by 2021.

With regard to the recommendations of
the Parker Review Committee, the Board
has been committed to achieving ethnic
diversity on the Board as well as gender
diversity. With the appointment of Sapna
Sood in June, this target will be met.

© See p19forfurther information
ondiversity across M&S
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Policy (the “Policy”), which can be
viewed on our corporate website.
The Board keeps the Policy under
review to ensure that it remains an

Assist the development of a pipeline of
high-calibre candidates by encouraging
adiverse range of senior individuals
within the business to take on
additional responsibilities and roles

to gain valuable Board experience

(such as non-executive roles).

The Board supports and encourages
initiatives that strengthen the pipeline
of executive talent in the Company.

It continues to learn from existing
programmes, while introducing new
initiatives to provide development
opportunities to drive the quality of
talent throughout the business. Key
activities include:

— Acomprehensive talent review
presented to the Board, mapping
successional candidates and
opportunities across all senior roles.

— Initiatives for high-potential talent to
broaden their skillsets and experience
and prepare them for future senior
roles; for example, through boardroom
exposure, non-executive and trustee
roles outside of M&S and involvement
in our Leadership Programme.

— Senior management mentoring
schemes and engagement forums
sponsored by Board directors and
Operating Committee members.

Only engage executive search firms
who have signed up to the Voluntary
Code of Conduct for Executive Search
Firms on both gender and ethnic
diversity and best practice.

The Board supports the provisions of the
Voluntary Code of Conduct for Executive
Search Firms and only engages executive
search firms who are signatories to this
code. During the year, our work on
succession was supported by The MBS
Group and Russell Reynolds, neither of
which have any other connection with
the Company aside from the provision

of recruitment services.

Ensure non-executive directors

‘long lists’ reflect the Board’s diversity
commitments in respect of gender and
ethnicity, as set out in this policy.

Alllong lists of potential appointments
include at least 50% female candidates,
and we are committed to ensuring

that candidates from all ethnicities

are considered.

effective driver of diversity in its
broadest sense, having due regard to
gender, ethnicity, social background,
skillset and breadth of experience.

Consider candidates for appointment
as non-executive directors from a wider
poolincluding those with little or no
previous FTSE board experience.

During the year, the Nomination
Committee discussed non-executive
director appointments and succession.
It worked closely with executive search
agencies in compiling long and short lists
of candidates from various backgrounds
and industries. Candidates were
identified, interviewed and measured
against pre-determined criteria.
Although we do not currently openly
advertise our non-executive director
positions, we keep this under review.

Report annually against these
objectives and other initiatives
taking place within the Company
which promote gender, social and
ethnic diversity.

Diversity and inclusion have continued
to be promoted across the business with
a number of initiatives, including:

— Employee-led networks on gender,
ethnicity (BAME), sexual orientation
(LGBT+), and disabilities and health
conditions. This year, we held our
fourth Diversity & Inclusion festival,
engaging thousands of colleagues
across M&S.

— Continued involvement in the 30%
Club, an organisation committed to
increasing female representation on
UK boards.

— Launch of the Breakthrough Leaders
programme aimed at developing
and accelerating the progression
of diverse talent in the business.

— Active involvement in key campaigns
including LGBT+ Pride celebrations,
International Women’s Day, Black
History Month, National Inclusion
Week, Mental Health Awareness Week
and World International Day of
Disability, raising awareness and our
profile as aninclusive place to work.

— Marks & Start and Marks & Start
International programmes continue to
support young people, the homeless,
lone parents and those with disabilities
in finding work in our stores and
distribution centres.



GOVERNANCE

AUDIT COMMIT TEE REPORT

“The Committee
fulfils a vitalrole
inthe Company’s
governance
framework, providing
valuable independent
challenge and
oversight.”

Andy Halford, Chairman of
the Audit Committee

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

The Committee solely comprises
independent non-executive directors.
Justin King joined the Committee on

4 November 2019. Detailed information
on the experience, qualifications and
skillsets of all Committee members
can be found on pages 46 and 47.

INDEPENDENCE AND EXPERIENCE

The Board has confirmed that it is
satisfied that Committee members
possess an appropriate level of
independence and relevant financial
and commercial experience across
various industries, including the
retail sector.

The Board has also confirmed that it is
satisfied that both Andy Halford and
Pip McCrostie possess recent and
relevant financial experience.

INTRODUCTION

As Chairman of the Audit Committee

(the “Committee”), | am pleased to present
the Committee’s report for the year ended
28 March 2020. These pages outline

how the Committee discharged the
responsibilities delegated to it by the
Board over the course of the year, and the
key topics it considered in doing so.

While the Committee’s core duties were
unchanged, it reviewed the Company’s
systems of internal control and risk
management extensively this year, as part
of the Group’s revised risk review process.
This included providing valuable advice
and oversight for the establishment of
Ocado Retail Limited’s systems of internal
control. The Committee also reviewed
and approved a new Code of Conduct
and control framework for monitoring
compliance with Group policies. Each of
these activities, and our ongoing review of
them, help to steer the Company towards
improving the maturity of its internal
controls and compliance processes.

Of course, our review of the Company’s
risk management processes became
increasingly critical towards the end of
the financial year with the emergence of
Covid-19 and the risks that this posed: to
the health and safety of our colleagues
and customers around the world; to our

MEETINGS HELD IN 2019/20

The Committee held five meetings
during the year, with members of senior
management invited to attend and to
present as and when specialist technical
knowledge was required.

The Committee met without management
present before each full meeting. It also
met privately with the lead audit partners,
and separately with the Head of Internal
Audit & Risk, after each meeting.

Itisimportant for the Committee
Chairman to fully understand any topics
of particular concern to facilitate

supply chainin Asia; and then ultimately
to the demand for our products and
ability to operate our stores. While the
Board has managed the Company’s
response to mitigate these risks, which

has been explored on pages 50 to 53,
Committee members have provided
senior leadership with additional
knowledge and advice when considering
mitigating controls and disclosure
implications. The Committee has also,

and will continue to, review the underlying
risk management processes, ensuring that
the impact of the crisis is not compounded
by the realisation of additional risks.

The Committee fulfils a vital role inthe
Company’s governance framework,
providing valuable independent challenge
and oversight across the Company’s
financial reporting and internal control
procedures. Ultimately, it ensures that
shareholder interests are protected and
the Company’s long-term strategy is
supported, whichis an ever more crucial
task as we escalate our transformation and
move beyond the Covid-19 crisis. Our thanks
go to Alison Brittain for her contributions
over the last six years in ensuring that the
Committee fulfilled its role, as she leaves
the Committee upon her standing down
from the Board prior to the ACM.

meaningful dialogue during Committee
meetings. To support him in fulfilling this
role during the year, Andy Halford met
regularly, on a one-to-one basis, with the
Chief Finance Officer and the Interim
Chief Finance Officer, the Director of
Croup Finance, the Head of Internal Audit
&Risk, members of senior management
and the lead audit partner from Deloitte.

More information about the Audit
Committee is available in our full disclosure
of compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code at marksandspencer.com/
thecompany.

Andy Halford 1Jan 2013 5 5
Alison Brittain 11 Mar 2014 5 5
Pip McCrostie' 10 Jul 2018 4 5
Justin King? 4 Nov 2019 2 2

1. PipMcCrostie was unable to attend the meeting on 20 January 2020 due to medical reasons.

2. JustinKingjoined the Committee on 4 November 2019.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

WHAT WAS ON THE COMMITTEE’S AGENDA IN 2019/20

CORE DUTIES

The Committee undertook the following
core activities during the year:

— Monitored the integrity of the annual
and interim financial statements and
any formalannouncements relating to
the Company’s financial performance,
with a focus on reviewing the
significant financial reporting policies
and judgements within them.

— Reviewed the implementation and
reporting of the new IFRS 16
accounting standard.

— Reviewed internal controls and risk
management processes.

— Maintained the relationship with the
external auditor, including monitoring
theirindependence and effectiveness.

— Reviewed the effectiveness and
independence of the Internal
Audit & Risk function.

— Reviewed the effectiveness of the
Company’s whistleblowing procedures.

— Reviewed and approved the
Company’s statement of compliance
with the Groceries Supply Code
of Practice.

— Reviewed the Board’s approach
to assessing the Company’s
long-term viability.

— Assessed whether the Annual Report,
taken as a whole, was fair, balanced
and understandable.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

This year, in addition to its core activities,
the Committee oversaw the transitionin
the Company’s reporting methodology
to segmental reporting, ensuring that
our financial reporting aligns insofar as it
is possible to the structure of our Croup
as a family of businesses. This year’s
financial statements on pages 112 to

171 provide the Group’s financial results
for the first time by these reporting
segments: UK Clothing & Home,

UK Food, and International.

At regular intervals throughout the year,
the Committee assessed and challenged
the cost allocations and assumptions
used by the senior leadership team

to ensure that the finalised segments
accurately reflect the split of centralised
costs and the value generated by each
reportable segment.

INTERNAL CONTROLS FRAMEWORK

The Committee received updates on
internal control matters from the Internal
Audit team at each meeting, as part of

its key duty to review the Company’s
internal control processes. This regular
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monitoring of the internal control
framework ensured timely identification
of issues and formal tracking of
remediation plans.

Instances where the effectiveness

of internal controls were considered
insufficient were discussed during the
year, either by the Audit Committee or
the full Board, and included controls in
relation to the Clothing & Home Sourcing
Office Operating Framework. In this
instance, the Committee provided robust
challenge on the standards of controls

in operational areas such as mandatory
training and fire, health & safety, and
encouraged clearer accountability for
monitoring compliance.

During the year, the Committee
completed its first full cycle of reviews
under the Group’s revised risk review
process. The Group’s businesses and core
functions are accountable for managing
their own risks, in line with the Group risk
process, and monitoring their internal
controls, and now provide the Audit
Committee with a detailed annual
update for review. These are outlined
below under Management Updates.

The Committee also noted the internal
control findings highlighted in the
external auditor’s report and confirmed
that it is satisfied that there is no material
misstatement and that relevant actions
are being taken to resolve the control
matters raised.

Finally, at the end of the year, the
Committee reviewed improvements

to be made to the Croup’s overarching
governance and internal control
framework. It approved the publication
of anew Code of Conduct, to replace the
previous Code of Ethics and Behaviours,
and an underlying suite of Group
Policies which set a floor of minimum
commitments and responsibilities for
business conduct. During the next
financial year, the Committee will monitor
compliance with the Code of Conduct
by tracking reporting against each of
the Group Policies’ compliance metrics.

MANAGEMENT UPDATES

The Committee received detailed
updates from one or more business areas
at each of its meetings; an overview of
these updates are summarised below.
These presentations are scheduled on a
rolling 12-month basis, with additional
matters identified by Internal Audit
added throughout the year as they arise.

Cyber security

— Received updates on the maintenance
of adequate cyber security systems
and work undertaken to improve cyber
security capabilities.

— Considered lessons to be learnt
from high-profile data breaches
within the market.

— Discussed the Company’s approach
to the Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standard and the Payment
Services Directive 2.

Digital & Data

— Reviewed the risks and mitigating
controls identified by the newly formed
Digital & Data function, particularly
in relation to using data effectively in
decision-making, and progressing the
cultural changes required to drive the
digital transformation.

Stores & Property

— Received an update on the changing
risk profile of Stores & Property,
particularly in relation to trading safely
and legally in stores, the UK store
estate transformation programme
and the use of third-party contractors
on construction projects.

— Reviewed the actions recommended
by the newly restructured Health &
Safety team to mitigate risk within
property construction, maintenance
and facilities management works.

Food

— Considered changes to the Food
business’ risks and internal controls,
including improvements in supplier
governance processes to mitigate
GSCOP compliance risk.

— Discussed the emerging risk related
to ensuring adequate planning
and preparation activities for the
Ocado launch.

— Noted the key risks to business
performance and profitability
associated with a “no deal” Brexit,
and agreed that these required
consideration by the Board.

Bank & Services

— Considered the identified risks
associated with the commercial
partnerships and regulatory
responsibilities managed by
Bank & Services.

Clothing & Home

— Received an update on the Clothing &
Home business’identified risks and
internal controls, discussing in detail
the supply chain risks and work
undertaken to deliver an efficient and
optimised end-to-end supply chain.

— Discussed the ongoing management
of risks to the Clothing & Home supply
chainin China and Bangladesh
presented by the Covid-19 pandemic,
and the mitigation plansin place to
address the emerging risk of a
significantimpact on demand.



AUDIT COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS REVIEW

The Committee’s performance was
reviewed as part of the 2019/20 externally
facilitated Board Evaluation, which is
covered on page 56.

The review found that the Committee
functions effectively and thatissues
are dealt with in a thoughtful, clear and
rigorous manner.

Feedback on the level of challenge and
quality of updates provided by the
Committee to the Board was positive.

The Committee was considered to be
operating well in terms of meeting
structure and the levels of engagement

FAIR,BALANCED AND UNDERSTANDABLE

At the request of the Board, the
Committee has considered whether,
inits opinion, the 2020 Annual Report &
Financial Statements are fair, balanced
and understandable, and whether they
provide the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group’s
position and performance, business
model and strategy.

The structure of the Annual Report
focusses strongly on the key strategic
messages in the Strategic Report. It was
therefore important for the Committee
to ensure that this emphasis did not dilute
the overall transparency in the disclosures
made throughout the report, which it
knows stakeholders find useful, and that
the messages presented by the business
are both clear and reflective of the
Company as a whole.

The Committee received a full draft of
the report and provided feedback onit,
highlighting the areas that would benefit
from further clarity. The draft report

was then amended to incorporate this
feedback ahead of final approval.

The Committee was provided with a list
of the key messages included in the
Annual Report, highlighting those that
were positive and those that were
reflective of the challenges from the
year. A supporting document was also
provided, specifically addressing the
following listed points, highlighting
where these could be evidenced within
the report.

provided by its members, with demands
on members’ time viewed as extensive but
not problematic. The range of assurance
provided to the Board by the Committee
was deemed appropriate. However,
improvements could be made in respect
of the pace with which the business
actions certain matters following
discussions with the Committee.

The Committee made good progress on
the 2019/20 action plan, particularly in
relation to increasing the focus on risk
reporting and emphasising accountability
forrisk at business unit level.

When forming its opinion, the Committee
reflected on the information it had
received and its discussions throughout
the year. In particular, the Committee
considered:

IS THE REPORT FAIR?

— Isthe whole story presented and has
any sensitive material been omitted
that should have been included?

— Isthe narrative in the reporting on the
business performance in the front of
the report consistent with that used
for the financial reporting in the
financial statements?

— Arethe key messages in the narrative
reflectedin the financial reporting?

— Are the KPIs disclosed at an appropriate
level based on the financial reporting?

IS THE REPORT BALANCED?

— Isthere a good level of consistency
between the narrative reporting in
the front and the financial reporting in
the back of the report;and does the
messaging presented within each part
remain consistent when oneis read
independently of the other?

— Isthe Annual Report properly
considered a document for
shareholders?

— Are the statutory and adjusted
measures explained clearly with
appropriate prominence?

2020/21 ACTION PLAN

— Monitor the effectiveness of the Internal
Audit function and its activities.

— Continue toincrease focus onrisk
reporting and accountability for
risk at business unit level.

— Increase focus on financial and non-
financial controls, including monitoring
effectiveness of the Code of Conduct.

— Monitor progress of the Company’s
wider technology and cyber security
transformation.

— Arethe key judgements referred
tointhe narrative reporting and the
significant issues reported in this
Audit Committee Report consistent
with the disclosures of key estimation
uncertainties and critical judgements
set outin the financial statements?

— How do the significant issues identified
compare with the risks that Deloitte
plans toincludeinits report?

GOVERNANCE

IS THE REPORT UNDERSTANDABLE?

— Isthere aclear and understandable
framework to the report?

— Aretheimportant messages
highlighted appropriately throughout
the document?

— Isthe layout clear with good linkage
throughout in a manner that reflects
the whole story?

CONCLUSION

Following its review, the Committee
was of the opinion that the 2020 Annual
Report & Financial Statements are
representative of the year and present a
fair,balanced and understandable
overview, providing the necessary
information for shareholders to assess
the Group’s position, performance,
business model and strategy.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

The Audit Committee has assessed
whether suitable accounting policies
have been adopted and whether
management has made appropriate
judgements and estimates.

Throughout the year, the Finance team
has worked to ensure that the business is
transparent and provides the required
level of disclosure regarding significant
issues considered by the Committee in
relation to the financial statements, as
well as how these issues were addressed,
while being mindful of matters that

may be business-sensitive.

This section outlines the main areas of
judgement that have been considered by
the Committee to ensure that appropriate
rigour has been applied. Allaccounting
policies can be foundin note 1to the
financial statements. Where further
information is provided in the notes to

the financial statements, we have included
the note reference.

Each of the areas of judgement has been
identified as an area of focus and therefore
the Committee has also received detailed
reporting on these matters from Deloitte.

PRESENTATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Committee gave consideration to the
presentation of the financial statements
and, in particular, the use of alternative
performance measures and the
presentation of adjusting items in
accordance with the Group accounting
policy. This policy states that adjustments
are only made to reported profit

before tax where income and charges

are significantin value and/or nature.

The Committee received detailed reports
from management outlining the
judgements applied in relation to the
disclosure of adjusting items. In the
current year, management has includedin
this category: directly attributable gains/
(expenses) resulting from the Covid-19
pandemic; net costs associated with the
implementation of strategic programmes
in relation to UK store estate, organisation,
operational transformation, IT restructure,
UK logistics, charges arising in relation

to changes to pay and pensions and
International store closures and
impairments (the closure of International-
owned businesses); impairments and
write-off of the carrying value of stores
and other property charges; the reduction
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES

in M&S Bank charges incurred in relation
to the insurance mis-selling provision;
guaranteed minimum pension and other
pension equalisation; charges relating to
establishing the investment in Ocado
Retail Limited; amortisation and fair
value adjustments arising as part of

the investmentin Ocado Retail Limited;
remeasurement of contingent
consideration including discount
unwind; impairment of goodwill

and a credit categorised as other.

With regards to the Covid-19 pandemic,
this was an area of major focus for

the Committee, which was cognisant of
the need to ensure external disclosures
are fulsome given the significance of
the aggregate values (£335.9m charge)
and the guidelines on the use of
alternative performance measures
issued by the European Securities and
Markets Authority and the Financial
Reporting Council.

© Seenote5o0npl28

PROPERTY MATTERS (INCLUDING
ASSET WRITE-OFFS, ONEROUS
LEASE CHARGES AND USEFUL
ECONOMIC LIVES)

The Committee has considered the
assessments made in relation to the
accounting associated with the Group’s
UK store estate strategy. The Committee
received detailed reports from
management outlining the accounting
treatment of the relevant charges
including impairment, accelerated
depreciation, dilapidations, redundancy
and onerous lease costs (including void
periods). The Committee has reviewed the
basis for the key assumptions used in the
estimation of charges (most notably in
relation to the costs associated with
property exit/sub-let costs, the sale
proceeds expected to be recovered

on exit, where relevant, and the cash
flows to be generated by each cash-
generating unit in the period to closure).
The Committee has challenged
management and is satisfied that the
assumptions made are appropriate.

The Committee is also satisfied that
appropriate costs and associated
provisions have been recognised in

the current financial year.

© seenotes1,5,15and 22 on pl16, p128,
p146 and p163

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL, BRANDS,
TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Committee has considered the
assessments made in relation to the
impairment of goodwill, brands, tangible
and intangible fixed assets including land
and buildings, store assets and software
assets. The Committee received detailed
reports from management outlining

the treatment of impairments, valuation
methodology, the basis for key
assumptions (e.g. discount rate and
long-term growth rate) and the key drivers
of the cash flow forecasts. In light of the
ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, the Group’s
cash flow projections over the three-year
strategic plan period have been revised
andinclude a Covid-19 overlay in year 1
(the Covid-19 scenario), focusing on

the externalimpact of social distancing
measures, and the internally controllable
mitigating actions the Group is taking to
protect the business. The Committee has
challenged management and s satisfied
that these are appropriate considering the
increased risk because of Covid-19.

The Committee has also understood the
sensitivity analysis used by management
inits review of impairments, including
consideration of the specific sensitivity
disclosures in the relevant notes. In
addition, the business plans detailing
management’s expectations of future
performance of the business are Board
approved. The Committee is satisfied that
appropriate impairment of tangible and
intangible assets has been recognised.

© Seenotes1,5,14and 15 on pl16, p128
and p144-148

INVENTORY VALUATION AND
PROVISIONING

As adirect result of the restrictions on
‘non-essential’ trade imposed in response
to the Covid-19 pandemic the Croup’s
ability to sell through existing Clothing &
Home stock has been significantly
impacted and additional Clothing & Home
inventory provisioning has been required.
The Committee considered the Croup’s
current provisioning policy, the impact

of expected future expectations of
sell-through impacting the recoverability
of the cost of inventories held at the
balance sheet date and the nature and
condition of current inventory. This
included reviewing the assessment of the
incrementalimpact on stock holding and
provisioning related to Covid-19. When
calculating inventory provisions, the
Group has considered the nature and
condition of inventory, as well as applying
assumptions around when trade
restrictions might be eased leading to
resumption of sales. The Committee has
concluded that such are appropriate.

The assumptions have been disclosed

in the financial statements.

© Seenotesland5on p116 and p128



GOING CONCERN AND
VIABILITY STATEMENT

The Committee has reviewed the Group’s
assessment of viability over a period
greater than 12 months. In assessing
viability, the Committee have considered
the Group’s position presented in the
budget and three-year plan recently
approved by the Board. In the context

of the current challenging environment
as aresult of Covid-19, a Covid-19 scenario
was applied to the plan, as well as the
modelling of additional sensitivities.
These were based on the potential
financial impact of the Group’s principal
risks and uncertainties and the specific
risks associated with the Covid-19
pandemic and the uncertain high street
trading environment. The Committee
has concluded that these assumptions
are appropriate.

The Committee has also reviewed the
Group’s reverse stress test using the
downside scenario three-year plan above.
The Committee has reviewed this with
management and is satisfied that this is
appropriate in supporting the Group as a
Going Concern.

The Committee received regular updates
on the steps taken by management to
secure liquidity for the likely duration of
the crisis and recovery period beyond.
These include the formal agreements
reached with the lending syndicate of
banks providing the £1.1bn revolving credit
facility to substantially relax or remove
covenant conditions for the tests arising

in September 2020, March 2021, and
September 2021; and confirmation as an
eligible issuer under the UK Government’s
Covid Corporate Financing Facility (CCFF).
The Committee is satisfied that the
increased liquidity risk because of the
impact of Covid-19 has been reduced by
these measures.

© Seenotelonpll6

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Committee has reviewed the actuarial
assumptions, such as discount rate,
inflation rate, expected return of scheme
assets and mortality, which determine

the pension cost and the UK defined
benefit scheme valuation, and has
concluded that they are appropriate.

The assumptions have been disclosed

in the financial statements.

© Seenotellonpl36

SIGNIFICANTISSUES CONTINUED

REVENUE RECOGNITION IN RELATION
TO REFUNDS, GIFT CARDS AND
LOYALTY SCHEMES

Revenue accruals for sales returns and
deferred income in relation to loyalty
scheme redemptions and gift card

and credit voucher redemptions are
estimated based on historical returns

and redemptions. The Committee has
considered the basis of these accruals,
along with the analysis of historical returns
and redemption rates and has agreed with
the judgements reached by management.

© seenote190n p150

SUPPLIER INCOME

The Committee is satisfied that this
continues to be monitored closely by
management and controls are in place
to ensure appropriate recognitionin
the correct period. Further control
improvements are planned in the coming
year. The financial statements include
specific disclosures in relation to the
accounting policy and of the effect of
supplierincome on certain balance
sheet accounts.

© Seenotelonpllé

IFRS 16

IFRS 16 Leases is effective for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The Croup has adopted the new financial
reporting standard from 31 March 2019
and the financial statements for the

52 weeks ended 28 March 2020 are
prepared under the new standard.

The Croup adopted IFRS 16 using the
fully retrospective transition approach,
meaning the comparative period has been
restated on adoption. As a lessee, IFRS 16
removes distinctions between operating
and finance leases and requires the
recognition of a right of use asset and
corresponding liability for future lease
payables. For further details, see the
Accounting policies and Impact of new
accounting standards adopted in the
year sections of the financial statements.
The Committee has received regular
updates from management outlining
the impact of the new accounting
standard, including the judgements and
key assumptions used in the estimation of
the impact. The Committee has reviewed
with management and is satisfied that
these are appropriate.

© Seenotes1and 29 on pl16and p166

VALUATION OF MARKS AND
SPENCER GROUP PLC COMPANY
ONLY INVESTMENT

Marks and Spencer Group plc holds
investments in Group companies which
are reviewed annually for impairment.
Management has prepared an impairment
review based on estimated value in use of
the Croup. As a result of the impairment
review, an impairment charge has been
recognised in the year (see note C6
Investments on page 175. The Committee
has reviewed management papers
outlining the key assumptions used in
calculating the value in use and is satisfied
that these are appropriate.

OCADO TRANSACTION (VALUATION
OF CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION)

As part of the investment in Ocado Retail
Limited, a contingent consideration has
been recognised in the year. The Group
has estimated the maximum potential
undiscounted amount of all future
payments that the Group could be
required to make under the contingent
consideration arrangement. Contingent
consideration, resulting from the
investment in Ocado Retail Limited, is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting
date with the changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. The change

in fair value and the related unwind of
discountingis considered to be an
adjusting item as it relates to a major
transaction and consequently is not
considered representative of the normal
operating performance of the Group.

The arrangement has a number of
elements which only become payable

on the achievement of specific
performance targets. The most significant
of these is Ocado Retail Limited achieving
a specified target level of earningsin the
financial year ending November 2023.
The determination of the fair value is
therefore based on discounted cash
flows. The key assumptions take into
consideration the probability of meeting
each performance target and the discount
factor. The Committee has reviewed
management papers outlining the key
assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the contingent consideration and
is satisfied that these are appropriate.

GOVERNANCE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

TENURE

Deloitte was appointed by shareholders
as the Group’s statutory auditor in 2014
following a formal tender process. The
lead audit partner, Richard Muschamp,
has been in post since the start of the
2019/20 audit. The external audit
contract will be put out to tender at least
every 10 years. The Committee considers
that it would be appropriate to conduct
an external audit tender by no later

than 2024.

The Committee recommends that
Deloitte be reappointed as the Company’s
statutory auditor for the 2020/21 financial
year. It believes the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor and

the effectiveness of the audit process

are safeguarded and remain strong.

The Company is in compliance with the
requirements of the Statutory Audit
Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation (Mandatory Use of
Competitive Tender Processes and Audit
Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014
and the Corporate Governance Code.
There are no contractual obligations

that restrict the Committee’s choice of
external auditor.

EFFECTIVENESS

The effectiveness of our external auditor
is assessed in accordance with a process
agreed by the Audit Committee, which
involves gathering information through a
series of questionnaires tailored to the
following target groups:

1. The four Finance Directors for Food,
Clothing & Home, International and
Retail & Property, the Head of Finance
Group Reporting, the Head of Investor
Relations and the Head of Finance
Business Services:

Short questionnaire focusing on the audit
team, planning, challenge and interaction
with the business.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

2. Interim Chief Finance Officer and
Director of Group Finance:

Longer questionnaire covering all areas
of the audit process and taking into
account the questionnaires completed
by the Heads of Finance.

The Committee was provided with a
summary of the Interim Chief Finance
Officer and Director of Group Finance
responses and had access to copies of the
completed management questionnaires
(sections 1and 2 above) to assist with its
own considerations.

Feedback from each of the target groups
was positive overall. It was agreed that the
audit team had been both responsive and
cooperative and had demonstrated great
flexibility and adaptability in working with
management day-to-day to overcome
the challenges faced. Early engagement
throughout the year had been appreciated
and had meant that a number of
significantissues had been addressed
before the Covid-19 pandemic arose.

It was agreed that the audit partners have
a good understanding of our business
and, on the whole, this had been reflected
across the audit team in terms of
approach, lines of enquiry and challenge.
A common theme from the business

unit Directors of Finance reflected a desire
for more engagement with the senior
members of the audit team throughout
the year.

NON-AUDIT FEES

To safeguard the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor, the
Committee has putin place arobust
auditor engagement policy which it
reviews annually. The policy is disclosed
on marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

The Committee is satisfied that the
Company was compliant during the year
with both the UK Corporate Governance
Code and the FRC’s Ethical and Auditing
Standards in respect of the scope and
maximum permitted level of fees
incurred for non-audit services provided
by Deloitte. Where non-audit work is
performed by Deloitte, both the Company
and Deloitte ensure adherence to robust
processes to prevent the objectivity

and independence of the auditor from
being compromised.

All non-audit work performed by
Deloitte, with fees in excess of £50,000,
was put to the Audit Committee for
prior consideration and approval. For
non-audit work where fees were below
£50,000, approval was obtained by the
Chief Finance Officer and the Audit
Committee notified of all work falling
within this threshold. Further details
on non-audit services provided by
Deloitte can be found in Note 4 to the
financial statements.

The non-audit fees to audit fees ratio for
the financial year ended 28 March 2020
was 0.33:1, compared with the previous
year’s ratio of 0.21:1. The majority of the
£0.67m in non-audit fees paid in total to
Deloitte during 2019/20 was incurred for
assurance services provided during the
year. These comprised fees in respect of
the Half Year review, turnover certificates,
the annual Euro Medium Term Note
(EMTN) programme renewal, July 2019
bond comfort letter, the role of reporting
accountantin therightsissue and
assurance services for overseas entities.
Itis normal practice for such assurance
services to be provided by the Company’s
statutory auditor.

No additional recurring or one-off
non-audit services were provided during
theyear.



ASSURANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

The Board assumes ultimate
responsibility for the effective
management of risk across the Group,
determining its risk appetite and
ensuring that each business area
implements appropriate internal
controls. The Group’s risk management
systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. These systems are
also designed to be sufficiently agile to
respond to changes in circumstances,
such as the recent impact of Covid-19.

© Seep33-420fthe Strategic Report for more
information on our material risks

The key features of the Group’s internal
controland risk management systems
that underpin the accuracy and reliability
of financial reporting include clearly
defined lines of accountability and
delegation of authority, policies and
procedures that cover financial planning
and reporting, preparing consolidated
accounts, capital expenditure,

project governance and information
security, and the Group’s Code of

Ethics and Behaviours.

SOURCES OF ASSURANCE

The Board has delegated responsibility
for reviewing the effectiveness of the
GCroup’s systems of internal control to the
Audit Committee, which includes financial,
operational and compliance controls

and risk management systems. The
Committeeis supported by a number of
sources of internal assurance from within
the Group to complete these reviews:

1. Internal Audit

The Group’s primary source of internal
assurance is delivery of the Internal Audit
Plan, whichis structured to align with the
Croup’s strategic priorities and key risks
and is developed by Internal Audit with
input from management. The Planiis
subject to ongoing review throughout the
year so that it remains relevant and adapts
to any new or emerging circumstances.
The findings and actions from internal
audit reviews are agreed with the relevant
business area, communicated to the
Audit Committee and tracked through

to completion.

The work completed by Internal Audit
during the year has focused on key risks
including information and data security,
core finance controls, legal and regulatory
compliance, supplier management,
franchise operations and HR processes.
The Internal Audit team has also
supported the businessinits response

to the Covid-19 situation.

2.Management updates and risk
deep dives

As part of the Committee’s annual
calendar, it receives updates on risk

management, maturity of control and
assurance activities from individual
business areas and functions. These
updates are complemented by Internal
Audit’s independent reviews.

3.Functional assurance

A broad range of assurance activity has
been designed and deployed across

the business to target key risk areas, such
as ethical assurance, food safety, fire,
health and safety and business continuity.
While reporting lines for these activities
are directly to business areas, the
processes and controls of these functions
are periodically tested by Internal Audit.

4.Operational oversight

Business Boards and committees provide
oversight and challenge on key risk areas
within individual business areas, cross-
business programmes and activities, such
as business continuity, fire, health and
safety, and Brexit. The output from these
discussions forms part of the cyclical
updates provided to the Audit Committee.

GOVERNANCE

The Group was compliant throughout
the year with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code relating to
internal controls and the FRC’s revised
Guidance on Audit Committees and
Guidance on Risk Management, Internal
Controland Related Financial and
Business Reporting.

The Committee has considered the controls
findings raised in the independent auditor’s
report on pages 98-111. No other significant
failings or weaknesses were identified during
the Committee’s review in respect of the
year ended 28 March 2020 and up to the
date of this Annual Report.

Where the Committee has identified areas
requiring improvement, processes arein
place to ensure that the necessary action
is taken and that progress is monitored.

Further details of these processes

can be found within our full disclosure
of compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code at marksandspencer.
com/thecompany.

INTERNAL ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK

Source of information

Frequency/nature of reporting

Internal Audit — Internal Audit Plan

— Follow-up of remediation

— Updates on fraud,
whistleblowing and
otherirregularity

— Adhocengagement with

the businessin response to
new/emerging risks or major

incidents, for example
Covid-19

— Regularreports against Plan

Formal updates
presented to the
Committee at
each meeting

Updatestothe
Audit Committee
Chairman as required

Management
updates and
risk deep dives — Information security

— Bribery

issues including:

- GSCOP

— Financial control

Papers submitted on arange of

— Code of Ethics and Behaviours

— Risk deep dives from individual
business areas and functions

Formal updates
presented to the
Committee annually
and as needed

Audit

Committee

Functional audit activities
undertaken, including:

Functional
assurance

— Food safety andintegrity
— Ethicalaudits
— Trading safely and legally

Updates provided to
the Committee as part
of annual business
updates where
appropriate and
asrequested

Operational Forexample:
oversight — Business Boards
— Fire, Health & Safety
Committee

— Customer &Brand
Protection Committee

— Business Continuity
Committee

Updates presented
to the Committee
annually,

and as needed
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REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION OVERVIEW

“The Committee
ensures that the

pay framework is
appropriately flexible,
toactinshareholders’
bestinterestsin
unpredictable
circumstances”

Andrew Fisher, Chair of the
Remuneration Committee
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INTRODUCTION

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased

to present our 2019/20 Remuneration
Report. We also present our proposed
Remuneration Policy (Policy). In line with
regulations, we are seeking shareholder
support and approval for our
Remuneration Policy at the 2020 ACM.
A summary of the proposed changes

to the approved Remuneration Policy

is set out below and on pages 74-80

of this report.

The Remuneration Report provides a
comprehensive picture of the structure
and scale of our remuneration framework,
its alignment with the business strategy
and the rest of the workforce, as well as
the decisions made by the Committee

as aresult of business performance for
this year and the intended arrangements
for2020/21.

BOARD CHANGES

Following the departure of Humphrey
Singer in December, we were delighted
to appoint Eoin Tonge as CFO. Details
of Humphrey’s leaving arrangements,
along with recruitment details for Eoin,
can be found on page 89 of this report.

The Committee was pleased that we
secured the appointment of Eoin Tonge
in line with our simplified pay framework.
He will, however, receive mobility
allowances for a set period of time.

In addition, we are pleased to appoint
Katie Bickerstaffe as our new Chief
Strategy and Transformation Officer

and see her become an executive member
of the Company. Katie was previously a
non-executive director of the Company
and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, for which | would like to thank
Katie for all her help and support.Inline
with our standard practice Katie did not
participate in Committee discussions that
could be construed as her influencing her
own future remuneration arrangements.

REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK
CONSIDERATIONS

Shareholder engagement and feedback

The Board is committed to ensuring that
our remuneration framework supports our
strategy, and provides a balance between
motivating and challenging our senior
leaders to deliver our business priorities
and also driving the long-term sustainable
success of M&S.

The Committee spent a considerable
amount of time this year reviewing the
current remuneration framework,
structures, measures and targets.

This was all undertaken in the context

of the ever-changing political and retail
trading landscape and more recently in
light of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.
The Committee consulted with our major
shareholders (representing almost 50%
of our total shares inissue) to discuss our
proposal and response in respect of
executive pay arrangements. Additionally,
we also approached a number of
shareholder representative bodies given
many of our stakeholders engage their
services. The Committee reviewed

and discussed all the responses and
feedback provided and have developed a
remuneration framework that we believe,
based on what we currently know,

will support the business over the

next three years andis aligned with
investor expectations.

The Committee believes that our
Remuneration Policy continues to provide
appropriate flexibility, ensuring that any
payments made in the implementation

of the Policy are in the best interests of
both the Company and our shareholders.
The overall framework is considered to
remain appropriate but based on investor
feedback some minor amendments are
proposed and described below.

USE OF DISCRETION

Recent world events have highlighted

the importance of having a flexible policy
together with appropriate permissible
discretions to ensure that we can continue
to run M&S successfully. For complete
transparency, we are more explicitly
outlining the discretions already in place
to ensure the Committeeis able toact

in the best interests of the business and
our shareholders in unknown and
unpredictable circumstances.

The Committee has the ability to apply
malus, clawback and responsible
application of discretion to override
formulaic outcomes of the incentive
schemes to ensure that pay outcomes
are appropriate in the wider business and
economic climate beyond the relevant
performance measures. During the year,
the Committee discussed the breadth of
provisions in place and agreed that these
provide the Committee with sufficient
capacity to act appropriately in
unforeseen circumstances. The clawback
provisions which have beenin place since



2017 allow the Committee a number
of circumstances during the life of
the binding policy beyond financial
misstatement; these are explicitly
disclosed on page 76.

During the year the Committee did not
apply any discretion to the variable pay
outcomes of the bonus and Performance
Share Plan (PSP). The Committee agreed
that the final vesting of the PSP was
reflective of the last three years of

M&S’s performance and that the Policy
operated as intended.

KEY AMENDMENTS TO
REMUNERATION POLICY

The PSP will continue to be the primary
long-term incentive plan for executives.
We will maintain the overall construct of
the plan, with the typical award being
250% of salary against a maximum of
300% of salary. However, to ensure more
relevant alignment between senior

remuneration, the strategic direction of
the Company, and the interests of our
shareholders, we propose to introduce
strategic measures into the PSP. In direct
response to shareholder feedback, the
plan will retain a portion based upon Total
Shareholder Return (TSR) performance.

We propose to increase the shareholding
requirement for all executive directors
to 200% of salary. The CEO’s requirement
will remain at 250% of salary. To further
align executives with shareholders and
the longer-term success of the business,
we will be introducing a post-cessation
shareholding guideline. Executives

will be expected to continue to hold their
shareholding requirement for two years
post exiting the business.

Having already reduced our pension cash
alternative for new executive directors at
our last policy review, and in line with the
pay arrangements offered to executive
directors joining since that time, we are

formally removing this cash payment for
all new executive director appointments.
In order to remove any policy differential
betweenincumbent and new executive
directors, Steve Rowe has agreed to forgo
his contractual arrangements for this
pension cash alternative. Steve’s pension
supplement will be reduced to zero

over the next three years. Steve will
remain eligible to participatein the
pension scheme on the same terms as
all other colleagues as has long been
M&S’s practice.

Shareholders approved the current
Remuneration Policy at the AGM in 2017.
As such, the Company is required to seek
approval for the new policy at the ACM
to be held on 3 July 2020. Pages 74-80
provide the full details of the proposed
policy. For transparency, the table below
sets out an overview of the key areas of
the Policy.

Base salary Benefits Pension benefits Annual Bonus Performance 0
Scheme Share Plan <z,:
4
w
>
Main features of current policy 8
— Increases — Benefits — Directors may — Maximum — Maximumaward - TheCEOis — Feesreviewed
awarded are provided at a rate participate in opportunity of of 300% of salary. required to hold annually.
normallyinline commensurate M&S’s defined 200% of salary. 250% of salary . .
- - . . — Performance . — Comprise basic
with those with the market contribution . in shares. For all o
. — 50% of totalbonus  measured against . fee plus additional
elsewherein and currently arrangement on . . . other executive
- ) deferredinto financial targets . feeforextra
the business. include acaror the sametermsas directors, o
: . shares for over athree-year responsibility
Adjustmentsin cash allowance, other colleagues, ) the current
; . ) ) threeyears. period. . . of Board or
excessofthismay  adriver,and life or receive a cash requirementis .
. Committee
be made wherethe assurance plus supplementin — Measured — Performance 150% of salary. ’ .
. ) . . . . L Chairman or Senior
Committee deems  other benefits lieu of pension against Adjusted conditions
. . ) L ) . Independent
itappropriate. provided toall contributions. Group Profit may include .
: o Director.
. . colleagues, Cash alternative Before Tax (PBT) quantifiable
— Salarieswillbe ) h ) . o . ; .
. including maximum is (currently 70% non-financial/ — Feeswillbe
compared against ) )
- . colleague currently 20% of award) and strategic compared against
appropriately sized ; o ) -
; : discount. of salary for individual measures, with appropriately
listed companies. . L . ; ! .
other executive objectives. financial measures sized companies.
h ) o
gweézé%rs (25% — Clawback lcomtpSrloss/ngfat — Inaddition, the
or ) and malus c€as °0 Chairman may be
. awards. f
provisions apply. entitled to the use
— Atwo-year of acaranddriver.
hggcgszirmd — Inline with our
P 9 other colleagues,
— Clawback the Chairmanand
and malus non-executive
provisions apply. directorsare
entitled to receive
colleague discount.
Policy change
— Nochange. — Nochange. — Removal of — Nochange. — Nochange. — Theshareholding — Nochange.
pension cash requirementis
supplements increasing from
forany future 150% to 200% for
directors. all other executive
— Reduction of directors.
the CEO’s — Directorsare
cash pension required to
supplement to continue to hold
zero over next their shareholding
three years. requirement

(or theiractual
shareholding on
leaving if lower)
for two years after
leaving M&S.
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STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF PAY

The focus at M&S continues to be on
transformation, so the measures and
targets used in M&S’s incentive schemes,
specifically those of the Performance
Share Plan and Annual Bonus Scheme,
align with the KPIs and strategic priorities
being used across the business. The
illustration below demonstrates this
strong linkage between the KPIs and
strategic priorities with executive

remuneration. This strength of alignment
will enable the Committee to ensure
pay arrangements help to accelerate
transformation and fulfill M&S’s potential
for long-term sustainable profitable
growth, despite the prolonged impact
of Covid-19in the current trading
environment and likely subsequent
financial performance.

REMUNERATION OVERVIEW CONTINUED

The Committee will continue to
thoroughly review the pay structures

and incentive arrangements for the
senior leadership team to ensure strong
alignment between the delivery of
business performance and the associated
remuneration arrangements as the
business continues along this accelerated
transformation journey to emerge
stronger and more competitive.

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK WITH KPIS

Annual Bonus
Performance Scheme (ABS)
KPI/Strategic Priority As measured by Share Plan (PSP)  (when operating)
KPI Adjusted Earnings Per Share (EPS) Financial Results o
SeeKPls Return On Capital Employed (ROCE) [ ]
onp26 Group PBT Before Adjusting Items (PBT) (]
Strategic What we are learning from the crisis () [ )
Priority What will never be the same again Y o
See : ;
Strategic Accelerating the transformation programme [ ] [ ]
Priorities
on p7
2019/20 PERFORMANCE
o o o

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

16.7p

Adjusted EPSin 2019/20 was 16.7p. This was below
the 26.8p threshold required for any vesting
under this element of the 2017 PSP award.
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RETURN ON CAPITALEMPLOYED

12.77%

Average three-year ROCE performance was12.7%.
Asaresult, 11.2% out of amaximum of 33% of the
2017 PSP will vest under this element.

GROUP PBT BEFORE ADJUSTING ITEMS

£403.1m

Group PBT was below the threshold for
bonus payments to be made under the
2019/20 AnnualBonus Scheme.



CONTEXT OF BUSINESS
PERFORMANCE

During the year, M&S made good
progress in further implementing its
transformation. With improvements
made to range, value and customer
communication, the Food business
outperformed the market and improved
its financial performance in several
aspects such as sales and operating profit.
In addition, significant strides were taken
to deliver the strategy to bring M&S food
online via the investmentin Ocado
Retail Limited. While several Clothing &
Home departments improved their
performance, ultimately total revenue
for this area of the business was down.

As referenced earlier in this Annual
Report, the impact of Covid-19 has been
significant. In the short-term, M&S has
responded rapidly to the changing trading
landscape making financial decisions to
secure the future of the business. In the
long-term the business must, as described
earlier in this Annual Report, harness the
learnings from this crisis to return M&S to
profitable, sustainable performance.

As demonstrated on page 68 and
referenced throughout this Remuneration
Report, thereis a strong alignment
between M&S’s key financial performance
indicators and the measures within the
directors’incentive schemes. The inclusion
of strategic measures within the
long-term incentive award, allows the
Committee to drive the delivery of M&S’s
transformation while supporting the
learnings taken from this global crisis.

As shown earlier in this Annual Report,
while there were some financial
improvements within the business,

this did not translate to improvements
inthe core key performance indicators

on page 68. As such, payments under both
the Annual Bonus Scheme and

PSP were impacted by M&S’s overall
performance during the year.

WIDER WORKFORCE PAY
ARRANGEMENTS

The Committee received regular and
varied updates during the year relating

to M&S’s pay arrangements. In addition to
those already outlined in the Committee’s
remit available on the M&S website,
detailed discussions ranged from hourly
pay for store colleagues to colleague
participationin last year's rightsissue.

Further, we welcome the collaboration
with the Business Involvement CGroup

at the Committee meeting in receiving
direct feedback on colleagues’ views. This
dialogue ensures a close link between the
pay philosophies at the most senior levels
with those for the broader population.

To demonstrate the Committee’s

keen interest in wider workforce pay
arrangements within M&S, we have this
year expanded our disclosure on these
specific areas; see pages 72 and 73.

As s referenced earlier in this Annual
Report, the business has taken great care
to support all colleagues during the
Covid-19 pandemic which the Committee
and the Board were supportive of. From a
pay perspective, these include, but are

not limited to, supporting every colleague
needing to either self-isolate or shield
themselves to do so on full pay, and
rewarding M&S’s hardworking frontline
store and e-commerce distribution
colleagues with an additional short-term
15% pay award.

SINGLE FIGURE AND INCENTIVE
SCHEME OUTCOMES

The graph below summarises the total
payments made to executive directorsin
2019/20, illustrating the figures detailed in
the single figure chart set out later in this
reporton page 81.

The total pay for the CEO was ¢.20% lower
this year, reflecting lower PSP outcomes
and the reduction in share price during
the year.

The 2017 PSP will vest at 11.2% in June 2020
for the three-year performance period up
to 28 March 2020. Page 85 of this report
provides further detail on the specifics

of the targets set and the respective
achievement under each measure, which
are also summarised in the illustration
overleaf. The remit of the Committee is

to ensure that targets set are stretching
yet achievable, rewarding the delivery

of sustainable, ambitious long-term
performance. Vesting under the PSP
remains low when reviewed in the context
of the wider market. However, the
Committee is satisfied that this vesting

is reflective of the challenging business
performance Steve Rowe and Archie
Norman have both highlighted earlier

in this Annual Report.

SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION FOR 2019/20

Steve
Rowe

Humphrey
Singer

@ Fixedpay @ PSP | Total bonus

£456,000

Total

£1,067,583 AvkyyCN £1,210,862

£456,000

© see Single figure remuneration on p81 © SeePSPonp84-p85 @ See Annual Bonus Scheme on p83
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REMUNERATION OVERVIEW CONTINUED

PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP) VESTING 2019

VESTING OUTCOMES

IMPACT OF SHARE PRICE CHANGE ON
PSP VESTING VALUES

Adjusted EPS

® Maximum 33.33%
@ Actual 0%
Average ROCE

® Maximum 33.33%
@ Actual 12.7%
Relative TSR

® Maximum 33.33%
@ Actual 0%
Outturn

® Maximum 100%
@ Actual 1.2%

Asis shown in the illustration above, a significant proportion of

Adjusted

Relative

EPS TSR

Average
ROCE

50%
share price
decline

B com

Value at Value at
grant share price vesting share price
(£3.28) (£1.65)

adirector’s reward is linked to the movement in share price, providing
significant investment in the Company and strong long-term

alignment with shareholders

The 2019/20 Annual Bonus Scheme

was focused on restoring the business to
profitable growth. Annual performance
for the year was again focused on Group
PBT before adjusting items (PBT) with
individual measures set against the key
areas of delivery deemed most critical
to the transformation journey. As with
previous years, individual performance
was measured independently of

PBT performance, but, mirroring
arrangements elsewhere in the business,
no individual element could be earned
until the threshold needed to secure
payment under the PBT element was
similarly achieved. For the 2019/20
financial year, the PBT achievement of
£403.1m was below the threshold to
trigger a bonus payment and so no
bonus was paid under the Annual Bonus
Scheme to anyone within the organisation,
including the executive directors.
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© See Performance Share Plan on p84-p85

However, in order to ensure continued
strong governance and transparent
reporting to shareholders,andinline

with the normal processes, the Committee
discussed each director’s achievement
against the relevant individual
performance targets. Final achievement
against these individual objectives is
detailed on page 83 of this report.

The Committee is satisfied that incentive
payments made to executive directors
during the year are appropriate in the
context of business performance for
2019/20 and payments made elsewhere
in the business. The Remuneration Policy
operated as intended so no changes to
outcomes were necessary.

PAY ARRANGEMENTS FOR 2020/21

When reviewing salary levels, the
Committee considers a number of internal
and external factors, primarily the salary
review principles applied to the rest of

the organisation, but also Company
performance during the year and external
market data. As a result of performancein
the year and the unprecedented impact of
the Covid-19 pandemic, it was decided not
toimplement any salary increasesin the
wider organisation and the Committee
decided that it would be appropriate to
freeze Steve Rowe’s salary. As detailed
within this report, the Committee made
the recommendation, and Steve agreed,
that over the next three years the CEO
pension supplement would be reduced to
zero. While the intended structure of the
Annual Bonus Scheme, as detailed on
page 75 in the Policy table, remains



unchanged from 2019/20, the Committee
has agreed that for 2020/21 only there will
be no bonus scheme in operation for the
executive directors. Executive directors
will still continue to be measured against a
scorecard of individual objectives aligned
to the strategic priorities set out earlier

in this report, however no financial
payment will be made in respect of their
achievements. The Committee debated
the appropriateness of this decisionina
time when executives are working harder
than ever and believes, in the context of
wider macroeconomic factors and the
experience of the business with a large
number of colleagues placed on furlough,
this is the right decision for M&S.

The Committee continues to ensure that
the total remuneration framework for
executivesis aligned to shareholder
interests. In light of the decision not to
operate a bonus scheme for 2020/21,

the Committee believesiitis critical to
ensure that executives remain aligned
with shareholders’ long-term interests
through a PSP award set against not only
appropriate measures but also achievable
yet stretching targets. In the current
rapidly changing circumstances caused
by Covid-19,and the extreme uncertainty
in the retail sector more broadly, the
Committee debated the operation of the
PSP, the appropriateness of the proposed
performance measures and targets as well
as the timing of a 2020/21 award which is
typically granted shortly after M&S’s final
year results. As a result, the Committee
has agreed to grant a PSP award to
executivesin July 2020. The performance
targets for this award will be set at a time
when the impact of Covid-19 on the
business can be better forecast and the
proposed strategic measures reviewed

in light of the business’s strategic
response to the post-pandemic trading
environment. However, the Committee
recognises the material fallin share price

since awards were made in 2019 and so
took decisive action to significantly reduce
the quantum of the 2020 PSP award

from 250% to an intended 175% of salary.
In determining the size of this year’s

PSP awards, the Committee, wished to
acknowledge the shareholder experience
of Covid-19 to reduce windfall gains from
directors awards. As such, M&S’s average
share price since February 2020 until
mid-May was used as a reference pointin
Committee discussions. The Committee
will review and reconfirm this decision
immediately prior to grant to ensure this
remains appropriate.

Targets will be set and disclosed no later
than 31 December 2020. The Committee
is committed to shareholder engagement
and will further engage with our major
shareholders in advance of any long-term
incentive targets being determined.

More details are set out on page 85.

The Committee believes that this
approach is appropriate as the business
reviews its strategy in light of the
Covid-19 crisis and when retention and
motivation of the senior leadership
team remains critical.

SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL
AT THE AGM

In addition to the resolution at this year’s
Annual General Meeting (ACM) to renew
the Remuneration Policy, we are also
seeking shareholder approval to make an
amendment to the existing share plan
rules. We wish to provide the facility to
satisfy awards with new issue shares,
rather than market purchase shares asis
currently the practice. This change will
support M&S in securing its cash flow for
financially efficient business operations.
In addition some minor amendments to
align with the operation of our existing
Remuneration Policy approved by
shareholdersin 2017 are proposed.
Further details are set out in the Notice
of Meeting on pages 183 to 199.

LOOKING AHEAD

This was the final year under the current
remuneration framework, and we hope

to have your support at the 2020 AGM to
approve the new Remuneration Policy.
The new Policy has been designed to
ensure that executive director pay
arrangements support and drive the
business strategy while remaining
appropriate when considered within the
overall M&S remuneration framework and
the external regulatory environment.
Arobust framework is especially crucial
given the challenging environmentin
which we are operating. Having engaged
with our major shareholders as part of this
process, to both incorporate their views
and to maintain open dialogue on director
pay arrangements, we hope that all our
shareholders will support the Policy at
the AGM.

As we look to the future, the Committee
will also need to take into consideration
the impact of investment in Ocado,

a partnership we believe will bring
substantial benefits and has
transformative potential for our
business. The Committee fully intends
toreview the extent to which this
partnership impacts structures, targets
and application of M&S’s incentive
arrangements in both the short-

and long-term.

GOVERNANCE

I would like to thank our shareholders for
their continued support during what has
been an unprecedented year. Due to the
Covid-19 pandemic the Company’s AGM
on 3 July 2020 will be via a live webcast
broadcast from Waterside House and | will
be able to answer any questions in relation
to this Remuneration Report at this time.

Andrew Fisher, Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
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REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION TN

— Share ownership across our
colleagues M&S is a proud advocate
of employee share ownership,
encouraging colleagues to sharein
M&S’s success while aligning interests
with our shareholders. Across our
UK and Irish colleagues, M&S has a
significant number of participants
in allemployee share schemes:
colleagues hold over 53m SAYE
options in our ShareSave scheme and
over 3,000 colleagues hold shares in
our Share Incentive Plan ShareBuy.

— Direct engagement with our
colleagues Since 2018, the Chair of
the National Business Involvement
Group (BIC), our colleague
representative body, is invited to
attend a Remuneration Committee
meeting each year to engage and

CONSIDERATION OF COLLEAGUE PAY

The Committee monitors and reviews the
effectiveness of the senior remuneration
policy and itsimpact and compatibility
with remuneration policies in the wider
workforce. Throughout the year, the
Committee reviews the frameworks and
budgets for key components of colleague
pay arrangements, together with the
broader structure of Group bonus
provisions which ensures appropriate
alignment with senior pay arrangements.

The Committee is provided throughout
the year with information detailing

pay in the wider workforce, which gives
additional context for the Committee to
make informed decisions. The Head

of Executive Reward & External
Reporting advises the Committee

of the approach which will be adopted
with the forthcoming UK pay review
and the Committee then considers the
executive directors’ pay in line with
these arrangements.

The Head of Executive Reward & External
Reporting consults on all executive
director bonus objectives and advises

the Committee on how, and the extent to
which, these may be cascaded throughout
the Company.
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CONTEXT

COLLEAGUE ENGAGEMENT

contribute on arange of topics

and activities. During the year,
representatives from BIC have been
engaged on a number of pay-related
topics, beyond the executive level,
including: helping colleagues to
understand the impact of the rights
issue on their share schemes and
providing ongoing feedback on
colleague questions and concerns
during this period; user acceptance
testing of our share schemes website;
and providing feedback and support
on the timing of our annual ShareSave
invitation. The collaborative
relationship that we have with BIG
strongly reflects our belief in the key
role that BIC plays in ensuring the
Committee has greater visibility of
the things that really matter to our

In approving the budget for the annual
bonus, the Committee reviews all bonus
costs for the Company against the
operating plan. The Committee also
reviews and approves any PSP awards
made to executive directors and directors
below the Board prior to their grant.

The Committee receives updates

on avariety of colleague engagement
initiatives which form part of our colleague
voice surveys, asking colleagues about
engagement, empowerment and
enablement. While colleagues were not
formally consulted on the development
of the Policy, the annual employee voice
survey asks colleagues about the fairness
and reasonableness of colleague

pay and benefits, and they are also
encouraged to raise questions at the
periodic all-colleague announcements
led by the CEO. Any questions raised at
this time are answered, and comments
made during the year through surveys

or our network of elected colleague
representatives via BIC are considered.
The Head of Executive Reward & External
Reporting typically provides an annual
update to these colleague representatives
with an explanation of the executive
directors’ pay arrangements during the
year, and they are able to ask questions
on the arrangements and their fit with the
other reward policies at this time.

colleagues and also gives the
Committee the opportunity to explain
and discuss our pay practices and how
executive pay aligns with pay across
the wider workforce. In addition, the
Head of Executive Reward & External
Reporting also provides updates to
the Committee as appropriate on

pay and people-related issues during
the year.

— Pay Budgets Under the remit of

the Remuneration Committee,

total budgeted salary expenditure
across M&S for salary review is

noted, as are bonus and share scheme
budgets ensuring principles for reward
allocation are aligned across the full
workforce, inclusive of senior leaders.

CONSIDERATION OF
STAKEHOLDER VIEWS

The Committee is committed to an
open and transparent dialogue with
shareholders on the issue of executive
remuneration. Where appropriate,

the Committee will actively engage
with shareholders and shareholder
representative bodies, seeking views
which may be considered when making
any decisions about changes to the
directors’ Remuneration Policy.

The Committee seeks the views of

the largest shareholders individually

and others through shareholder
representative bodies when considering
making any significant changes to the
Remuneration Policy; this may be done
annually or on an ad hoc basis, dependent
upon theissue. For example, during the
year the Committee proposed changes
to the PSP measures and, as a direct
response to shareholder feedback TSR
remains a key measure. The Committee
annually engages in a process of investor
consultation, which is typically in written
format, but may be through face-to-face
meetings, if considered useful. The
Committee Chairmanis available to
answer questions at the ACM and the
answers to specific questions are posted
on our website.



GENDER PAY GAP

The M&S median gender pay gap
for the year to April 2019 is 4.0%,
compared with a national average
of 17.3%. The M&S mean gap for the
same periodis 12.9%.

Inthe last 12 months, we've made
several steps to further promote
and enhance diversity and equality
at M&S. This includes, but is by no
means limited to, the launch of our
Breakthrough Leaders programme
aimed at developing and accelerating
the progression of diverse talentin
the business, our participationin
Retail Week’s Be Inspired accelerator
programme for senior women,
collaborationin the 30% Club’s
cross-business mentoring
programme and the launch of our
own internal mentoring portal for
our colleagues. All of this activity

is supported by our colleague
networks, including the Gender
Equality Network, which hold events
and raise important discussions

on gender equality via their online
social communities.

We're proud that 74% of our Customer
Assistants are women but we need

to do more to encourage diversity in
senior roles. Diversity and inclusion
remains a key priority for us and we
have developed a bold strategy and
will not be letting our focus relent
through these challenging times.

0]
4%
Gender pay gap (median)

PAY ARRANGEMENTS FOR

COLLEAGUES DURING COVID-19

We are proud to be providing support
to our colleagues during Covid-19.
As detailed earlier in this Annual
Report, for those colleagues needing
to self-isolate or shield themselves,
they have done so on full pay. Our
frontline store and e-commerce
distribution colleagues continuing

to work are being provided with a
short-term 15% additional pay award
and similarly, colleagues working in
support centres will receive a share
award equivalent to 5% of salary for
the furlough period. Furloughing
frontline colleagues continue to
receive full pay with 90% of pay being
paid for support centre colleagues
placed on furlough. This ensures
consistent treatment of all
colleagues, by maintaining a 15%
differential in pay between those
working and those on furlough.

As part of our socially responsible
reporting strategy, an annual shareholder
meeting is normally held and the
consideration of views on a variety

of topics, including executive pay,

is taken into account.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S PAY RATIO

In last year’s report, the Committee
chose to early disclose an indicative

CEO pay ratio. During the year, the
Committee considered the appropriate
calculation approaches as set out in the
regulations and has chosen Methodology
A, as we believe it to be the simplest, most
appropriate and robust way to calculate
the ratio.

Option Arequires three UK colleagues to
be identified as the equivalent of the 25th,
50th and 75th percentile. Having identified
these colleagues based on pay and
benefits as at 28 March 2020, the total
remuneration is calculated on the same
basis as the CEO single total figure of
remuneration, the only exception being
the individual performance element of the
Annual Bonus Scheme applicable to the
relevant colleagues is assumed to be the
respective target value, as the actual value
is not known at the time of producing the
Annual Report. This requires:

— Starting with colleague pay that was
calculated based on actual base pay,

benefits, bonus and long-term
incentives for the 12 monthly payrolls
within the full financial year. Earnings
for part-time colleagues are annualised
on a full-time equivalent basis to allow
equal comparisons.

— Adjusting the value of any bonus so
that it only reflects the amount earned
inrespect of the 2019/20 financial year
and does not include the value of any
deferred shares from the 2016 bonus
which vested in June 2019.

— Addingin the employer pension
contribution from the M&S Pension
Saving Plan.

Joiners and leavers in the year have been
excluded from the calculations, the
percentile figures are therefore
representative of the whole colleague
population but do not include all
colleagues as at 28 March 2020.

The table below shows the ratio of CEO
pay in 2019/20, using the single total figure
remuneration as disclosed in Figure 8
(page 81) to the comparable, indicative,
full-time equivalent total reward of those
colleagues whose pay is ranked at the
25th, 50th and 75th percentiles in our

UK workforce. The calculation used to
determine these figures is reflective

of M&S’s pay proposition across the
workforce as all pay elements have been
included to ensure equal comparisons.

GOVERNANCE

25th percentile 50th percentile 75th percentile

Year Methodology ratio ratio ratio
2020 Figures (Option A) 64:1 59:1 51:1
Total pay and

Salary benefits

Pay data (£000) (£000)
CEO remuneration 828 1,21
UK colleague 25th percentile 18 19
UK colleague 50th percentile 19 21
UK colleague 75th percentile 22 24

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN CEO’S REMUNERATION

The table below sets out the change in the CEO’s remuneration (i.e. salary, taxable
benefits and annual bonus) compared with the change in our UK-based colleagues’ pay.
This group has been chosen as the majority of our workforce are based in the UK.

% change 2018/19 -2019/20

Base salary Benefits Annualbonus
CEO (Steve Rowe) 3.0% -0.2% -
UK employees (average per FTE) 3.7% 0.7% -

Salary reviews in 2019/20 awarded across
the wider organisation ranged from 2% to
4%, the 3% increase awarded to the CEO
was the first salary increase since his
appointment to the role in 2016, despite
his salary being significantly lower than
that of his predecessor. There were no
annual base pay increases awarded to
the CEO or to colleagues in respect of
the 2020/21 financial year.

The change in colleague benefitsis
reflective of a shift in workforce structure
rather than a change in benefit offering,
which remains unchanged from 2018/19.
There has been no fundamental change
in the CEO benefit offering.

No award under the Annual Bonus
Scheme was made to either the CEO or
anyone else within the wider workforce
in either 2018/19 or 2019/20.
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REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION POLICY

FIGURE 1:EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE

Shareholders approved the
Remuneration Policy at the
ACM in 2017. As such, the
Company is required to seek
approval for the new Policy
at the ACM to be held on

3 July 2020, from which

date the updated Policy

will apply. The Committee
reviewed the senior
remuneration framework
during the year to ensure
that it remains fit for purpose,
providing an appropriate
framework to fulfil M&S’s
reward philosophy which
is,inturn, designed to
support anddrive the
business strategy.

The Policy remains largely
unchanged from the one
approved by shareholders
in 2017; for transparency,
where amendments

have been made these are
highlighted. Once approved,
this Policy may operate

for up to three years.

The Policy is designed

to attract, retain and
motivate our leaders

within a framework designed
to promote the long-term
success of M&S and

aligned with our
shareholders’interests.
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Base salary

Benefits

Pension benefits

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

To attract, retain and motivate
high-calibre executives needed
to deliver our strategy and drive
business performance.

OPERATION

Payablein cash.
Reviewed annually by the
Committee considering a
number of factors, including:
— Salaryincreases awarded
to other colleaguesin the
wider workforce which are
typically reviewed annually
ona similar basis.
— Comparable salariesin
appropriate comparator groups.
Salaries reflect the experience,
responsibility and contribution
of the individual and role within
the Group.

MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY
While there is no set maximum,

any increases are normally in line
with those in the wider workforce.

Individual adjustments in excess of
this may be made outside of this
cycle at the discretion of the
Committee, where appropriate.
Such circumstances can include:

— Where therole scope has
changed;

— Where comparable salaries
inthe external market have
changed;or

— Toapply salary progression
for newly appointed directors.

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
N/A

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

To provide market-competitive
benefits which drive employee
engagement and commitment
inour business.

OPERATION

Directors are eligible to receive
benefitsin line with our policies
which may include:

— Acarorcashallowance.

— Adriver.

— Lifeassurance.

Where appropriate, our Global/
Domestic Mobility Policy may
apply. This may include, but not
be limited to, travel, relocation
and tax equalisation allowances.
Directors are offered a number of
other benefitsin line with all other
colleagues, such as colleague
discount and salary sacrifice
schemes such as Cycle2Work.
Directors may participateina
Save As You Earn Schemeanda
Share Incentive Plan and any
other all-employee share
schemes on the same terms

as other colleagues.

MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY

While there is no set maximum, any
benefits will be provided at a rate
commensurate with the market.
Maximum participationin
all-employee share schemesiis
inline with local statutory limits.

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
N/A

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

To attract and retain high-calibre
executives through a commitment
toresponsible, secure retirement
fundingin line with our

Company values.

OPERATION

Current directors may participate
inthe Your M&S Pension Saving
Plan (a defined contribution
arrangement) or an alternative
pension saving vehicle that the
Company may offer, on the same
termsasall other colleagues or
receive a cash supplementin lieu
of pension contributions into

this scheme.

MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY

A maximum employer contribution
currently of 12% of salary where the
employee contributes 6% of salary.
Prior to 11 July 2017 an alternative
cash payment capped at 25%

of salary was available for
executive directors.

Change for 2020

Removal of pension cash
supplements for any
future directors.

Reduction of the CEO’s cash
pension supplement to zero
over the next three years.

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
N/A




(TOBE APPROVED ON 3 JULY 2020)

Annual Bonus Scheme including
Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP)

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

To drive annual profitability, strategic change and
individual performancein line with the business plan.
To recognise and reward individual contributions

to the way we do business.

The deferraliinto shares provides alignment with
shareholders’long-term interests following the
successful delivery of short-term targets.

OPERATION

Directors are eligible to participate in this
non-contractual, discretionary scheme.

Payments are made subject to the satisfaction of
predetermined targets set at the start of the year,
as approved by the Committee.

Not less than 50% of any bonus earned is paid in
deferred shares under the DSBP, with the remainder
payablein cash.

Deferred shares vest after a period of three years
subject to continued service, but no further
performance conditions.

Clawback and malus rules apply to cash and

DSBP awards respectively; see explanatory notes
(page 76) for more information.

Good leaver and change of control provisions apply
to the deferred shares (see explanatory notes).

The value of any dividends during the deferred
period may be payable (see explanatory notes).

The Committee retains the right to exercise
discretion, both upwards and downwards, to ensure
that the level of award payableis appropriate

and fair in the context of the director’s individual
performance and the Company’s overall
performance. Where exercised, the rationale for
this discretion will be fully disclosed to shareholders
inthe subsequent Annual Report.

MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY
A maximum annual potential of up to 200% of salary.

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Quantifiable one-year performance measures and
targets are set by the Committee around financial
and individual objectives linked with the sustainable
delivery of the business plan.

Financial performance measures comprise at

least 50% of awards and may include, but not be
limited to Group PBT after adjusting items.

Typically, no payment for individual objectives

can be earned unless a ‘threshold’ level of Group
PBT after adjusting items has been achieved.

This threshold levelis set by the Committee taking
into account the previous year’s performance and
the business operating plan for the current year.

For achievement of individual objectives no more than
40% (currently 30%) of the maximum bonus potential
is paid for threshold performance, and no more than
60% for target performance. However, the Committee
retains the flexibility to amend the pay-out level at
different levels of performance for future bonus
cycles. Thisis based onits assessment of the level of
stretch inherent in the set targets, and the Committee
will disclose any such determinations appropriately.

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

Measured against the key financial drivers of the
business plan to deliver sustainable value creation.
To encourage long-term shareholding to retain
directors, and provide greater alignment with
shareholders’interests.

OPERATION

The Company’s principal long-term incentive
scheme, approved by shareholders in 2015.
Directors are eligible to participate in this
non-contractual, discretionary plan.

Directors may receive an annual award which
vests after three years subject to predetermined
performance conditions.

Clawback and malus rules apply to awards

(see explanatory notes).

Good leaver and change of control provisions
apply (see explanatory notes).

The value of any dividends during the vesting
period may be payable (see explanatory notes).
Awards are subject to a further two-year holding
period after the vesting date. Directors may

sell sufficient shares to satisfy the respective tax
liability but must retain the net number of shares
until the end of this two-year period.

As with the bonus scheme, the Committee retains
theright to exercise discretionin the same manner
to ensure appropriateness of outcomes.

MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY

The maximum value of shares (at grant) which can
be made under an award to an individualin respect
of afinancial yearis 300% of salary.

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

Performance is measured over a three-year

period against a balanced scorecard of appropriate
measures as determined by the Committee each
year. This currently includes EPS, ROCE, TSR and
from 2020 strategic measure. These are chosen

as those measures which support and drive

top-line and bottom-line performancein line

with business strategy.

Financial measures comprise at least 50% of awards.
The threshold level of vesting is 20% of

the maximum.

For performance between threshold and maximum,
awards vest on a straight-line basis.

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

To drive long-term, sustainable
decision-making for the benefit of
the Company and our shareholders.

OPERATION

Directors are required to hold shares
equivalentin value to a minimum
percentage of their salary within

a five-year period from their
appointment date.

MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY

For the CEQ, this requirement is
250% of salary. For all other executive
directors the requirement is 200%.

Change for 2020

Directors are required to continue
to hold their shareholding
requirement, or, if their level

of shareholding is below the
requirement, their actual
shareholding for two years after
leaving M&S.

The shareholding requirement
for other executive directors
increased from 150% to 200%.

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS
N/A
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REMUNERATION POLICY CONTINUED

FIGURE 2: POLICY TABLE

Executive directors may be in receipt of awards under share plans outside of the current remuneration framework detailed on pages
74 and 75; these may have been awarded upon recruitment or prior to their appointment as an executive director. While awards under
these plans do not form part of a forward-looking policy, for transparency, details of the plans are set out in the table below.

PURPOSE AND LINK PERFORMANCE
ELEMENT TO STRATEGY OPERATION MAXIMUM OPPORTUNITY CONDITIONS
Restricted Toenablethe — Restricted awards may be granted for the recruitment While thereisno The Committee
Share Plan recruitment of key of directors. maximum set in the may choose to
(RSP) directors whoare — Awards vest after a restricted period, which can vary rulesl,the Committee apply no formal
necessary to by award but is typically between one and three years considers the scale and performance
the delivery of Y Y Y Y " structure of awards on conditions save for
business strategy. — Malus provisions, good leaver and change of control  anindividual basis. continued service.
provisions apply (see below and page 78).
— The value of any dividends during the restricted period
may be payable (see explanatory notes below).
Executive Measured against — Approved by shareholders and HMRC in 2015, Awards are capped at Awards vest
Share Option  the key drivers of our the Committee may choose to award share options 250% of salary in respect subjecttoat
Scheme business plan to to directors if appropriate. of any financial year least three-year
(ESOS) deliver sustainable . of the Company predetermined
. — Malus provisions, good leaver and change of control . "
value creation. o butin recruitment performance
provisions apply (see below and page 78). ) L
To encourage long-term circumstances awards conditions.
g 9K — Options are normally exercised between the third may be granted up
shareholding to retain ) . . . S
. . and tenth anniversaries of grant, subject to the to a higher limit of
directors, and provide . -
) . achievement of any performance conditions set 400% of salary.
greater alignment with )
- by the Committee.
shareholders’interests.
EXPLANATORY NOTES Any performance conditions applicable (including the PSP)in 2015 and onwards

The Committee reserves the right

to make any remuneration payments
notwithstanding that they are notin line
with the Policy set out above, where the
terms of the payment were agreed at a
time when the relevant individual was not
adirector of the Company, or under a prior
approved policy and, in the opinion of
the Committee, the payment was not in
consideration of the individual becoming
adirector of the Company.

For these purposes, payments include the
Committee satisfying awards of variable
remuneration and, in relation to an award
over shares, the terms of the payment are
agreed at the time the award is granted.

Awards granted under the PSP, DSBP,
and RSP can be made in the form of
conditional share awards, forfeitable
shares, options or rights with the same
economic effect. In addition, awards
may be settled in cash. Awards may
incorporate the right to receive (in cash
and/or shares) the value of dividends,
including any dividend tax credit where
applicable, between grant and vesting
on the shares that vest. This amount
may be calculated on a cumulative basis,
assuming the reinvestment of dividends
into shares.

In the event of a variation of the
Company’s share capital or a demerger,
special dividend or other event whichin
the Committee’s opinion may affect the
price of shares, the Committee may alter
the terms of awards and the number

of shares subject to them. The terms of
awards may be amended in accordance
with the relevant plan rules (which were
formally approved by shareholders on

7 July 2015).
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to PSP, RSP and ESOS awards may be
amended by the Committee if an event
occurs which causes it to consider that the
performance condition would not achieve
its original purpose and the amended
performance condition s, in the opinion of
the Committee, no less difficult to satisfy
but for the event in question.

Our long-term incentive plans provide
the Committee with discretion with
respect of vesting outcomes that affect
the actual level of reward payable to
individuals, such discretion would only be
used in exceptional circumstances and, if
exercised, the rationale for this discretion
will be fully disclosed to shareholders in
the subsequent Annual Report.

CLAWBACK AND MALUS

M&S is committed to ensuring its
remuneration arrangements motivate
participants to strive for exceptional
performance while also protecting
shareholder value from the Company
taking unnecessary risks. As such,
clawback and malus provisions apply

to the executive directors’incentive
arrangements. All share awards granted
from 2013 onwards are subject to malus
provisions. These provisions allow the
Committee, in its absolute discretion, to
determine at any time prior to the vesting
of anaward to reduce the number of
shares, cancel an award or impose further
conditions on an award in circumstances
for which the Committee considers

such action to be appropriate. Such
circumstances may include, but not be
limited to, a material misstatement of
the Company’s audited results.

In addition, clawback provisions were
introduced in 2015 and apply to cash
payments made under the Annual Bonus
Scheme. Awards made under any of the
Company’s other executive share plans

will similarly be subject to clawback
provisions. These provisions enable the
Committee, inits absolute discretion, to
reclaim awards paid to individuals for up
to three years after the respective vesting
or payment date (or up to two years in the
case of PSP awards) where specified
events occur. The specified events that
would trigger clawback include the
discovery of a material misstatement
resultinginan adjustment in the audited
consolidated accounts of the Company,
the assessment of any performance
condition, terms or conditions in respect
of anaward or payment that were based
on error, or inaccurate or misleading
information, the discovery that any
information used to determine the
number of shares subject to an award or
amount payable was based on an error,
or inaccurate or misleading information,
the action or conduct of a participant
which, in the reasonable opinion of the
Committee, amounts to gross misconduct
or a material breach of the participant’s
service contract that falls short of gross
misconduct, and events or behaviour of

a participant that have had a significant
detrimentalimpact on the reputation

of any member of the Group, provided
that the Committee is satisfied that the
relevant participant was responsible for
the reputational damage and that the
reputational damage is attributable to the
participant. Clawback may be effected,
among other means, by requiring the
transfer of shares, payment of cash or
reduction of awards.

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS AND
TARGET SETTING

The Committee reviews annually the
measures, weightings and targets for the
incentive arrangements for the executive
directors. In doing so, the Committee
considers a number of factors which assist



in forming a view. These include, but are not
limited to, the strategic priorities for M&S
over the short-to long-term, shareholder
feedback, the risk profile of the business
and the macroeconomic climate.

The Annual Bonus Scheme is measured
against a balance of profitability and
the delivery of key strategic areas of
importance for the business. The
profitability measure used is Group PBT
before adjusting items as this is used
internally to report and assess business
performance by the Board and Operating
Committee. Refer to the glossary on
pages 176 to 178 for the definition of
GCroup PBT before adjusting items, and
to note 5 of the financial statements
for a description of adjusting items.

The PSP is assessed against a balance
of measures identified as those most
relevant to driving both sustainable
top-line and bottom-line business
performance, as well as providing
value for shareholders, and strategic
alignment with the business.

Thisis reflected in the EPS and ROCE
measures which focus on a balance of
profitability, cost control and the
efficient use of capitalinvestment.

The value delivered to shareholders is
reflected by Relative TSR which is
measured against a bespoke group of
retail companies which are believed to
provide a balanced portfolio of those
most likely to be alternative investment
choices for M&S shareholders.

ELEMENT APPROACH

Targets are set against the respective
annualand long-term operating plans
taking into account analysts’ forecasts,
M&S’s strategic plans, prior year
performance, estimated vesting levels
and the affordability of pay arrangements.
Targets are set to provide a sustainable
balance of risk and reward to ensure that,
while being motivational for participants,
maximum payments are only made for
exceptional performance.

REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK FOR
THE REST OF THE ORGANISATION

M&S’s philosophy is to provide a fair
and consistent approach to pay.
Remuneration is determined by level
andis broadly aligned with those of the
executive directors.

Base salaries are reviewed annually
and reflect the local labour market.

AlLUK colleagues are eligible to
participate in the Your M&S Pension

Saving Plan on the same terms as the
executive directors. In addition, all UK
colleagues are provided with life insurance
and colleague discount, and may

choose to participate in the Company’s
all-employee share schemes and salary
sacrifice arrangements.

A significant number of colleagues are
eligible to be considered to participate in
an annual bonus scheme which for the
majority will be a cash-based payment
partially determined by Croup PBT
performance. For M&S’s most senior

executives, part of the bonus is deferred
into shares for three years.

Around 170 of M&S’s top senior executives
may be invited to participate in the PSP,
measured against the same performance
conditions as executive directors. Award
levels granted are determined to be
aligned with market practice and reflect
an individual’s level of seniority as well

as their performance and potential within
the business.

FIGURE 3: RECRUITMENT POLICY &
SERVICE CONTRACTS

The table below sets out the Company’s
policy on the recruitment of new executive
directors. Similar considerations may also
apply where a director is promoted to

the Board.

In addition, the Committee in exceptional
circumstances has discretion to include
any other remuneration component or
award which it feels is appropriate,
considering the specific circumstances
of the individual, subject to the limit on
variable remuneration set out below.

The rationale for any such component
would be appropriately disclosed.

For example, for internal promotional
appointments to the Board, the
Committee would honour any pre-existing
contractual remuneration arrangements;
these arrangements may be outside of
the Policy detailed on pages 74 to 75.

Service
contract

— Allexecutive directors have rolling contracts for service which may be terminated by M&S giving 12 months’ notice and the
individual giving six months’ notice.

— Thereare no further obligations which could give rise to a remuneration or loss of office payment other than those set out
inthe Remuneration Policy and the Termination Policy.

— Thedirectors’service contracts are available for shareholder inspection at the Company’s registered office.

Base
salary

Benefits

Pension

benefits

Annual Bonus

Scheme executive directors.

— Amaximum award of up to 300% of salary in line with our policy.

— Salaries are set by the Committee, taking into consideration a number of factors including the current pay for other executive
directors, the experience, skilland current pay level of the individual and external market forces.

— Fornew appointments to the Board, the Committee may set the rate of pay at the lower end of the rate for other directors
and/or other comparable roles within the market with the intention of applying staged increases.

— The Committee will offer a benefits package in line with our benefits policy for executive directors.

— Maximum contributionin line with our policy for future executive directors (currently up to 12% of salary).

— Eligible to take partin the Annual Bonus Scheme with a maximum bonus of 200% of salary in line with our policy for

— Where anindividual forfeits outstanding variable pay opportunities or contractual rights at a previous employer as a result
of their appointment with M&S, the Committee may offer compensatory payments or buy-out awards, dependent on the
individual circumstances of recruitment, determined on a case-by-case basis.

— The Committee inits judgement normally intends that any such payments are made on a like-for-like basis and considers
issues such as the plan type, time horizons and valuation of the forfeited awards. The Committee’s intention would be to
ensure that the expected value awarded will be no greater than the expected value forfeited by the individual.

— Where appropriate, the Committee may choose to apply performance conditions to any of these awards.
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FIGURE 4: TERMINATION POLICY

The Company may choose to terminate
the contract of any executive director
summarily in accordance with the terms
of their service agreement, on payment
in lieu of notice of a sum equal to salary,
benefits and pension as per their
contractual notice entitlement

(see page 89).

The Company can make a series of phased
payments which are paid in monthly
instalments, subject to mitigation. This
mechanism allows for the amount of any
phased payments to be reduced by the
income from any alternative position
secured by the former director during

the phased payments period.

Service agreements may be terminated
without notice and without any payments
in certain circumstances, such as gross
misconduct. The Company may require
the individual to work during their notice

ELEMENT APPROACH

REMUNERATION POLICY CONTINUED

period, or may choose to place the
individual on garden leave. Such a decision
would be made to ensure the protection of
the Company’s and shareholders’ interests
where the individual has had access to
commercially sensitive information.

The table below sets out key provisions
for directors leaving the Company under
their service contracts and the incentive
planrules.

The Company’s policy towards exit
payments allows for a variety of
circumstances whereby a director may
leave the business. In some cases, where
deemed suitable, the Committee reserves
the right to determine exit payments,
where the director leaves by mutual
agreement. In all circumstances, the
Committee does notintend to ‘reward
failure’and will make decisions based

on the individual circumstances.

The Committee’s objective is that any

such agreements are determined
on anindividual basis and arein
the best interests of the Company
and shareholders at that time, and
reflect the director’s contractual
and other legal rights.

CORPORATE EVENTS

In the event of a change of control or
winding up of the Company, unvested
share awards will normally vest on the
date that the Board notifies participants
of such an event. The number of shares
which may vest under awards in these
circumstances will be subject to any
relevant performance conditions and,
in the case of PSP awards, unless the
Committee determines otherwise, time
pro-rating. In the event of a demerger,
special dividend or other event which,
in the opinion of the Committee affects
the price of shares, the Committee may
allow some or all of an award to vest.

Base salary,
benefits and
pension benefits

— Payment made up to the termination date in line with contractual notice periods.

— Thereis no contractual entitlement to payments under the Annual Bonus Scheme. If the director is under notice or not
in active service at either the relevant year end or on the date of payment, there will be no entitlement to any bonus
payment, either in cash or shares. The Committee may use its discretion as described above to make a bonus award, which
is normally pro-rated for time worked during the relevant financial year and based on performance assessed at the end
of the bonus period.

Annual Bonus
Scheme

— Where a director ceases to be an officer or employee of the Group before the end of the relevant vesting period,

Long-term . - . : .
the treatment of outstanding awards is determined in accordance with the plan rules.

incentive awards
— Insome circumstances, where a director leaves due to retirement, injury, ill-health, death or the sale of the director’s
employing company or business out of the Group, or any other reason at the discretion of the Committee and in accordance
with the plan rules, DSBP awards normally vest in full on cessation; PSP and ESOS awards which have been held for at least
12 months normally vest when the level of performance has been assessed and agreed at the end of the three-year
performance period. RSP awards are considered on an individual basis but would typically be pro-rated for the time held
and vest on cessation. The Committee may determine these awards vest upon cessation as permitted in the plan rules.
In either circumstance, any relevant performance conditions would still apply to the PSP and ESOS awards and unless
the Committee determines otherwise, would be time pro-rated and subject to the two-year holding period post-vesting.

— M&S may pay for repatriation where a director has been recruited from overseas.

Repatriation

— Where adirector leaves by mutual consent, M&S may reimburse for reasonable legal fees and pay for professional

Legal expenses !
outplacement services.

& outplacement
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FIGURE 5: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY (TO BE APPROVED ON 3 JULY 2020)

The table below sets out our Policy for the operation of non-executive director fees and benefits at the Company. The Policy remains
unchanged from the one approved by shareholders in 2017. Once approved, this Policy may operate for up to three years.

The Committee takes into account a number of factors when determining an appropriate fee level for the Chairman. The CEO and
executive directors determine appropriate fee levels for the non-executive directors and take into account the time commitment,
role responsibility and market practice in our comparator groups when doing so.

The Company may offer benefits to the Chairman and non-executive directors as detailed in the non-executive director policy
table below.

Allnon-executive directors have an agreement for an initial three-year term, these are available for inspection at the Company’s
registered office. The Chairman’s agreement requires six months’ notice by either party. The non-executive directors’agreements
may be terminated by either party giving three months’ notice.

ELEMENT PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY OPERATION AND OPPORTUNITY

Chairman’s fees To provide a fair fee at a level that attracts and retains a — Fees are determined by the Remuneration Committee.
high-calibre Chairman.

— Total fee comprises the non-executive director basic fee
and the additional fee for undertaking the role.

— Paidin equal monthly instalments; may be made in cash
and/or shares.

— Feesreflect the time commitment, demands and
responsibility of therole.

— Reviewed annually, taking into account market practice
in appropriate comparator groups, e.g. major retailers,
similar-sized listed companies.

— The maximum aggregate fees for the non-executive
directors’ basic fees, including the Chairman’s basic fee,
is £750,000 p.a. as set out in our Articles of Association.

GOVERNANCE

To provide a fair basic fee at a rate that attracts and retains — Fees are determined by the Chairman and
high-calibre non-executive directors. executive directors.

Non-executive
director’s

basic fee — Paidinequal monthly instalments; may be madein
cash and/or shares.

— Feelevelrecognises the scope of the role and time
commitment required.

— Reviewed annually, taking into account market practice

in appropriate comparator groups, e.g. major retailers,
similar-sized listed companies.

— The maximum aggregate non-executive director basic
fees, including the Chairman, is £750,000 p.a. as set out
inour Articles of Association.

Additional fees To provide compensation to non-executive directors taking Additional fees are paid for undertaking the extra
on additional Board responsibilities. responsibilities of:

— Board Chairman.

— Senior Independent Director.
— Committee Chairman.

Benefits To facilitate the execution of responsibilities and duties — Inline with our other colleagues, the Chairman and
required by therole. non-executive directors are entitled to receive
colleague discount.

— The Company may reimburse the Chairman and
non-executive directors for reasonable expensesin
performing their duties and may settle any tax incurred
inrelation to these.

— The Chairman may also be entitled to the use of a car
anddriver.

— The Chairman and non-executive directors do not
participate in pension or performance-related schemes.
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REMUNERATION POLICY CONTINUED

FIGURE 6: SUMMARY OF REMUNERATION POLICY (TO BE APPROVED ON 3 JULY 2020)

The diagram below illustrates the balance of pay and time period of each element of the Remuneration Policy for executive directors,
which, if approved, will take effect after the 2020 ACM. The Committee believes this mixture of short- and long-term incentives and
fixed to performance-related pay is currently appropriate for M&S’s strategy and risk profile.

Year1

Year 2 Year3

Year 4 Year 5

—-Basesalary

Fixed pay

- Benefits
- Pension benefits

Annual
Bonus
Scheme

-Upto100%
salary (cash)

—-One-year
performance

- Clawback
provisions apply

Total pay

—Maximum 300% of salary
—Three-year performance
—Malus provisions apply

—-Up to 100% salary (deferred shares)
—Three-year deferral period
—No further performance conditions

—Malus provisions apply

—Two-year holding period post-vesting
—No further performance conditions

- Clawback provisions apply

APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY

The charts below provide an illustration of what could be received by each of the executive directors in 2020/21 under the Policy.
These charts are illustrative as the actual value which will ultimately be received will depend on business performance in the year
2020/21 (for the cash element of the Annual Bonus Scheme) and in the three-year period to 2022/23 (for the PSP), as well as share
price performance to the date of the vesting of the share element of the Annual Bonus Scheme and PSP awards in 2023.

DIRECTORS BASIS OF CALCULATIONS AND KEY
Steve Rowe Fixed Fixed remuneration only. © Fixed remuneration
£000 ) .
£5,872 No vesting under the ABS and PSP. Includes all elements of fixed remuneration:
£4,829 Target Includes the following assumptions — Base salary (effective 1July 2020,
for the vesting of the incentive as shownin the table on page 82).
components of the package: — Pension benefits as detailed on page 82.
£2,325 - A55¢h50% of max'muhm’ assumes  _ genefits (using the value for 2019/20
no share price growth. included in the single figure table on
£1,074 — PSP:20% of 250%, assumes page 81). For Eoin Tonge, the first year
no share price growth. relocation fees have been excluded as
Fixed Target Maximum  Maximum  Maximum Includes the following assumptions thesedo ngtform part of his ‘normat
+50% for the vesting of the incentive remuneration arrangements.
Eoin Tonge components of the package: @ Annual Bonus Scheme (ABS)
£000 — ABS:100% of maximum, Represents the potential value of the annual
£4,050 assumes no share price growth. bonus for 2020/21. Half of any bonus would
£3,300 — PSP:100% of 250%, assumes be deferred into shares for three years and
no share price growth. thisisincluded in the value shown.
£1,500 Maximum Includes the following assumptions @PsP
(0)71 o, . - .
£600 +50% share for the vesting of the incentive PSP represents the potential value of the
40% price components of the package: PSP to be awarded in 2020, which would
Fixed Target Maximum Maxi;g;m growth — ABS:100% of maximum, vestin 2023 subject to the relevant
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assumes no share price growth.

— PSP:100% of 250% with 50%
share price growth.

— Grant share price for the
purpose of demonstrating the
50% growth taken as closing
share price at 2019/20 year end.

performance targets. Awards would then
be held forafurther two years.




REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION REFPORT

Each year, the Remuneration Committee
assesses the current senior remuneration
framework to determine whether the
existing incentive arrangements remain
appropriately challenging in the context
of the business strategy, fulfil current
external guidelines and are aligned with
arange of internal factors including

the pay arrangements and policies
throughout the rest of the organisation.
Inits discussions, the Remuneration
Committee aims to ensure that not only

200% salary maximum
bonus opportunity

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

is the framework strategically aligned

to the delivery of business priorities, but
also that payments made during the year
fairly reflect the performance of the
business and individuals. A significant
proportion of the performance measures
usedin theincentive schemes are
integrated with M&S’s key performance
indicators (KPIs) and strategic priorities
detailed in the Strategic Report, as

illustrated on page 68.
E 2019/20
Annual bonus +

(with 50% deferral)

FIGURE 7: REMUNERATION STRUCTUR
Fixed pay +
Base salary
Benefits

Measured against a balance
of Group PBT before
adjusting items and

ividual performance

Pension benefits .
ind

3% in line with other

Ma&S colleagues

© For more information see p83

No bonus payment

FIGURE 8: TOTAL SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION (AUDITED)

250% salary awarded in 2017

Measured against adjusted
EPS, average ROCE and TSR
Achievement was 11.2%
against targets set

11.2% of award vested

The diagram below (Figure 7) details

the achievement of each executive
director under the Company’s incentive
schemes as a result of short-and
long-term performance to the end of
the reported financial year and
summarises the main elements of the
senior remuneration framework. Further
details of payments made during the year
are set out in the table below (Figure 8)
and laterin this report.

GOVERNANCE

Total pay for 2019/20

Total payments are
¢.25% of maximum
potential

© For more information see p85

Salary Benefits Total PSP Pension Total Total
vested benefits fixed pay | variable pay
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Director Year
Steve Rowe 2019/20 828 37 0 143 203 1,211 1,068 143
2018/19 810 33 0 471 203 1,517 1,046 471
Humphrey Singer 2019/20 456 0 0 0 0 456 456 0
(to 31 December 2019)  2018/19 439 0 0 0 0 439 439 0

Further details of Humphrey Singer’s leaving arrangements can be found on page 89.

Note that the value of PSP awards vesting in 2018/19 has been restated to reflect the actual share price on the date of vesting, £1.93.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION CONTINUED

SALARIES

When reviewing salary levels, the
Committee takes into account a number
of internal and external factors, including
Company performance during the

year, external market data, historic
increases made to the individual and,

to ensure a consistent approach, the
salary review principles applied to the
rest of the organisation.

As detailed in last year's report, for salaries
effective July 2019, Steve Rowe was
awarded anincrease of 3%, his first

FIGURE 9: SALARIES

increase since his appointment to CEOin
2016. Humphrey Singer was awarded a 2%
increasein line with increases granted to
the management population. Across the
wider organisation salary increases in
2019/20 ranged from 2% to 4%.

For salaries effective July 2020, in light
of the Covid-19 pandemic and the salary
freeze across the wider organisation, the
Committee discussed pay arrangements
for all colleagues and decided it was
appropriate to also freeze the salary for

Steve Rowe. Eoin Tonge will receive a base
salary of £600,000 when he joins the
Company on 8 June 2020. For full details
of his pay arrangements see page 89.

The next annual salary review for the
executive directors will be effective in
July 2021.

The table below details the executive
directors’ salaries as at 28 March 2020
and salaries which will take effect from
1July 2020.

Annualsalary Annualsalary

asof asof Changein

28 March 2020 1July 2020 salary

£000 £000 %increase

Steve Rowe 834.5 834.5 0%
Eoin Tonge - 600.0 N/A

BENEFITS (AUDITED)

The Remuneration Policy permits that
each executive director may receive a car
or cash allowance as well as being offered
the benefit of a driver. During the year,

in lieu of a car allowance, Steve Rowe
received a car and the benefit of a driver.
Humphrey Singer received neither a car
nor cash allowance and did not have the
benefit of a driver. Eoin Tonge will not
receive a car or cash allowance when

he joins M&S in June 2020.

Inline with all other colleagues, executive
directors receive life assurance, colleague
discount and are eligible to participate

in salary sacrifice schemes such as
Cycle2Work.

FIGURE 10: PENSION BENEFITS (AUDITED)

PENSION BENEFITS (AUDITED)

During the year, Steve Rowe received a
cash payment in lieu of participation in
an M&S pension scheme. As reported last
year, this cash payment was capped so
that Steve Rowe’s salary increase was not
applied to this element of pay. Both the
CEO and the Committee are mindful

of the external sentiment of executive
pension arrangements. As such, the
CEO has agreed that his pension cash
supplement be reduced to zero over

the next three years.

Steve Rowe is a deferred member of the
Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme.
Details of the pension accrued during
the year ended 28 March 2020 are
shown below.

While Humphrey Singer was eligible to join
the M&S pension scheme on the same
terms as all other colleagues, he chose

to opt out of the scheme. He did not
receive any additional payments in

lieu of participation. Onjoining M&S,

Eoin Tonge will be eligible to join the

M&S pension scheme on the same

terms as all other colleagues.

Accrued Increasein Transfer

pension Additional accruedvalue  value of total

Normal entitlement  valueonearly Increasein (net of accrued

retirement asatyearend retirement accruedvalue inflation) pension

age £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Steve Rowe 60 159 0 3 0 5,162

The accrued pension entitlement is the deferred pension amount that Steve Rowe would receive at age 60 if he left the Company on
28 March 2020. All transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with the current Transfer Value
Regulations. The transfer value of the accrued entitlement represents the value of the assets that the pension scheme would transfer
to another pension provider on transferring the scheme’s liability in respect of a director’s pension benefits. It does not represent sums

payable to a director and therefore cannot be added meaningfully to annual remuneration.
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ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME 2019/20 (AUDITED)

Annual performance for the year

was measured against Group PBT
before adjusting items (PBT) (70%) and
individual performance (30%). PBT is
used as a core bonus measure asitis
considered to be animportant measure
of overall performance and is consistent
with how business performance is
assessed internally by the Board and
Operating Committee.

Individual performance was measured
against a scorecard of individual measures
set against key areas of delivery of the
transformation plan deemed most critical
to the future sustainable success of M&S.
Individual performance was measured
independently of PBT performance but
mirroring arrangements elsewhere in the
business, no individual element could be
earned until the threshold needed to
secure payment under the corporate
element was similarly achieved.

PBT outturn for the year was £403.1m
which was below the threshold set to
trigger payments under either the
corporate element or the individual
element of the Scheme. As such, no
bonuses under the 2019/20 Annual Bonus
Scheme will be paid to anyone in the
organisation, including executive
directors. This is reflected in the total
bonus paid column in Figure 11and
directly corresponds to the value shown
inthe single figure table on page 81.

Despite there being no bonus payment
under the 2019/20 Scheme, the
Committee continued to review

the achievement of the individual
objectives set at the start of the financial
year to fulfilits remit and to enable
transparent disclosure to shareholders.
For completeness, the table below shows
the achievement against individual
objectives for the CEO, as noted by the
Committee. In noting this performance,

FIGURE 11: ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME OUTTURN 2019/20 (AUDITED)

the Committee considered not only the
achievement against the predetermined
targets, but also the wider performance
within these specific areas to ensure
that any achievement noted was
representative of overall performance.

The Committee ensures that targets set
are the relevant drivers of required annual
performance, recognising that it operates
in the context of a highly competitive
market and uncertain market conditions.
Some of the specific targets set for
2019/20 remain commercially sensitive
and so are not disclosed. To the extent
these targets are not able to be fully
reported, they have been described.

The Committee will continue to assess
the commercial sensitivity of targets with
the aim of disclosure wherever possible,
while ensuring that any measures set are
those most appropriate to restore the
business to profitable growth.

Totalbonus
Corporate

Director (70%) Individual (30%)
Steve Rowe Accelerate the transformation in culture, organisation and capability across the business £0k/£1.67m
PBT Continued recruitment of high-calibre senior leaders in key roles to further strengthen the management Overall %
team throughout the year. of salary
New behaviours launched throughout the business and adopted at all levels. Further embedding the (200% max)
process of decentralisation into the family of businesses structure. Delivering a significant increase in 0%
0

store engagement bringing back the voice of the stores through a programme of store feedback calls and
store management engagement in addition to using modern “Teams based” technology direct to mobile

devices across the business.

Oversee the improvements in supply chain and range management

In Food, the successful trials of the ‘Vangarde’ supply chain project were cascaded through the first
depot, delivering improvements to both availability and waste on a sustainable basis.

The rollout of the clothing warehouse management system was completed and we transitioned to

six distribution centresin line with our strategy. Improvements to the Donington distribution centre
enabled later cut-offs for online ordering and allowed us to achieve our highest ever rate of distribution
fore-commerce at Christmas this year.

Accelerate online growth and exploration of digital capabilities

While strong foundational improvements were made during the year, digital growth was lower than
planned. Review of Sparks loyalty programme and insight optimisation plan in progress to provide a
more personalised customer-focussed experience.

Drive the transition towards a more technology enabled store operation and portfolio

Store colleagues continue to receive an enhanced digital tool kit through new APIs on the Honeywell
devices. They supported more accurate stock management and replenishment, better commercial
information and new payment solutions. In addition our partnership with Microsoft enabled several
enhancements to Teams which have meant our store and office colleagues are more connected than ever.

Allstores received upgrades to Wi-Fi capability and we continued to develop a click and collect operation.
As aresult of substantial changesin our IT capability, we were able to remove the mainframe for the first
time making us more efficient and cost effective.

Successfully established the investment in Ocado Retail Limited including leadership operations

Targetsinclude

IFRS 16 adjustments andfinancing

Successful completion of the acquisition of 50% of Ocado Retail Limited, funded by the rights issue.

Threshold
£466m

£4031m

£521m

Stretch Strong leadership at executive level put in place in partnership with Ocado Solutions team. Effective
Board structure put in place, and good ways of working and governance established. Launch of M&S
0% product due to go live on 1September 2020, and on target to include an expanded range.
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DEFERRED SHARE BONUS PLAN
(AUDITED)

Currently 50% of any bonus payment is
compulsorily deferred into shares. These
awards vest after three years subject to
continued employment as well as malus
provisions. As no bonus was awarded in
respect of performance year 2018/19,

no share awards under the Deferred
Share Bonus Plan (DSBP) were made
during the year. In relation to the 2019/20

PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2019/20 (AUDITED)

As reported last year, having considered
the extent to which the long-term
incentive framework remained relevant,
the Committee determined that the
existing structural arrangements
remained aligned with the focus on
maximising shareholder value by restoring
the business to profitable growth. The
three performance measures used in the
2018 PSP award, Adjusted EPS (EPS),
Average ROCE (ROCE) and Relative TSR
(TSR), were still considered to be the key
drivers to deliver these core priorities.

In line with the 2018/19 award, measures
used in 2019/20 were equally balanced
to ensure an appropriate focus on all
three metrics.

performance year, as no bonus awards
under the Annual Bonus Scheme have
been made, there will be no awards under
the DSBP made in 2020.

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME FOR 2020/21

During the year, the Committee reviewed
the 2020/21 scheme, considering the
accelerated transformation programme,
‘Making M&S Special Again’and bonus
arrangements elsewhere in the business.

PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP)

TSR is measured against a bespoke group
of 13 companies taken from the FTSE 350
Generaland Food & Drug Retailers indices,
reviewed prior to grant to ensure the
constituents remained appropriately
aligned to M&S’s business operations to
best reflect the value of shareholders’
investment in M&S over the respective
performance period. These companies
are listed in Figure 13.

The remainder of the award is measured
equally against EPS and ROCE ensuring
a balanced focus on all three
performance metrics.

As was reported last year, each executive
director was granted an award of

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME CONTINUED

While the intended structure, as detailed
on page 75 in the Policy table, remains
unchanged from 2019/20, the Committee
has agreed that for 2020/21 only there
will be no bonus scheme in operation for
the executive directors.

Executive directors will still continue

to be measured against a scorecard of
individual objectives aligned to the
strategic priorities set out earlier in this
report, however no financial payment will
be made in respect of their achievements.

conditional shares of 250% of salary.

The grant was made on 25 June 2019.

In line with Policy, awards will vest three
years after the date of grant, to the extent
that the performance conditions are met,
and must then be held for a further two
years. Clawback provisions apply during
this holding period, the trigger events that
would result in clawback being enforced
are detailed on page 76.

Consistent with previous years, 20% of
awards will vest for threshold performance
increasing to 100% on a straight-line basis
between threshold and maximum
performance. Detailed targets can

be seenin Figure 12.

FIGURE 12: PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS FOR PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2019/20 (AUDITED)

Adjusted EPSin Average ROCE

2021/22  (2019/20-2021/22)
() (%) Relative TSR
2019/20 award 1/3 of award 1/3 of award 1/3 of award
Threshold performance 22.7p 10.2% Median
Maximum performance 28.5p 12.7% Upper quartile

Targets outlined above are stated on a post-IFRS 16 basis and include adjustments that have been made for the impact of the

investment in Ocado Retail Limited.

FIGURE 13: TSR COMPARATOR GROUP 2019/20 AWARD

JSainsbury B&M European Kingfisher
Wm Morrisons Dixons Carphone N Brown Group
Tesco Dunelm Group Next
ASOS JD Sports Fashion Frasers (formerly Sports Direct International)
WHSmith
FICURE 14: PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2019/20 (AUDITED)
Threshold Face value End of
Basis of award level of of award performance
% of salary vesting £000 period Vesting date
Steve Rowe 250% 20% 2,086 02/04/2022  27/06/2022
Humphrey Singer 250% 20% 1,530 02/04/2022  27/06/2022

PSP grants were made as a conditional share award. When calculating the face value of awards to be granted, the number of shares
awarded was multiplied by the average mid-market share price on the five dealing days prior to the date of grant. For the 2019 award,
the share price was calculated as £2.1206, being the average share price between 18 June 2019 and 24 June 2019.

Humphrey Singer’s award lapsed in full when he left M&S on 31 December 2019.
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PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP) CONTINUED

FIGURE 15: PSP AWARDS VESTING IN 2019/20 (AUDITED)

For directors in receipt of PSP awards granted in 2017, the awards will vest in August 2020 based on three-year performance over
the period to 28 March 2020. Performance has been assessed and it has been determined that 11.2% of the total award will vest.
The Committee reviewed this level of vesting against the wider business performance of the period and determined this level of
payment was appropriate; no discretion was applied either for share price movements or for formulaic vesting outcomes.

Details of performance against the specific targets set are shown in the table below.

The total vesting values shown in Figure 16 directly correspond to the figure included in the single figure table on page 81.

Average
ROCE
Adjusted EPS (017/18-
in2019/20 2019/20)
(P (%) TSR
Total vesting
2017/18 award 1/3ofaward  1/3 of award 1/3 of award
Threshold performance 26.8p 12.1% Median 1.2%
Maximum performance 32.8p 15.6% Upper quartile
Actual performance achieved 16.7p 12.7% Below Median
Percentage of maximum achieved 0% 1.2% 0%

Targets outlined above are stated on a post-IFRS 16 basis and include adjustments that have been made for the impact of the
investment in Ocado Retail Limited.

w
(8]
FIGURE 16: VESTING VALUE OF AWARDS VESTING IN 2019/20 (AUDITED) E
Ongrant At the end of performance period (28 March 2020) §
Number of Total vesting 8

shares granted of award

(incl.rightsissue % of salary Number of Number of £000

adjustment) granted shares vesting shares lapsing
Steve Rowe 638,436 250% 71,505 566,931 -50% £144k

Total vesting values are based on a share price of £1.65 (the average share price from 2 January 2020 to 28 March 2020) plus a dividend
equivalent of £0.365 per share.

The final vesting values also reflect a 50% decline in share price between grant and vesting, as illustrated on page 70 of this report.

PSP AWARDS TO BE MADE IN 2020/21

Between September 2019 and January 2020, the Committee reviewed the long-term incentive framework at M&S, assessing the
extent to which it remained suitable and actively consulted with shareholders during this time. As part of this review and engagement
process and taking into account shareholder feedback, it was determined that 20% of the PSP award should be based upon strategic
transformation goals relevant to the achievement of the business strategy over the next three years. The remaining 80% of the award
would be based on EPS (30%), ROCE (30%) and Relative TSR (20%) similar to recent years. Consulted shareholders were supportive

of this approach.

The Committee believes in the importance of strategically-aligned incentives so that executive directors are motivated to deliver
the commercial success of M&S. The Committee’s aim is to ensure realistic and sustainable targets to support the delivery of such
success. After careful consideration, and as a direct impact of the current unprecedented trading and financial environment, targets
for the 2020 awards to be granted in July will be delayed until appropriately stretching but realistic goals can be set. This will allow
Steve Rowe and his leadership team sufficient time to review M&S’s long-term business plan in view of the emerging Covid-19 impact
over the medium-and long-term. M&S remains committed to clear and transparent communication and intends to engage with

its major shareholders with more detail on the targets prior to them being agreed. Targets will be set and disclosed no later than

31 December 2020.

Itis the Committee’s intention to significantly reduce the quantum of the PSP award to be granted in July 2020, recognising the
material fall in share price over the last year. For 2020, it is proposed that Steve Rowe and Eoin Tonge will be granted an award of
175% of salary instead of the typical 250% of salary. The Committee anticipates that it will revert to normal award levels for 2021.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

FIGURE 17: DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS (AUDITED)

The table below sets out the total number of shares held by each executive director serving on the Board during the period to
28 March 2020, or at their date of retirement from the Board. Shares owned outright include those held by connected persons.

There have been no changes in the current directors’interests in shares or options granted by the Company and its subsidiaries
between the end of the financial year and 26 May 2020. No director had an interest in any of the Company’s subsidiaries at the
statutory end of the year.

Unvested

With Without

performance performance
conditions conditions Vested but
Shares owned Performance Deferred Share unexercised
outright Share Plan Bonus Plan shares
Steve Rowe 373,187 2,302,782 90,744 196,374
Humphrey Singer (to 31 December 2019) 22,500 0 0 0

FIGURE 18: SHAREHOLDING REQUIREMENTS INCLUDING POST CESSATION (AUDITED)

All executive directors are required to hold shares equivalent in value to a minimum percentage of their salary within a five-year period
from their appointment date. For the CEQ, this requirement is 250% of salary and for other executive directors the requirement is
200% of salary. A similar requirement of 100% of salary currently applies to members of the Operating Committee below Board level.

The chart below shows the extent to which each executive director has met their target shareholding as at 28 March 2020, or date of
retirement from the Board. For Steve Rowe, his 250% shareholding requirement is measured from the date he was appointed CEO.
The target shareholding for Humphrey Singer prior to leaving on 31 December 2019 was 150%.

For the purposes of the requirements, the net number of unvested share awards not subject to performance conditionsis included
and is reflected in the chart below. The Committee continues to keep both shareholding requirement guidelines and actual director
shareholdings under review and will take appropriate action should they feel it to be necessary.

Supporting the Committee’s intention to drive long-term, sustainable decision-making for the benefit of M&S and our shareholders
and in line with the 2018 Code changes and the Investment Association’s updated guidelines, directors are required to continue to
hold their shareholding requirement, or, if their level of shareholding is below the requirement, their actual shareholding for two years
after leaving M&S.

gt’e‘:’ls 129.72% 250% of salary
gil:‘r;\srhrey 7.50% 150% of salary
Asat 31 ’

December 2019

@ shares owned outright @ Unvested DSBP/RSP shares

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES

ALL-EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES
(AUDITED)

Executive directors may participate in
both ShareSave, the Company’s Save

As You Earn Scheme, and ShareBuy,

the Company’s Share Incentive Plan,

on the same basis as all other eligible
colleagues. Further details of the schemes
are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements on pages 141 to 143.
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Vested and unexercised shares Shareholding requirement

DILUTION OF SHARE CAPITAL BY EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS
Figure 19: All share plans

Actual h 4.08%

Limit

Awards granted under the Company’s
Save As You Earn Scheme and the
Executive Share Option Scheme are
met by the issue of new shares when
the options are exercised.

10%

All other share plans are currently met by
market purchase shares. The Company
monitors the number of shares issued
under these schemes and theirimpact
on dilution limits. The Company’s usage
of shares compared with the dilution limits
set by the Investment Associationin
respect of all share plans (10% in any
rolling ten-year period) and executive
share plans (5% in any rolling ten-year
period) as at 28 March 2020 is as follows:

Figure 20: Executive share plans
Actual | 0%

Limit 5%




EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FIGURE 21: EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY’S SHARE SCHEMES (AUDITED)

Maximum
receivable at
Maximum Adjusted for 28 March 2020
receivable at corporate Awarded during  Exercised during Lapsed during (or date of
1April 2019 transaction theyear theyear theyear retirement)
Steve Rowe

Performance Share Plan 1,824,538 72,014 983,801 0 381,197 2,499,156
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 119,675 4722 0 33,653 0 90,744
SAYE 3,461 136 5,960 0 0 9,557
Total 1,947,674 76,872 989,761 33,653 381,197 2,599,457

Humphrey Singer
Performance Share Plan 484,966 19,141 721,493 0 1,225,600 0
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 0 0 0 0 0 (o]
SAYE 0 0 0 0 0 (0]
Total 484,966 19,141 721,493 0 1,225,600 (o]

The aggregate gains of directors arising in the year from the exercise of awards granted under the DSBP totalled £69,056 based on a
share price on the date of exercise of £2.052. The market price of the shares at the end of the financial year was 99.18p; the highest and
lowest share price during the financial year were 277.46p and 91.70p respectively.

Humphrey Singer retired from the Board and left the Company on 31 December 2019. His Performance Share Plan awards lapsed in =
full upon leaving. Details of his leaving arrangements are set out on page 89. z
r4
Figure 22 shows the time horizons of outstanding discretionary share awards for all directors serving on the Board during the year. 5
>
o
FIGURE 22: VESTING SCHEDULE OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ OUTSTANDING DISCRETIONARY SHARE AWARDS =
Maximum 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
receivableat
28 March 2020
(alldiscretionary Maximum Maximum Maximum
schemes) receivable Lapsed receivable Lapsed receivable Lapsed
Performance Share Plan 2,499,156 71,505 566,931 680,545 - 983,801 -
Steve Rowe Deferred Share Bonus Plan 90,744 90,744 - - - -

Asreported on page 85, the 2017 PSP awards included within the totals shown in Figure 22 will vest at 11.2% in August 2020. This has
been reflected above in the 2020/21 ‘Lapsed’ column.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FIGURE 23: PERFORMANCE AND CEO REMUNERATION COMPARISON

This graphillustrates the Company’s performance against the FTSE 100 over the past ten years. While M&S is not currently a
constituent of the FTSE 100 Index, the Committee feels that it remains the most appropriate comparator. The calculation of TSRis in
accordance with the relevant remuneration regulations. The table below the TSR chart sets out the remuneration data for directors

undertaking the role of CEO during each of the last ten financial years.

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 201718 2018/19 2019/20
== Marks and £ £m
Spencer 300 40
Group plc (£)
== FTSE100 250 35
Index (£)
Source: 30
Th 200 5
Reﬁ[“.;? " R 01/04/17 31/03/18 SR 25
o 29/03/14 02/04/16 28/03/20
@ Chief 15 20
Executive 02/04/12 SOENE
total 100 — 15
remuneration
Em 03/04/2010  29/03/1 10
50 Y . .
. ® Y L o (] Y (] ®
0
CEO
CEOsingle Steve Rowe - - - - - - 1,642 1,123 1,517 1,21
figure (E000) Marc Bolland 5,998 3,324 2,142 1,568 2,095 2,015 - - - -
Stuart Rose 269 - - - - - - - - -
Annualbonus  Steve Rowe - - - - - - 36.98% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
an;ﬂent' Marc Bolland 45.80% 34.00% 42.50% 0.00% 30.55% 31.90% - - - -
(% of maximurm) Stuart Rose 57.40% - - - - - - - - -
PSP vesting Steve Rowe - - - - - - 0.00% 8.20% 34.0% 1.2%
(% of maximum) Marc Bolland = 31.96% 0.00% 760%  470%  4.80% = = = =
Stuart Rose 0.00% - - - - - - - - -
Marc Bolland was appointed CEO on 1 May 2010. His single figure for 2010/11 includes recruitment awards made to him at that time
to compensate him for incentive awards forfeited on cessation from his previous employer. Stuart Rose undertook the role of
CEO from 31 May 2004 to 30 April 2010.
FIGURE 24: PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN CEO’S REMUNERATION
© Read more on p73
FIGURE 25: RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY
The table opposite illustrates the 2018/2019 2019/20
s . . £m £m % change
Company’s expenditure on pay in
comparison with profits before tax and Total colleague pay 1,511.0 1,464.4 -3.08
distributions to shareholders by way of Total returns to shareholders 303.5 1911 -37.03
dividend payments and share buy-back. Group PBT before adjusting items 511.7 403.1 -21.22

Total colleague pay is the total pay for
all Group colleagues. Group PBT before
adjusting items has been used as a
comparison as this is the key financial
metric which the Board considers when
assessing Company performance.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FIGURE 26: SERVICE AGREEMENTS

In line with our Policy, directors have
rolling contracts which may be terminated
by the Company giving 12 months’ notice
or the director giving six months’ notice.

CHANGES TO EXECUTIVE MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD DURING 2019/20

PAYMENTS FOR THE LOSS OF
OFFICE (audited)

As announced on 16 October 2019,
Humphrey Singer stepped down from the
Board and left M&S on 31 December 2019.
Remuneration terms on leaving were in
line with the approved Remuneration
Policy. Humphrey was entitled to receive
salary and benefits, by way of phased

CHANGES TO EXECUTIVE MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD DURING 2019/20

DIRECTORS APPOINTED TO THE BOARD

Eoin Tonge will join the Board on

8 June 2020 as Chief Financial Officer.
His remuneration upon appointment was
in line with the approved Recruitment
Policy detailed on page 77 with a basic

FIGURE 27: EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

The Company recognises that executive
directors may be invited to become
non-executive directors of other
companies and that these appointments
can broaden their knowledge and
experience to the benefit of the Company.
The policy is for the individual director
toretain any fee. The feesin the table
opposite reflect those earned by
Humphrey Singer from 1 April 2019

to 31 December 2019, his date of

leaving M&S.

Date of Notice period/

appointment unexpired term
Steve Rowe 02/04/2016 12 months/6 months
Eoin Tonge 08/06/2020 12 months/6 months
monthly payments from 1 January 2020 but untaken holiday as per the
to 31 March 2020, subject to mitigation. Company’s standard holiday policy
As per the terms of the approved for leavers. All outstanding share
Remuneration Policy, these payments awards lapsed on leaving.
ey PAYMENTSTOPAST

DIRECTORS (audited)

2020. The only payment made to
Humphrey as a result of his leaving There were no payments made to past
M&S was £10,692 in respect of accrued directors during the period.

annual salary of £600,000. Eoin receives policy he will receive replacement share

neither a car allowance nor a pensioncash  awards to compensate him for those

allowance but he will be able tojoin the forfeited by him joining the business.

pension scheme on the same terms as These awards will vest in occurrence with o

colleagues. Eoin will be provided with the original award time horizons. The rest z

short-term domestic mobility allowances of Eoin's incentive arrangements are F

and as per the Company’s recruitment aligned with that of an executive director. %‘

(6]

Fee

Director Period earned Company £000

Humphrey Singer 01/04/2019 -31/12/2019  Taylor Wimpey 58
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

FIGURE 28: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ TOTAL SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION (AUDITED)

Non-executive directors receive fees Fee levels will be reviewed again during 2020/21 as per the normal annual process.
reflecting the time commitment,demands  Changes to the Board during the year are detailed below.

and responsibilities of the role. Fees paid
to the non-executive directors and Board e s
Chairman for 2019/20 and 2018/19 are £000
detailed in the table opposite.

Benefits
£000

Basic fees Additional

Director Year
Benefits include expense reimbursements  Archie Norman 2019/20 71 538 19 628
relating to travel, accommodation and 2018/19 70 530 n 61
subsistence in connection with the
attendance at Board and Committee Andy Halford 2019/20 /1 3] 0 102
meetings during the year, which are 2018/19 70 23 0 93
deemed by HMRC to be taxable. The Alison Brittain 2019/20 71 0 0 VAl
amounts in the table opposite include 2018/19 70 0 0 70
the grossed-up cost of UK tax paid Andrew Fisher 5019/20 71 5 5 88
by the Company on behalf of the W 20 8/ 9 o s o 8
non-executive directors. Non-taxable — 18/1 / /
expense reimbursements have not Katie Bickerstaffe 2019/20 71 0 3 74
beenincludedinthe table. 2018/19 51 0 2 53
During the year, fees for allnon-executive  Pip McCrostie 2019/20 71 0 0 7
directors were reviewed. Taking into 2018/19 51 0 1 52
account the relevant market data, JustinKing 2019/20 71 0 0 71
the salary freeze for M&S colleagues, 2018/19 18 0 0 18
and given fees were increased with effect
from 1July 2019, no increase to fees
was awarded.
FIGURE 29: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS (AUDITED)
The non-executive directors are not the year as at 28 March 2020 (or upon their shaT:srngng Sha’ﬁ:;ngé;’z
permitted to participate in any of the date of retiring from the Board), including at 28 March at 26 May
Company’s incentive arrangements. those held by connected persons. Director 2020 2020
fé?ﬁgg?gc;t;\ﬁtg;;?Z%’:g;%{g?ﬂuIred Changes in the current non-executive Archie Norman 148,600 Nochange
, 9 directors interests in shares in the Andy Halford 25,200 Nochange
of at least 2,000 shares in the Company - Lo . o
L . ; Company and its subsidiaries betweenthe  Alison Brittain 6,115 No change
within two months of their appointment fthe fi . .
to the Board. endoft ef inancial year and 26 May 2020 Andrew Fisher 4,243 No change
A A are shown in the table opposite. KatieBickerstaffe 4800 24,800
The table opposite details the R R
shareholding of the non-executive Pip h./IcC!'ostue 7,200 No change
directors who served on the Board during Justin King 44,000 64,000
FIGURE 30: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ AGREEMENTS FOR SERVICE
Non-executive directors have an Director Date of appointment Notice period/unexpired term
agreement for service for aninitial Archie Norman 01/09/2017 6 months/6 months
threg-year term \}VhiCh can be terminated Andy Halford 01/01/2013 3 months/3 months
byflthe( partyghlvyl?g ttf;:reec?pnths Alison Brittain 01/01/2014 3 months/3 months
notice (sixmonths'for the Chairman) Andrew Fisher 01/12/2015 3 months/3 months
:he table opposite sets OLTJ:t these terms Katie Bickerstaffe 10/07/2018 3 months/3 months
orall current members of the Board. Pip McCrostie 10/07/2018 3 months/3 months
JustinKing 01/01/2019 3 months/3 months
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CHANGES TO THE BOARD DURING 2019/20
DIRECTORS APPOINTED TO THEBOARD ROLE CHANGES WITHIN THE BOARD DIRECTORS RETIRING FROM
Tamara Ingram and Sapna Sood will join Katie Bickerstaffe started in herrole THE BOARD
the Board as non-executive directors on of Chief Strategy and Transformation Alison Brittain will retire as anon-
1June 2020. Tamara and Sapna receivethe  Director on 27 April and will step down executive director and step down from
standard annual non-executive director from the Board at the ACM on 3 July 2020.  the Board prior to the ACM on 3 July
fee of £71,500 and are members of the 2020. There were no payments made
Nomination Committee. for loss of office to Alison.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the Terms of Reference ensuring that they reflected the government’s
latest recommendations and the revised principles of the Remuneration Policy, as set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code
2018. In addition, the Committee delegated authority to management in determining the leaving and joining arrangements for
senior colleagues below the level of Operating Committee. The Terms of Reference can be found on the Company’s website at
corporate.marksandspencer.com/investors/corporate-governance/governance-framework

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

The role of the Committee continues to have

a strong focus on ensuring an appropriate
alignment between the remuneration of
executive directors and Operating Committee
directors and that of colleagues across M&S,
ensuring that the senior remuneration strategy
and framework is strategically aligned with

the business but that it also attracts and
recognises the talent required to drive
transformation and cultural change within
M&S. Broadly, the responsibilities are as follows:

- Setting remuneration policy and practices
that are designed to support strategy and
promote the long-term success of M&S
while following the below principles:

Clarity - remuneration arrangements
are transparent and promote effective
engagement with shareholders and
the workforce.

Simplicity - remuneration structures are
uncomplicated, and their rationale and
operationis easy to understand.

Risk - ensure that reputational and
other risks from excessive rewards,

and behavioural risks that can arise
from target-based incentive plans,
are identified and mitigated.

Predictability - the range of possible
values of rewards to executive directors
are identified and explained at the time
of approving the policy.

Proportionality - the link between
individual awards, the delivery of strategy
and the long-term performance of the
Company is clear. Outcomes should not
reward poor performance.

Alignment to culture - incentive
schemes that drive behaviours consistent
with M&S’s purpose, values and strategy.

- Determining the terms of employment and
remuneration for the executive directors
and Operating Committee directors,
including recruitment and termination
arrangements.

- Considering the appropriateness of the
senior remuneration framework and
exercising independent judgement and
discretion when authorising remuneration

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AGENDA FOR 2019/20

REGULAR ITEMS
Pay arrangements

- Within the terms of the M&S Remuneration
Policy, approval of the remuneration
packages for the executive directors and
Operating Committee directors, and any
termination payments where applicable.

- Consideration of the appropriateness of
the senior remuneration framework in the
context of the rest of the organisation and
external governance.

- Noting of the total budgeted salary
expenditure across M&S, ensuring principles
for reward allocation are aligned across M&S.

Annual Bonus Scheme

- Review of achievements against
2019/20 performance objectives for
executive directors and Operating
Committee directors.

- Approval of targets for the 2020/21
Annual Bonus Scheme ensuring that the
performance conditions are transparent,
stretching and rigorously applied.

- Approval of the 2020/21 individual
performance objectives for executive
directors and Operating Committee
directors.

- Noting of the total budgeted expenditure
forthe Annual Bonus Scheme across M&S.

Long-termincentives

- Approval of 2020 PSP awards for the
executive directors and Operating
Committee directors, following
engagement with key stakeholders.

- Approval of vesting level of the 2017 PSP
awards across M&S.

- Regular review of allin-flight performance
share plans against targets.

- Consideration of long-term share awards
granted to colleagues below Operating
Committee level.

Governance and external market

- Review of the M&S Remuneration Policy,
ensuring it continues to support the
long-term success of M&S, is aligned with
the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code,
other external governance and emerging
best practice.

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

An external review of the effectiveness of the
Remuneration Committee was conducted by
Gurnek Bains and Georgia Samolada of Global
Future Partners. The review established that
the Committee operates effectively and

ensures sound independent review of
remuneration policies. Developmental
feedback and support will be provided as
part of the review process.

outcomes, taking account of Company
and individual performance, and the
context of the wider workforce.

- Noting the total pay budgets including
salary, bonus and share scheme allocations
across all of M&S together with the
principles of allocation to ensure
appropriate consistency with the
senior pay frameworks.

— Approving the design, targets and total
payments for all performance-related pay
schemes operated by M&S, seeking
shareholder approval where necessary.

- Assessing the appropriateness and
subsequent achievement of performance
targets relating to any share-based
incentive plan for the executive and
Operating Committee directors.

- Receiving direct feedback from BIG the
Group’s colleague representative body,
colleague voice surveys and management
reports to ensure colleague views on Group
culture, including remuneration strategy
and diversity and inclusion are considered.

GOVERNANCE

- Review the appropriateness of the senior
remuneration frameworkin the context
of the rest of the organisation and
external governance.

- Approval of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report for 2019/20 and review of the ACM
voting outcome for the 2018/19 Report.

- Review of the Committee’s performance
in 2019/20, including assurance that the
principles of the revised Terms of Reference
and broader remit of the Committee
are embedded.

- Assessment of the external market when
considering remuneration arrangements
for executive directors and Operating
Committee directors.

- Review the effectiveness and transparency
of remuneration reporting.

- Noting of direct feedback from the Business
Involvement Group (BIG) M&S’s colleague
representative body to ensure that all
employee views are received and considered
by the Board when making remuneration
and reward decisions.

2020/21 ACTION PLAN

- Review the M&S Remuneration Policy and
framework to ensure strong alignment
with the Never the Same Again strategy
and transformation acceleration.

- Continued alignment of executive
remuneration with the approach to pay
across the wider workforce (e.g. CEO Pay
Ratio, Gender Pay Gap, Diversity).
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE CONTINUED

FIGURE 31: REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The table opposite details the
independent non-executive directors
that were members of the Committee
during 2019/20.

COMMITTEE ADVISERS

In carrying out its responsibilities, the
Committeeisindependently advised by
external advisers. The Committee was
advised by PwC during the year. PwCis a
founding member of the Remuneration
Consultants Group and voluntarily
operates under the Code of Conduct

in relation to executive remuneration
consultingin the UK. The code

of conduct can be found at
remunerationconsultantsgroup.com

The Committee has not explicitly
considered the independence of the
advice it receives, although it regularly
reflects on the quality and objectivity

of this advice. The Committee is satisfied

MEMBER

Andrew Fisher 1October 2018 7 7 100%
(Chairman)

Archie Norman 3 November 2017 7 7 100%
Katie Bickerstaffe 10 July 2018 7 7 100%

(to 26 April 2020)

that any conflicts are appropriately
managed. PwC was appointed by the
Committee asits independent advisers

in 2014 following a rigorous and
competitive tender process. PwC provides
independent commentary on matters
under consideration by the Committee
and updates on legislative requirements,
best practice and market practice.

PwC'’s fees are typically charged on an
hourly basis with costs for work agreed
inadvance. During the year, PwC charged
£70,900 for Remuneration Committee
matters. This is based on an agreed fee for
business as usual support with additional
work charged at hourly rates. PwC has
provided tax, consultancy and risk

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE STAKEHOLDER AND SHAREHOLDER ENCAGEMENT

The Committee is committed to ensuring
that executive pay remains competitive,
appropriate and fair in the context of the
external market, Company performance
and the pay arrangements of the wider
workforce. In collaboration with the
Head of Executive Reward & External
Reporting, the Committee gives
colleagues, through colleague
representatives, the opportunity to raise
questions or concerns regarding the
remuneration of the executive directors.

During the year, colleague representatives
were given the opportunity to discuss in
detail the directors’ pay arrangements.
Details of the directors’ pay arrangements
were discussed in the context of the
reward framework for the rest of the
organisation and external factors;

no concerns were raised either during
these discussions or subsequently.

The Committee is committedtoa
continuous, open and transparent

consulting services to the Group in the
financial year.

The Committee also seeks internal
support from the CEO, General Counsel

& Company Secretary and the Head of
Executive Reward & External Reporting as
necessary. All may attend the Committee
meetings by invitation but are not present
for any discussions that relate directly to
their own remuneration.

The Committee also reviews external
survey and bespoke benchmarking data,
including that published by Aon Hewitt
Limited, KPMG, PwC, FIT Remuneration
Consultants, Korn Ferry and Willis
Towers Watson.

dialogue with shareholders on the issue
of executive remuneration.

As described in the Committee Chair’s
letter, the Committee took a consultative
approach when considering changes

to the 2020 Remuneration Policy,
engaging with M&S’s 12 largest
shareholders comprising 47.51%

of the register and also shareholder
representative bodies to fully understand
their views on the current and proposed
changes to the remuneration framework.

SHAREHOLDER SUPPORT FOR THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND 2018/19 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

At the Annual General Meeting on 9 July
2019,98.18% of shareholders voted in
favour of approving the Directors’
Remuneration Report for 2018/19.

The Committee believes that this

illustrates the strong level of shareholder
support for the senior remuneration
framework. As this was a non-policy
renewal year, there was no vote regarding
the Remuneration Policy.

The table below shows full details of
the voting outcomes for the 2018/19
Directors' Remuneration Report.

FIGURE 32: VOTING OUTCOMES FOR THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND 2018/19 REMUNERATION REPORT

Votes for % Votes for Votes against % Votes against Votes withheld
Remuneration Policy (at the 2017 ACM) 1,020,561,621 99.08% 9,498,526 0.92% 2,368,960
2018/19 Remuneration Report (at the 2019 ACM) 1,165,884,756 98.18% 21,592,545 1.82% 146,548,542

APPROVED BY THE BOARD

Andrew Fisher, Chairman of the

Remuneration Committee

London, 26 May 2020

This Remuneration Policy and these remuneration reports have been prepared in accordance with the relevant provision of the Companies Act 2006 and on the basis prescribed

inthe Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”). Where required, data has been audited by
Deloitteand thisisindicated appropriately.
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GOVERNANCE

OTHER DISCLOSURES

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Marks and Spencer Group plc (the
“Company”)is the holding company of
the Marks & Spencer Croup of companies
(the “Croup”).

The Directors’ Report for the year ended
28 March 2020 comprises pages 44 to 97
and pages 198 to 199 of this report,
together with the sections of the Annual
Reportincorporated by reference. As
permitted by legislation, some of the
matters required to be included in the
Directors Report have instead been
included in the Strategic Report on pages
02 to 43, as the Board considers them

to be of strategic importance. Specifically,
these are:

- Future business developments
(throughout the Strategic Report).

- Risk management on page 33.

- Details of branches operated by the
Company on pages 09to 15.

- Total global M&S greenhouse gas
emissions 2019/20 on page 24.

- Information on how the directors
have had regard for the Company’s
stakeholders, and the effect of that
regard, on pages 20 to 21.

The Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report together form the Management
Report for the purposes of the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules
(DTR)4.1.8R.

Information relating to financial
instruments can be found on pages 152
to 162 andisincorporated by reference.

For information on our approach to
social, environmental and ethical matters,
please refer to our Plan A website
marksandspencer.com/plana.

Other information to be disclosed in the
Directors’ Report is given in this section.

The Directors’ Report fulfils the
requirements of the corporate
governance statement for the
purposes of DTR 7.2.3R. Further
information is available online at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

Both the Strategic Report and the
Directors’ Report have been drawn up

and presented in accordance with andin
reliance upon applicable English company
law, and the liabilities of the directors in
connection with those reports shall be
subject to the limitations and restrictions

provided by such law.
INFORMATION TO BE DISCLOSED
UNDERLR9.8.4R
Page
Listing Rule Detail reference
9.8.4R(1)(2) Notapplicable N/A
(5-14) (A (B)
9.84R(4) Long-term 67-71,
incentive schemes 74-78
and
80-85

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The membership of the Board and
biographical details of the directors

are provided on pages 46 and 47. Changes
to the directors during the year and up to
the date of this report are set out below.
Details of directors’ beneficial and
non-beneficial interests in the shares of
the Company are shown on pages 86, 87
and 90. Options granted to directors
under the Save As You Earn (SAYE) and
Executive Share Option Schemes are
shown on page 87. Further information
regarding employee share option
schemesis provided in note 13 to

the financial statements on pages

141t0 143.

Effective date of
departure/

Name Role appointment
Departures
Humphrey Executive 31 December
Singer Director 2019
Alison Non-Executive 3 July 2020
Brittain” Director
Katie Non-Executive 27 April
Bickerstaffe Director 2020
Appointments
Eoin Executive 8 June 2020
Tonge’ Director
Katie Executive 27 April
Bickerstaffe Director 2020
Sapna Non-Executive 1June 2020
Sood’ Director
Tamara Non-Executive 1June 2020
Ingram’ Director

* Announced prior to publication of this report.

The appointment and replacement of
directorsis governed by the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”),
the UK Corporate Governance Code

(the “Code”), the Companies Act 2006 and
related legislation. The Articles may be
amended by a special resolution of the
shareholders. Subject to the Articles,

the Companies Act 2006 and any
directions given by special resolution,
the business of the Company will be
managed by the Board who may exercise
all the powers of the Company.

The Company may, by ordinary resolution,
declare dividends not exceeding the
amount recommended by the Board.
Subject to the Companies Act 2006, the
Board may pay interim dividends and also
any fixed rate dividend, whenever the
financial position of the Company, in the
opinion of the Board, justifies its payment.

The directors may from time to time
appoint one or more directors. The Board
may appoint any person to be a director
(solong as the total number of directors
does not exceed the limit prescribed in
the Articles). Under the Articles, any such
director shall hold office only until the
next Annual Ceneral Meeting ("AGM”)
where they will stand for annual election.
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DIRECTORS’ CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Company has procedures in place for
managing conflicts of interest. Should a
director become aware that they, or any of
their connected parties, have an interest
in an existing or proposed transaction
with Marks & Spencer, they should notify
the Board in writing or at the next Board
meeting. Internal controls are in place to
ensure that any related party transactions
involving directors, or their connected
parties, are conducted onanarm’s length
basis. Directors have a continuing duty

to update any changes to these conflicts.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The Company maintains directors’and
officers’ liability insurance which provides
appropriate cover for legal action brought
againstits directors. The Company has
also granted indemnities to each of its
directors and the Company Secretary

to the extent permitted by law. Qualifying
third-party indemnity provisions (as
defined by Section 234 of the Companies
Act 2006) were in force during the year
ended 28 March 2020 and remain in force
in relation to certain losses and liabilities
which the directors (or Company
Secretary) may incur to third partiesin the
course of acting as directors or Company
Secretary or employees of the Company
or of any associated company. Qualifying
pension scheme indemnity provisions (as
defined by Section 235 of the Companies
Act 2006) were in force during the course
of the financial year ended 28 March 2020
for the benefit of the Trustees of the Marks
&Spencer UK Pension Scheme, bothin
the UK and the Republic of Ireland.

PROFIT AND DIVIDENDS

The profit for the financial year, after
taxation,amounts to £27.4m (last year
£45.3m). The directors have declared
dividends as follows:

Ordinary shares £m

Paid interim dividend of 3.9p
per share

(last year 6.5p per share)

No proposed final dividend
(last year 6.8p per share) -
Total dividend of 3.9p
per share for 2019/20
(last year 13.3p per share)

£76m

£76m

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’sissued ordinary share
capital as at 28 March 2020 comprised a
single class of ordinary share. Each share
carries the right to one vote at general
meetings of the Company.
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During the period, 325,009,968 ordinary
sharesin the Company were issued and
allotted on completion of the rights
issue, while 49,610 ordinary sharesin the
Company were issued under the terms
of the United Kingdom Employees’ Save
As You Earn Share Option Scheme at
prices between 247p and 261p.

Details of movements in the Company’s
issued share capital can be foundin
note 24 to the financial statements

on page 160.

RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER
OF SECURITIES

There are no specific restrictions on the
transfer of securities in the Company,
which is governed by its Articles of
Association and prevailing legislation.
The Company is not aware of any
agreements between holders of securities
that may resultin restrictions on the
transfer of securities or that may result
inrestrictions on voting rights.

VARIATION OF RIGHTS

Subject to applicable statutes, rights
attached to any class of share may be
varied with the written consent of the
holders of at least three-quartersin
nominal value of the issued shares of
that class, or by a special resolution
passed at a separate general meeting
of the shareholders.

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
ATTACHING TO SHARES

Subject to the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006, any resolution
passed by the Company under the
Companies Act 2006 and other
shareholders’rights, shares may be issued
with such rights and restrictions as the
Company may by ordinary resolution
decide, or (if there is no such resolution

or so far as it does not make specific
provision) as the Board may decide.

POWERS FOR THE COMPANY ISSUING
OR BUYING BACKITS OWN SHARES

The Company was authorised by
shareholders at the 2019 AGM to purchase
in the market up to 10% of the Company’s
issued share capital, as permitted under
the Company’s Articles. No shares were
bought back under this authority during
the year ended 28 March 2020 and up to
the date of this report.

This standard authority is renewable
annually; the directors will seek to renew
this authority at the 2020 ACM.

The directors were granted authority

at the 2019 ACM to allot relevant securities
up to anominal amount of £162,504,984.
This authority will apply until the
conclusion of the 2020 ACM. At this year’s
ACM, shareholders will be asked to grant
an authority to allot relevant securities (i)
up to a nominal amount of £162,504,984

INTERESTS IN VOTING RIGHTS

Information provided to the Company
pursuant to the Financial Conduct
Authority’s (FCA) Disclosure Cuidance
and Transparency Rules (DTRs) is
published on a Regulatory Information
Service and on the Company’s website.
As at 28 March 2020, the following
information has been received, in
accordance with DTR 5, from holders
of notifiable interests in the Company’s
issued share capital.

Notifiable interests

Voting rights

The information provided below was
correct at the date of notification;
however, the date received may not
have been within the current financial
year. It should be noted that these
holdings are likely to have changed
since the Company was notified.
However, notification of any changeis
not required until the next notifiable
threshold is crossed.

% of capital
disclosed Nature of holding as per disclosure

Schroders plc 90,153,730 5.549" Indirect interest (5.547%),
CFD (0.001%)

Majedie Asset 81,070,667 499" Directinterest

Management Limited

Blackrock, Inc. 132,880,504 6.81 Indirectinterest (5.14%),
securities lending (1.64%),
CFD (0.02%)

Ameriprise Financial, Inc. 82,524,463 5.079" Indirect interest (5.054%),

and its group direct interest (0.025%)

The Bank of Nova Scotia 51,235,305 3.15" Direct interest (0.15%),

swap (2.99%)

* Disclosures made prior to the 2019 rights issue.

In the period from 28 March 2020 to the date of this report, we received four
further notifications in accordance with DTR5 from Blackrock Inc, the most recent
being 13 May 2020, disclosing a holding of 128,573,249 ordinary shares (6.59%,
broken down as follows: Indirect, 5.05%; Securities lending, 1.40% and CFD, 0.13%).



and (ii) comprising equity securities up
toanominal amount of £325,009,968
(after deducting from such limit any
relevant securities allotted under (i)),

in connection with an offer of a rights issue
(the Section 551 amount), such Section 551
amount to apply until the conclusion of
the ACM to be held in 2021 or, if earlier,

on 10ctober 2021.

A special resolution will also be proposed
torenew the directors’ powers to make
non pre-emptive issues for cashin
connection with rights issues and
otherwise up to a nominal amount of
£24,375,748. In addition, this year a
separate special resolution will be
proposed, in line with institutional
shareholder guidelines, to authorise the
directors to make non pre-emptive issues
for cashin connection with acquisitions/
specified capital investments, up to a
nominal amount of £24,375,748.

A special resolution will also be proposed
torenew the directors’authority to
repurchase the Company’s ordinary
sharesin the market. The authority will
be limited to a maximum of 195 million
ordinary shares and sets the minimum
and maximum prices which will be paid.

DEADLINES FOR EXERCISING
VOTING RIGHTS

Votes are exercisable at a general meeting
of the Company in respect of which the
business being voted uponis being

heard. Votes may be exercised in person,
by proxy or, in relation to corporate
members, by corporate representatives.
The Articles provide a deadline for
submission of proxy forms of not less than
48 hours before the time appointed for
the holding of the meeting or adjourned
meeting. However, when calculating the
48-hour period, the directors can, and
have, decided not to take account of any
part of a day that is not a working day.

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS -
CHANGE OF CONTROL

There are a number of agreements to
which the Company is party that take
effect, alter or terminate upon a change
of control of the Company following a
takeover bid. Details of the significant
agreements of this kind are as follows:

- The $300m US Notes issued by the
Company to various institutions on 6
December 2007 under Section 144a of
the US Securities Act contain an option
such that, upon a change of control
event, combined with a credit ratings
downgrade to below sub-investment
level, any holder of such a US Note may
require the Company to prepay the
principal amount of that US Note.

- Theamended and restated £1.1bn
Credit Agreement dated 16 March 2016
(originally dated 29 September 2011)
between the Company and various

banks contains a provision such that,
upon a change of control event, unless
new terms are agreed within 60 days,
the facility under this agreement will
be cancelled with all outstanding
amounts becoming immediately
payable with interest.

- The amended and restated Relationship
Agreement dated 6 October 2014
(originally dated 9 November 2004 as
amended on 1 March 2005), between
HSBC and the Company and relating to
M&S Bank, contains certain provisions
which address a change of control of
the Company. Upon a change of control,
the existing rights and obligations
of the parties in respect of M&S Bank
continue and HSBC gains certain limited
additional rights in respect of existing
customers of the new controller of
the Company. Where a third-party
arrangement is in place for the supply
of financial services products to existing
customers of the new controller, the
Company is required to procure the
termination of such arrangement as
soon as practicable (while not being
required to do anything that would
breach such a third-party arrangement).

- Where a third-party arrangement
is so terminated, or does not exist,
HSBC has the exclusive right to
negotiate proposed terms for the
offer and sale, of financial services
products to the existing customers
of the new controller by HSBC on an
exclusive basis.

- Where the Company undertakes a
re-branding exercise with the new
controller following a change of control
(Which includes using any M&S brand in
respect of the new controller’s business
or vice versa), HSBC may, depending on
the nature of the re-branding exercise,
have the right (exercisable at HSBC’s
election) to terminate the Relationship
Agreement. The Company does not
have agreements with any director
oremployee that would provide
compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a takeover
except that provisions of the Company’s
share schemes and plans may cause
options and awards granted to
employees under such schemes
and plans to vest on a takeover.

COLLEAGUE INVOLVEMENT

We remain committed to colleague
involvement throughout the business.
Colleagues are kept well informed

of the performance and strategy of
the Group. Examples of colleague
involvement and engagement, and
information on our approach to our
workforce, are highlighted throughout
this Annual Report and specifically on
pages 20 and 21.

Share schemes are a long-established and
successful part of colleagues’ total reward
packages, encouraging and supporting
employee share ownership. The Company
operates both an all-employee Save As
You Earn Scheme and Share Incentive
Plan. Approximately 30,538 colleagues
currently participate in ShareSave, the
Company’s Save As You Earn Scheme.

Full details of all schemes are given on
pages 141to 142.

There are websites for both pension
schemes - the defined contribution
scheme (Your M&S UK Pension Saving
Plan) and the defined benefit scheme
(the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme)
—which are fully accessible to employees
and former employees who have retained
benefits in either scheme. Employees are
updated as needed with any pertinent
information on their pension savings.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Group is committed to an active equal
opportunities policy from recruitment
and selection, through training and
development, performance reviews and
promotion to retirement.

GOVERNANCE

The Company’s policy is to promote an
environment free from discrimination,
harassment and victimisation, where
everyone will receive equal treatment
regardless of gender, colour, ethnic or
national origin, health condition, age,
marital or civil partner status, sexual
orientation or religion. All decisions
relating to employment practices will be
objective, free from bias and based solely
upon work criteria and individual merit.

The Company is responsive to the

needs of its employees, customers

and the community at large. M&Sis an
organisation which uses everyone’s talents
and abilities and where diversity is valued.

M&S has a business-wide inclusion
strategy whichis led by the Inclusion
Steering Group. Alongside this, each
member of the Operating Committee
sponsors an element of diversity, helping
our employee-led diversity networks
grow in numbers and strength and to
embed a culture of inclusion across

the organisation. In 2019, the Inclusion
Steering Group agreed two key goals; by
2022, to have 50% female representation
and 15% BAME representation on the M&S
senior management team.

Further information on our diversity
and inclusion initiatives can be found on
page 58.
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EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITIES

The Company is clearinits policy that
people with health conditions should have
fulland fair consideration for all vacancies.
M&S has continued to demonstrate its
commitment to interviewing those people
with disabilities who fulfil the minimum
criteria, and endeavouring to retain
employees in the workforce if they
become disabled during employment.

M&S will actively retrain and adjust
employees environments where possible
to allow them to maximise their potential
and will continue to work with external
organisations to provide workplace
opportunities through our innovative
Marks & Start scheme and by working
closely with Jobcentre Plus. The Marks &
Start scheme was introduced into the
distribution centre at Castle Donington
in 2012/13, working with Remploy to
support people with disabilities and
health conditions into work.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Research and innovation remain key to
our Food offer and the development of
improved product and fabric in Clothing &
Home. Further information is provided in
the Plan A Report, available online.

GROCERIES SUPPLY CODE
OF PRACTICE

The Groceries (Supply Chain Practices)
Market Investigation Order 2009 (the
“Order”) and The Groceries Supply Code
of Practice (the “Code”) impose obligations
on M&S regarding its relationships with its
suppliers of groceries. Under the Order
and Code, M&S is required to submit an
annual compliance report to the Audit
Committee for approval and then to the
Competition and Markets Authority and
Groceries Code Adjudicator (“GCA”).

M&S submitted its report, covering

the period from 31 March 2019 to

28 March 2020, to the Audit Committee
on 14 May 2020.
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OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Inaccordance with the Order,a summary
of that compliance report is set out below.

M&S believes that it has materially
complied with the Code and the Order
during the relevant period. No formal
disputes under the Code have arisen
during the reporting period. There have
been seven instances during the reporting
period in which suppliers have either
alleged a breach or made a reference to
potential non-compliance with the Code.
M&S has worked with the suppliers to
address the issues raised and six of them
have been resolved or closed. One
additional Code reference made by a
supplier before 31 March 2019 was also
resolved during the reporting period.

A detailed summary of the compliance
reportis available on our website.

POLITICAL DONATIONS

The Company did not make any political
donations orincur any political
expenditure during the year ended

28 March 2020. M&S has a policy of

not making donations to political
organisations or independent election
candidates or incurring political
expenditure anywhere in the world

as definedin the Political Parties,
Elections and Referendums Act 2000.

GOING CONCERN

In adopting the going concern basis for
preparing the financial statements, the
directors have considered the business
activities as set out on pages 2 to 26

as well as the Group’s principal risks and
uncertainties as set out on pages 34

to 43, including the downside sensitivities
outlined on page 43.

Based on the Group’s cash flow forecasts
and projections, the Board is satisfied
that the Group will be able to operate
within the level of its facilities for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the
Board considers it appropriate for the
Group to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing its financial statements.

© See note 20 to the financial statements for
more information on our facilities

LONG-TERM VIABILITY STATEMENT

The directors have assessed the prospects
of the Company over a three-year period
to March 2023. This has taken into account
the business model, strategic aims,

risk appetite, and principal risks and
uncertainties, along with the Company’s
current financial position. Based on

this assessment, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company
will be able to continue in operation and
meet its liabilities as they fall due over

the three-year period under review.

© See our approach to assessing long-term
viability on pages 42 and 43

AUDITOR

Resolutions to reappoint Deloitte LLP as
auditor of the Company and to authorise
the Audit Committee to determine its
remuneration will be proposed at the
2020 ACM.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The ACM of Marks and Spencer Croup
plc will be broadcast online from

M&S’ Waterside House support centre
on 3 July 2020 at 1Tam. No physical
attendance s permitted. The Notice
of Meeting is given, together with
explanatory notes and guidance on
how to access the meeting and vote
electronically, on pages 183 to 197.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is of the view that the Annual
Report should be truly representative of
the year and provide shareholders with
the information necessary to assess the
GCroup’s position, performance, business
model and strategy.

The Board requested that the Audit
Committee review the Annual Report and
provide its opinion on whether the report
is fair, balanced and understandable. The
Audit Committee’s opinion is on page 61.



The directors are also responsible

for preparing the Annual Report, the
Remuneration Report and Policy and the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations. Company
law requires the directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial
year. Under that law, the directors have
prepared the Group and Company
financial statementsin accordance

with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.
Under company law, the directors must
not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and the Company and

of the profit or loss of the Group and the
Company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the directors
are required to:

- Select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently.

- Make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable
and prudent.

- State whether applicable IFRS
(as adopted by the EU) have been
followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained
in the financial statements.

- Prepare the financial statements
onagoing concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose,

at any time and with reasonable accuracy,
the financial position of the Company
and the Croup and to enable them to
ensure that the financial statements and
the Remuneration Report comply with
the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards
the Group financial statements, Article 4
of the IAS Regulation. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Group and the Company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud
and otherirregularities.

The directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the
Company’s website. Legislationin

the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

Each of the current directors, whose
names and functions are listed on pages
46 and 47, confirms that, to the best

of their knowledge:

- The Croup financial statements,
prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards,
give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit
or loss of the Company and the
undertakingsincluded in the
consolidation taken as awhole.

- The Management Reportincludes a
fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the
position of the Company and the
undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that they face.

- The Annual Report, taken as a whole,
is fair, balanced and understandable,
and provides the necessary information
for shareholders to assess the Group’s
position, performance, business model
and strategy.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
TO AUDITOR

Each of the persons who are directors at
the time when this Directors' Report is
approved confirms that, so far as he/she
isaware, thereis no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s
auditor is unaware and that he/she has
taken all the steps that he/she ought

to have taken as a director to make
himself/ herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditor is aware of

that information.

The Directors’ Report was approved by a
duly authorised committee of the Board
of Directors on 26 May 2020 and signed
onits behalf by

Nick Afolmd]

Nick Folland, General Counsel
and Company Secretary

London, 26 May 2020

GOVERNANCE
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR'S REPORT

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1.OPINION

In our opinion:

- the financial statements of Marks and
Spencer Group plc (the ‘Company’)
and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) give
atrue and fair view of the state of the
Group’s and of the Company’s affairs
as at 28 March 2020 and of the Group’s
profit for the 52 weeks then ended;

- the Group financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the
European Union and IFRSs as issued
by the International Accounting
Standards Board (‘1ASB’);

- the Company financial statements
have been properly preparedin
accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union and as applied
in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006; and

- the financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements
which comprise:

- the Consolidated Income Statement;

- the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income;

- the Consolidated and Company
Statement of Financial Position;

- the Consolidated and Company
Statements of Changes in Equity;

- the Consolidated and Company
Statement of Cash Flows; and

- therelated notes1to 31and Cl1to C7.

The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union and, as regards the
Company financial statements, as applied
in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006.
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2.BASISFOROPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK,
including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied

to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the
Group and Company for the period are disclosed in note 4 to the Group financial
statements. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical
Standard were not provided to the Group or the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

3.SUMMARY OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

KEY AUDIT MATTERS MATERIALITY

The key audit matters that we identified
inthe current period were:

The materiality that we used for the
Group financial statements was £18.0
million (2019: £20.0 million) which was
determined on the basis of considering
a number of different metrics used by
investors and other readers of the
financial statements. These included:

- disclosure of adjusting items;

- accounting for the UK store
rationalisation programme;

- impairment of UK store assets;

. . . - adjusted profit before tax;
- impairment of per una goodwill
and brand; - earnings before interest, tax,

. . depreciation and amortisation; and
- inventory provisions for

UK Clothing & Home;

- recognition of leases under
IFRS 16 Leases;

- accounting for the Ocado Retail
Limited transaction; and

— revenue.

SCOPING

We have performed a full-scope audit

on the UK component of the business,

representing 95% (2019: 99%) of the

GCroup’s revenue, 93% (2019: 95%)

of adjusted profit before tax, 92%

(2019: 92%) of profit before tax, 82%
(2019: 80%) of total assets and 90%

0 (2019: 99%) of total liabilities. We perform

analytical review procedures on the

residual balances.

- the going concern basis of accounting.

Within this report, key audit matters are
identified as follows:

Newly identified
Increased level of risk e
Similar level of risk Q

Decreased level of risk



3.SUMMARY OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH CONTINUED

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN
OUR APPROACH

We have changed the basis on which

we have determined materiality in the
current period to reflect the volatility in
the results of the Group arising from the
impact of Covid-19. For further details
refer to section 6 of this report.

In 2020, we have reduced the scope of
procedures performed in relation to the

4.CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN, PRINCIPAL RISKS AND VIABILITY STATEMENT

4.1. GOING CONCERN

We have reviewed the directors’ statement
in note 1to the financial statements about
whether they considered it appropriate

to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing them and their
identification of any material uncertainties
to the Group’s and Company’s ability to
continue to do so over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval
of the financial statements.

We considered as part of our risk
assessment the nature of the Group,

its business model and related risks
including where relevant the impact of
both the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit,
the requirements of the applicable
financial reporting framework and the
system of internal control. We evaluated
the directors’ assessment of the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern,
including challenging the underlying data
and key assumptions used to make the
assessment, and evaluated the directors’
plans for future actions in relation to their
going concern assessment.

We are required to state whether we have
anything material to add or draw attention
toinrelation to that statement required
by Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) and report if the
statement is materially inconsistent with
our knowledge obtained in the audit.

India and Ireland components. We have
also identified Ocado Retail Limited
(‘ORL) as a new component. Refer to
section 7 for further details of our
approach to scoping the audit.

In the current period we have identified
three new key audit matters related to:

- the going concern basis of accounting;

- theimpairment of per una goodwill
and brand; and

Refer to section 5.8 for details of our work
regarding going concern.

Going concern is the basis of preparation
of the financial statements that assumes
an entity will remain in operation

for a period of at least 12 months

from the date of approval of the
financial statements.

We confirm that we have nothing material
toreport, add or draw attentiontoin
respect of these matters.

4.2. PRINCIPAL RISKS AND VIABILITY
STATEMENT

Based solely on reading the directors’
statements and considering whether they
were consistent with the knowledge

we obtained in the course of the audit,
including the knowledge obtained in the
evaluation of the directors’ assessment

of the Group’s and the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, we are
required to state whether we have
anything material to add or draw attention
toinrelation to:

- thedisclosures on pages 34-42 that
describe the principal risks, procedures
toidentify emerging risks, and an
explanation of how these are being
managed or mitigated,;

- the ORL transaction.

We have also determined that the
valuation of the UK defined benefit
pension obligation is no longer a key
audit matterin the current year.

These changes and the reasons for
identification of these areas as key
audit matters are discussed furtherin
section b.

- thedirectors’ confirmation on page 33
that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal and
emerging risks facing the Group,
including those that would threaten
its business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity; or

- thedirectors’ explanation on page
42-43 as to how they have assessed
the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done so and why they
consider that period to be appropriate,
and their statement as to whether they
have a reasonable expectation that
the Croup will be able to continue
in operation and meet its liabilities
as they fall due over the period of
their assessment, including any
related disclosures drawing attention
to any necessary qualifications
or assumptions.

GOVERNANCE

We are also required to report whether
the directors’ statement relating to the
prospects of the Group required by Listing
Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent
with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

Viability means the ability of the Group
to continue over the time horizon
considered appropriate by the directors.

We confirm that we have nothing material
toreport,add or draw attentiontoin
respect of these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

Key audit matters are those matters that,
in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period
and include the most significant assessed
risks of material misstatement (whether
or not due to fraud) that we identified.
These mattersincluded those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in
the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide

a separate opinion on these matters.

Changes in the current period relative
to previous periods are as follows:

5.1 DISCLOSURE OF ADJUSTING ITEMS

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

The Group has reported adjusted

profit before tax of £403.1 million

(2019: £511.7 million), which is derived
from statutory profit before tax of £67.2

million (2019: £84.2 million) adjusted for a
number of items (totalling £335.9 million)

which the Group considers meet their
definition of an ‘adjusting item’.

Judgement is exercised by management

in determining the classification of such
items and accordingly we consider there
to be arisk of fraud in the reporting of
adjusting items.

In particular, we believe thereis an
increase in the level of risk associated
with classification and disclosure of
adjusting items in the current period,
due to the effect of Covid-19 on
adjusting item categories and balances.
Additionally, recently updated guidance
has beenissued by the FRC and
European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA) in relation to the
impact of Covid-19 on alternative
performance measures which
encourages companies not to include
such costs within adjusting items,
rather to include separate disclosure.
Separate disclosure has been made

in the financial review on page 28.

Explanations of each adjusting item,
which include a number that are related
to material restructuring programmes
carried out over a number of years,

and in the current year items that relate
to Covid-19, are set out in note 5 to the

financial statements and are summarised

in the graphic opposite.
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5.KEY AUDIT MATTERS

subsequent impact of Covid-19 on
the cash flow forecast usedin the
impairment assessment.

- Dueto the on-going Covid-19 pandemic
which led to the mandatory closure of
non-essential retail outlets in the
Group’s key market, the UK, and the
subsequent uncertainty involvedin
scenario planning to underpin the
management’s going concern
modelling and the associated audit
work performed to assess the
assumptions we have identified the
going concern assumption applied
to the financial statements as a key - We have not identified the defined
audit matter. benefit pension obligation as a key

audit matter in the current period.

This is due to a history of assessing the

judgements and assumptions made

by management at or near the middle

of our independently calculated

‘reasonable range’and the reductionin

risk as a result of recent annuity buy-ins.

- Inthe current period we have
identified the accounting for the
ORL transaction as a key audit matter.
The transaction occurred during
the current period and is complex,
involving a number of judgements
to be made by management.

- We have identified the impairment of
the per una goodwill and brand as a key
audit matter for the first time in the
current period. This is owing to both
the continued challenging trading
conditions following the relaunch of
the brand in October 2019 and the
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In determining adjusted profit before tax, we identified the following risks:

— theidentification and classification of items as ‘adjusting’ may be inappropriate,
distorting the reported results;

— the omission of items which are considered material, one-off or significant in nature,
distorting the reported results; and

— the clarity and detail of disclosures in respect of adjusting items may be insufficient,
preventing investors from obtaining a clear understanding of the Group’s results
and performance.

The Group’s policy regarding adjusting items is set out in note 1. This is a significant
matter considered by the Audit Committee on page 62.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following
audit procedures:

identifying items as adjusting

and completed anindependent
assessment as to the selection and
presentation of adjusting items based
on their nature, particularly with regard
to the Covid-19 related adjusting item;

- obtained an understanding of key
controls relating to the identification
and disclosure of adjusting items;

- performed enquiries of management
to understand the rationale applied in



KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

5.1 DISCLOSURE OF ADJUSTING ITEMS CONTINUED

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER CONTINUED

- assessed the identification and
consistency of items reported as
adjusting in light of the latest guidance
published by the ESMA and the
FRC, in particularinrelation to the
transparency of disclosures made
regarding Covid-19;

- performed tests over a representative
sample of adjusting items through
agreement to supporting evidence;

- used our cumulative audit knowledge
and applied data analytics to identify
and test other transactions outside
of the normal course of business, or
which displayed characteristics of
being material, significant or one-off
in nature;

- considered the impact of adjusting
items on the directors’ remuneration
targets to determine whether any
increased fraud risk factor existed
based on actual results for the
year;and

5.2 ACCOUNTING FOR THE UK STORE RATIONALISATION PROGRAMME

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

In February 2018 the Board approved a
list of stores marked for closure as part of
its UK store rationalisation programme.
Including the impact of IFRS 16 Leases
on the way rental payments and other
property costs are accounted for the
total charge recognised in connection
with this closure programme in the
previous two periods was £537.6 million.
A further net charge of £29.3 million has
been recognised in the current period
as aresult of:

- management revisiting its assessment
of stores approved for closure and the
adequacy of estimates made in light
of known developments in the exit
strategy, including current trading
performance, negotiations with
landlords and changes in the retail
property market, including as a result
of Covid-19;

- further accelerated depreciation of
stores previously identified for closure
as they approach their planned closure
dates; and

- accelerated depreciation and
impairment of buildings and fixtures
and fittings in respect of additional
stores added to the programme.

Further informationis set outin notes 1
and 5 to the financial statements and
page 16 of the strategic report.

Our key audit matter was focused on
the specific assumptions applied in the
discounted cash flow analysis prepared
by management including the discount
rate, expected sublet income, sublet
lease incentives, void periods, freehold
sales proceeds and store closure costs.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

judgement applied by management.

- assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the items included

in adjusting items (including the directly
attributable (gains)/expenses resulting
from the Covid-19 pandemic of £163.6
million) are in line with the Group’s policy
and that they are appropriately disclosed.

We consider this to represent a key
audit matter as a result of the level of

Thereis anincreased level of judgement
inthe current period as a result of the
Covid-19 pandemic, which may impact
the ability of the Group to negotiate
closure or exit from certain stores in the
forecast timeframes or on forecast terms.

GOVERNANCE

The Audit Committee considers this to be
a significant matter. Their consideration is
on page 62.

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following audit procedures:

- obtained an understanding of key
controls relating to the review and
approval of the Group’s UK store
exit model;

- performed enquiries of management
and inspected the latest strategic
plans, Board and relevant sub-
committee minutes of meetings;

- understood and challenged the basis
of management’s judgement where
stores previously marked for closure
are no longer expected to close and
additional stores have been identified
for closure;

- with the involvement of our internal
real estate specialists, we evaluated
the appropriateness of management’s
judgements for a representative
sample of properties and
benchmarked these with reference
to external data, particularly as a result
of the market uncertainty caused by
the Covid-19 pandemic;

- assessed the mechanical accuracy of
discounted cash flow models and other
key provision calculations;

- assessed theintegrity of key inputs to
the discounted cash flow models
including lease data, agent valuations,
surveyor plans and rental payments
with reference to supporting evidence;

- recalculated the closing provision
for arepresentative sample of stores;

- evaluated the accuracy and
completeness of provisions recorded
in light of the status of the Croup’s UK
store rationalisation plan; and

- assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial statements in accordance
with IFRS.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the Croup’s estimate
of the impairments and store exit
charges and the associated disclosures
are appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

5.3 IMPAIRMENT OF UK STORE ASSETS

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

As at 28 March 2020 the Croup held
£3,925.5 million (2019: £2,830.0 million)
of UK store assets in respect of stores
not considered for closure within the
UK store rationalisation programme.
Inaccordance with IAS 36 Impairment
of Assets, the Group has undertaken
an annual assessment of indicators of
impairment. An impairment charge

of £69.3 million (2019: £103.0 million)
has been recognised within adjusting
items as set out in notes 5and 15 to the
financial statements.

As described in note 15 to the financial
statements, the Group has estimated
the recoverable amount of store assets
based on their value in use, derived from
a discounted cash flow model prepared
by management. The model relies on

KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

certain assumptions and estimates

of future trading performance,
incorporating committed strategic
changes to the UK Clothing & Home and
Food businesses and the performance of
new stores operating within their shelter
period (which takes in to account the time
new stores take to establish themselves
in the market), all of which involve a

high degree of estimation uncertainty
(as disclosed in note 1and note 15).

We believe the level of risk related to

the impairment of UK store assets has
increased, both due to the increased
level of uncertainty in forecasting future
cash flows as a result of the Covid-19
pandemic, andin light of current retail
market conditions and the impact of
wider economic uncertainty.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

The key assumptions applied by
management in the impairment
reviews performed are:

- future revenue growth and changes
in gross margin;

- long term growth rates; and
- discount rates.

The Croup considers that each retail
store constitutes its own cash generating
unit (CCU’)and is assessed for
impairment separately, with the
exception of the outlet stores which

are used to clear aged seasonal Clothing
&Home inventory at a discount.

The outlet stores are considered to

be a single group of assets for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The Audit Committee considers this
to be a significant matter. Their
considerationis on page 62.

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following audit procedures:

- obtained an understanding of key
controls relating to the impairment
review process;

- evaluated and challenged
management’s range of impairment
indicators with due consideration
paid to the profitability impact of
committed strategic changes to the UK
Clothing & Home and Food businesses
and the performance of new stores;

— assessed the mechanical accuracy of
the impairment models and the
methodology applied by management
for consistency with the requirements
of IAS 36;

- assessed the appropriateness of
forecast revenue and gross margin
growth rates through comparison
with external economic benchmarking
data and with reference to historical
forecasting accuracy, with a particular
focus on the impact of Covid-19 on
those forecasts;
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- assessed the appropriateness of the
discount rates applied in conjunction
with support from our internal
valuations specialists and compared
the rates applied with our internal
benchmarking data;

- evaluated the appropriateness and
completeness of information included
in the impairment model based on our
cumulative knowledge of the business
driven by our review of trading plans,
strategic initiatives, minutes of
property and investment committee
meetings, and meetings with regional
store managers and senior trading
managers from key product
categories, together with our wider
retail industry knowledge; and

- assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial statements in accordance
with IFRS.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the judgements
applied, impairments recorded and
disclosures within the financial
statements are appropriate.



KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

5.4 IMPAIRMENT OF PER UNA GOODWILL AND BRAND

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

As at 28 March 2020 the Group held £56.1
million (2019: £69.5 million) of goodwill
associated with the per una brand.

The CGroup is required to assess the
goodwill and intangible assets annually
forimpairmentin accordance with IAS 36.

Following difficult trading conditions the
per una brand was relaunched in October
2019. Trading conditions have been
challenging throughout the period and
deteriorated further around the period
end as aresult of the Covid-19 pandemic.
The level of risk associated with per una
has increased as a result of the inherent
challenges in forecasting results due

to Covid-19 as well as the pre-existing
nmacro-economic uncertainty. These
represent a key source of estimation
uncertainty as disclosed in note 1,and
management has provided sensitivities
in note 14.

The test for impairment of intangible
assets compares the carrying value of
related assets to the higher of their fair
value or value-in-use (a ‘recoverable
amount’) using an impairment model.
Developing a recoverable amount
requires significant management
judgement; the key judgements applied
by management in the development

of itsimpairment model are:

- the sales forecasts for the brand;
- longer term growth forecasts; and
- thediscount rate used.

As set out in note 14, the forecast shows
a sales decrease of 46.4% in 2020/21
driven by the impact of Covid-19 before
returning to the pre-Covid-19 budgeted
levelin 2021/22.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following audit procedures:

- obtained an understanding of key
controls relating to the review and
approval of the impairment review;

- tested the integrity of the model and
cash flow forecasts and assessed that
the methodology used is consistent
with I1AS 36;

- assessed the appropriateness of
forecast revenue and gross margin
growth rates through comparison
with external economic benchmarking
data to determineif it provided
corroborative or contradictory
evidenceinrelation to management’s
assumptions, and with reference to
historical forecasting accuracy,
with a particular focus on the impact
of Covid-19 on those forecasts;

- assessed the mechanical accuracy
of the impairment models and the
methodology applied by management
for consistency with the requirements
of IAS 36;

- with the involvement of our internal
valuation specialists, we assessed the
discount rate assumptions;

- evaluated other material assumptions
applied to the cash flow forecasts with
reference to the macro-economic and
industry environment; and

- assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial statementsin accordance
with IFRS.

Following the completion of the
impairment review, management

has recognised an impairment charge
of £13.4 million in relation to the per
una goodwill.

We consider this to represent a key audit
matter reflecting the sensitivity of the
recoverable amount calculation to
changes in these key assumptions.

Refer to note 14 of the financial
statements.

The Audit Committee considers this
to be a significant matter. Their
consideration is on page 62.

GOVERNANCE

Key observations

We are satisfied that the assumptions
used by management in determining
their valuation and the disclosure made
are appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

5.5 INVENTORY PROVISIONS FOR UK CLOTHING & HOME

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

As at 28 March 2020, the Group held

UK Clothing & Home inventories of
£355.6 million (2019: £496.1 million). The
Group has recorded an incremental
write-down of £157.0 million of inventory
reflecting management’s best estimate
of the impact of Covid-19 on the Group
(of which £145.3 million relates to UK
Clothing & Home inventory), which is
included within the Group’s directly
attributable (gains)/expenses resulting
from the Covid-19 pandemic adjusting
item as discussed in section 5.1. As
described in the Accounting Policies

in note 1to the financial statements,
inventories are carried at the lower

of cost and net realisable value.

As aresult, judgementis appliedin
determining the appropriate provisions
required for obsolete inventory and
inventory expected to be sold below
cost based upon a detailed analysis of
old season inventory and forecast net
realisable value based upon plans for
inventory to go into sale. We consider
the assessment of inventory provisions
within UK Clothing & Home to require
the most judgement due to historical
trading performance and the quantum
of gross inventory.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Covid-19 has required management to
exercise considerable judgementina
period of extreme uncertainty with
regard to the level of provisioning that

is made for inventory, as such there is
anincreased level of judgement in the
current period. Due to the inherent
uncertainty around the future saleability
of stock held at period end, management
determined that it was no longer
appropriate to determine the level of
provision required based on historical
experience and as such has changed the
related methodology to consider future
sales. Management has described its
methodology for the calculation of the
inventory provisionin notes 1and 5.

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following audit procedures:

- obtained an understanding of
key controls relating to inventory
management and the review and
approval of the inventory provision;

- assessed the validity, accuracy and
completeness of the information
used by management in computing
the provision;

- assessed the mechanical accuracy
and logic of the models underpinning
the provision;

- understood the changesinthe
provisioning methodology and
challenged the appropriateness
thereof;
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- challenged and validated the key
assumptions applied by management
in estimating the provision, with
particular reference to the impact
of Covid-19 on sales and purchasing
assumptions, by performing enquiries
of buyers and merchandisers,
considering the current purchasing
strategy and ranging plans, assessed
the historical accuracy of forecasting

stock to be subject to a future discount

and by using audit analytics;

- tested the accuracy of the process
used by management to identify
potentially impaired inventory across
arepresentative sample of individual
product lines; and

- assessed the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures within the
financial statementsin accordance
with IFRS.

Key observations

We are satisfied with the judgements
taken by management and that the
resulting inventory provision for

UK Clothing & Home is appropriate.

We believe the disclosures made around
the level of uncertainty appropriately
reflect reasonably possible future
changes to management’s estimates.



KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

5.6 RECOGNITION OF LEASES UNDER IFRS 16 LEASES

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

The Croup has elected to apply IFRS 16
Leases under the fully retrospective
transition option from 31 March 2019.
Management determined there to be an
increase in total assets of £1,740.2 million
and anincrease in total liabilities of
£1,961.2 million for the opening transition
balance sheet at 1 April 2018. The current
periodis the first period in which the
business has implemented IFRS 16.

Further information is set out in note 29
to the financial statements.

Our key audit matter was focused on the
following areas of risk:

- new lease arrangements entered into
in the period that should be accounted
for under IFRS 16 are not identified;

- the lease data which underpins the
IFRS 16 calculation of new lease
arrangements is not accurate; and

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

- thedisclosuresin the financial
statements are insufficient,
precluding investors from obtaining
aclear understanding as to the
transitional impact of the change
in accounting standard.

The Audit Committee considers this
to be a significant matter. Their
considerationis on page 63.

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following audit procedures:

- obtained an understanding of key
controls over the identification of new
leases, the underlying lease data and
the associated disclosures;

- leveraged the work performed in the
prior period over the transition impact,
including our understanding of key
controls over the transition impact
and the calculation of the discount
rate applied,;

- verified the accuracy of the underlying
lease data by agreeing a representative
sample of leases to original contract or
other supporting information, and
checked the integrity and mechanical
accuracy of the IFRS 16 calculations
for each lease sampled through
recalculation of the expected
IFRS 16 adjustment;

- considered completeness by testing
the reconciliation to the Group’s
operating lease commitments as
reportedin the prior year’s financial
statements, and by investigating
key service contracts to assess
whether they contained a lease under
IFRS 16; and

- assessed whether the disclosures
within the financial statements are
in accordance with [FRS 16.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the lease data
underpinning the IFRS 16 disclosures is
complete and accurate and that new
lease arrangements entered in during
the financial year ended 28 March 2020
have been captured appropriately.

The disclosures management have made
inrelation to IFRS 16 are appropriate.

Annual Report &Financial Statements 2020 105

GOVERNANCE



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

5.7 ACCOUNTING FOR THE OCADO RETAIL LIMITED TRANSACTION

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

On 5 August 2019 the Group signed a
share purchase agreement to acquire
50% of the ordinary shares of ORL from
Ocado Croup plc, and contracted with
ORL to supply M&S food products for
sale through its online platform.

The Group has accounted for its 50%
share of ORL as an associate on the basis
that the shareholders’agreement gives
control over ORL to Ocado Croup plc.

The consideration paid comprises an
initial cash payment of £560.9 million
plus contingent consideration of
£202.4 million which becomes payable
after five years if certain performance
conditions are met.

Management has completed a purchase
price allocation (“PPA”) exercise in order
to allocate the consideration between
the assets recognised following the
transaction, including the identification
and valuation of previously unrecognised
intangible assets (£314.2 million) and
goodwill (E449.1 million).

Management considers its conclusion
that ORL is an associate to be a critical
accounting judgement and the valuation
of contingent consideration to be a key
accounting estimate. These are discussed
furtherinnote 1.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

\We have defined the ORL transaction

as a key audit matter owing to the
significant effort required in auditing the
transaction, including the PPA and, in
particular, the judgement relating to the
valuation of contingent consideration.

The Audit Committee considers this to
be a significant matter and discusses its
considerations on page 63. Refer to page
29 for management’s discussion of the
ORL transaction and to note 30 for
financial disclosures.

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following audit procedures:

- obtained an understanding of key

controls relating to the transaction and

subsequent accounting;

- inspected the shareholders agreement

and other relevant contracts to
independently assess the accounting
treatment applied;

- assessed the appropriateness of
management’s judgements and the
basis of conclusion for the valuation
of contingent consideration with
reference to supporting and
contradictory evidence;

- inspected the ORL business plan
and challenged key inputs and

assumptions compared to internal and

external data sources to support the
valuation of contingent consideration
and the PPA valuations;
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- inspected the ORL board minutes
relating to the business plan and
key operational matters;

- evaluated actual trading performance
with reference to the business plan and
considered the impact of variance on
the probability of meeting operational
and financial targets related to the
contingent consideration payment;

- calculated anindependent acceptable
range for the discount rate applied to
the PPA valuation calculations and
used this to recalculate the resulting
fair value of consideration; and

- assessed the presentation and
disclosure of the transaction including
the accounting estimates.

Key observations

We are satisfied with the judgements
made around accounting for the

ORL transaction, including accounting
for the investment as an associate

and the valuation and completeness
of the intangible assets identified

by management. We are satisfied

that the judgements taken in valuing
the contingent consideration

are appropriate.



KEY AUDIT MATTERS CONTINUED

5.8 THE GOING CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

KEY AUDIT MATTER DESCRIPTION

In undertaking their assessment of

going concern for the Group, which is
supported by the cash flows of the
Croup, the Directors reviewed the
forecast future performance and
anticipated cash flows. In doing so they
considered the financing available to the
Croup and associated debt covenants,
including the covenant waiver that the
GCroup has obtained in relation toits
financing facility, and cost saving actions
that the Group may take in responding to
the Covid-19 pandemic including certain
Government support schemes (including
the furlough scheme and business rates
holidays). The Group has applied for the
Bank of England’s Covid Corporate
Financing Facility (CCFF’) with an

issuer limit of £300.0 million which was
confirmed as successful on 23 April 2020,

however the Directors have not relied on
the CCFF as part of their assessment of
going concern. The Directors have also
determined appropriate sensitivities

to these forecasts, including a reverse-
stress test of the Group’s liquidity, and
considered the results in forming

their conclusion.

Due to the on-going Covid-19 pandemic,
which has led to the mandatory closure
of non-key retail outlets in the Group’s
key market, the UK, there is significantly
more judgement applied in developing
cash flow forecasts including
assumptions relating to the period

of closure for retailers, the impact on
the Group’s sales and the anticipated
cost savings throughout the going
concern period.

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

In responding to the identified key audit matter we completed the following audit procedures:

- obtained an understanding of key
controls over management’s going
concern models, including the review
of the inputs and assumptions used in
those models;

- obtained management’s board
approved three year cash flow
forecasts and covenant compliance
forecasts, including the impact of
Covid-19 and the reverse stress test;

- involved our internal specialists in our
assessment of the appropriateness of
forecast assumptions by:

reading analyst reports, industry
data and other externalinformation
and comparing these with
management’s estimates to
determine if they provided
corroborative or contradictory
evidence in relation to
management’s assumptions;

- comparing forecast sales with recent
historical financial information to
consider accuracy of forecasting;

- enquiring of management regarding
the mitigating actions to reduce
costs and manage cash flows and
challenging the quantum of those
actions with reference to supporting
evidence and assessing whether the
mitigating actions were within the
Company’s control;

- testing the underlying data
generated to prepare the forecast
scenarios and determined whether
there was adequate support for
the assumptions underlying
the forecast;

- reviewing correspondence
confirming UK Government support
such asindirect tax holidays and
staff furlough;

- reviewing correspondence relating
to the availability of the Group’s
financing arrangements, including
the covenant waivers obtained
by the Group in relation to its
financing facility and the availability
of CCFF funding;

Taking into account the sensitivities,

the Directors have concluded that the
Croup has sufficient resources available
to meet its liabilities as they fall due and
have concluded that there are no
material uncertainties around the
going concern assumptions.

We have identified a key audit matter
related to going concern as a result of the
judgement required to conclude there is
not a material uncertainty related to
going concern.

Further details of the Directors’
assessment, including the sensitivities
applied, are included within the Strategic
Report on pages 42-43 and 96 and in
note 1to the financial statements.

GOVERNANCE

understanding and challenging the
level of further mitigations available
to the Group beyond those included
within the forecast; and

- considering the results of the reverse
stress tests performed; and

- evaluating the Group’s disclosures on
going concern against the
requirements of IAS 1.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the Directors’
conclusion that there are no material
uncertainties over the Group and Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern is appropriate and the
associated disclosures are in accordance
with the accounting standards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

6.1. MATERIALITY

We define materiality as the magnitude of
misstatementin the financial statements
that makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable
person would be changed or influenced.
We use materiality both in planning the
scope of our audit work and in evaluating
the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement,
we determined materiality for the financial
statements as a whole as follows:
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6.OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY

Group financial statements

Company financial
statements

Materiality  £18.0 million (2019: £20.0 million)
Basis for We considered the following metrics:
deterr:nu:nng - Adjusted profit before tax
materiality

- Earnings before interest, tax,

depreciation and amortisation

- Revenue

Using professional judgement we determined

materiality to be £18.0m.
Rationale In determining our benchmark for materiality
for the we considered a number of different metrics
benchmark used by investors and otherreaders of the
applied financial statements.

This approach is a change from the prior year
(Which was based on adjusted profit before tax,
but excluding the impact of certain adjusting
items) to reflect the volatility in the results of
the Group arising from the impact of Covid-19.

£16.2 million
(2019: £18.0 million)

3% of net assets

We have used 3% of
net assets in both

the current and prior
period, capped at 90%
of Group materiality,
as the basis for
materiality.

Net assets is used as
the benchmark as the
Company operates
primarily as a holding
company for the
GCroup and we
therefore consider
this as they key metric
for the Company.

Group materiality represents:
Metric

We capped materiality
at 90% of Group
% materiality to reduce

Adjusted profit before tax

Earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation

Revenue

45 the risk of a material
errorarisingas a
result of the
consolidation of the
Company’sresultin

2.0
0.18

the Group financial
statements.

6.2. PERFORMANCE MATERIALITY

We set performance materiality ata

level lower than materiality to reduce
the probability that, in aggregate,
uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceed the materiality
for the financial statements as a whole.
GCroup performance materiality was set
at 50% of Group materiality for the 2020
audit (2019: 60%). We have reduced the
percentage used, primarily in response
to the impact that Covid-19 has had on
the Group’s internal control environment
and financial close process. In determining
performance materiality, we considered
the following factors:

- the pervasive impact of Covid-19 on the
financial statements, the judgements
taken by management and the
associated disclosures;

- our cumulative knowledge of the CGroup
and its environment, including industry
wide pressure on retailers;

- thelevel of change to the businessin
the period, including the ORL
investment;

- the changes to management personnel;

- thelevel of centralisation in the Croup’s
financial reporting controls and
processes; and

- the level of misstatements identified in
prior periods.

6.3. ERROR REPORTING THRESHOLD

We agreed with the Audit Committee that
we would report to the Committee all
audit differences in excess of £0.9 million
(2019: £1.0 million), as well as differences
below that threshold that, in our view,
warranted reporting on qualitative
grounds. We also report to the Audit
Committee on disclosure matters that
we identified when assessing the overall
presentation of the financial statements.



7.AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

7.1.IDENTIFICATION AND SCOPING
OF COMPONENTS

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an
understanding of the Group and its
environment, including group-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of
material misstatement at the Group level.

Components were selected to provide an
appropriate basis for undertaking audit
work to address the risks of material
misstatement identified. Based on our
assessment we have focused our audit
on the UK business which was subject to
full audit procedures. We have performed
our full audit scope of the UK component
using a materiality of £16.2 million (or 90%
of Group materiality) (2019: £18.0 million)
as this makes up substantially all of the
Croup’s operations (95% of the Croup’s
revenue, 2019: 91%).

India and Ireland have been removed
from full-scope audit procedures in the
current period, owing to their financial
insignificance in the context of the Group
as awhole. Except for ORL, all other
wholly owned and associate businesses,
including the Irish and Indian components,
were subject to analytical review
procedures performed by the Group
audit team. Whilst we audit the revenues
received by the Group from franchise
operations, which account for 4%

(2019: 4%) of the Group’s revenue,

we do not audit the underlying franchise
operations as part of our group audit.

As aresult of the Croup’s acquisition
of 50% of Ocado Retail Limited we
have identified ORL as a new component

The directors are responsible for the
other information. The other information
comprises the information included
inthe annual report other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the
financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies
or apparent material misstatements,

we are required to determine whether
thereis a material misstatementin the

in this period, subject to specified 7.2. WORKING WITH OTHER AUDITORS

audit procedures. ORL is the only component where work

We have also tested the consolidation is conducted by a component auditor.
process and carried out analytical As arecent acquisition of the Group,
procedures in forming our conclusion we have performed a review of the
that there were no significant risks of component auditor’s files for the statutory
material misstatement remainingin audit of the entity for the period from
the consolidated financial information acquisition up to 1 December 2019.
arising from the components not subject We have also issued detailed instructions
toafull audit. to our component audit team relating

5% 7% to procedures for the period subsequent

\ | x| to 1 December 2019, engaged regularly

with them throughout the audit process,
determined the nature, timing and extent
of specified audit procedures to be
performed and reviewed their component
reporting. A dedicated member of the

95% . ?% Group audit team is assigned to facilitate
Revenue Adjusted profit an effective and consistent approach to
before tax component oversight.

92% 82%

Profit Total assets
before tax

GOVERNANCE

10%
@ Full audit scope

® Review at group level

90%
Total liabilities

8.0THERINFORMATION

financial statements or a material - Audit Committee reporting - the
misstatement of the other information. section describing the work of the Audit
If, based on the work we have performed, Committee does not appropriately

we conclude that there is a material address matters communicated by
misstatement of this other information, us to the Audit Committee; or

we are required to report that fact. - Directors’ statement of compliance

In this context, matters that we are with the UK Corporate Governance
specifically required to report to you as Code - the parts of the directors’
uncorrected material misstatements of statement required under the Listing
the other information include where we Rules relating to the Company’s
conclude that: compliance with the UK Corporate

Governance Code containing provisions
specified for review by the auditor in
accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2)
do not properly disclose a departure
from a relevant provision of the UK
Corporate Governance Code.

- Fair,balanced and understandable
—the statement given by the directors
that they consider the annual report
and financial statements taken
as awholeis fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders ~ We have nothing to report in respect of
to assess the Group’s position and these matters.
performance, business model and
strategy, is materially inconsistent with
our knowledge obtained in the audit; or
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

As explained more fully in the directors’
responsibilities statement, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair

view, and for such internal control as the
directors determineis necessary to enable

9. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements,
the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to

continue as a going concern, disclosing

as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or the
Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that

an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material

misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if,

individually or in the aggregate, they could

reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

Details of the extent to which the audit
was considered capable of detecting

irregularities, including fraud and
non-compliance with laws and regulations
are set out below.

A further description of our
responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements is located on

the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

T.EXTENT TO WHICH THE AUDIT WAS CONSIDERED CAPABLE OF
DETECTING IRREGULARITIES, INCLUDING FRAUD

We identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and then
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, including
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

11.1. IDENTIFYING AND ASSESSING
POTENTIAL RISKS RELATED
TO IRREGULARITIES

Inidentifying and assessing risks of
material misstatement in respect of
irregularities, including fraud and
non-compliance with laws and
regulations, we considered the following:

- the nature of the industry and sector,
control environment and business
performance including the design of
the Group’s remuneration policies,
key drivers for directors remuneration,
bonus levels and performance targets;

- the Group’s own assessment of the
risks that irregularities may occur either
as aresult of fraud or error;

- results of our enquiries of management,
internal audit, other key persons and
the Audit Committee about their own
identification and assessment of the
risks of irregularities;

- any matters we identified having
obtained and reviewed the Group’s
documentation of their policies and
procedures relating to:

identifying, evaluating and complying
with laws and regulations and

whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;
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- detecting and responding to the
risks of fraud and whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected
or alleged fraud; and

- theinternal controls established
to mitigate risks of fraud or non-
compliance with laws and
regulations;and

- the matters discussed among the audit
engagement team and involving
relevantinternal specialists, including
tax, valuations, pensions, IT and
financial instruments specialists
regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements and
any potential indicators of fraud.

As aresult of these procedures,

we considered the opportunities and
incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the
greatest potential for fraud in the areas
in which management is required to
exercise significant judgement, such

as the disclosure of adjusting items.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK),
we are also required to perform specific
procedures to respond to the risk of
management override.

We also obtained an understanding of
the legal and regulatory framework

that the Group operates in, focusing on
provisions of those laws and regulations
that had a direct effect on the
determination of materialamounts and
disclosuresin the financial statements.
The key laws and regulations we
considered in this context included

the UK Companies Act, Financial Conduct
Authority regulations including the Listing
Rules, pensions and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of
other laws and regulations that do not
have a direct effect on the financial
statements but compliance with which
may be fundamental to the Group’s ability
to operate or to avoid a material penalty.
These included the competition and
anti-bribery laws, data protection,
Groceries Supply Code of Practice,

and employment, environmental

and health and safety regulations.

11.2. AUDIT RESPONSE TO
RISKS IDENTIFIED

As aresult of performing the above,

we identified the disclosure of adjusting
items as a key audit matter related to the
potential risk of fraud. The key audit
matters section of our report explains this
matter in more detail and also describes
the specific procedures we performed in
response to that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures
to respond to risks identified included
the following:

- reviewing the financial statement
disclosures and testing to supporting
documentation to assess compliance
with provisions of relevant laws and
regulations described as having a direct
effect on the financial statements;

- enquiring of management, the Audit
Committee and in-house and external
legal counsel concerning actual and
potential litigation and claims;

- performing analytical procedures to
identify any unusual or unexpected
relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to fraud,



T.EXTENT TO WHICH THE AUDIT WAS CONSIDERED CAPABLE OF
DETECTINGIRREGULARITIES,INCLUDING FRAUD CONTINUED

- reading minutes of meetings of those
charged with governance, reviewing
internal audit reports and reviewing
correspondence with HMRC; and

- inaddressing the risk of fraud through
management override of controls,
testing the appropriateness of journal

entries and other adjustments;
assessing whether the judgements
made in making accounting estimates
are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationale of
any significant transactions that are
unusual or outside the normal course
of business.

We also communicated relevant identified
laws and regulations and potential fraud
risks to all engagement team members
including internal specialists audit teams,
and remained alert to any indications of
fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughout the audit.

REPORTON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

12. OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS
PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES
ACT 2006

In our opinion the part of the directors’
remuneration report to be audited has
been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work
undertaken in the course of the audit:

- theinformation given in the strategic
report and the directors’ report for the
financial period for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements; and

- the strategic report and the directors’
report have been preparedin
accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and
understanding of the Group and the
Company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any material
misstatements in the strategic report
or the directors’ report.

13.MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE
REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

13.1. Adequacy of explanations received
and accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are
required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our
audit; or

- adequate accounting records have not
been kept by the Company, or returns
adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by
us; or

- the Company financial statements are
not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of
these matters.

13.2. Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are
also required to report if in our opinion
certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration have not been made or the
part of the directors’ remuneration report
to be audited is not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of
these matters.

14.OTHER MATTERS

14.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the
Audit Committee, we were appointed by
the Shareholders on 8 July 2014 to audit
the financial statements for the period
ending 28 March 2015 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of total
uninterrupted engagement including
previous renewals and reappointments of
the firm is 6, covering the periods ending
28 March 2015 to 28 March 2020.

14.2. Consistency of the audit report
with the additional report to the
Audit Committee

Our audit opinion is consistent with the
additional report to the Audit Committee
we are required to provide in accordance
with ISAs (UK).

15.USE OF OUR REPORT

GOVERNANCE

This report is made solely to the
Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might
state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them
inan auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as
a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

Richard Muschamp FCA
(Senior statutory auditor)

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

London

26 May 2020
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

52 weeks ended 28 March 2020

52 weeks ended 30 March 2019 (Restated)

Results before Results before
adjustingitems Adjustingitems Total adjustingitems Adjustingitems Total
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 2,3 10,181.9 - 10,181.9 10,377.3 - 10,377.3
Share of result in associate
- Ocado Retail Limited 3,5 2.6 (16.8) (14.2) - - -
Operating profit 2,3,5 590.7 (335.9) 254.8 725.6 (427.5) 298.1
Finance income 5,6 44.0 29 46.9 34.8 - 34.8
Finance costs 5,6 (231.6) (2.9) (234.5) (248.7) - (248.7)
Profit before tax 4,5 403.1 (335.9) 67.2 5M1.7 (427.5) 84.2
Income tax expense 7 (83.4) 43.6 (39.8) (106.0) 67.1 (38.9)
Profit for the year 319.7 (292.3) 27.4 405.7 (360.4) 453
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 316.0 (292.3) 23.7 4021 (360.4) 417
Non-controlling interests 3.7 - 3.7 3.6 - 3.6
319.7 (292.3) 27.4 405.7 (360.4) 453
Basic earnings per share 8 16.7p 1.3p 23.7p 2.5p
Diluted earnings per share 8 16.7p 1.2p 23.6p 24p

Comparative information has been restated for the impact of IFRS 16 (see note 29).

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

52 weeks ended

52 weeks ended 30March 2019
28 March 2020 (Restated)
Notes £m £m
Profit for the year 27.4 453
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Remeasurements of retirement benefit schemes il 927.9 (79.9)
Tax (charge)/credit on retirement benefit schemes (196.7) 14.0
731.2 (65.9)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences
—-movements recognised in other comprehensive income 5.1 (14.6)
-reclassified and reported in profit or loss 29 -
Cash flow hedges
—fair value movements recognised in other comprehensive income 21 140.3 132.0
-reclassified and reported in profit or loss (18.4) (16.0)
Tax charge on cash flow hedges (27.0) (19.0)
102.9 82.4
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 834.1 16.5
Total comprehensive income for the year 861.5 61.8
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 857.8 58.2
Non-controlling interests 3.7 3.6
861.5 61.8

Comparative information has been restated for the impact of IFRS 16 (see note 29).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at Asat
Asat  30March 2019 1April 2018
28 March 2020 (Restated) (Restated)
Notes £m £m fm
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 14 399.1 4999 599.2
Property, plant and equipment 15 5,494.2 5,662.3 6,189.6
Investment property 15.5 15.5 15.5
Investment in joint ventures and associates 30 760.4 4.0 7.0
Other financial assets 16 9.7 9.9 99
Retirement benefit asset 1 1,915.0 931.5 970.7
Trade and other receivables 17 262.6 273.0 2095
Derivative financial instruments 21 112.4 19.8 271
8,968.9 7,415.9 8,028.5
Current assets
Inventories 1 564.1 700.4 781.0
Other financial assets 16 1.7 141.8 13.7
Trade and other receivables 17 298.0 267.2 252.4
Derivative financial instruments 21 73.5 40.3 71
Current tax assets 19.3 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 18 248.4 285.4 207.7
1,215.0 1,435.1 1,261.9
Total assets 10,183.9 8,851.0 9,290.4
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 1,426.4 1,424.4 1,377
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme 12 71.9 71.9 719
Borrowings and other financial liabilities 20 316.6 694.4 283.7
Derivative financial instruments 21 13.0 7.3 73.8
Provisions 22 21.5 100.7 56.2
Current tax liabilities - 26.2 50.0
1,849.4 2,324.9 1,912.7
Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefit deficit 1 12.4 17.2 22.5
Trade and other payables 19 222.6 15.6 16.3
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme 12 135.5 200.5 263.6
Borrowings and other financial liabilities 20 3,865.9 3,628.5 4,054.5
Derivative financial instruments 21 0.7 2.8 30.7
Provisions 22 56.5 727 91.8
Deferred tax liabilities 23 3324 119.6 165.1
4,626.0 4,056.9 4,644.5
Total liabilities 6,475.4 6,381.8 6,557.2
Net assets 3,708.5 2,469.2 2,733.2
Equity
Issued share capital 24 487.6 406.3 406.2
Share premium account 24 910.4 416.9 416.4
Capital redemption reserve 2,210.5 2,210.5 2,210.5
Hedging reserve 68.6 (14.6) (76.0)
Cost of hedging reserve 5.7 n.7 10.7
Other reserve (6,542.2) (6,542.2) (6,542.2)
Foreign exchange reserve (35.9) (43.9) (29.3)
Retained earnings 6,597.8 6,024.8 6,339.4
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 3,702.5 2,469.5 2,735.7
Non-controlling interests 6.0 (0.3) (2.5)
Total equity 3,708.5 2,469.2 2,733.2

Comparative information has been restated for the impact of IFRS 16 (see note 29).

The financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised forissue on 26 May 2020. The financial statements also comprise

notes 1to 31.
Steve Rowe, Chief Executive Officer

David Surdeau, Interim Chief Finance Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ordinary Share Capital Foreign Non-
share premium redemption  Hedging Cost of Other exchange Retained controlling
capital account reserve reserve  hedging reserve' reserve earnings? Total interest Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Asat1April 2018 406.2 416.4 2,210.5 (76.0) 10.7  (6,542.2) (29.3) 6,559.9 2,956.2 (2.5) 29537
Adjustment oninitial application of
IFRS 16 - - - - - - - (220.5) (220.5) - (220.5)
Adjusted opening shareholders’ equity 406.2 416.4 2,210.5 (76.0) 10.7  (6,542.2) (29.3) 6,339.4 2,735.7 (2.5) 12,7332
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 4.7 4.7 3.6 453
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Foreign currency translation
—-movements recognised in other
comprehensive income - - - - - - (14.6) - (14.6) - (14.6)
Remeasurements of retirement
benefit schemes - - - - - - - (79.9) (79.9) - (79.9)
Tax credit on items that will not
be reclassified - - - - - - - 14.0 14.0 - 14.0
Cash flow hedges
—fair value movementsin other
comprehensive income - - - 130.5 1.5 - - - 132.0 - 132.0
—reclassified and reported in profit or loss - - - (16.0) - - - - (16.0) - (16.0)
Tax on cash flow hedges - - - (18.5) (0.5) - - - (19.0) - (19.0)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) - - - 96.0 1.0 - (14.6) (65.9) 16.5 - 16.5
Total comprehensive income/(expense) - - - 96.0 1.0 - (14.6) (24.2) 58.2 3.6 61.8
Cash flow hedges recognised
ininventories - - - (42.7) - - - - (42.7) - (42.7)
Tax on cash flow hedges recognised
ininventories - - - 8.1 - - - - 8.1 - 8.1
Transactions with owners:
Dividends - - - - - - - (303.5) (303.5) - (303.5)
Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - (1.4) (1.4)
Sharesissued on exercise of
employee share options 0.1 0.5 - - - - - - 0.6 - 0.6
Purchase of own shares held by
employee trusts - - - - - - - (5.5) (5.5) - (5.5)
Credit for share-based payments - - - - - - - 19.2 19.2 - 19.2
Deferred tax on share schemes - - - - - - - (0.6) (0.6) - (0.6)
As at 30 March 2019 (Restated) 406.3 416.9 2,210.5 (14.6) 1.7 (6,542.2) (43.9) 6,024.8  2,469.5 (0.3)  2,469.2
As at 31 March 2019 (Restated) 406.3 416.9  2,210.5 (14.6) 1.7 (6,542.2) (43.9) 6,024.8 2,469.5 (0.3) 2,469.2
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 237 23.7 3.7 27.4
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Foreign currency translation
—movements recognised in other
comprehensive income - - - - - - 5.1 - 5.1 - 5.1
—reclassified and reported in profit or loss - - - - - - 29 - 2.9 - 2.9
Remeasurements of retirement
benefit schemes - - - - - - - 927.9 927.9 - 927.9
Tax charge on items that will not
be reclassified - - - - - - - (196.7) (196.7) - (196.7)
Cash flow hedges
—fair value movementsin other
comprehensive income - - - 147.8 (7.5) - - - 140.3 - 140.3
-reclassified and reported in profit or loss - - - (18.4) - - - - (18.4) - (18.4)
Taxon cash flow hedges - - - (28.5) 1.5 - - - (27.0) - (27.0)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) - - - 100.9 (6.0) - 8.0 731.2 834.1 - 834.1
Total comprehensive income/(expense) - - - 100.9 (6.0) - 8.0 754.9 857.8 3.7 861.5
Cash flow hedges recognised
ininventories - - - (21.8) - - - - (21.8) - (21.8)
Tax on cash flow hedges recognised
ininventories - - - 4. - - - - 4.1 - 4.1
Transactions with owners:
Dividends - - - - - - - (191.1) (191.1) - (191.1)
Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - 2.6 2.6
Shares issued on exercise of employee
share options - 0.1 - - - - - - 0.1 - 0.1
Sharesissued onrightsissue® 81.3 493.4 - - - - - - 574.7 - 574.7
Purchase of own shares held by
employee trusts - - - - - - - (8.9) (8.9) - (8.9)
Credit for share-based payments - - - - - - - 18.5 18.5 - 18.5
Deferred tax on share schemes - - - - - - - (0.4) (0.4) - (0.4)
As at 28 March 2020 487.6 910.4 2,210.5 68.6 5.7 (6,542.2) (35.9) 6,597.8 3,702.5 6.0 3,708.5

1. The“Otherreserve”was originally created as part of the capital restructuring that took place in 2002. It represents the difference between the nominal value of the sharesissued
prior to the capital reduction by the Company (being the carrying value of the investment in Marks and Spencer plc) and the share capital, share premium and capital redemption
reserve of Marks and Spencer plc at the date of the transaction.

2. Included within “Retained earnings’is the fair value through other comprehensiveincome reserve.

3. Theshare premiumamount of £493.4mis net of £26.6min relation to transaction costs associated with the rightsissue.

Comparative information has been restated for the impact of IFRS 16 (see note 29).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

52 weeks ended
52 weeks ended 30March 2019

28 March 2020 (Restated)

Notes £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 26 1,064.7 1,350.4
Income tax paid (91.6) (105.7)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 973.1 1,244.7
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds on property disposals 2.7 481
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (251.0) (217.8)
Purchase of intangible assets (77.6) (95.1)
Sale/(purchase) of current financial assets 130.1 (128.1)
Purchase of investments in associates and joint ventures' 30 (580.3) (2.5)
Interest received 10.4 7.4
Net cash used in investing activities (765.7) (388.0)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid? (224.2) (229.0)
Repayment of borrowings - 46.7)
Issuance of Medium Term Notes 250.0 14
Redemption of Medium Term Notes (400.0) -
Repayment of lease liabilities (201.4) (170.1)
Payment of liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme (63.5) (61.6)
Equity dividends paid 9 (191.1) (303.5)
Shares issued on exercise of employee share options 24 0.1 0.6
Proceeds from rights issue net of costs 24 574.4 -
Purchase of own shares by employee trust (8.9) (5.5)
Cash received from settlement of derivatives 7.7 -
Net cash used in financing activities (256.9) (814.4)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from activities (49.5) 423
Effects of exchange rate changes 0.5 0.2)
Opening net cash 2131 171.0
Closing net cash 27 164.1 21311

1. Includesinvestmentin Ocado Retail Limited of £577.8m (last year: £nil) and Founders Factory Retail Limited of £2.5m (last year: £2.5m). In addition to the £560.9m cash paid to
Ocado CGroup plc per Note 30, £11.5mis included within trade and other receivables (Note 17) as at 28 March 2020 following finalisation of the transaction. In addition, there are
£5.4m transaction costs paid during the year.

2. Includesinterest paid on the partnership liability to the Marks and Spencer UK Pension Scheme of £8.4m (last year: £10.3m)and interest paid on lease liabilities of £134.3m
(last year: £142.6m (restated)).

Comparative information has been restated for the impact of IFRS 16 (see note 29).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information

Marks and Spencer Group plc (the “Company”) is a public
Company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom
under the Companies Act and is registered in England and
Wales. The address of the Company’s registered office is
Waterside House, 35 North Wharf Road, London W2 INW.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Croup”) and the nature of the Group’s operationsis as a
Clothing & Home and Food retailer.

These financial statements are presented in sterling, which is
also the Company’s functional currency, and are rounded to
the nearest hundred thousand. Foreign operations are included
in accordance with the policies set out within this note.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS
Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations, as adopted
by the European Union, and with those parts of the Companies
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

The Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership has taken
an exemption under paragraph 7 of the Partnership (Accounts)
Regulations 2008 from the requirement to prepare and deliver
financial statements in accordance with the Companies Act.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis. In adopting the going concern basis, the directors have
considered the business activities as set out on pages 2 to 26,
and the principal risks and uncertainties as set out on pages 34
and 43, including by modelling a Covid-19 scenario.

Given the global political and economic uncertainty resulting
from the Covid-19 pandemic, coupled with the already fast
paced changes taking place across the retail sector, we expect
to see significant volatility and business disruption reducing

our expected performance in 2020/21. We have already felt the
impact of the government’s guidelines on lockdown, with our
Food stores open and trading (albeit with social-distancing rules
in place), but with Clothing & Home unable to trade from stores,
and all sales therefore predominantly coming from online sales
and Click & Collect in stores.

The Covid-19 scenario assumes that the current government
guidelines continue for a period of at least four months,
resulting in a significant decline in sales for the remainder

of 2020/21 as follows:

- Onaverage, a 70% decline in Clothing & Home sales vs budget
for the four months to July 2020, followed by a slow recovery
back to budget by February 2021, reducing expected revenue
by £1.5bn for the financial year.

- A20% decline in Food sales vs budget for the four months
to July, impacting annual revenue by £384m.

- International sales following a similar profile to Clothing
&Home, with a significant decline in April due to closures,
and a recovery back to budget extended to March 2021,
impacting annual revenue by £214m.

Further downside sensitivities which extend the length of the
social-distancing measures or increase the depth of the impact
on sales and margin were also considered, as explained in the
Viability Statement. In addition, reverse stress testing has also
been applied to the model, which represents a significant decline
in sales compared to the Covid-19 scenario. Such a scenario, and
the sequence of events which could lead toit, is considered to

be remote.
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The Covid-19 scenario reflects the actions already taken by
management, including:

- Cost-saving initiatives, such as reducing marketing spend,
freezing pay and recruitment, and technology and operating
expenditure cuts.

— Reducing the capital expenditure budget to c.£140m.

- Reducing the supply pipeline of Clothing & Home stock
by c.£560m, and lengthening payment terms.

- Ceasing to pay the final dividend payment for 2019/20 and for
2020/21, resulting in a total anticipated cash saving of c.£340m.

The Group will also benefit from c.£172m of business rates relief in
2020/21 and the government’s job retention scheme to help meet
the cost of furloughed roles in stores, distribution and support
centres, which should generate cash savings of c.£50m up to

30 June 2020.

In addition, the following further steps have also been taken:

- Formal agreement has been reached with the lending
syndicate of banks providing the £1.1bn revolving credit
facility to remove or substantially relax the covenant
conditions for the tests arising in September 2020,
March 2021 and September 2021.

— The Group confirmed on 23 April 2020 its eligibility under the
UK government’s Covid Corporate Financing Facility (CCFF)
and allocated anissuer limit of £300m, providing significant
further liquidity headroom.

The agreement with the banks combined with the other measures
taken means that, even under the Covid-19 scenario, the business
would continue to have significant liquidity headroom on its
existing facilities and against the revolving credit facility financial
covenant. As at 28 March 2020 the financial covenant was met.

As aresult, the Board believes that the Group is well placed to
manage its financing and other significant risks satisfactorily
and that the Group will be able to operate within the level of its
facilities for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the Board
considers it appropriate for the Group to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

New accounting standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new standards and
interpretations for the first time for the annual reporting
period commencing 31 March 2019:

- IFRS16 Leases.
- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.

- Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation.

- Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures.

- Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement.

— Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
(Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and |AS 23).

The Croup also elected to adopt the following amendments early:

- Amendmentsto IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

The nature and effect of the changes to the Group’s accounting
policies as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16 is described in note
29. The impact of early adopting the amendments to IFRS 9

as aresult of interest rate benchmark reformis described in

the financial instruments accounting policy and in note 21.

The adoption of the other standards and interpretations listed
above has not led to any changes to the Group’s accounting
policies or had any other material impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

New accounting standards in issue but not yet effective

New standards and interpretations that are in issue but not yet
effective are listed below:

- Amendments to IAS 1and IAS 8 Definition of Material.
- Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business.

- Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in IFRS Standards.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

- Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture.

The adoption of the above standards and interpretations is not
expected to lead to any changes to the Group’s accounting
policies or have any other material impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Alternative Performance Measures

In reporting financial information, the Group presents alternative
performance measures (APMs), which are not defined or specified
under the requirements of IFRS.

The Group believes that these APMs, which are not considered
to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures, provide
stakeholders with additional helpful information on the
performance of the business. These APMs are consistent with
how the business performance is planned and reported within
the internal management reporting to the Board and Operating
Committee. Some of these measures are also used for the
purpose of setting remuneration targets.

The key APMs that the CGroup uses include: like-for-like revenue
growth; operating profit before adjusting items; profit before
tax and adjusting items; adjusted earnings per share; net debt;
free cash flow; and return on capital employed. Each of these
APMs, and others used by the Group, are set out in the Glossary
including explanations of how they are calculated and how they
can be reconciled to a statutory measure where relevant.

The Group reports some financial measures, primarily
International sales, on both a reported and constant currency
basis. The constant currency basis, which is an APM, retranslates
the previous year revenues at the average actual periodic
exchange rates used in the current financial year. This measure
is presented as a means of eliminating the effects of exchange
rate fluctuations on the year-on-year reported results.

The Group makes certain adjustments to the statutory profit
measures in order to derive many of these APMs. The Croup’s
policy is to exclude items that are considered significant in nature
and/or quantum to the financial statement line item or applicable
disclosure note or are consistent with items that were treated

as adjusting in prior periods. Treatment as an adjusting item
provides stakeholders with additional useful information to
assess the year-on-year trading performance of the Group.

On this basis, the following items were included within

adjusting items for the 52-week period ended 28 March 2020:

- Net charges associated with the strategic programmein
relation to the review of the UK store estate.

- Significant restructuring costs and other associated costs
arising from strategy changes that are not considered by the
Group to be part of the normal operating costs of the business.

- Significant pension charges arising as a result of the historical
changes to the UK defined benefit scheme practices.

- Impairment charges and provisions that are considered to be
significant in nature and/or value to the trading performance
of the business.

- Charges arising from the write-off of assets and other
property charges that are considered to be significantin
nature and/or value.

- Adjustments to income from M&S Bank due to a provision
recognised by M&S Bank for the cost of providing redress
to customersin respect of possible mis-selling of M&S Bank
financial products as well as forward economic guidance
provisions recognised by M&S Bank as a result of Covid-19.

- Significant costs arising from establishing the investmentin
Ocado Retail Limited.

- Amortisation of the identified intangible assets arising as
part of the investment in Ocado Retail Limited.!

- Remeasurement of contingent consideration including
discount unwind.'

- Directly attributable gains and expenses resulting from the
Covid-19 pandemic.?

- Otheradjusting items include credits recognised in relation
to potential liabilities for employee-related matters previously
recognised within adjusting items.

1. Asaresultof theinvestmentin Ocado Retail Limited during the year these items
have beenincluded within adjustingitems for the first time.

2. Asaresult of the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent UK government restrictions
introduced on 23 March 2020 that has resulted in significant and unprecedented
market and business disruption, the Group has classified gains and expensesincurred
asadirectresult of Covid-19 as adjusting items for the first time. The impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic on the Group’s operationsis discussed within the principal risks
and uncertainties on page 34 as well as set out within the basis of preparation on
page 116 which summarises the Covid-19 scenario modelled by the Group and
within the subsequent events note.

Refer to note 5 for a summary of the adjusting items.

A summary of the Company’s and the CGroup’s accounting
policies is given below.

Accounting convention

The financial statements are drawn up on the historical cost
basis of accounting, except for certain financial instruments
(including derivative instruments) and plan assets of defined
benefit pension schemes which are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of Marks and Spencer Group plc and allits
subsidiaries made up to the period end date. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

1ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Subsidiaries

Subsidiary undertakings are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Company has control. Control
is achieved when the Company has the power over the entity;

is exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity; and has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns. The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
entity if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of these three elements of control. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of
the subsidiary. Subsidiary undertakings acquired during the
year are recorded using the acquisition method of accounting
and their results are included from the date of acquisition.

The separable net assets, including property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, of the newly acquired
subsidiary undertakings are incorporated into the consolidated
financial statements on the basis of the fair value as at the
effective date of control.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated
on consolidation.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The results and assets
and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is recognised
initially in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share

of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of

the associate. Dividends received or receivable from an associate
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of

the investment.

Associated undertakings acquired during the year are recorded
using the equity method of accounting and their results are
included from the date of acquisition. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised

as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
The Group’s share of the net fair value of identified intangible
assetsis amortised over the expected useful economic life

of the assets.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
GCroup’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
forimpairmentin accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
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When a Group company transacts with an associate of the
Croup, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised only to the extent of interestsin
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue

Revenue comprises sales of goods to customers outside the
Group less an appropriate deduction for actual and expected
returns, discounts and loyalty scheme vouchers, and is stated
net of value added tax and other sales taxes. Revenue is
recognised when performance obligations are satisfied and
goods are delivered to our franchise partners or the customer
and the control of goods is transferred to the buyer.

Aright of return is not a separate performance obligation and
the Group is required to recognise revenue net of estimated
returns. A refund liability and a corresponding asset in inventory
representing the right to recover products from the customer
are recognised.

The Group enters into agreements which entitle other parties
to operate under the Marks & Spencer brand name for certain
activities and operations, such as M&S Bank and M&S Energy.
These contracts give rise to performance-based variable
consideration. Income dependent on the performance of the
third-party operations is recognised when it is highly probable
that a significant reversalin the amount of income recognised
will not occur, and presented as other operating income.

Supplierincome

In line with industry practice, the Group enters into agreements
with suppliers to share the costs and benefits of promotional
activity and volume growth. The Group receives income from its
suppliers based on specific agreements in place. This supplier
income received is recognised as a deduction from cost of sales
based on the entitlement that has been earned up to the balance
sheet date for each relevant supplier agreement. Marketing
contributions, equipment hire and other non-judgemental,

fixed rate supplier charges are not included in the Group’s
definition of supplierincome.

The types of supplierincome recognised by the Group and the
associated recognition policies are:

A. Promotional contribution Includes supplier contributions to
promotional giveaways and pre-agreed contributions to annual
“spend and save” activity.

Income is recognised as a deduction to cost of sales over

the relevant promotional period. Income is calculated and
invoiced at the end of the promotional period based on actual
sales or according to fixed contribution arrangements.
Contributions earned but not invoiced are accrued at the end
of the relevant period.

B. Volume-based rebates Includes annual growth incentives,
seasonal contributions and contributions to share economies
of scale resulting from moving product supply.

Annual growth incentives are calculated and invoiced at the end
of the financial year, once earned, based on fixed percentage
growth targets agreed for each supplier at the beginning of

the year. They are recognised as a reduction in cost of sales in
the year to which they relate. Other volume-based rebates are
agreed with the supplier and spread over the relevant season/
contract period to which they relate. Contributions earned but
not invoiced are accrued at the end of the relevant period.
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Supplier income continued

Uncollected supplier income at the balance sheet date is
classified within the financial statements as follows:

A. Trade and other payables The majority of income due from
suppliersis netted against amounts owed to that supplier as the
Group has the legal right and intention to offset these balances.

B. Trade and other receivables Supplierincome that has

been earned but not invoiced at the balance sheet date is
recognised in trade and other receivables and primarily relates
to volume-based rebates that run up to the period end.

In order to provide users of the accounts with greater
understanding in this area, additional balance sheet disclosure
is provided in note 17 to the financial statements.

M&S Bank

The Group has an economic interest in M&S Bank which entitles
the Group to a 50% share of the profits of M&S Bank after
appropriate contractual deductions.

Dividends

Final dividends are recorded in the financial statements

in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s
shareholders. Interim dividends are recorded in the period in
which they are approved and paid.

Pensions

Funded pension plans are in place for the Group’s UK employees
and some overseas employees.

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between
the fair value of the assets and the present value of the defined
benefit obligation is recognised as an asset or liability in the
statement of financial position. The defined benefit obligation
is actuarially calculated using the projected unit credit method.
An asset can be recognised as in the event of a plan wind-up, the
pension scheme rules provide the Group with an unconditional
right to a refund of surplus assets assuming a full settlement of
plan liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, the Trustees
have no rights to wind up, or change, the benefits due to the
members of the scheme. As a result, any net surplus in the

UK defined benefit (DB) scheme is recognised in full.

The service cost of providing retirement benefits to employees
during the year, together with the cost of any curtailment, is
charged to operating profitin the year. The Group no longer
incurs any service cost or curtailment costs related to the UK
DB pension scheme as the scheme is closed to future accrual.

The net interest cost on the net retirement benefit asset/liability
is calculated by applying the discount rate, measured at the
beginning of the year, to the net defined benefit asset/liability
andisincluded as a single net amount in finance income.

Remeasurements, being actuarial gains and losses, together
with the difference between actual investment returns and
the return implied by the net interest cost, are recognised
immediately in other comprehensive income.

During 2017/18, the UK DB pension scheme purchased annuities

in order to hedge longevity risk for pensioners within the scheme.

As permitted by IAS 19, the Group has opted to recognise the
difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the cost
of the policy as an actuarial loss in other comprehensive income.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
are charged as an expense on an accruals basis.

Intangible assets

A. Goodwill Coodwill arising on consolidation represents

the excess of the consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the fair value of

the identifiable assets and liabilities (including intangible assets)
of the acquired entity at the date of the acquisition. Goodwill is
recognised as an asset and assessed for impairment annually or
as triggering events occur. Any impairment in value is recognised
within the income statement.

B. Acquired intangible assets Acquired intangible assets include
trademarks or brands and customer relationships. These assets
are capitalised on acquisition at cost and included in intangible
assets. Intangible assets identified on investments in associates
areincluded in investments in associates at fair value. Intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of between 10 and 40 years.

Acquired intangible assets are tested for impairment as
triggering events occur. Any impairment in value is recognised
within the income statement.

C. Software intangibles \Where computer software is not an
integral part of a related item of computer hardware, the
software is treated as an intangible asset. Capitalised software
costs include external direct costs of goods and services, as well
as internal payroll-related costs for employees who are directly
associated with the project.

Capitalised software development costs are amortised

on a straight-line basis over their expected economic lives,
normally between 3 and 10 years. Computer software under
development is held at cost less any recognised impairment
loss. Any impairment in value is recognised within the
income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

The Group’s policy is to state property, plant and equipment
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised
impairment loss. Property is not revalued for accounting
purposes. Assets in the course of construction are held at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs.

Depreciation is provided to write of f the cost of tangible
non-current assets (including investment properties), less
estimated residual values on a straight-line basis as follows:

- Freehold land - not depreciated.

- Buildings - depreciated to their residual value over their
estimated remaining economic lives.

- Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 3 to 25 years according
to the estimated economic life of the asset.

Residual values and useful economic lives are reviewed annually.
Depreciation is charged on all additions to, or disposals of,
depreciating assets in the year of purchase or disposal.

Any impairment in value is recognised within the income statement.
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Leasing

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and corresponding
liability at the date at which a leased asset is made available
for use by the Group, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low-value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the future
lease payments, excluding any payments relating to non-lease
components. Future lease payments include fixed payments,
in-substance fixed payments, and variable lease payments
that are based onanindexor arate, less any lease incentives
receivable. Lease liabilities also take into account amounts
payable under residual value guarantees and payments to
exercise options to the extent that it is reasonably certain that
such payments will be made. The payments are discounted

at the rate implicit in the lease or, where that cannot be readily
determined, at an incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured initially at cost based on
the value of the associate lease liability, adjusted for any
payments made before inception, initial direct costs and an
estimate of the dismantling, removal and restoration costs
requiredin the terms of the lease. The Group presents
right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant and equipment’in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Subsequent toinitial recognition, the lease liability is reduced
for payments made and increased to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using the effective interest method). The related
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the term of the lease or,

if shorter, the useful economic life of the leased asset. The lease
term shallinclude the period of an extension option where it is
reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Where the
lease contains a purchase option the asset is written of f over
the useful life of the asset when it is reasonably certain that

the purchase option will be exercised.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

- Thelease term has changed or thereis achangein the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate.

- The lease payments change due to changes in anindex or
rate or achange in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments changeis duetoa
changein a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

- Alease contractis modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate.

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance

or operating leases. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee and classified as an operating lease if it does not.
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease s classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
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Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the amount of the Croup’s net investmentin
the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on

the Group’s net investment in the lease. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes short-term deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, with an initial maturity
of three months or less and credit card payments received
within 48 hours.

Inventories

Inventories are valued on a weighted average cost basis and
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costincludes
all direct expenditure and other attributable costs incurred in
bringing inventories to their present location and condition.
Allinventories are finished goods. Certain purchases of
inventories may be subject to cash flow hedges for foreign
exchange risk. The initial cost of hedged inventory is adjusted

by the associated hedging gain or loss transferred from the

cash flow hedge reserve (“basis adjustment”).

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Croup has a present
obligation as aresult of a past event, and it is probable that

the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions
are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period,

and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. A fair value for the equity-settled share
awards is measured at the date of grant. The Croup measures
the fair value of each award using the Black-Scholes model
where appropriate.

The fair value of each award is recognised as an expense over
the vesting period on a straight-line basis, after allowing for an
estimate of the share awards that will eventually vest. The level
of vesting is reviewed at each reporting period and the charge is
adjusted to reflect actual and estimated levels of vesting.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the
Company’s functional currency.

The results of overseas subsidiaries are translated at the weighted
average of monthly exchange rates for revenue and profits.

The statements of financial position of overseas subsidiaries are
translated at year-end exchange rates. The resulting exchange
differences are booked into reserves and reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On disposal
of an overseas subsidiary the related cumulative translation
differences recognised in reserves are reclassified to profit or
loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated

at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities held at the end of the
reporting period are translated at the closing balance sheet

rate. The resulting exchange gain or loss is recognised within the
income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve as
qualifying cash flow hedges.
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Taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Taxis
recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the related taxis recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Provision is made for uncertain tax positions when it is considered
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax
authority. The provision is calculated using the single best
estimate where that outcome is more likely than not and a
weighted average probability in other circumstances. The
position is reviewed on an ongoing basis, to ensure appropriate
provision is made for each known tax risk.

Deferred tax is accounted for using a temporary difference
approach, and is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable
on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax is calculated based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, applying tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the
Group and itis probable that the difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised on temporary
differences that arise from goodwill which is not deductible
for tax purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying
amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised in respect
of temporary differences that arise on initial recognition of assets
and liabilities acquired other than in a business combination.

Financialinstruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Group’s
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets
areinitially classified as at fair value through profit and loss, fair
value through other comprehensive income or amortised cost
depending on the Group’s intention with regard to the collection
of contractual cash flows (or sale) and whether the financial
asset’s cash flows relate solely to the payment of principal

and interest.

A. Trade and other receivables Trade receivables are recorded
initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost. This results in their recognition at nominal
value less an allowance for any doubtful debts. The allowance
for doubtful debts is recognised based on management’s
expectation of losses without regard to whether an impairment
trigger happened or not (an “expected credit loss” model).

B. Other financial assets Other financial assets consist of
investments in debt and equity securities and short-term
investments with a maturity date of over 90 days and are
classified as either fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit and loss (FVPL).
Financial assets held at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value,
including transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Financial assets held at FVPL are initially
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed.

Where securities are designated as FVPL, gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value are included in the income statement
for the period.

For equity investments at FVOCI, gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the security is disposed of, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the FVOCI reserve
is transferred to retained earnings.

For debt instruments at FVOCI, gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the security is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is reclassified to the income statement. Impairments

in debt securities are recognised based on management’s
expectation of losses in each investment (“expected credit

loss” model).

C. Classification of financial liabilities and equity Financial
liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to

the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

An equity instrumentis any contract that evidences a residual
interestin the assets of the Croup after deducting all of

its liabilities.

D. Bank borrowings Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts
areinitially recorded at fair value, which equals the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs. They are subsequently held at
amortised cost. Finance charges, including premiums payable on
settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted
for using an effective interest rate method and are added to or
deducted from the carrying amount of the instrument to the
extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

E. Loan notes Long-term loans are initially measured at fair value
net of direct issue costs and are subsequently held at amortised
cost. If the loan is designated in a fair value hedge relationship,
the carrying value of the loanis adjusted to the hedged risk.

F. Trade payables Trade payables are recorded initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Generally, this results in their recognition at their nominal value.

G. Equity instruments Equity instruments issued by the
Group are recorded at the consideration received, net of
directissue costs.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group primarily uses interest rate swaps, cross-currency
swaps and forward foreign currency contracts to manage its
exposures to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange
rates. These instruments are initially recognised at fair value
onthetrade date and are subsequently remeasured at their

fair value at the end of the reporting period. The method of
recognising the resulting gain or loss is dependent on whether
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and the
nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain hedging derivatives as either:

- Ahedge of a highly probable forecast transaction or
change in the cash flows of a recognised asset or liability
(a cash flow hedge).

- Ahedge of the exposure to change in the fair value
of arecognised asset or liability (a fair value hedge).

At the inception of a hedging relationship, the hedging
instrument and the hedged item are documented, along with
the risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions, and prospective effectiveness
testing is performed. During the life of the hedging relationship,
prospective effectiveness testing is performed to ensure that
the instrument remains an effective hedge of the transaction.
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the
income statement as they arise.

In September 2019, the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform -Amendments to IFRS 9,IAS 39 and IFRS 7. These
amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements
to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges
during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or
hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate
benchmarks are amended as a result of the ongoing interest
rate benchmark reforms.

The application of the amendments impacts the Group’s
accounting in relation to a sterling denominated fixed rate
debt, which it fair value hedge accounts using sterling fixed
to CGBP LIBOR interest rate swaps. The amendments permit
continuation of hedge accounting even if in the future the
hedged benchmark interest rate, GBP LIBOR, may no longer
be separately identifiable. However, this relief does not extend
to the requirement that the designated interest rate risk
component must continue to be reliably measurable. If the
risk component is no longer reliably measurable, the hedging
relationship is discontinued.

The Group has chosen to early apply the amendments to

IFRS 9 for the reporting period ended 28 March 2020, which are
mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1January 2020. Adopting these amendments allows the Group
to continue hedge accounting during the period of uncertainty
arising from interest rate benchmark reforms.

A. Cash flow hedges Changes in the fair value of derivative
financialinstruments that are designated and effective as hedges
of future cash flows are recognised in other comprehensive
income. The element of the change in fair value which relates to
the currency spread is recognised in the cost of hedging reserve,
with the remaining change in fair value recognised in the hedging
reserve and any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
the income statement in finance costs. If the firm commitment

or forecast transaction that is the subject of a cash flow hedge
results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability,

then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the associated
gains or losses on the derivative that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
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the cash flow hedge reserve are removed directly from equity
and included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability.

For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset

or aliability,amounts deferred in the cash flow hedge reserve
are recognised in the income statement in the same period in
which the hedged items affect net profit or loss.

B. Fair value hedges Changes in the fair value of a

derivative instrument designated in a fair value hedge or,

for non-derivatives, the foreign currency component of carrying
value are recognised in the income statement. The hedged item

is adjusted for changesin fair value attributable to the risk being
hedged with the corresponding entry in the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income
statement as they arise.

C. Discontinuance of hedge accounting Hedge accounting is
discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, is sold,
terminated or exercised, the hedge relationship no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting or the forecast transaction

is no longer expected to occur. The Group cannot voluntarily
de-designate a hedging relationship.

When a cash flow hedge is discontinued, any cumulative gain

or loss on the hedging instrument accumulated in the cash flow
hedge reserveis retained in equity until the forecast transaction
occurs. Subsequent changes in the fair value are recognised in
the income statement. If a hedged transactionis no longer
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss accumulated
in the cash flow hedge reserve is transferred to the income
statement for the period.

When a fair value hedge is discontinued, the fair value adjustment
to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the
hedged riskis amortised to the income statement based on

the recalculated effective interest rate at that date.

The Group does not use derivatives to hedge income statement
translation exposures.

Reserves

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve
within equity:

A. Share premium account Proceeds received in excess to the
nominal value of sharesissued, net of any transaction costs.

B. Capital redemption reserve Amounts transferred from share
capital on redemption or repurchase of issued shares.

C. Hedging reserve Cumulative gains and losses on hedging
instruments deemed effective in cash flow hedges.

D. Cost of hedging Cumulative gains and losses on the portion
excluded from the designated hedging instrument that relates
to changes in the foreign currency basis.

E. Other reserve Originally created as part of the capital
restructuring that took place in 2002. It represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares issued prior to the
capital reduction by the Company (being the carrying value of
the investment in Marks and Spencer plc) and the share capital,
share premium and capital redemption reserve of Marks and
Spencer plc at the date of the transaction.

F. Foreign exchange reserve Cains and losses arising on
retranslating the net assets of overseas operations into sterling.

G. Retained earnings All other net gains and losses
and transactions with owners (e.g. dividends) not
recognised elsewhere.
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Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the Group to make estimates and judgements that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts.

Criticaljudgements represent key decisions made by
management in the application of the Group accounting

policies. Where a significant risk of materially different outcomes
exists due to management assumptions or sources of estimation
uncertainty, this will represent a key source of estimation
uncertainty. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to

be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates which have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within
the next 12 months are discussed below.

Critical accounting judgements

Adjusting items

The directors believe that the adjusted profit and earnings
per share measures provide additional useful information

to shareholders on the performance of the business. These
measures are consistent with how business performance is
measured internally by the Board and Operating Committee.
The profit before tax and adjusting items measure is not a
recognised profit measure under IFRS and may not be directly
comparable with adjusted profit measures used by other
companies. The classification of adjusting items requires
significant management judgement after considering the
nature and intentions of a transaction. The Group’s definitions
of adjusting items are outlined within both the Group accounting
policies and the Glossary. These definitions have been applied
consistently year on year, with additional items due to the
investment in Ocado Retail Limited and certain directly
attributable gains and expenses resulting from the

Covid-19 pandemic.

Note 5 provides further details on current year adjusting items
and their adherence to Group policy.

UK defined benefit pension surplus

Where a surplus on a defined benefit scheme arises, the rights
of the Trustees to prevent the Group obtaining a refund of that
surplus in the future are considered in determining whether it is

necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised.

The UK defined benefit schemeis in surplus at 28 March 2020.
The directors have made the judgement that these amounts
meet the requirements of recoverability on the basis that
paragraph 11(b) of IFRIC 14 applies, enabling a refund of surplus
assuming the gradual settlement of the scheme liabilities over
time until allmembers have left the scheme, and a surplus of
£1,915.0m has been recognised.

Assessment of control

The directors have assessed that the Group has significant
influence over Ocado Retail Limited and has therefore accounted
forthe investment as an associate (see note 30). This assessment
is based on the current rights held by the respective shareholders
and requires judgement in assessing these rights. These rights
include determinative rights currently held by Ocado Group Plc,
after agreed dispute-resolution procedures, in relation to the
approval of the Ocado Retail Limited business plan and budget
and the appointment and removal of Ocado Retail Limited’s
Chief Executive Officer. Any future change to these rights
requires a reassessment of control and could result in a change

in the status of the investment from associate to joint venture,
subsidiary or investment.

Determining the lease term

The Croup determines the lease term as the non-cancellable
term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option
to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised,

or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease,

if itis reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has several lease contracts for land and buildings that
include extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether
or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That s, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination,
including: whether there are significant penalties to terminate

(or not extend); whether any leasehold improvements are
expected to have a significant remaining value; historical lease
durations; the importance of the underlying asset to the Group’s
operations; and the costs and business disruption required to
replace the leased asset.

Most renewal periods and periods covered by termination
options are included as part of the lease term for leases of land
and buildings. The Group typically exercises its option to renew
(or does not exercise its option to terminate) for these leases
because there will be a significant negative effect on trading

if areplacement property is not readily available.

The lease termis reassessed if a significant event or a significant
change in circumstances occurs which affects the assessment
of reasonable certainty - for example, if a store is identified to
be closed as part of the UK store estate strategic programme.

Determining the incremental borrowing rate used to
measure lease liabilities

The Croup is required to determine its incremental borrowing
rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. Judgement is applied

in determining the components of the IBR used for each
lease including risk-free rates, the Group’s credit risk and

any lease-specific adjustments.

IBRs are determined bi-annually and depend on the term,
country and start date of the lease. The IBR is determined
based on a series of inputs including: the risk-free rate based
on government bond rates; a country-specific risk adjustment;
and a credit risk adjustment based on the average credit spread
of entities with similar ratings to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

1ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Determining whether forecast purchases are highly probable

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk, most significantly
to the US dollar as a result of sourcing Clothing & Home
products from Asia which are paid predominantly in US dollars.
The Group hedges these exposures using forward foreign
exchange contracts and hedge accounting is applied when the
requirements of IFRS 9 are met, which include that a forecast
transaction must be “highly probable”.

The Group has applied judgement in assessing whether the
forecast purchases remain “highly probable”, particularly in light
of the decline in expected sales resulting from the Covid-19
pandemic and the related store closures.

At the reporting date, a £2.9m gain has been recognised in the
income statement as a result of US$76.6m notional forecast
purchases no longer expected to occur in relation to the Clothing
&Home Autumn and Winter season requirement. In making this
assessment, the Group has considered the most recent budgets
and plans, including the Covid-19 scenario. The Croup’s policy

is a “layered” hedging strategy where only a small fraction

of the forecast purchase requirements are initially hedged,
approximately 15 months prior to a season, with incremental
hedges layered on over time, as the buying period for that season
approaches and therefore as certainty increases over the
forecast purchases. As a result of this progressive strategy,
reducing the supply pipeline of Clothing & Home inventory,

as described in the basis of preparation, does not immediately

lead to over-hedging and the disqualification of “highly probable”.

If the forecast transactions were no longer expected to occur,
any accumulated gain or loss on the hedging instruments
would be immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
UK store estate programme

The Group is undertaking a significant strategic programme

to review its UK store estate resulting in a net charge of £29.3m
(last year: £216.5m (restated)) in the year. A significant level of
estimation has been used to determine the charges to be
recognised in the year. The most significant judgement that
impacts the charge is that the stores identified as part of the
programme are more likely than not to close. Further significant
closure costs and impairment charges may be recorded in future
years depending on decisions made about further store closures
and the successful delivery of the transformation programme.

Where a store closure has been announced there is a reduced
level of estimation uncertainty as the programme actions are
to be taken over a shorter and more immediate timeframe.
Further significant estimation uncertainty arises in respect of
determining the recoverable amount of assets and the costs to
beincurred as part of the programme. Significant assumptions
have been made including:

- Reassessment of the useful lives of store fixed assets and
closure dates.

- Estimationin respect of the expected shorter-term trading
value in use, including assumptions with regard to the period
of trading as well as changes to future sales, gross margin and
operating costs. In light of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic,
the Group’s cash flow projections over the three-year strategic
plan period have been revised and include a Covid-19 overlay
in year 1(see the basis of preparation section and the glossary
for details on this Covid-19 scenario).

- Estimation of the sale proceeds for freehold stores which
is dependent upon location-specific factors, timing of
likely exit and future changes to the UK retail property
market valuations.
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- Estimation of the value of dilapidation payments required
for leasehold store exits, which is dependent on a number
of factors including the extent of modifications of the store,
the terms of the lease agreement, and the condition of
the property.

The assumptions most likely to have a materialimpact are
closure dates and changes to future sales. See notes 5and 15
for further detail.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment and intangibles

Depreciation and amortisation are provided to write down the
cost of property, plant and equipment and certain intangibles to
their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives,
as set out above. The selection of the residual values and useful
lives gives rise to estimation uncertainty, especially in the context
of changing economic and market factors, the channel shift
from stores to online, increasing technological advancement

and the Group’s ongoing strategic transformation programmes.
The useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangibles
are reviewed by management annually. See notes 14 and 15 for
further details. Refer to the UK store estate programme section
above for specific sources of estimation uncertainty in relation

to the useful lives of property, plant and equipment for stores
identified as part of the UK store estate programme. Due to the
nature of the Croup’s property, plant and equipment, it is not
practicable to provide a meaningful sensitivity analysis.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangibles

Property, plant and equipment and computer software
intangibles are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Goodwill and indefinite life brands are reviewed for
impairment on an annual basis. When a review for impairment is
conducted, the recoverable amount is determined based on the
higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. The value
in use method requires the Group to determine appropriate
assumptions (which are sources of estimation uncertainty)in
relation to the cash flow projections over the three-year strategic
plan period, the long-term growth rate to be applied beyond
this three-year period and the risk-adjusted pre-tax discount
rate used to discount the assumed cash flows to present value.
In light of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, the Croup’s cash flow
projections over the three-year strategic plan period have been
revised and include a Covid-19 overlay in year 1 (the Covid-19
scenario), focusing on the external impact of social-distancing
measures, and the internally controllable mitigating actions the
Group is taking to protect the business.

The assumption that cash flows continue into perpetuity

(with the exception of stores identified as part of the UK store
estate programme) is a source of significant estimation certainty.
A future change to the assumption of trading into perpetuity for
any Cash-Generating Unit (CGU) would result in a reassessment
of useful economic lives and residual value and could give rise to
a significant impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangibles, particularly where the store carrying value exceeds
fair value less cost to sell. See notes 14 and 15 for further details
on the Group’s assumptions and associated sensitivities.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Inventory provisioning

The Group sells Clothing & Home merchandise that are subject to changing consumer demands and seasonal trends. As a direct
result of the restrictions on “non-essential” trade imposed in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, our ability to sell through existing
Clothing & Home stock has been significantly impacted. Accordingly, the Group has had to review its inventory levels in light of future
expectations of sell-through, impacting the recoverability of the cost of inventories and the level of provisioning required. When
calculating inventory provisions, management has considered the nature and condition of inventory, as well as applying assumptions
around when trade restrictions might be eased leading to resumption of sales. See note 5 for further details on the assumptions and
associated sensitivities.

Post-retirement benefits

The determination of pension net interest income and the defined benefit obligation of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes
depends on the selection of certain assumptions which include the discount rate, inflation rate and mortality rates. Differences arising
from actual experiences or future changes in assumptions will be reflected in subsequent periods. A minority of the assets of the
scheme are relatively illiquid and in the past historical pricing has been used to value these asset classes at year end (typically pricing
from the most recent 31 December). Covid-